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Futh and Scott Mewhall with Torl (Victorda TII) in Eromt
af Piru home. Gccober 1989,







turming a straggling daily inie a media powerhouse, dicd October 26
: after a shon illness, He was 78, Mewhall artended Cal for three years in
tlse early 19305, and his wife, Ruth Wakdo Newhall *31, served as the G-
cle’s Berkeley correspondent. Though not a particularly il man, Newhall
always scemed a bit larger than 1ife, and e brought sest and luamor o bis
iwo loves, newspapering and safling,

He jolncd the Chrovicle 2s a photographer in 1935, rose 1o become executive
editor in 1952, and Fater-edivon, and stepped dowm i 1971, 1o between, he
tumned & stedpy paper Into o lively ang, with splashy stories and headlines
ihat often had maore zauce than sebstance. “Larraburn Splits!” scpeamed a
1969 headline set in poing-to-war type. Bad the Taned San Francisoo bakecy
announced a stock split? No; it was launching 4 e of pre-split English
T,

Mewhall brougli g same irreverence 1o his love of boais. In 1936, he sef
off am a roand-tie-world couise, with his wife Ruth as navigator, Though they
had taken a course In oclestial savigation with Cal astronmmny prodessor O,
Dipnald Shane, Nowhall couldn’t iell a sextani from a sun sighi. He intended
o “pick it up along the way,” he sald, {The wip was cut shon in Mexico when
e was injored and forced to return for medical attention). A& 1970 Newhall
trip novoss the Atlantic with a side:paddle rugl:n:um he bougthi in Enpland was
I'g.'pi-;:.ul.. e madde the entire crossing o five knots* said his wile Kuth, “and
made port with just hall a tank of fuel.”

That crossing paralleled Mewhall®s attempis at a political carcer., I 1971,
hee ran for mayor of San Francisco, finkshing a disun fifth behind, among ach-
ers, Mayor Joseph Alloro and challenger (now Senater) Dianne Feinsteln,

After leaving the Clirowicle, Mewhall and his wife resertled in Sonthem Cal
ifornia, where he edited the Family newspaper, the Sewfall Sigmal; ooiil F9RA.

Thouogh not above criticizing Cal —he
wrinie a famoaes 1958 editorial klasting the
scthoad for “Los Angelism® in b use of pro-
fesiomnals in football—Mewhall was a
good (riend of the Universitg, Tn 1969,
whille tear gas flled e alr and troops
stood guard evervwhere, Mewhall and a
group of Old Blues stood 21 Sather Gate
amd read an elepand statement about
theeir love and support for Cal—
ard offered (o pud up their
oL imeiey, Lake People’s
Park oll the Universing™s
hands, and make i indoe a
real park. That year,
Mewhall began to arganinse
the group of steadiast sup-
pomers into what would
later he known as Use
Berkeley Peilows.

He it survived by his
wilie Ruth and rthree sons,
Skip, Jon, and Tony

Fm.‘.‘n Framcisen Chromicle edivor Scott Newhall, who spent 20 years

Scoit Hawhall
in the 19710







i ﬁm nﬂm"ﬂﬂaghﬂhn
lcle- Joint Operating
pelleics, environment, architecture,
ﬂm ‘lﬁnt Building, the Exploratoriua, fighting
-;g_rﬁatuﬂng automobiles, collecting and minting coins,
E:nt'l.'m Co.; on fact l.n.d tantasy in newspapering;
' #;‘-ﬁﬁ-iﬂq Newhall Land and Farming Co. leadership; the Mawhall
-1989, and development of Valenela, Californla; changes in
Imb’-luﬂig a jf-n'l.ut AInterview with Ben Bagdikisn, emericus dean, UC
7 an interview with Ruth ¥ewhall on har marriage, career,
?ﬂ}ﬁj-: ‘and & 1967 interview by Ruth Newhall of Scott Newhall on "a
Appendices Include 1967 interview on being a newspaper
Wﬂ.‘pﬁﬂ:* and 1930 interview on music.

Introduction by Karl Kertum, Chisf Curater, San Franclsce Maritime Natlonal
Historic Park.

Interviewed 1988, 198% by Suzsnme B. Riess. The Reglonal Oral History Dffice,
The Bancroft Lihtnrjr, University of Californla, Berkeley.
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Tt seems to me that that comes close to explaining Scott Newhall’s chore on
earth,

‘The difference s that in Seott’s case the windmills wouldn't have won.,

There is a period where we have doubts: his remarkable youth. He hurls
himself at life, often close 1o disaster, but after a rocky apprenticeship he escapes

imto a new world, the University and marriage to Ruth. He is nineteen, wild, still

wild, getting worse. She will be an anchor 10 windward. He has 1o have her,
The praposal is unusual:

". . we went up to Crockett where the old bridge used to cross the
Carquinez Straits to Vallejo. We were in a 1931 Ford roadster . . . |
said; ‘Ruth, you see that telephone pole ahead of us on the side of the
road? She said “Yes." 1 said, ‘All right. [ am going to head for that
pole, and I'm going to put the throttle to the floor, and if you dan't
agree to marry me, we're going to go together.'

"l hit the throttle and off we went for the telephone pole, and of
course before we got there she screamed and said, 'AH nght, all nght,

amything . .™

Presently the horizons begin to broaden, and the old accomplishments (spons and
boozing) are turned in for new, and the knight errantry, the chivalry (not at is



But it is always there.

I should really not be so boid as to anal
mihufp#.mlhﬂlh#‘&m
tried to study him a bit, just a :
hitch!” He doesn't like it, But as time goe
have some privilege: Iﬁﬂgﬂﬁhﬁﬁ%%
this thick manuscript came to hand. p

It is thick and it is marvelous,

It is . . adventure.

Smnshmthmmdlmﬂ:dh:mmﬂmtmﬂ;nhﬂTukHWﬁ
round Cape Horm. We were carrying a cargo of lumber to South Africa. Imﬁ
way | later came to know the editor and in due course, from the family farm in
Petaluma, sent him a long proposal for a maritime museum/historic ships project
for San Francisco. [t was a true letter-to-the-editor (although a rather lengthy

one), not & request for @ job, But he liked it and got the Chronicle to back the
plan and insisted that I come 1o San Francisco to try to carry it out. [ [ound the

offer irresisuble. Septt paired off Dave Nelson, a resourceful young reporter, 1o
work with me.

It could be said that Scott and | were sizing each other up at this time, although
he was considerably quicker on the draw or I would still be up on the poultry
ranich, This was my patron; this was our strategist (he had devised a plan to co-
opt the publishers of all the four newspapers then in the city in support of the
museum . . only then would we assault the Mayor's office). It behooved me to
know this man.

"Your trouble is you think you have me figured out," he remarked one day.
No, Scott. Not then and not now. But let's try.

| suspect that he was overladen with charm from the start; it is the




ﬁuwmmwﬁmmmﬂndtmm
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 full blast ("Here comes the great Scoul!") he runs into a police car on
ut. And his father comes o bail him out.

‘I‘hnlim later becomes more majestic: "Here comes King Scort!" and gets him
thrown out of Lawrenceville Academy,

(Pullman parter at Chicago, "Isn’t the young gentleman returning early? The
porters knew ail the young gentleman going back and forth across the country to
the eastern prep schools).

An aspect of this insurgency, but not the entirety | suspect, is that he was
exploring and "experimenting” to avoid the "straitjacket of the social order of San
Francisco society . . . | just absolutely, physically almost, had to turn and shut the
door on the social fast lane. 1 think it is impossible to live this life where you po
duck hunting in the duck season . .. and where you know exactly where you are
going o be year after year by the calendar and there is no time left for free
living and roaming around.

"There are other things in life than entertaining and being entertained
at a country club.

"My mother never fived that kind of life. She always had something
Eﬂiﬂg."
Scott paints a pastoral: his early years at the family home in San Rafael and the

summer home in Bolinas: "It was an enchanted, privileged life.” The Newhalls
and the Scotts going to picnics in a big, sidewheel Northwestern Pacific ferryboat




?um@ﬁ@ﬂﬂ.ﬂﬂithﬂuunmmmnﬂ
as might be expected at his age.

"Wu‘ﬂmmnﬁﬂm&m#hwnhm&lﬁmﬁﬂh%&
to lunch today?" T just loved it. The lunches and the g
glorious and bizarre. Ihadmlcammjrmmmih;m“

His mother presided over these disparate gatherings with skill: "She was \
absolutely & glorious hostess. sumwmmmf”m
could talk and lsugh her way out of anything.”

We get an intimation of chivalry at the junior assemblies and debutante parties
during these years: "I for some reason or other really felt very deeply about how
these poor g:u'ls had to sit and wait 10 be asked to dance.

"They'd have these so-called wallflowers. I used to walk around and
literally try to dance with all of them. Some of them would sit thm,u
the whole evening and 1 figured their hearts were literally bre

And they must have been . . | can remember them all dr:m‘:d up with
their white gloves and their organdy gowns--sitting on the side on a
ballroom chair--sitting there and everyone can see that no one is
asking them to dance.

"As a result [ didn't like the parties all that much because the girls 1
really liked and loved to kid around with, they were always popular
and dancing so youo didn't have to worry about their being lonely."

His athletic prowess was apparently considerable: "l was going to be the world’s
greatest tennis player." And he liked to read-"couldn't get enough.” He used a
flashlight to read under the covers after "lights out" in the junior quarters of his




Erdutmhamummwwhschmlfmﬂnﬁdmumﬂumwt.

: Hﬁﬁﬂlhmnmmﬁul“!hmdmra&dhut[wmmdmhu
inﬂin:l,_l"ﬂﬂ:t‘tﬂl_:t‘:mm. I'd usually start out and I'd be the head of the
‘class. I'd get straight 'A's” usually. Then I'd get into too much tennis, and pretty
soon it would slip, Then as 1 got down into the ‘C’s' I couldn’t stand it. So then
pretty soon, I was down to straight ‘F's.” It was a pattern, I'm afraid . .~

His parems were 1old about the Lawrenceville Academy in New Jersey, a larger
prep school, ngid again On the first might everybody had to get up and introduce
themselves. After this the housemaster asked if there were any questions,

A "snotty kid from the upper East Side" pot to his feet: "T'd like the fellow from
California to stand up. I'vé never seen one.”

“So it was good old Scott against the school. It was about an even balunce. |
had them all in line in about three or four weeks" He was actually soon on good
terms with his schoolmates wherever he was enrolled. His conflict was not with
his classmates. He misbehaved for other reasons: ". . . because if | couldn'’t be
the best. [ wanted to be the worst.”

He ran off from Lawrenceville Academy to Philadelphia. He was readmitted.

He was caught rewiring the lights in his room to the fire escape light connected
with an automatic turnofi when the door was opened. He promoted a prize fight
between two of the black house boys. He sneaked off 10 New York 1o play
saxophone with the band in a l0-cents-a-dance hall. His end at Lawrenceville,
tinged with majesty, has already been reported.

Back to Webb, He won four block letters 1o sports, "and that was the best thing
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However, there is a fitful lodestone at work even in this tempestuous time, It
was put in place when he was young, scemingly casually, but ", . Presbyterian
doctrines stuck with me all my life." '

There was no confessional box, Scott points out: " . we had to struggle with it
ourselves,”

Here, in this narration, the interviewer asks, "The guilt?”

“You put the whole thing in one word for me."
In a novel, at this point, the reader could be forgiven for wondering how it will
all come out. Will the charming young man with the flask in his pocket who was
“brought up winning Charleston cups” come out on top or will his alter égo who
has the guilt implant be the winner?

Suddenly hammer blows . . . and opportunity.

The tamily's fortune goes on the rocks, his father is broke. He gets a chance 1o
close-study the sea. His mother wangles him into the University (and he finds it




newspaper business with a stroke of his own imagination, He
mm{ﬂﬁﬂ "candid photographer.” "Candid camera"
anﬂfmm Pﬁmdnﬁkmwanﬂhm;nmmphhmﬂ
than mak which he had done casually most of his life. He was
‘equipped w 'lhthrﬁmnthuh'nlhzrufth:puhlhhﬂnfthcmm“
ﬁrmﬂmﬂ‘hﬂdm The letter said, "Take this young man. He needs a
job." But Bill Wren, the hard-boiled managing editor, turned him down. (7
‘decided then and there forever that the Examiner was doomed.")

It was a different story at the Chronicle.

"I walked in with my camera, upannounced . . | told the city editor
(and I was terrified at the time) . . | said, ‘Look, this is a candid
camera. [t is the new new wave,'

"And he said; "Yes, we've never tried that. We'll try it.™

Tt was in the depth of the depression. He had got a job. He had his foot on the
bottom round of the ladder of an institution that he needed and that would
increasingly, as time went on, need him.

The editor (and general manager) of the Chromicle was Paul Smith, young, short,
red-headed; in Scott’s words, "the most :iynmni: personality wha had come
through San Francisco in & generation or two.” Scott and Ruth were soon part of
Paul Smith's way of life, which meant entertainment of the celebrities of the
world in Paul's apariment, which clung spectacularly to the side of Telegraph Hill,
Here came Anthony Eden, Herbert Hoover, Chiang Kai-shek, Randolph Churchill.
Scott says, "Believe me, this guy was amazing. | keep coming back to it; I've
never seen anything like it in my life."
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eleven year old. (Approxim: .hrﬂﬂruiwhr‘.'_,_.l
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came to a head at Crockett, as the Nootks motored down river.
failed. The family and guests piled off and went home by train, S
pestering 1o set sail on the vessel. | don't know what all the words were,
culminating line from his angry father was: "If you're mughulwnﬂﬁ:w
a tattoo, you're enough of a sailor to sail the boat back."

So Scott and his younger brother, Hall, who was my shipmate in the square-
rigger years later, slammed the big vacht out of Carquinez Straits and down San
Pablo Bay, tack and tack, hour after hour. The winds were stiff; Hall was seasick
but stuck to his post. Scott finally got her around Angel Island and completed
the voyage by confidently picking wp the mooring buoy off Sausalito.

The "cruise that saved my life" came later, after he had failed to graduate at
Webb and had a job in San Francisco in the packing room of a wholesale drug
firm. He was, we assume, not too happy, and drinking. The novelist Stewart
Edward White was a friend of his mother, and at a dinner at the White's home in
Hillsborough Scott was invited for a summer cruise 10 Southeastern Alaska.

Although he suspected that it was a "put-up job," Scott jumped at the opportunity.

The Kuru was a sizeable craft, seventy-seven feet long, and beside the Whites and
Scott there were only an engineer and a cook aboard. The traverse of the Inside
Passage and beyond--out to Sitka—~was demanding, and Scott shared in the
navigation. Stewart Edward White was an accomplished master and he tsught
Scott the arts of piloting, which stood him in good stead the rest of his life, It
was one of the reasons that | had faith in Scott later bringing a paddle tug, built
for niver work, halfway around the world. [ shipped aboard as chiel mate and



: w
dt:r ‘that he and Ruth should buy a boat and sail around the worid. The

:ﬁmhn himrﬂpmfﬂr its
he came into a modest inheritance of $10,000. Halhir:.a:wuuld

~was one of those splendid old-style San Franeisco bay yachts with a

E:Hluﬂhganﬂ capacious trunk cabin, But not new. Paul Smith joined them for

the first leg of the voyage as they headed for Mexico.
Mexico is a theme in Scott's life:

*There is a chivalrous echo still to be heard in Latin America .
so-called town would be one adobe hut with a fellow with his family
and his kids and a few cornstalks and beans,

"He'd come out, ‘Welcome. Be my guest.” You'd say, you know, ‘Don
Eduardo, how are you tnday?’ You'd think that you were m the court
of Spain, for God's sake. These are sort of semi-Indians out in the
country. It is an amazing place. Or was . ."

[ have used the word "advenre.” The Mermaid sailed into a kind of joy in the
Mexican ports of the day and [ think the cruise is still looked on fondly. But
Scott and Ruth also sailed into severities, The first was starvation on a horscback
expedition in search of stone idols on a sacred mountain. But things went awry,
their guides deserted. They were in jungle. There wasn't enough to eat. Ruth’s
shoes, drying out before the fire, burned up one night; she went on barefooted.
They tried to scrape a living off the land: they were starving.

"You are out of your mind, believe me, when you go hungry for a
couple of months . . It was really quite an experience, and I'm sorry
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He mastered an artificial leg. He rewrote copy. chﬂﬂm
Waorld." He had a chance to begin shaping the message.

In 1933 Scott and Ruth had returned from a trip to Europe on the 85,
ﬁ;mh;;mwm:hwalmhmmd:hpﬂnmﬁﬂmny antﬂmp.nqﬁhn
the evil that was loose in that land. The *30s wore oft "Hitler's speeches were

broadcast, we used to listen to them. [t was the most terrible nightmare in the
world.”

Scott, because of an artificial leg, couldn’t get into the armed services, but he
managed to get to England on a baby flattop launched at the Western Pipe &
Steel Co. in South San Francisco.

He leased a flat in London and for six months as a war correspondent covered
that city under attack as well as the rest of Britain, Scott could go anywhere, see
everything. He crossed to the coast of Holland and Germany in the dead of
night aboard small British high-speed gunboats, They got into an engagement
with a couple of German E-boats. He experienced an emotion that had not

entered his life before, fear. “"And the raw fear is 8 sour taste. | can't describe
it. But I didn't like 1t muoch.”

His stories were published in this country and some were picked up by the
London press. As always, in the ward room of flattop, gunboat, or destroyer
Scott hit it off well with the British naval officers. He otfers a truism about war




-mmmtmmmsmmwmmmmmmm and the
-newspaper that he had made prestigious, if not profitable, started 1o suffer.
Instead of ruling with a precise and sure hand, he began 1o travel a lot and there
‘were long intervals when he was not in his office. A council of senior editors was
formed to debate the paper's decline. Scott hecame a strong voice on it. George
Cameron, the publisher and Paul's patron, was under pressure from the de Young
family to take a stronger hand. ("Uncle George" had a cement company with
which to support his tastes.) The paper was losing a million dollars a year.

A younger generation of the de Youngs, notably Charles Thieriot, demanded an
attempt, at least, to get the newspaper out of the red. Meanwhile Scott was
taking a night school class in welding at the Samuel Gompers Trade School so
that he would have a means of supporting his family if the Chronicle
disintegrated.

Paul Smith returned from a trip and Scott and another editor met him at the
airport to tefl him 10 be prepared for trouble. Followed a meeting between
Smith and the cwnership; Smith was imperious. He refused to reduce the staff,
He resigned.

This was Black Friday. | remember it because on his lathe Scott had turned out
an ashtray from a lignum vitae block sheave and fitted in it an old brass
chronometer face. He gave it 10 me on that day and on the bottom, under glass,
[ mounted Time magazine’s account of these doings. | stll have it

Scott turned in his resignation: "Unless | can be assured that the Chronicle will
have an opportunity of success, [ must dissociate myself from the Chronicle.” He
sent & copy to Paul.
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committee. It has to reflect a :
wanted to do; he had been turning it over in his m

nﬁ:rn]lhﬂmplyﬂmﬂﬂmﬂmufﬂm&arﬁrﬂﬁ‘n anci
famtasy, a legend. But everybody, generally speaking, in m Mill Valley,
mm:Pcmuhﬂaﬂnm.mumwﬁmmhm%mm,
And that's why in the end they all had to read the San Fran¢
Francisco has always been a touchstone. It is a fairyland . . "

The interviewer: "Duiyuuhmanldmmmndﬁ:rhuwmlﬂ
readers when you came in in "527"

Newhall: "Pretty much. I felt strongly in the last few years that the
horizon was unlimited for the Chronicle. Somebody could put out a
paper that would absolutely captivate San Francisco."

S50 presently San Francisco (and its satellite cities) pot Emperor Norton, As in
the Emperor Norton Treasure Hunt. They learned that the bones of de Anza,
who had [ounded the city, had been discovered beneath the floor of a church in
Mexico. De Anza was covered as if he lived. They got front page stories,
straight-faced, about a movement 1o see that animals wore diapers to cover their
private parts. A reporter was dispatched to Arabia Felix to (legally) buy himself
a slave, specifically a slave girl, and write home about it.

In short, the editor’s apprenticeship through age twenty-one had not been wasted.
The only difference is that mischievousness had now been institutionalized, He

reports it all with glee. And San Francisco began 0 be captivated. More
Chronicles were sold every day.

Scott went to work to lure Herb Caen back from the Examiner. (Because all



reported the scene in the Saturday Review in 1#?3

'ﬁt!ﬂmﬂiﬁmﬂlﬂﬁwﬁs:ﬁnamﬁhﬁmmh&n
Francisco. The independent Chronicle and the Hearst Examiner were
slugging it out for the city's breakfast table readership. The Chronicle
was generally known as a liberal newspaper, Yet its liberalism was, as
is most liberalism, schizophrenic. While the paper’s Republican

- ownership consistently endorsed GOP candidates for all offices save
dog catcher (that position not being elective in San Francisca), the
reporters, many of whom were refugees from the eastern
Establishment who would suffer anything short of hemophilia to live in
San Francisco, were allowed relative freedom to attempt 1o write the
other side in the news columns.

"The Examiner. on the other hand, was paranoid. Still coasting on
circulation gains achieved during Hearst's promotion of what became
the Spanish-American War, the paper generally read hke the houss
organ of the fallout-shelter industry. There were other tefling
differences, the women's pages of the two dailies providing perhaps
the sharpest contrast. The Examiner's women's pages ran helpful
household hints, bulleting about parish Bingo games (illegal but then
sacrosanct in San Francisco), and formal photographs of Irish Catholic
virgins in pageboy haircuts and junior prom decolletages who were
about to commit the sacrament of matrimony., The Chronicle's were
filled with Paris and New York fashions, lengthy descriptions of the
vacation plans of publisher Charies de Young Thieriot’s friends and
neighbors, and sycophantic reports on the high jinks of San Francisco
society, which was almost entirely Protestant and Jlewish. The fact that
a man presided over the Chronicle’s women’s section was shightly more
than the monumental manifestation of male chauvinism it would



Emiuwduhpmm:hnfmmmﬁn nronicle, by
comparative sophistication and sheer deviltry, gradually b
San Franciseo paper read by the burgeoning suburbs. M
specifically, it was due to the P. T. Barnumship of Chror
mwmhmammgjmmmﬂmammﬁaﬁ =
bizarre.

"Newhall’s pperating assumption was that, since most readers got the
news from television or other journals, they wanted something different
to read over their Wheaties. So he filled the Chropicle with the
comments, social notes, and opinions of more than twenty signed
columnists. Newhall bought syndicated columns the way independent
television stations buy up reruns of m_ﬂjuhj]]m and Star
Trek. But the syndicated types were only a minor act in a daily
Disneyland of local features that included a Dear Abby-type column
for pet owners and the dribbling ministrations of *Count Marco,” a
former hairdresser named Henry [actually Mark. KK] Spinelli, whom
Newhall perversely elevated to phony royalty and whose daily bill of
fare on the women's page ranged from bitchy advice on the grooming
of armpits to such connubial tips as that wives should take baths with
their husbands. For the inventive count’s detailed instructions on the
ladylike way 1o climb into a bathtub while the lady's husband is
waiching, see page 49. ("How to Avoid Looking Like a Tom Blimp as
You Enter the Tub.)

"Much of the news that Newhall used to plug the remaining open
space between the ads was of his own invention. He once dispatched
George Draper, an urbane and witty reporter with a drawl that defied
description as either Southern or Colonial British, to Africa 1o do a
series of front-page articles on the plans of a tiny republic 10 lnunch a



-mnmdmtmwu. H:pmmnthemmﬂhﬂhg the
ﬂiﬁhﬁ‘ﬁﬂ o produce the money to keep the doors open,

'ﬁlm“uﬂidtﬁﬂmm temperament, different background, a meticulous
‘money person, conservative, The collaboration is a strange one, a tribute to
_mwmmmMEﬁmaMMtﬂgmd

on Charlie’s part. "He was painfully shy, So was I, but 1 tried to
“hide it,"  Scott says.

‘Scott has always liked metal. [ do too. He finds solace in it; note the fondness
with which he describes his coin collection, which he could keep in his office and
shuffle during endless conferences. (He favored intuition over conference.) Or
the string of antique sutomobiles which he restored with his own hands and
Ruth’s on weekends at his aerie, their home, at the top of the Berkeley hills.
(Scott won the 1961 Concourse D'Elegance at Pebble Beach with o 1930 Packard
rumble seat roadster he had brought back to life and style.)

| remember his tension during these start-up years for a new kind of Chronicle.
One of his escapes was to get away at lunch time and go spend some time at the
Western Junk Co. We would have & quick hamburger in preparation for visiting
the new collections of old scrap metal brought to San Francisco by the Frucht
brothers. A long prowl followed in this utilitarian shed on 9th 5t. Among many
pieces over the years, | found an ice anchor and a cast iron stanchion from a
Victorian fence that became a prototype, both used on the Balclutha, Scont
found similar specimens--and surcease. There was an inner room, kept locked,
where the best of the new collections were kept. From there [ have half of a set
of bookends in the shape of a leprechaun.

The journalism department of the University of Califormia was of course shocked
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Because it wasn't a shambles. Another part of the editor is imﬁm

the world is going, a concern that-—-then and now--took the form of brooding. It
chivairy's root. Evil 1o break a lance on—Hitler, Joe McCarthy, the loyalty path.
Scott went 1o England because, as best he could, he had to close with Hitler. He
was thrown off a TV program, where he appeared once a week, because he took

on McCarthy ahead of the rest. His theory of newspaper responsibility was that
the editorials should lead; they should brand the paper. Editorials, Scott says, are

where newspapers can get an edge on television. When he got his own paper
later he wrote the editorials himself, strong stuff, and printed them on the front

page. This muscularity was beginning to come through in the new Chronicle,

Anyway, he had a plan for the paper. But at the moment the inmellectuals were
in a state of agitation. (To get in that state, he points out, they had 1o buy the
paper). However it wasn't unanimous. Lewis Mumford came west to teach at
Cal for a semester: "What's all this anti-Chrogicle stuff?" he asked, "I've been
here six months and it's one of the greatest papers ['ve seen. Somebody said,
“But there's never any news." He said, "Weil, look, 1 looked at it yesterday, and

every story that was on the front page of the Times was on the front page of the
Chronicle."

The statistic was offered at a Berkeley party. Another siatistic, in due course,

created a party. It was held in the Chropijcle city room in 1963. They had won
the war; the newspaper had passed the Examiner in circulation.

Did Scott take out after the Hearst paper to get even for Bill Wren's snub? 1
wouldn't discount it. He holds to an armay of simplicitics, verities, that live cheek
by jowl with the complexity in this mazy man. In any case, with success comes



ourceful, and he had charm, and at that critical
_mmmhuﬁm On the wall was an
e ancestor with & wooden leg, Sir Waldo Lovelock-Scot,
couple of glances and must have bewildered them. If they
e in advance to lock up the editor in Who's Wha, they would
that he was the chairman of the board of governars of the Irrawaddy

avigation Co., a company that had never existed. Dunng the war [ had
Mﬂ!glycmmnumﬂﬁnfmhalfbmﬂduamdnd:mmthn
Chinese cemetery in Manila, and Scott had dispatched a reporter an an
assignment in the Philippines with instructions not to come back without pulling
up one for him. This graced one side of the room.

"1 think people—-human beings—are the only thing we've got and [
think they're the best thing we've pot, and I've always loved them; I've
always tried in the newspaper business to kid them along into having a
| little more fun and doing a little more for their neighbor,”

I suppose that Scotw's method with his visitors could roughly be grouped under
"kidding them along” It mav be that [ have used the word "charm” overmuch. It
might be better to say that he has a singularity that somehow makes him--and in
a quet way—the central figure. And [ have already mentioned with respect, awe
really, his penetration. Never have 1 encountered anyone with such laser-beam
ability to read and map out the next fellow's motivations. As, subsequently, a
situation begins to unfold, one wonders if he hasn't been in the presence of
prescience.

These talents were increasingly put at the service of San Francisco on what he
calls here "the citystape” . . 4 sensitivily to architecture, city planning, the freeway
intrusion. Once the rigid fittle ceremonies of election day were past, Scott had a
free hand with how the news was emphasized. He says that he was playing
Lorenzo de' Medici. He used Dave Nelson as a field man at city hall and his
sometimes icy secretary, Dolly Rhee, a cousin of Syngman Rhee, the President of
South Koren, acted the part of enforcer.
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contemptuous of the "corporate’ newspaper talent wha attended as well.
end the consolidation was worked out, was legal, andﬂiﬂw'_,
expanded Chronicle plant, with their editarial offices on the second floor. The
government and the city and the subscribers were assured that the mm
agreement was entirely about the business end--the editorial departments would
be independent.

Scott posted a notice to his staff; Any Chronicle person found on the second
floor would be fired,

The Chronicle kept the morning field to jtself, the Examiner went 1o aiwmmm,

and the curve that Scott Newhall had instituted kept rising; the paper was making
more than a million dollars a year before the merger and now it started to spiral
up into multi-millions. The circulation war was over and things were getting dull.

Scott makes reference more than once in this narrative to the fact that he gets
bored easily.

As a boy [ saw & model of a paddle tug tending a model of the Flving Cloud in a
showcase in the de Young Museum in Golden Gate Park. In 1946 there were
fifty-nine paddle tugs still operating in Britain, but by the time the above events
unfolded many years later there was only one left, still in use, at a small coal port
a few miles down the North Sea coast from Newcastle-upon-Tyne. Scott and |
resoived 1o add her to the San Francisco historie ship collection and Scott and a
cousin flew to County Durham to size up the situation.
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m d they planned to scrap her to get a few large
: uildings down at Greenwich on the River Thames.
I Mmpm&mmmgthnﬁmahdmmm
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 wasn't scrapped. He arranged an exchange at his expense of the
mwwmwmemﬁnmmmmmmm tug,
‘She was the Eppleton Hall, dismantled, pretty much a wreck, eanted over on the
‘mud at the ship breakers, her wooden decks disposed of by building fires on them
_preparatory to the cutting torch. Howewver she still contained the necessary parts

for the display.

‘Scott got a letter from England about six months later saying that the Greenwich
museum was reneging on these arrangements for administrative reasons, whatever
that means, and that Scott probably couldn’t get the vessel to America anyway.
We held a council of war at Foster’s cafetena, corner of Polk and Sutter, and
resolved to go to England and hijack the Old Trafford (now known as Reliant) to
keep her from being eviscerated. As a vehicle | suggested forming The Friends
of the Greenwich Museum; Scott legally incorporated this organization, and
remstercd the faraway tug as a yacht in Parapuay. Cards were printed. Lest they
feel thwarted, the costs of recovering the Eppleton Hall parts for their display
were 1o be left on the gatepost for the Greenwich museum. (A not
inconsiderable institution, [ might point out, with buildings by Inigo Jones and Sir
Christopher Wren.)

The "Friends" cards were to be used by a British movie crnitic by the name of
Otterburn-Hall who made occasional submissions to the Chronicle. Scott felt that
Otterburn-Hall could play a Bertie Wooster-ish role as a friend of the Greenwich
museum, what we call a ship buff, found on the fringes of our kind of museum,
"with scarf, blazer, and thick rubber scles so that he would appear to bounce
along with the ferocity of a cocker spaniel.” Otterburn-Hall recruited a beautiful
English girl named Hilary James out of movie public relations who would serve,
with a cigarette in a long holder, as his secretary.




The jig was up.

The giveaway had been the call from London asking the price. Anﬂ_. riend
of the Greenwich Muscum” would have known the price. The coal compan
wmmmumcmummmmmmlymmwwmm
who identified this as a probable American beachhead. Otterburn-Hall says

Mjutsmdmﬂng-tﬂm;mﬂupmmmdumdmﬂmmm
avoid an imerval when the bracelets might be slapped on.

Scott and | got out of England fast (I remember with fondness the thrust in the
seat of the pants as the jet tilted up at Heathrow airport), but not before Scott
had bought the derelict tug from the shipbreaker. We left behind Bill Bartz,
another shipmate of his brother's and mine from the bark Kaiulani, to resurrect
Lazarus. Scotland Yard duly arrived, but the principals were long gone. Bill
pleaded innocence. When things calmed down, we returned, and despite
forebodings from the old towboat hands on Tyneside, succeeded in steaming this
rver tug to San Francisco. The voyage occupied half a year.

Back at the newspaper, with prosperity the horizons had started to shrink.

"The Chronicle had one great weakness, the foreign news coverage.
And [ will go along with any editorial critics of the Chronicle on this
scare . . [ wanted to start a foreign service, because I felt the
Chronicle was on the threshold of being a truly great, recognized
newspaper. We had enjoyed a lot of fun and games to get the paper
in this position . . [ felt after the merger that we would have enough
financial energy that we could establish a foreign service and get more
foreign correspondents out and take on some of the establishment



- iper in Southern California, the Newhall Signal, in the
.aﬂmrmmm;;w Something 1o leave to his children,

e Whﬂiﬂlﬂmanﬂammﬁhmﬂymﬁm;
mmm@mmmthdmmmhym There was work for

But, San Francisco? In my opinion, Scott is one of the two greatest San

Franciscans of all time; the other is Phil Burton, lmj'lhatsimp-iyb:caus:uf

- what they left behind. [n Scott's case three museums—three major museums—a
cultural heritage. Burton left us a natural heritage, our seashores. They are
encased in a vast national park that he created.

Scott additionally left something else, | notice. He is becoming a San Francisco
legend.

Looming up alongside the Western Junk Co. on 9th street. there stood a
rectangular, authoritative looking building all faced in terra-cotta. This was the
headquartérs of Gladding, McBean & Company, terra-cotta manufacturers, and
Atholl McBean, its proprictor, married into what Scott calls the “family tribal
proup,” the endlessly ramifying Newhall cousins and uncles and nephews and
nieces.  Atholl McBean, according 10 Scott, considered all Newhalls morons. In
hard times, Ruth told me, some of the cousing lived off their capital without
piving it much thought. McBean, a fierce tycoon of the old order, moved to put
a stop to all that, and was named president of the Newhall Land & Farming Co,
with its 125,000 acres. He held it together with an iron hand-this 15 part of the
scene that Scott got involved with when he moved to Southern California.

Another was the high percentage of the self-righteous among the population—
"Not like San Francisco, believe me," as he kept telling me on his trips up to this
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crowd well worked up, Fuﬂﬂ!pﬂﬂuh%?ﬂlhﬁlﬁm
thl:wpennrrm:dm'tmtm niggers!' Scott fired back, *
superior race doesn't vse double negatives,’

"From all reports, the crowd could have killed him then. Fﬁﬂkt
screamed, 'If they're any white niggers here, get 'em!” A group of
rednecks pushed towards Scott, yelling 'Get a rope!’ But Scoit stood
his ground. Jon, Tony and Skip shielded him from the front, and
Charles Howe, the Chronicle Military Editor covering the rally, stood
behind Scout, protecting him with his body. 'T had my hand over his
heart,” Howe said later. ‘It was beating pn:fr.a:tl}.r regularly. The man
was utterly unafraid.’

"Finally, the press saved the day by crowding in to find out who Scott
was, ‘| am Scott Newhall,' he told one reporter. ‘'l am Executive
Editor of the San Francisco Chronicle, Publisher of the Newhall Signal
and a drag racer-class D, modified. | dropped in to listen to this
unfortunate and pathetic bunch expressing themselves in uncivilized
language, like children in a pissing contest. Most of them seem 1o be
unsuccessful middle-aged deer hunters and high school dropouts. My
family has lived in this valley for one hundred years. And if there's
anything I detest, it's bad grammar."

The California valley of his ancestors was to Scott a precious thing. If planning
for the wave of immigration was done right, it could be a model for all the
burgeoning west. And the Newhall Land & Farming Co. was in a position, as
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l‘&t«ﬂ-ﬁﬂﬂﬁtﬁﬂﬂﬂhﬁn&nmumﬂnﬂ a little, it should be recorded. Getting
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Tt was not taken, of course; the Signal was Scott's center. In every metropolitan
city room, | understand, a dream recurrently surfaces among the newsmen-to own
a little paper in a country town. Well, here it is, in fascinating detail. Scott’s
formula for the Signal (jocularly referred to as "hated by 98% of the people, read
by Im%‘] was 10 inform his readers even if it enraged them.

But I cannot ecomment too usefully on Scott's adventures in Southern California.
He was then at a distance; [ hope that | have introduced him adequatcly from
knowiedge closer at hand. He made a roaring success of the Newhall Signal, a
thin throwaway when he bought it (a few years later: " . . on Wednesdays it is
thicker than the Chromicle.) and in due course it was profitable to the extent of a
million and a half dollars a year. But he had been obliged 1o borrow money
from the farming company to buy it, and the man of terra-cotta, Atholl McBean,
called the loan because he was put out with one of Scott's editonal positions,

Scott, to raise operating capital, had to give an option to buy 10 an eastern
syndicate (this in the early, lean days of the paper), and later they exercised the
option.

Part of this agreement. signed at the time, was that he would not start another
newspaper for ten years, The day the ten years were up and he was in his early
seventies, he started the Citigen, Ruth Newhall editor. The staff loyally came



Always a new chapter. | give you a fairy sto
course of the above events. mmmh S
involving a couple of dozen people, Scott had
mmmmmmuhﬂmm
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thought this unfair and churlish and persuaded everyone
distributed with an even hand. ?mml'lrjrknd”hﬂ
Ruth were named heir and heiress of her estate, hdﬂtm ame to them
and they were rich. -

(Scott had not been wealthy at the time of the Eppleton Hall: 1 remember
telephone calls from ports like Dover and places on the Spanish Main telling
Ruth to sell off another antique automobile to fund the next step of the vovage.)

Scott and Ruth live in a castle erected in front of a spectacular backdrop, the dry
Tehachapis. In contrast to the stark mountain range, the castle 1s surrounded by
old trees and lawns so that the air is balmy; it is literally paradise on earth. It is
not really a castle, but there is a stone tower at one corner with battiements on
top. The architecture of the rest of the house is Victorian-claborate with thirty
stained glass windows, many of great beauty. '

[t burned down.

A painter was using a blowtorch on a day when the hot Santa Ana winds were
blowing off the mountain and the Newhalls weren't home.

Scott and Ruth assembled a4 band of artisans and the first thing that was done
was to pour a concrete slab in the exact shape of the missing house. Under the
slab, in the basement, was created a vast machine shop with lathes from Austria
and milling machines made in Ohio. Scott worked in the basement and Ruth
worked above ground with tile and marble and glass; together with the crew they
erected an exact replica of the house that had been destroved. Only better--
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modicum of modesty, his uniqueness. They are a cover drawn over brilliance,

There is another aspect: "I hate the words right and wrong" After assertion
after assertion--the philosophy of an opinionated man as he has worked it out--
the reader will find added: "I don't know.” Or equivalent. Scott is wary of the
cosmic.

Be prepared for perversity. There is an authentic little spat with Ruth preserved
in amber. Don't take everything written here at face value, even some of his
comments on what it means to be a journalist. 1t is a rhetorical posture 1o have
some fun.

But when he says that newspapers "are the only rench we have against the
encroachments of a dictatorial society” we are out of the fun and into what he
deeply believes.

March 199 Karl Kortum, Chief Curator
San Francisco, California San Francisco Maritime
Mational Histonc Park
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"g-iﬁ writlng about Scott Newhall is to cresce as
as he would write, or wish to read,

iiﬁiaﬂﬁﬁiﬂ in fellcitous phrasing es they model verbal
~tha man and the editor, Appended te this oral

such piece. Harl Hortus's latfsduction s the wost recent
Take their word, Scott Mewhall is a treac te be areund,
ﬁ! thess oral ﬁlﬂtupy interviews should make chat abundantly

la!hra Lnﬂulging in may own Newhall adjectives, firsc, the background
‘for the inﬂtt.ﬁﬂﬂhill Orel History, In 1967, when Scott and Ruth Mewhsll
weT® ﬁi#iug at One Hill Rosd in Berkeley, Ruth Newhall began to incerview
her husband. She undertook this in response to an invitational letcer
trom che head of the Regional Dral History Office, Willa Baum, In the
Hay 26, 19656 letter to Scott Rewhall, Mrs. Baum wrete:

*...wa propose to shatter precedent by asking you ro be
interviewaed by your wife, She knows more about your career
than eny of our tegular interviewers could find cuc, and her
exparience in journalism and history wrlting quality her.as to
training. We would hope to do & full autoblographical
interview, perhaps five or so recording sessions, including
your childhood and family recellecclons, your edusation,
espacially at UG, your marriage while still in ¢ellege, yoaur
travels, and cthen most fully, your newspapear careec; In as
much as some of the recent developments such as the merger aof
che Examiner and che Chronigls will invelve considerations of
privacy, I expect you will want to put all or & part of your
manuscript under sesl for a while. Be assured that sothing you
say will go beyond our office staffl uncil and unless you
release It for acholerly use."

' The intervievs of husbend by wife hagan chat August, but very soon
Ruth Mewhall was disrressed that it was gerting much too lengthy.




lecrer e Buth and Scott Newhall from Willa Baum reads:

Baum, "are the dntniln of thﬂ 3
(Rewhall Land snd Fﬂtﬂiﬂg ﬂﬁﬁhqhw} of e
and offlecer, and the planning of a nnu-qitg
California by those companies... A little more :
{the newspaper which he owns in Hewhall, ﬂulif &
building of & small-town paper. And, semething, If“i m
appropriate, about his overpowering hobbies, into ?hiﬁh h&-
throwe fantascic anergy. They have included tll;nqua il
bullding, masonry and sStonework, easel painting, coin i
eollecting old car restoring, jewelry designing, .tuﬁﬁiuiﬁﬂ&
and--gurrently--ha iz at this moment cutside putcing together &
supor-powersd drag racer.

Our filez ars bare of curtahpunﬂ:ﬁﬁq antil Hﬂf 18, l?ﬂ?-ﬁhﬁﬂ &,

*It was good to see you at the Class of ‘31 Reunion luncheon,
But what bad news that all the tapes for Scott's oral history
were burned. I did noc speak to you chen abour rﬂdﬂiﬁg them.
for ! knew your firse cask was to rebuilld your home, If chat
is under comtrol now, perhaps it is not too scon Co Say thac
the luss of those capes should not be allowed to be a permanenc
less. So long as vou both are all right, they can be re-
recorded. ., Would wyou, Ruth, be willing to do the interviewing
again? Or should we think sbout another interviswer, who would
require your guldance for questions?... However it gets set up,
it seems to me essential that eventually thera be a full and
detalled oral history of Scott {and Ruth] Kewhall in The
Banereft Library. From that could then be drawn a trimmed down
publishable memoir.™



posit
: > pa _Ztli-hiiﬂﬂrf 1ﬂ-ﬂhtt ﬂdaiing ﬂith thi San Francisco
nicle and I think we can still do a good job on that.®

 In fact two transcripts were ealvaged from the fire, and thev are
both ingorporated in the oral hiscory thac follows--Chapter XV1 and the
iﬁ@iﬁﬂiﬁ.‘ﬂn Being a MNewspaper Photographer.”

~The Hewhalls had things to do from 1982 to 1947 other than redo
interviews, as the oral hiscory in covering those years makes clear. And
0 a4 second round of interviews of husband by wife was never bopun. Tor
one thing, Ruth by them was the editor of the Newhall Signal. and Scott's
was the most significant newspaper voice in the newly-designated Santa
Clarita Valley, and in the town the Newhall Land and Farming Company
builtc,

Bur in 1987 the propesal to Interviéw Scortt Newhall came up &gain.
Karl Kortum, an old land and seafaring friend of Scott's, and the Chief
gurator of the Sen Francisco Meritime Natlopal Historic Park, reminded
the Begional Oral History Office that there was still & great story te be
racorded. aAnd this cims the San Frapoisco Chromicie's assistant to- the
publisher, Phelps Dewey, and publishor Richard Thieriot, joined the
Nawhalls and the Newhall Land and Farming Company in raisimg the [unds to
do the oral history. That meant that interviews with Scort Hewhall could
ba ‘comducted by the Regional fral History Office of The Bancroft Llbrary.

Of course, by the lste eiphtles, twenty years afrer the first oral
history propesal, the story had doubled in length. The pasc was twency
¥ears further bacle, the preésent was full of problema witch the: {ewhgll
Signal. Mumerous witty and impasslened words had been written by and
about Scott Newhall--his response to witless and unfair charges in L1987
egainst his paper, its editer, und the Farming Company i5 1in £Ehe
appendices--a varsion of Shangri-la was in plaece In Valencia, Califernts,
The Mansion had been rebuile wirhin sn inch af perfection, and theére vere
new stories to ba told.




interviews, the present was everpresent. In ﬁugust 15?! _f '___
Signsl were coming apart. The owners, the Morris Chain, and che
publishers, the Newhalls, wars severing rolations, Thlhﬁlﬁhﬁfi; HFH;
contemplating starting a competing paper. [See Appendix F.j Trus te
what seemed to be a predictable tau-ynlt cycle, yet lqnthﬁt aﬂ!ﬂbﬂ-?ﬁ
provocative articles on the 3sp Francisco Chronicle had comes out in Eﬂ
Francisco Magarine [November, December 1087], Hot =n ideal time for
"emocions recollected in tranquilicy,” but no matcer. We ecarried on,

In February 1989, when the intervisws were winding dowm, 1
talephoned Ben Bagdikian, recently retired dean of the University of
California’'s School of Journmalism. 1 wanted suggestions from him for
glebal journaliscic quescions. After a few minutes of conversatlon I was
Insplred to ask if he would care to be In on a cthree-way interview wich
Scott Mewhall. He was agresable. He had not met Scott: although he had
written critically about the Sgn Francis=es Chrapnlels, ha had alwuy:n
admired its editor. Moderating that taped conversation--Chapter XILI--

was fun, It wes a meeting of two souls wise in the ways of newspapers,
snd wich plency of dislikes apd opinions in common.

In the meecing with Ben Bagdikisn, Scott Hewhall veviewed for a new
listener a mumber of tha subjects that had been discussed at lengch
earlier, themss that would come wup - again in o windup interview, 1 thls
were a biography em route to publication, the repetitions would ba
eliminated. As it is, they are left, and understandsble in the contexc.
in fact thelr relteration underscores their importance Efor Scott Hewhall:
while this was oral histery, it was also currenc hiscory, llving history.



uthe lﬁiltﬁntufn scene, We drznk.fttahly squeszod
hg tgn pqgl a blue owval ringed with warer-spouting turtles.
treas. gver to shade the parip. dreppad the occasional
?ﬁﬁt ﬂtigﬁlndhgatnr White marbls goddesses stood chelr ground,
m iﬂight ysmm. and across it came 4 Greac Dans te intruds
tnﬁ# everything.

H} taped some conversation that afternoon, in part using an index of
questlons put by two journalism historians, Pater Mellinl and Lymn
Ludlow., Then we had dinner, and a tour of the awesome basesment workshop
i where serious projects ware afoot. The house ltself was full of
dnl;ght: mapy of them zilver, or on canvas, The epergnes were stocked
with chocolate MEMs, Scott plaved the piano.

That day, July 12, 1989, was & greac day for my hosts. They had
just hesrd that one of their least favorite edltors had been asked to
leave his post &t The Sigmal. It was a vindigaclon, and perhaps an
indictment of the reviled "Iinvestigative journallsm" schoel. The phones
were ringing: Ruch and Scott Newhall were In demand, for comment snd
advice,

The next morning I woke te the wet sounds of & fountain, and a
proprietary view across orange groves to dry hills. 1 went out to walk,
herded by the large dog. When I rerurned Huth Newhsll was stirring
togather pounds of breakfast--dry scuff, buttermilk, canned stuff--for
the dog and a dozen cacs, and afcer that she and I taped & brief Tamily
hiscory interview. Later tha three of us drove a shorc ways to see the
ball at Camulos that came to the Mission San Franciseo from Russia via
Sitka, Alaska. The HMission apd Camules vere the serting of Ramops. &
novel of & far earlier southern California, and that day the rancho world
sepmed very much alive and well,




proofread and indlxhd Jaﬂﬂl R Elntnt rpgirtﬁ-
gave it a close reading, and so did I. In nﬂdihiqqt
been honored with the tssk of wricting an in
memoir, became by defsult and by instinec lﬂﬂthﬂr
helpful correctlons, Also of greac leportance was ihnz
photographs that Mr. Koreum made available. Several fini~#l_
include him and Scoct Newhall are his work, or his

Scott Newhsll knew that Karl Kortum would be the right persen to
write the introduction to tha mesolr. He gave Mr, Hgttuu the Higﬂuﬁi
opportunity that seldom comes to a friend--that of standing back and
analyvzing what makes the person unique, effective as a citizen, qﬁﬂtlring
43 a companion, I won't sus up Mr. Eortum's nplnnﬂid iﬂtruﬂn::iuu.
because It In some ways sums up the oral history, but I do want to thank
him, It was hard work, carefully done,

When Mr, ¥ortum sent along, by way of illustration, an slbum from a
mugical night at the Newhall's house in Berkelay, it became rathar
painfully svident that not enough attention had besan pald to che
importance of music for Secotc Newhall. Scoct agreed; he was asazed that
he hadn't voiced his love of music, of fazz, insistently throughout the
text, And so we did an interview on music April 25, 1990, to which he
appended noces written two days later as he rode back home on the train
from San Francisco south. That interview L& in the appendices.

In thanking peopla I want to put Rach and Scott Kewhall first. Thay
could noc posslbly have beon more helpful, or more pleasant to kﬁnw. And
then ic wes Dolly Rhee who. in the language of scknowledgments, “made cthe
right things happen at all the critical times." Sha alwaya returned

calls, and helped in every way she was asked to help. Tony Mewhall did
Eod
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M your early semories: Did you know your grandparents?

ﬂh_~nddly enough, T never had Erandgzigzt: whom T knew. The
survivor was my grandfather, Edwin 11, who was buried the day

my younger brother was born, 1 was about two years old when he
diad.

I had a satep-grandmother who survived and was very charming.
My grandfather had gone east to school, I suppose te Yale, and had
married Fanny Hall, a young lady from one of those scademies for
young ladies in New England, She died In childbirth when my father
was bern. So my grandfather married her best friend, and
schoolmate, who was Virginias Whicing Newhall, vhe came from Martha's
Vinevard, the {sland off of Cape Cod there. She functioned as a
gort of distant and awe-inspiring grandmsther, but her husband, my

‘grandfather, had dizd by the time: 1 was asctive In the family scens.

Virginia Whiting was one of those MNew Englanders who cama out
here as a young woman, where she married my grandfather, but home to
her was always Martha's Vineyard, and every susmer she went back
home ta Martha's Vineyard, Her children and grandchildren still ge
homa to Martha's Vinevard every year in the mummertima. I once went
*home™ with chem, and my brother and T began fightlog and kicked
owver one of these breakfront glass cabimets full of Indian
artifacts. T was nover {nviced back agsin, at least with sny
enthusiasm.

##This symbol indicates that a tape or a segment of a tape has begun
or ended, For a gulde te the tapes see page



Euun:? ¢r
in itealf.

Marin County had been settled by .
there was overlaid on that a Scotch, P:nt yrel
peecage. A lot of what I .am mul:{m mu :hn hpinr
"nobility® came from San Francisco and want nerth ACTOSE
Gate looking for a country enclave. They would commute then.
Northwestern Pacific Railroad had train service between o
and Tiburon, through San Rafasl, and north to Bureka. The ferry
boats came Across tha hsy from thn Farry Builﬁiqﬁ te #ﬁp;ﬂiit#.

It was a life that I guess is not going to hu lived nﬂ?hﬂta 1ﬂ
the United States of America. The metor cars were jusc nnnln; in.
There were these large escates in Marin County, This was an
earlier, baslcally reclusive soclety, simllar to the scclety that
grew up down the Peninsula In Burlingame, San Mateo, Woodside,
actherton, and 2o on. As I say, it was basically & Scotch- m
Presbyterlan and Eplscopallan commaenity., One's [riends went to the
Preshyterian church in San Rafael or co the Epilscopal churches.
There was a kind of comsunal social life. Captain Dollar of the
Dollar family, and the Boyds, and the Fosters, the Johnsons, the-
Babcocks, the &bbotte and Andersons, snd such were all Sen Francisce
families. They moved over to Harin Councy.

The motor cars and the auto ferries were coming in, burc we
arill ag children had our horses. We rode all sver Harin County on
our horges and went out and played Indlans and cowboys and so on up
in the hills,

It was a wonderful 1ife for a child becausa it was very
comfortable. It wasn't, in a sense, a5 gloriously social as perhaps
soma of the Engllsh country sstates, or perhaps Newport or something
in the East, but thers wore numercus comfortable homes with large
ataffs in Marin. They had their own round of parties Far the kids,
the birchday parties. Of course, this culture waz atarced bhefore



Riess:

Mewhall:

Rieszs:

Fawhall:

- %Ej;@@t Hﬂhi#allt up in the ﬁnwuina* catch che 7:45 train and
; '::h.i.i:nJ jjtfnn the “"Ukiah,"” "Eureka." or the "Sausallte,"”
of the' t5, cross the bay to San Francisco and work, and
#tt#h_jhl ﬁuli ot 5i45 ferry coaing back across the bay in the
~ The commute then would have taken about an hour and a
Fow tnd;r, in 1988, I guess, on a bad day it can still
hour or more through the heavy ctraiffic.

‘There ware no bridges then, and wa were all brought up to cross
bay by ferry and land ar the Ferry Building. The memories of
unﬁ:tinﬁ the bay with the zeagulls flying and the fog and waves
splathing around are scill exefcing. You could buy & bag of popcorn
and then throw the popeorn te the seagulls. Those were memorable
times, and it was a wonderfil 1ifa, I could actwally go on about
this nostalgic 1life by the hour.

Willisp Andergon Scate, Preshyrarian DNivins

When you say, "one was Presbyterisn,” I take it you were one of rthe
"ones. "

That's right. My great-grandfather on my mother's side--his name
was William Anderson Scott--he was a Presbyterlan divine, cor
clergyman. He had been Andrew Jackson's pastor at his Hermitage
Estate or whatever it was called, in Louislana, Tennessee, back
thers somewhers. He tame cut here with a lot of childrem. I think
he had nine. He had, as I understend it, 4 manny for sach wﬂn of
the childran, But in thofe days chey wers called slawes., This was
before tha Ciwil War.

They wera black?

They were blacks. Ve Americans didn't go in too much for Arabian or




As the Civil Var came along, Dr. Scorr, :
became a person of 1ll-fame bacause of his slave
confederate sympathies. The people of San Franci
northern sympathlzers, were going to 1ynch him.
grandmother Newhall, Mrs. Henry Mayo Newhall, called ;
in her carriage and hid him under a blanket, They l#iliﬁﬁl:

of town zo he did not suffer hanging by the nscoki

br. Scott came back after the war and they founded the San
Francisco Theological Seminmary, which is a growp of old Gothic or
Romanesque buildings ower fn San Anselmo, up on the hill above the
town. My mocher always felt duty-bound to observe, at least, ths
rituals and related social ceremonies of the Presbyterian dhnrﬁh

Most of the people we knew were slders or they were members of
the congregation of tha Fresbyrerian church there. I, of course,
was put through Sunday school, and my sother finally prevailed uwpon
me--1 wag beginning to rebel, this was in the middle twenciss--to
join che churah.

I said, well, anything that she wvanred, of course, I would he
happy to do because I had the nicest mother and the nicest father, I
think, any human being could have. I mean that very seriously. T
hava never known nicer people in my 1ife. I joined the church and
made whatever promises were reguired by Almighty God. But, oddly
enough, that was the last time I ever went. I never went back
again. I felr that I had done my filial ducy and was, I suppose, a
mapber then in good standing of the Harin County branch of the
Presbytorian community.

All fooling aside, I must confess the Galvinise, or whatever
they are, the Enoxlan doctrines of Presbyterianism hawe stuck with
me all my Life, and they have alvays been, whether I liked it or
not, a very strong Influence i{n my view of many of the behavior



Blegg:

Hewhall:

y all.
ﬁﬁ-m-tﬁ&ﬂﬂﬂnﬂt doctrines chat ruled your 1ife?

1= gqﬁ let me put it this way: My mother and father were very active

in getring sinisters or pastors or people te teach. Remsen Bird--I
was mentioning him earlier--was a young Presbyterian minister, a
student who came out here, and my mother and father sorc of took him
in tow. He taught in the seminary across che bay in San Anselms for
!Ihiln. but they put him down as president of Occidental College,
which was a Preshyterian college in Eagle Rock, actually, down in
Los Angeles.

Our Marin Councy Presbyterian world was a vaguely raformed or
liberal ecclesiastical environment. 5o we didn't really balieve too
deeply in brimsctone and fire, I maver did think [ was particularly
E0ITE to ToAsC or be sauteed, you koow, iln hell samehow,

One vas impressed with the fact thac If you measured up to Some
of the rather more stringent precepts of the King James varsien of
the #lble that you would be well considered in vour communicy, You
aré not to lie; you are mot co Steal; you ace not to fornicare; you
aren't supposad to foal arsund with your nelghborfs wife ox hia
Iivescock or anything 1lke that.

We all begame sinners if we failed to live up perfectly to
thoge particular doccrines, As we backslid, or fell out of grace,

one would have certain spiritual problemsa. We didn't have the

catholie "confessaional box" in which co expiate our sins, and have
everything stralghtensd our for us. We had to scrugzle with it
aurselves,

The pullt,
That's right, ewxactly, You put the vhole thing ince ene word for

me. But guilt never bothered me too much. 1 flgured everyone olse
was just as guilty or perhaps a little guiltier than [ was.



Riless:

Newhall:

Risss:

Mewnall:

mostly Protestants.

For example, the deYoung family came o
Catholics. !hljhdlhlﬂn!lﬂﬁﬁ. ay u
of Marin County's social matrons. This Ls Mikse
family. They are very nice people. Wa'll talk
sure, later on. In Marin County, for a while,
faver: blacks wers in ill-faver; Irish were in ul-m

that time the newspaper people, the deYoungs, were Catholic
were in not accorded a poaition.

Hike built this very handsome home over there, & m on
Victorian estate, but he couldn't make it with the jg:a.ﬂ:i.# -mi
society, It was too bad because he was looking for resps P
(We're all looking for respectshility.) He finally gave up. 5@:_:'.1;}_1
got a couple of chimpanzees and put them in the coach box of his
carriage. Then he had his coach driven around town for awhile ﬂiﬁh
the chimps sitting up in back. Then he left town, went back o San
Francisco and down to Burlingame and gave his Marin County hgu to
the Catholic Dominican Convent over in Marin. T gusss he scruck one
lagc, great hlow for Catholiecism. 1 mencion thar simply becaise I
think that was a slice of 11fe then.

The chimps were the blg thumbing of the nosa?

I guess so, He just did it as & gesture., That was before my time,
but I have alwsys admired him for it, believe ma.

My mochar and father and msny of the people there, as I said,
were antirely gracious. They wouldn't be vude to anyone, My Eather
later bacame & prasident of the San Francisco Chamber of Commerce
and was rather active in San Franeisco business affairs, and vaguely
politieal affairs. We entertained poople from all over the world
whe came through San Francisco wvhen foreign visitors needed & whiff
af lecal hosplitality.

That was because of the businezs conneccion?

Part of ir, yes, but my mother loved people. She always had a whole



¢ mmmmm ﬁmﬁg because, I
e way to rebel. .ﬁi‘ﬁhﬁﬁ;ilﬂ of drinking in
ate ninetoen-twenties, & lot of ir,

; girls? You are from a family of boys, and you are

the kind of bliss of bilhg & boy in a powerful sociery.

-#ﬂ'ﬂ%itm the same for girls?

Mﬂr Mﬂnpﬂtmm- then between girls and boys, in additionm to

the obvious anatomical differences, Girls were sugar and spice and

;tﬂ:gﬁ:ing nice, sorc of, They did live In a female psychological
environment. But 1 thought there was never anyching as beautiful or
as exciting or as deairable as a glrl, 20 I'm not going to ba a very
good reporter on that subject. I'm not one to go out camping with
the boys. If you want te go camping with the girls, fime, but not
with the bays. There are other things te do.

1 don't know what to say about it except that they were an
immensely important part of our lives as young men. We would go to
the assemblies in San Francisce, then we'd have them over for houss
parties in Matin.

Bolinas

BHewhall: We had quite a large beach house In Bolinas, and Bollnas was
gomething. Bolinas was just picked up right out of, 1 don'c know
what, Cormwall or Imverness or somewhere, and just plopped down on
the California coast, just morth of the Golden Gate.

Bolinas was Irlsh--Protescant, or Scotch--a little seaside
summertime epclave. My firsc memories of life, almost, are gelng to
Bolinas as 2 very small child when my brother or I had the whooping
cough, Elther they sentc me over there so I wouldn't get {eg, or se I
wouldn't give it to somebody else. 1 forger which.

Let's see. The families: the Gil£illins, the Fernettas, the
Pages, and so on. My father bought quite 4 nice house, and we lived
right down on the baseh at the end of the road. Our friends all
came and spent all summercime with us--my parents' friends, =y




w

Ve'd ride ﬂur hn¥ﬂ4§ Ill ﬂ#ﬂt 2
hunting or vhatever was daing up on ‘the Nﬂr’

There were always girls during those Bolings s
were family and friends and guescs. They would come &
Francisco. Or visit from Los Angeles or E&tuil:ﬂ& or
D.C., ¥ew York, or Berlin or South America. Or In ane
blessed with a White Russian family with twe hn:utifhl Ay
still on the run from the Bolshaviks,

We'd live in our bathing sults and we had row-beats, sallboacs,
speed boats, and cances and stuff in the lagoon. Hﬂh‘lit'lh&l
perhaps, yet this was all wvery simple, We were a very simple,
relaxed, informal family. My uncles and great-uncles and so on
would come by for a few days. They were all wvery stylish. Some of

them were deaf or very fat or suffering from wastly elevated blood
pressure.

In our regular 5San Rafasl home there were lots of people around
to make life comfortable. Up in the attle room there were always.
one of twe or three of our old servants who were either dying or
otherwise recired, It was all a blg family.

I cannot tell you what memorable parents I had. They were so
gracious, even to their own children. After I went off to school,
and responded te the wild call of the Gordon's Dry Gin Ilazkk'puuplﬁ
would look at me and shake their heads and snap, "How ecould Almer
and Arns have ever sired a person as awful as you are?" That'a a
fact, Thar was che gullt. I had to live up to my paremts, they
vere perfect. They never gquarrelled.

My father was so pleasant. In Bolinas every Fourth of July for
two or three days they'd build this huge bonfire on the beach, and
my facther would always bring over from San Franmcisco literdlly
truckloads of flre crackers, Roman candles, triangle=, hombs and
such wondarful stuff. Every kid in Bolinas would come down to my
facther's ammunition dump on the beach and help himself te anything
he wanted, We'd all spend the Fourth of July blowing up the beach



.....

2]&ﬂﬂmﬁx‘hhudla;r-mm- or less south, I guess, along the
‘down to the crossroads at the old Comsunity
will go around to the left to the channel by the
yau turn to the right, instead, you go out to the
was the last house on the right down at the ocean. It

; IH"I the beach there. The beach is all gone now., There was
1!~h‘ﬂﬁﬁifu1 beach there. The clam pacch, you’'d go out and dig for
clams iuﬂﬂ;u ‘get mussels on the reef--do anything, ride, boat, eat
plenic lunches or ride the waves on surfboards.

Riess: ﬁﬁml*ynu being taught, as often children of wealthy parents are, a
sort of noblesse oblige? Were you supposed te be good to other less
fortunace children?

ﬁmha],l Totally. Totally. I believed it, and I atill do. This is & very
| sensitive thing te get intoe, I don't mean that I would be
patronizing to anyone. We were just the same as anybody else. Our
friends came from almost anywhers. 1 know that the chauffeur's son
A was my closest friend for & year or twe or three. Actuslly he was
the son of somebody else's chauffeur.

Mother, Anpa. and Brothers. Almer and Hall

Newhall: My mother had been very, very poor, very poor. Her father had taken
to the bottle very likely because he couldn’t atand the Fresbyterian
pressure or something. She had been very poor and she had got a job
at Miss Murison's School for Young Ladies hers in San Francisce and
met my father, who was probably one of the bachelor catches of the
generation. 1 guess sy mother would have been described as the very
respectable or genteel poor of San Francisco, They were married and

| soon moved to San Bafael.

She had been brought up in great part by her aunt, Louislana
Seott, who was married to Arthur Foster., Unele Arthur Foster was an
Irish boy who had come over and got wvery rich and fimally got




Eipgg:

Rewhall;

sons and daughcers in her gemeration.) She =
so0 she devered her life, really--of course I's
suppose--to trying co help othar Fmp'-l.m ﬂ:-t
which incapacitated her when she was in her fifties,
side was prmti:;all:r usaless.

By this time, sa I mentioned, our family fortunes collapset
with the great '29 crash, but we had enough here and there to eat
with. My mother came co live at the Berkeley Women's Gity Club
before Pearl Harbor. She taught herself te operata & braflle
typawriter, and the resr of her life, for shout ﬂfﬂ_mn years, she
spent transcribing into braille the doctoral dissertations of blind
students. atc UC.

I admired her so much for dolng that. 5She‘d sit there all day
long. I don't know if you have eover rum a braille typewriter, 5She
always had to have, I suppose, dependents to whom she felt she was
contributing something. 5She hed, I'm-sure, cthat fesling. She was
alwave 2o nice co me, As I gpay, I have my moments of puilt, Here I
was, this naughty lictle boy, ewven vhen | was larger,

You were the second of three sons. What are the names of the
ethers? What Kind of little boys were they?

Well, my older brother was Almer Maye MNewhall, Jr. My younger
brother was Hall Mearns Newhall. Hall was named for his
grandmother, Fammy Hall Fewhall., My mother’s mother wag a Measrns.

In the case of brother Almer, I had ths innate respect for him
that I puess most bova do for their alder brothers; [ always sort of
glorified him, idealized him, or idelized him. Almer was a

diffarent peraonality, different from Hall and ma, He didn't take
to horseda and girls that mueh--not necessarily in that order.

He was thrown off his horse, Skylark, and she Kicked him when
he was dewn., 5She did that to me a few times. She was a nasty, ill-



cars. He Efnillr buile an lirgi-n- that crashad on
- fight and rather cut up the young man who was flying fc.
lot hed never flown before either. Almer went to engineering
1l and seremautic mechanical classes at the Boeing aircraft
acility over at the Oakiand airporc. Then he went, oh, here and
there to one or snother of the engineering scheols. He ended up at
HIT in Boston. He was going to join che faculty there but he gave
it up because he couldn’t stand the wescthar in Massachusects, It is
very difficult for & California person to go east and sectla

nu@fnmtnhlj'in the Siberian steppes of the East Coast. You may know
that. It's rough.

Almar worked as an engineer all during World War II. [ pguess
be had a good Preshyterian sort of repressive conscience because he
couldn’t stand some aspects of common social misbehavior. He was
wotking for a rather elaborate and sophistlcaced radar tube
engineering manmufacturing firm down the peninsuls, Eitel-HoCullough,
which was a World War II success story and precursor of the Silicon
Vallevy industrial wonder electronic firms of cha 19805,

L

Kewhall: Unforcunscely, the ultra-human gualltles of Almer's co-workers
bothered him. The young men around the plant apparencly were in tha
habit of sgpending their lunch hours or coffee breaks playing "post
pEfice® in the phato dark rooms with the young Ladles--secretaries I
auppoge they were then, I don’t think thers were many female
engineers at the moment--and my brother didn’t approve of ic. The
day the Japanese surrendered he went In and told che presidenc, *I
quit_. T can't scand this. This i nor che kilond of place I want ta
wark im."

I should say when he was wory young Almer had trouble with his
ears. He had a double mastoid sltuation, He was partislly deaf all
his 1ife and ap at times he preferred to live in his own
enviromment. He was a peace-loving man. much like my father, He
couldn't stand to see anyone hurt or hungry or hated, He kept

‘ retreating, He lived up ln Cloverdale and then Sonoma for awinile.
In the sixtias he came down with cancer. and he died wery young,
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of us have tended to ph:mﬁkduu ﬂuuli b =
mdummprmiﬂnmtm:nm*t too much Cim

It sounds like you and your ﬁid}t hmuthu: ‘were real
different, Did you medel your life on him in ﬁﬂ#

No. 1 always felt my brother Almer was a genius, He ‘ll.# very
brilliant in his fisld. We were going to build a race car to rum in
the Indianapolis 500, [ was to drive it; he was going to build
We were going te call Lt the Newhall Brothers' Special. ﬂﬂtr___h
never got around to doing it, unfortunately. Afcer he dili.I-':"
back to Indianapelis almost every year for the race, 1 supposs
homage to him. I have always enjoyed motor cars myself and tﬁﬂ&ﬂg
and whatnot,

Hocher's Free Spirit, snd Spiricusifism

I asked you earlier about your parents, They cared about religion.
Did they care about politics?

They cared about the obeervanes of raligion; abeut politics, me. I
would say, generslly speaking, everyone whom one knew was &
Republican. The result was that my mether would call herself a
Socialist half the tise. I was a Republican then, at leasc I
protessed such a falth. I am still registered &= a Republican,
although it iz still & hopeless political coowvocecion.

Your mother would call hersalf a Socialist?

Oh, she rhought Norman Thomas was just grand. Look, my mother was a
free spiclt in her wvay.

I hadn't gathered that. That's great.



fathor T n w-qm: 4 polttteal thought tn bis
ff;ﬂﬂlﬁh if anybody had asked him he'd say, "I'm a

Hewhall: MW @ WEry great respect for the female sex. There wers no
‘barriers, to her, She wasn't out thers parading around with &
1ﬁimliﬂ.lt all, bot {f there had been any confrontation end she had
to take a choice Lt would hawve been on the side of the suffragerta.
She was totally Independent in thought.

For whatever it's worth, when the DAR boycorted a Marian
Anderson concerc--Llt was in Fhiladelphia I think--becavse the great
singer was & "negro," my mother resigned from che DAR.

I have never mentioned what I am about to say before. I think
ic"s proper only to say that at one period In my mother's 1ife, when
we were seill going to Bolinas, she became very much Invoelved with
what wea then called gpirituslism. Shée had zome peychie, or
extraseanzory, expariences with zoms of her friends, some guite wall-
placed friends, They would attend meetings with people involved in
sgeancas or othéer remarbable extraterrestrial phenomena. She had
soma experiences as a madivm. In a sense it didn't ever go
anywhere, but that was a tremendoualy important facet of her life.
I'm nor fir to gert off and deglaim on the fisld of hysteria or
anything Like that, bur she was very much involwvad.

The Stewart Edward Whites were people who Lived down in
Burlingame. He was the author of some very successful novels. Tha
Whites were wery sccial. He was a preeminent big game hunter,
explorer, and maturalist and so forth. They were involved in
apiritualisa. (I haven't thought about this for a long cime.)

My mother left a trunk full of documents, theoracically
tranzmitted o her either throupgh her own automaric writing, or
gomething hHisearical, wvhich she gave ro Lynn Townsend White--who

I fneidentally was not related to the Btewart Edwsrd Whites. Lymn
White was the son of a Presbyterian clergyman, He becames che
president of Hills College and a very renowned scholar of medieval
lireratura. I'm just mencioning that in passing; spiricualism was
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Yes. It sounds like one had to be o 1y we rmal in thac
seciaty.

This spiritualism seemed to be quite normal wﬁ Whar
1f my mother said there was semeching ro it, it was good
me. I didn't argus one way or another.

4

Did you all dine together ds a famlly?

Yes. After we were about eight years old, msore or lesa, we would
all eat together normally, Otherwise, we had a separate . 108
for the children. As youngsters we wnuld eat there. An SeTV
ahead of time. On Sundays, even quite young, we could nunn to the
dinner table or the luncheon table. :

The Sunday lunch I recall as a charming occasion. I lowved It
because we had all these brillianc, garish, wonderful, stranga
people who would come to dine with us. And they were scrange!

For exampls, my faverite guest of all time was & Chinese actor,
very famous, Mr, Mei Lan Fam, Chinese actors then played the part
of the female, and he played the female part. And there always
seemed to be s plano ceacher st Sunday lunch. And there were always
two or three MHorean mpissionaries, Presbyterian missionary students,
or & couple of clergymen or a bishop would come, At Bunday lunch
we'd play host te about ten or twelve, maybe a few morm gusstcs
gometimes.

I will tell you a story--it has always stuck with me, It was
one Sunday lunch. We'd gonm to church, and came home. On the back
porch the Chinese cook was there making ice cream for everybody.

(We always had a Chinese coock, that is until my mother hired a
Fillipino cook bacause he had baen on tha Fllipinoe Davis Cup team and
was poling to teach me tennlg.)



j-_%!muﬁuﬂu, juﬂ,—,im an accordion, his chair
~ And he lay flat on his back with a mouth full of salad,
I began to laugh because I had no manners! Every glued joint on the
chair had come apart. This was the funniest damn thing, and I
couldn’t understand why my mother was telling me, "Don't do that.
-ltﬁp llhiﬁiﬁl‘ Ie's awfal ® Thie L& wherse, 1 guese, cna learned,
. b0 & certaln extent, how to behave.

- My morher's brother--I hope I'm not really wandering too much,
bur I wanrad te get thi: down--his nams was Will, Willlam Anderson
ihutt III, or junier. I mentioned that my mother’sz family had baen
qultn poor. Well, Uncle Will had taken to the botrle alss, and he

i Juze pulled out and dizappeared. He went into a recreac from che
family. Afrer some ysars he finally showed up again. I dom’'t think
he was drinking any more, and he had married a Swedish woman who was
& good soul. Sha loved me, and I loved her. We had a very close
relationship. This was Aunt Mildred, and she was absolutely a
Bwadizh mama  of zorrs, not from the highest lewals of Swadish
soclary, I can azsure you.

Cetting back to Sunday luwnch, Aunt Hildred and Uncle Will would
come over from Ban Francisco about once & month or so, and sit down
te Sunday lunch. Aunt Hildred waz one co gpeak her mind, and I
didn't realize it then, bur she uzually forciffed herself for this
"high-toned” company by taking a quick nip from the sherry decanter.
I mentioned sarlier ehat we had this great Chinese actor as a puese,
He waz the John Barrymore of the Feking theater, or Shanghai, and he
didn’'t speak any English--fortumately. GBSo, Mr. Mel just sat there,
and he had an interprerer from the Chinase consulate siteing next to
him, Aunt Mildred was there and everybody was talking to Mr., Mel.
My fither said, "Now be sure and call him Mr. Mei, don't call him
Hr. Lin or Mz, Fam."™

All of a sudden, in ohe of these silences, Aunt Mildred piped
up--and there must have been st least teén of us &t the table that
tine because lr was a pretty busy table--she said, "You kmow, Anna,
ey farher always taught me that you can't trust & Jap. You can
trust & Chink, bur vou can't trust a Jap." My Godl If you can
imagine what happened afrer that! I began to laugh becsuse I didn't




Rless:
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learned my lesson thers, and I b
good manners diffieult mﬂ!ﬂn..

Eroa Riches to Bankruprey

Did your facher like what he did? What did he do?

I don't know if he liked it. Yes, I could tn].ljpu; th of
liccle stories sbour thac, My father was an importer and exporter,
what they used ro call a "capitalisc,” which term is currently
obgolete, My greasc-grandfather had come out to San :E:tml.m and
had been an auctlioneer, a rancher, and his sons incorporated 'I:fhn
Hewhall Land and Farming Company. Then my fathor and a great- uncle
of mine wers partners in something called H.M. Newhall and Company,
which was an importing-exporting firm. My father just assumed that
was going to be his 1life, but he had always wanted to be an

El!l.t'l:'EFrEﬂEL'I.I.'-

They got really quite rich. They did wery well during World
War I. But from then on everything was downhill, so the brothers
began spending their capital.

My father wanted to do well, and so he would take an occasional
plunge; in fact, quite often. One of those occasions he decidad to
ge into the guicksilver mining business in Lake Countcy,

My mother also teok an intersst in bettering the condition of
our fellow eitizens who happened to be In prison. She said, "Now,
Almer, Lf you are going to go Inte the mining business, Lf you are
golng te have a smelter up there, please will you see Iif you can't
make arrangements to take on either parolees, or pecple who are let
out of prison in order to work under supervisfon?" “Certainly, Anna
darling.* He pever guarreled,

I used to go up with him to those quicksilver mines, and



#u##ﬁhr'ﬂiﬁn 525,000 was quite a lot of momey at that time--he
W‘EW to Maui in t‘h.& Hawaiian Islands and bought, on the basis
-ﬂﬁ & oonversation with a friend or advisor of his, a pineapple
pItatlIdmnh ‘because pineapples were going to be wvery big and Jim
Dols was starting to flood the world with pineapples. He bought
this wonderful plantation on Maul, The only trouble was, if you
kmow the Islands at all, it rains on one side and it doesn’'t rain on
the ether side. He bought hiz on the degert side., 0Our pineapple
crop never did really material{ze, and he lost thar,

The third ome--he got intes a patent can-opensr business, but
unfortunataly the stesl in the can cpeners was softer than the cim
cans themselves. But sll the time the H.H. Newhsll import-expeort
business kept on rolling.

He liked the sea, as many of my family have, and chere was this
old sailing ship down neéar Los Angeles that waa for charter because
the sceam and the power wvessels had replaced sails. This was in che
middle twenciess by this cime, and my father thought, well, wind
power was cheaper than steampower, and so he chartered this ship,

Ee chartered Lt because I chink he had bought & new movie camera,
one of those early sixteen-millimeter cameras, and he wanted
pletures of himsalf on board salling up the coast from Los Angeles
to San Franciscoa. But the crip took so long., He had to have thes
put inteo Honcérey, and he pgor off there.

Well, they finally loaded the ship here in San Francisco and
srarted with a cargo of wood or lumber for Tahitl, or somewhere in
the South Seas. They got about three days out, and the sheriff
showed up and said. "Look, the lady you chartered this ship from
doesn’'t owm it.® It was & hell of a4 mess. The Coast Guard finally
picked them up in the Islands, brought the ship back. That was the
end of that.

Those are some of the things he did. He did those becausa of
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Smm mhhh n#-_ g0 up the
club and then come down.

They were all very :
financial distriet as 'hﬁuﬁt #ﬂuﬂ;ﬂ‘ and
the cable car went up tha hill at sbout a th
whenever they got on. The reason I say that
that my father was shorter than I, and he
My grandfather was a little taller; ‘he wei £ '3
George weighed in at about '.'.Elt'l pm&u There w{-l“tﬂtgi_ alg
going up California Street on tha Ei.ﬂn :If I:hl‘l: qul.-'ﬂ‘ﬁ :

Up to a certaln point your family had a kind of H'i.ﬁt E&Mlﬁh

They did very well inputl:!.ng or exporting during t'hlh iﬂ:‘, .!ﬂ'
greac-grandfather had been very successful--Henry H-!l:pu ‘Mewhall--he
started the first rallroad here in San Joge and was on a lot nﬂ
boards of directors. Then he got Iinto ra.nzhiﬂs I don't know
exactly how he made [t all. He made, apparently, qulte a let of
money. His progeny were sble to disperse it pretty well, toe.
Fortunately, the land was not liquid. They were not able to ssll
all of It, or 1 guess that today we all would be darning secks or
something.



..mmm ‘They didn’t read the Examiner because--you know, the

ng about the papers was really very high in those days.
Eﬁmtﬂwmmﬂngmn newspaper and so on &nd so forth,

One just didn't read the Exemimer. I don't know anybody who read a

Hearst paper. It was just a bad word. They read the Chronicle.
And the Chronicle was sort of quietly dying, but if veu were

t'u:pu';l'hit. you read the Chropmicle. If you believed in ghosts,
you'd read the Exsmiper. I don't know,

ﬁh:t did you read as a kid? What were the influential hooks, do you
think?

I gouldn't read enough. I remember children are suppesed to go to
sleep when they go to bed, and I always had a flashllght. It looked
like a candle, with a little bulb screwed into Lt for the flame. 3o
1'd get under the covers, and I'd read until I had to go to sleep.
What did I read? Mostly adventure stexries, It wasn't FProust, It
wasn't Tacitus; or it wasn't Vasari.®* Mostly adventure scorles
Invalved with pirates or salling, and I think I read Jwo Years
Bafora the Mast for the first time then.

I learned to read on books like the Rover Bowva and Tom Swifc
and the Motor Bows. They were the serial books about high adventure
in Mexice or the outback somewhere. I read every one. I loved to
read, but T had to be amused;, I didn't like to study, I read untcil
one of the maids or the governess would come In late ac might and

*Referring to interviewer having notlced that Newhall is now reading
Tacitus and Vasari.
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learned to drive when f-um

The sceivisios snrents all Gt organtzed.
anything we wanted in the summertime.

It's not that so moch. T think asbout peop Iiﬂ#ﬁﬁﬁf' ) BE
Coast. There is the cliche that it's a lﬁiﬂﬁﬁilﬁl xist
of the things about the ssasons on the East Coast iuk'_h “fin
ultimately, you are forced to amuse yourself, by yourself,
the dead of winter, and you arce alone, Mostly, I'm '._-
there ever long periods of time that you had to yoursalf?

I don't think I read such in the sumsertime. In the winrer I guess
1 did =mest of that reading 1 was talking about. We vere too hﬂ;r iu

the summer. The summer is pretty long here, from sbout April or May
to October.

It's all plessurs what you have described so far. How can you be a
Calvinist and have had a life of pure pleasurs? :

Well, I lefr the church for the flesh pots. didn't I?7 [lLaughter]
Mot quite. This version of Calvinism I'm just mentioning was _
filtored through some very liberal Presbyterian ministers. They had
a youth club, Good Chriscian Youth, or zome damn thing, There wers
always a couple of pretty good-looking girls around the altar rail
back then. Butc I wasn't involved with altar rail girls atc thac
time. Our lives were structured to a certidin extent. I'm talking
now about the relipious snd recreation efforts and 20 on. The
superficialitias of religlon did not than, or now, ever play any
part in my 1ife. 1 learned my books of the Bible to ger llctle gold
and silver award 'pins, and I got all of thosa. I found it
fascinating. I loved to read some of these Bible stories. But holy
gcripture never became & dominant intellectual factor in my life.

I don't mean to have brought it up three times, It's the value
system,

For whatever lc's worth--the most lmportant sense [ have ever
encountered In my life, in terms of its impact on me, and I cammot



Riess:
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 Litele Gray School

What did you want to do? When did you start being consecicus of
being a persen with an oprion, cholees? Can you think about
yourself that way?

I didn’'t know, 1'm sure I wanted to emulate my facher.
Business would have been all righc?

It might have been inevitabie. My father went to Yala. I went
through scheol, and 1 was accepred by Yale. Fortunately, the
Depression came slong. When I was first asked the quescieon "What do
you want to do in life?" [ was & junior in one of the prep schools T
went to. The master asked each one of us In the class, "What is it
you aim for? What do you want to do?"

l was a snotty little kid, so I said. "I want to recire."
That‘s the way I behaved. That was my first option. Because I
enjoyved 1ife, I did. Life wag such a4 marvelous exparience, the
1ife that I liwed. Why did I want to put myself in either handeuffs
or a straipght-lackst when [ eceuld have the whole warld ae a
playground? I suppose that if things hadn't worked out differently,
I would have died of alecholism by the time I was thirty. I haven't
gotten into that. From the time [ was fourteen, on up Lo twenty, I
did more drinking than & great many people do in.a lifetime.

Is this what accounts for your problems in school and the
delinguency? Tell me about going to school.

I started out in the Little Gray Schoal which was on Fifth Strest (n
San Rafasl, next to an old mansion there--the Katherine Branszon

School for girls moved Iinto that mension in San Rafsel in the early
twenties. But I went to what was called the Little Gray School. On
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From there I went to the Mount Hil
Rafael where my father had ;mminu:ﬂ. ount
Academy was kind of & spin-off from World War
and Major Kirk ran the school. 1 loved ﬁhﬂh
bad boy in a sense. At first, I studied p
won the drill downs, vhich was the way -jrau.imqm
I admired the big bovs. My brother ilan played the
band. 1 just wanted to be a big boy. was there
sevanth grade. So that would have bn:n ELlfth, li:ﬁh'
grades. I did pretty well.

i

The Hount Tamalpais Military Academy and all those early schools I
went to, there was slways a assrver or two who night be a 1itt11*ﬂiﬂ
They'd always say, "He was shell-shocked {n the war.® 1 never knew

quite what that meant. I suppose they call it psychoneurosis now
in the Sscond World War generations.

e ]

I admired that school. As 1 say, 1 misbehaved a good deal
because generally, If I couldn’t be the best, I might as well be the
worst. Anything as long as they used my name, The teachers would
administer corperal punighment more or lass by throwing chalk or
blackboard erasers at selected student targets. If some of us wera
chesky or soldiering, they lobbed a few projectiles &t us. I had no
objectlion bacause when I wass the targer [ desarved ic.

They'd somecimes hit us with rulers. I don’t know if they were
suppeseéd to o not., I learned a lot that way. It was not as bad as
an English public school,

Do vou mearn people who arfe dumb should be hic?

Neo. They had many kids from well-to-do families, and some of them
would be sitting there on their butts doing nothing. One of the
teachers might say, "Look, stupid, I'm not going to waste my time on
you," and maybe crack him ene, 1 am not talklng about some student
who was simply retarded. Ho one was hit simply on acceunt of that.
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Thj penalcies thy passed out were what they would call
trail.” You'd have to get a rifle on your shoulder and
walk sround the parade ground, I ran up sa many hours of trail thac
when I fimally left school I still owed them about two hundred hours
of marching., I loved it. 1 loved the school. I admired the
seniors. They had a great baseball team.

The best day for gozsip we ever had in that school was the day
one of the Chinese cooks was caught making lmmoral advances to one
of the boarding students. I was not a boarding student; I was a day
student. That kept us going for weeks, talking abour che assaulc
and battery cricis in Foscer Hall.

4 male cobpl?

Yes, These things happen. Everybody recovered from it. I don't
know if they sent him back to China or shot him. I think he lost
his job, and I hope =o because the pancakes they made In the school
at that place were so bad that yeu could take them and squeerze tham
up in your hand and use them in the handball court. This Ls true,
literally. [laughter]

Tamalpais School for Bovs

When I left that schoel, I really didn’t want to go. I begged my
parents net to take me our of the school., They wanted to send me Lo
the Tamalpais School for Boys. My father and a group of San
Francisco "capitalists" decided they wanted an English public
school.
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It was right -ni:-ﬁ-"ﬁqu our
father had put money iutu'lti ip'l.:‘h_qf

startad. A great friends ;h_ Fr
there. You make & lutuf%hnﬂh”itﬂ’dmmi ﬁ- cpar
was okay, = i

Vhen you say “"friends i{n San Francisco," do you Iagu M
boarding students?

Yes. 1 happened to be a day student, 1 was right next deor lhﬁ
never bothered to board. A lot of guys from quliu;hnuh San
Francisco, Hillsborough, Atherten, and out in the Sacramento ?hitqﬁ
and San Joaquin Valley and so forth lived at the school.

That was in part the point of those schools, the beginning of an
*old boy" prep school necwork.

Exactly. Then everybody was going to Yale or Harvard--take your
choica. That was ic. 1T learned quite a lot at Tamalpais. but I got
to playing too much golf. '

I have a very good personal friend from San Rafael whose name
iz Harry Johnsen. He had been a day student ac Hiteheoek, and I met
him en the playing fields at Hitchcock. When I was a kid, we were
up there playing some touch tackle football. He did sowething to my
younger brother. We had a hell of a fight. He was bigger and
heavier and probably faster than I. He gave me a bad beating. We
have been absolutely inseparable friends ever since. He's still
alive, and eicher one of us 1s afraid the other will die because it
will be a grave omen for tha other one's futurs. I don’'t knoew how
we're golng to work it out in the end.

Webh Sehoal

Harry Johnson and I got to fooling around when we were at Tamalpals
together, We liked to play golf. Instead of reportimg for



Newhall:

arhnwnpr ﬁdhnﬁl The headmascer was Ihnnnmnﬁ—ﬂahh
av - nice man from Tennesses whose father Chauncey Webb
.iht ﬂiﬂb School for !ﬂrl in Bell Bunkln, Tennessee.

This was 1928, just before the Depression. There were a lot of
uphnpgy rich kids at Webb from places like Beverly Hills, Pasadena,
ﬁt;n;p Grove, Hancock Park. It was pkay. I liked all my
schoolmates wherever I went, and I did all right.

¥hy "unhappy rich boys?" In retrospect, Chat's how you would
idencify chem?

There were problem boys chere, too, I never considered myself an
"unhappy tich boy." There were a lot of =sons there of these strangs
and hooming rew southern California communicies, A lot of new
money--that's what | would describe it as now.

Are you serlous when you =ay that if vou couldn't he the best, you
would- just as soon be the worsc?

T chink that's what 1 did. [ would vsually start out-and I'd be the
head of the class, I'd get straight "A's® usually. Then 1'd get
into too much ctemmis, and precty soon Lt would siip, Then, as I got
down into the "C's," I couldn't stand it. So then precty socm, I
was down to s:rnLght “pPrg." It was a pattern; ['m afraid. T did
that at Mount Tamalpals. 1 guess I did it ac Tamalpais because I
preferred to play golf instead of studying:. [ had co repeat my
sophomore year at Webb.




cold, .m:'x behaved terribly. . ;
tennis courts there, and I used to love Einn[i‘ fiiiﬂi I” 1id.

1 wired my room up--the headmaster would come around and see if
everybody was asleep, and the masters switched off our Toom
at might--but I wired up my room to the fira lnulgl llgpt in the
hall outside my door, and comnnected the wires so that 1£ the ﬁﬂﬁr
openad the lights would ga out, If you elosed the door !;IH H.ﬂ\tl
inside would go back on, But word got around the house and che
masters found out about 1, 1 jusc was a non-conformise,

'\-:-'-

The headmaster was taking all these vislters through school
thers one day, and gee, there was the whole student body out looking
at this prize fight I promoted between two of the black house boys.
(It was a good school. You had house boys and cocks and waitgfi, ||
that kind of thing., The staff even made your bed for yeu, I think
it's shocking.) 5o then a fellow from Colorade, Ames Sudler, Jr.,
and T eaught cthe zouthbound Interurban and went down to Philadelphia |
and then went on down to Maryland--we ran away from school. The
headmaster let us come back. ]

fne day when spring had juat started, and the windows were
open, and I eould hear a saxophone being played out in the porch, we
had to go te a school assembly, Mather A. Abbott was the
headmaster's name. I walked in a little late for the assembly. AlLL
the guys--we were &ll buddies in that school--put their legs out in
the aisle, and te get to my seat down the aisle 1 had to go over all
thelr legs. 1 stood beck and I sald, "Make way Eor King Hewhall.”
They put thelr legs down. 1 just started in.

Wall, the headmaster pot up and he let me have it--you can't
believe! He threw me out of scheol--boom--right there. He =aid,



Bilezs:
Mewhall:

Rless:

Kewhall:

Rless:

Hewhall:

"0ld Dad” Against the School

You didn't choose che sasy way.

Ho, it juer happenad. As far as 1 was concerned, there was no
cheice, T just did {c. A& lot of what I am saying is twenty-twenty
hindsight as to morivations. I was sixteen then. :

You were very competitive?

Very, In my way, Football, baseball, bazketball, termmis, and pole
vaulting. I didn't win a fifth letter because at a luncheon before
the A11-Valley Championship--I never went out for track, ever; I did
a2 lot of swimming--the sports coach asked, "Anybody here know how to
pole vault?" I never pole-vaulted in my life. 1 had once in back
of the house tried a bamboo pole. [ offered co carry the flag for
Webb because chey needed a pole wault for the team, I tied for
third place in the All-Valley Championship., I thought that was
pretty good, I probably went all of five or six feet. It was
funny.

You really took the tennis seriousiy?

I loved it. I was going ro be the world's greatest tenmis player.
I did mot succeed.

What do you think your bast talents were chen?

Mome, 1 felt 1 could do anything I wanted to do, 1 was mocivaced
to try everything, Music was a tremendous part of my lifa. I was &



Rloss:

Hewhall;

Riess:

Hewhall:

Riess:

Mo. Acctually at all my schools we all goe along preccy well. Look,

________

i
m’fmm ;ui:f'
fercy boats that went uimﬁﬂh:

It was an enchanting, privileged life. I sx
I usually am quite embarrassed to talk #hnnh i; =
ather children enjoyed such a ;r-nﬂ oppo
We did not have this big disciplinary 1ife that if Le
had. We ran free.

When you were back at Lavrenceville, you rnllﬁrfﬂihﬁ:;”
Californian? ' '

They have a house system there, the quad, areund which szceed =
different houses of about forty to forty-five kids apiece. !hl:-qll
a big schocl with about five hundred of us. Most of the schools out
here in California had a hundred to a hundred-fifty students. I was
in Dickinson House at Lawrenceville, The first night we all had to
get up and introduce ourselves:

When we were finlshed the housemaster said, "Well, do you young
men have any questions?® And so a snotty kid from the upper New
York East Side--Barney-something--got up and said, "I'd like the
fellow from California to stand up. I1've never seean one." There 1
was., 5o lt wvas good old Scott against the school. It was aebbut an

even balance. T had them all in line in about three or four weeks.
[laughter ]

You were that much of a persomality?

I really loved all my housemates at all schools: (One poor llctle
guy at Webb 1 scared to death with & dirty trick by sending a ghost
to visit him in thea middle of the night. 1 have always regratced
that.) Of the kids I have known in schoel, I can't think of any I
didn't really like. Some I am very close te, but others not so
close, They accepted me pretty fast because we got along, and I was
always pretty active in sports.

Whom did you most admire then?



: mln::ina Prohibition, and my family did not drink. They

T served hard liguor. I never saw my father take a drink, I
den't think he did. He used to go away to the Bohemian Club for
‘three innha every year, and he did say once, "Well. there iz nothing
1like a good old-fashioned cocktail." So I guess maybe up there he
had a drink or two, He was not interested in alcohol, however. He
didn't need to be.

.My mother didn't do any drinking at all, Her father's
‘alcoholism had been too unhappy for her. So my days with drinking
were just rebellion, Again, the guilt deal,

| Drinking became very stylish during Prohibicion. You get tha
F. Score Fiezgerald scenario--the Great Gatsby and all thess people
dround dancing the Charlescon. Jesus, I was brought up winning

| Charleston cups! BDrinking--they used ro call It flaming yourh. We
all tried to live up ta this. Drinking was quite an escape. T
don't know anything abour cocaine or any of the other £ashionabla
late: twenriech century narcotics. I newer got inte thac.

I admired some of the older boye. My brothers and cousins
amused themselves with a lot of drinking at the country clubs,
social clubs, and I admired them: I wanted to be a raconreur, a
boulevardier, hon vivant. Out at the Harin Glub, I teok a couple of
gin figzes. 1 think BL{ll Johnson, my frisnd’s clder brother, we
ware all siceing arcund the locker room. I would fmel the sffects
of 1t. I'm an alcoholic in that I tend to go out of my mind when I
drink. I normally love people, but when I drink, I love chem more.
Even more!

T guir drinking, by the way, when I was twenty-one. Them I
took it up again a little in World War II, and found thar, uh oh, I
ztill ean’'t handle old Demon Bum. Then I quit forever., But before
that I couldn't stop drinking because I was having such a good time




lot of musicians--snd I'd grab mwwq&
couple of horrible choruses of whatever

Face" or "Me and My Shadow” or something 1
impossibla.

That night I went down ta & place called Joe !Ehnﬂﬁﬁih?ig
eventually became Finocchio®s on Brosdway,) It Hli @t the
Union Bquare side of the Stockcon Street tunnel, the ird iﬁhﬂt@
Jos Finocchio's bootlegger speak-eaay. I left tha pltt! ‘and went ﬁp
thera, and I hed a few gin fizzes. Ha had a wvery £lnnu: Fiﬂk%liﬂq
It was horcible stuff, A friend of minm, "Dukia” !h'ﬂrn, with
ma. We got a coupla of pint flasks of pink gin. I was ll ﬂﬁ
fifceen.

I Jumped in my car vhich my father had very sweecly given ta
me. It was a Model A Ford roadster--nobody could afford Packards or
Wercedes any more, I had a siren {n the car, which you are not
suppozed to have, apd spotlights. I got in the car, and we roarced
down Chestnut Street with the siren wide open. “Here comes Scott,
the great Scotc.” BHut then wha should come ont of the slde streac
and directly iInto our line of £light but another car, and I hit him,
I rolled over ecwo or three times.

I said, "Dukis, are you alive? Are you all righe?" Ha said,
“Yes, I'm fine." Ha had blood on him, but he was all xighr. I
said., "Hey, ve've got to get rid of the evidence." Wa opened the
back and goc these bottles out and began to busc them on the fender.
Up came the police, The horrible thing abour it was char it
happened to be an off-duey police car I'd run into, I was in precey

bad shaps by this time, They dragged me down to the Marina Station
and booked me,

My father came down to get me, This poor man. You talk abour
guilt. Hea, I didn't care, but I felt that what I'd done to him was
something fierce. That's why I had all this gullty conscience and
depression. He dragged me home. I was sick all over tha floor of



. t#mi&& mmﬁi fhm "Mewhall?" I said,

d, "Look, this is the police department. We don’t
do with your lleemse. Wil you come down and ger it
Jingngih So I went down and got my license. You can ses
ﬁhm:mxmuﬁm in. How can anybody survive

‘kind of nonsense? I'm eelling this story with no trimmings,
and I have never forgotten it. You will find this firse ictem in any
file the Chronicle has on ma--whers Scott Newhall, the son of Almer
'Htlim.l, former president of the Chamber of Commerce, was arrestad
for drunk driving.

I*d drink. I went to Europe one time--in 1932,
Riess: You'ra still so young in all of this.
‘Mewhall: Well, I was in & hurry.

! "E.i.na:_:: I can't understand how the vears pet so cospresszed chere berweean
[ 1921 and 1932.

H Mawhall: I guess we really liwved pretty fast. The timimg i= pratty accurate.
You see, I was married when I was ninatean. It was the beginning of
my sophomore year. By nineteen, Ruth and I went to Europe in the
summertime. I was trying not to do any drinking--went over on an
old freighter. This was befors we were married.

ea aris

Mewhall: I wanted to see the Davis Cup matches in France. We were in Londom.
S0 we got on one of these big, old Handley-Page "Hannibals"--they
ware huge  absolutely enormous old planes, seventy miles en hour--
and flew over to Paris. They had an open bar on these planes, and
by the time we got to Faris I was all loaded for bear, vwhatever the
bear was. That's about the last thing I can remember. The Dawis
Cup games were golng to start the next day at Roland Garres stadium.
T remember I ran inte a bellbovy on the way to the rooms, He said,
"Do you want to see Paris?" I said, "It scunds good to me."




Eiezs;

Fewhall!

Riess:

Wewhall:

iess;

Newhall:

TELT

out of the Hﬂt ln mu»m,;
Elysee. That's about all I can
Harry's American Bar. That was the 1!1;
Alcohol had become s major problem. I don't know
the experience of passing out, bur ir's terribla,

When I got back, we wers married, but I feared our m :
going to break up. So I went to a psychiarrist for ihﬂh#.lﬂl_ .
or a year, and I pretty well got off of iv. [laughs] I can iiht
chapter end verse on some of this Freaudian pnynhiatr?.
survived, but the psychistrist who managed to cement our
relationship ended up getting & divorce. Anyway, it worked out
fine.

He was Freudianft
I guess so. It was psychotherapy.
Was he someona that you found on your own?

Hy mother did, or some friends of hers. I was still, you know,
playing ac the part of 2 “son" or "husband." I dldn't want to loze
my marriage. I mever wanted to lose Euth, so I would have done
anything,

Alechel was a tremendously importantc factor in the 1Lives of
most of my colleagues, no matker how many of them will ery to deny
fr. Mozr of them drank, a few didn't. Many, many, of oy friends,
and old-time friends, have died from asleohol or drugs, or it has
rtuined theilr llwves.

Are you talking sbout the newspaper world?

Socially. The newspaper--that's a different phage of drinking,
There is a lot of drinking there bur a little bit differentc.
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it Bless:

Riess:

Yewhall:

Wﬁl I say "girl"--she wasz'a girl then. (Ruth
to use the word, "girl," but teo bad,) Her life was

=§ii;ﬁil Eﬁi ﬁwhﬁ to work at the paper whem I was the editor of
WL‘ She came from a distinguished family. It opened up a
whole new world to her. It wasn't a particularly happy world, but
It'i a tntlilr different experience from just having to be a hua:ans
for some husband and go to & party or entertain--which was the life
that many of these people led!

Much of my exploration and experimentation was an effore to
avoid a certain aspect of the 1life that either my family or my
friends were getting into. That was this straightjacket of the
zocial order of San Francisco seciery. I don't know how else to
describe it. I just absolutely, physically almoat, had te turn and
shut tha door on the socifal fast lane. I think it is impossible to
live this life where you go duck hunting in the duck seazon and
grouse shooting in the grouse season, and you go down for the Santa
Anits Handicap for the races, and you go somewhere else for the
Kentucky Derby and where you know exactly where you are going to be
year after year by tha calendar, and there 12 no time lefr for free
Hwving and roaming around.

Thers are other things in life than entercaining or being
entertained at a country club, I think women have a better shot at
8 real carser now, The next generation of these same people I am
talking about have almost all gor college degrees now., They may
turn to alcohol--who knows--but at least the women have & chance to
go somewhere end do something rather than josc sit home and waic for
a husband,

So your mother‘'s spiritualisam you might chink of in thoss terms?
Maybe. My mother never lived that kind of life, She always had
something going. In my early 1life, ac fourceen or fifteen thers was

nothing but alechol for anocher six or seven years.

You were really throwing yourself away.



Riess:

Newhell:

g
e
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You decided hughmﬂﬂlﬂdchﬂihﬂtﬂiﬂﬁ& ﬁ.lﬁ
earlier manifestation of the art interesc?

Well, one of the most i=zportant years of my life ﬂll
dapu:tad the Webb School. I worked in & wholessle drugstors | e
San Francisco, Coffin and Redingtom: M, Ehnruunﬂ ﬂyi!in wt:

my mother's entourage--we used to call him Uncle Buff--and he had
thiz wholesale drug firm and put me to work. I went to work there
as a packer and In the chemical laboratory. I had done prltﬁ; well
in chemistry in school, So I went there, and I was still drinking.
This 1s 192%-1%30.

Well, T mencloned during her spiritualist role that some of my
mother's closest friends were Betty and Stewart H'hil:a: Ha wds an
author down In Hillsborough and came from quite a discinguishaed
family, and Betty came from a marvelous family. And they had no
children. My mocher probably told them that poor old Scotty was
having his problems.

Stewart had been a big game hunter, one of the early bilg game
bunters in Africa. He had explored a lot of Kenva and Tanganviks.
He lowed Alaska, and he had a beautiful yacht, eighty-aight footr
vache--Fury was the nase of fe. Ue went down co his Hillsborough
home for dinner ome night--it was when I was working at the
drugstore--and Betty turned to me and said, "How would you like to
come on & erulse through the Alaska Inszide Pagsage with us?"®

Well I jumped for joy, I never heard such a delightful thing
eénd I Immediscely accepred. 1 think it was a put-up job, but snyway
she sald, "0Oh, macvelous, because we have never had any youngasters
or children, and we'd like ft." 1 joined them In Seattle in early:
June; The Euru wasn®t exaccly palatial, but ir was very
comforcable. Ic had the owners' guarters astern and then a coople
of guest szuives asidahips and then they had an enginesr and a cook.
The five of us wvent cruising from Seattle up through tha Inside



ﬂi tmm :lm.- j'ﬂaﬂn rm; can
the virgin world around you. There
ats ' This was 1930, You might ses another
% ftnhing boat each day, We'd anchor at a cove every
night, or in a litcle bay, and thers were crabs to cactch and clams
to dig. Ane could go out with a lasso, or shovel or pitchfork,
and justc g;uhf: ‘salmon, There are trout In the streams and halibut
in the bays. I don’t know how many people have had this axperience.

ihill I was there on board, I had the evenings to mv=elf, We'd
play a lot of cribbage. I learned to navigate, or at least to
piloc, and gquicte a lot about seamsnship, We went out to Sitka,
which was very izolated then and more or lessz Russlan and empty,

Southeastern Alaska was just totally empty in 1930, Haybe it still
is.

In the library on board the Eury there was a book, by Sylvanus
Morley I think it was, on the Mayan Indian anthropological
Investigarions In Yucatan, and another accounc abour digging In
Chichen-Itza by, I think, an archeclogist's wife, Ann Horris, or
something like that, and another book on moderm act by somebody in
which the asuthor coverad the Impressionists or early Expressiomists,
on board the Fury I experienced my flrsc excitement with painters
likes Paul Gaupguin, Paul Klee, Hodigliani, Hatisse, Van Gogh and the
twentierh century new wave of artists.

I was enchanted by the Hayan Indians and exploring and digging
and zo on In Central America. So that became to me this fantasy,
this dream. Art--I have never forgotten it because I used to try to
paint a faw plotures and carve some stuff. ©So I came back from tha
crulze and then I went to school, My mother talked to Mr. Webb, and
he was a very fine gencleman. He wrots a letter to the people over
at Berkeley that although I didn't exactly have a diploma, I had
amassed more than enough credits for college entry. They took me on
at- US, Thev lat me go to school thers.

I thought, "Well, what do I know nothing abour?® and I guess it
was art. At US, along with art courses, you could take anything you




Riesa:

Hewhall:

Hies=:

Mewnall:

Riess:
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What, at Cal? 1 was a big shet, ’ﬁn'

[laughter] No, no, look, I'm fooling you hﬁ
friends there, one officer or lmthltﬂ ﬂn
a lot of people, and I was the & - membe

family to join the Zeta Psi fraternity., It wasn't
in as iEIhuﬂut]wﬂmruymm ﬁ#}"ﬂﬂ!l ey to
come on, sort of. Look, it fsn't that bad, =

In faet you could have gone to Yale, you sald,

I had been accepted at Yale, at Cal, and at one other universicy--
whatever I sent my papers to. I don't think it was Harvard,
Anyway, three schools--5tanford, Yale, Cal. HNo, I didn't send
anything into Cal.

After all, one should remember that the University of
California was a public school. I mean, in the American sense of
the word going to Cal was lika going to Publie School Number Ten in
Cleveland, from my point of view, It wasn't uneil later 1 learned
that it was the most renowned acedemic center in the world, and it
still is.

That was a fine voyage with the Stewsrc Edward Whites.

That was tremendously important. It really was. Again, ic was
another llfe-saving experisnce.

Did wou take crips with vour family?

[ nevar went out in the Pacifie or to the Orient with them, but my
father--being a Yale alumnue was very important te him because sll
his family had gone there, so he went back to his tenth and then his
twentieth and then his twenty-fifth class reunions. He took his i
whele Family back to both the twencieth and the twenty-flfch.

Fhen our family was crossing the country we must have been
something like Attila the Hun with his lmpediments, all these
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I remember when I had to leave Lawrenceville, the sleeping car
porter was & dear man, He said, "Isn't the young gencleman leaving
early this year?" T will never forger thar. T said, "Yes, I'm
leaving early.” That was &ll I would say. This was in Chiecage.
When I got off the train in Benicia T was so confused I gave him a
§30 bill inscead of a tip. That was a lot of money in those days,

Wewhall: My father turned one time to my mother and he said, "Anna, I'm going
Eo tako the boys"--amnd by that he meant my younger brother and me--
"travelling.” A friend of his was this fellow Bill Boeing who built
the sirplanes and had a home up in Sedattle. He said, "I have to go
up and sea Bill, and I think I had better take the boys along so
that T will ger to kndw thea hatter, YToufve had them all to

yourself,"

Off we went on the train to Seattle, Hally pnd T and ay farher,
We gpot to Portland, stayed at the Hultnomah Hotel, and he hired a
young fellow from the YMCA to come and take care of his sons while
ha went out ta do his basiness. This young man in Fortland took us
over to visit a couple of huge sailing ships thar were tied up on
Ehe river there, and up the mast we went. We had & good cime. He
bought us a couple of chocolate milkshakes, which waz & rare rtreat
wa thought, and he brought us back., Then we had nothing co do.

¥e had rooms cverlooking the front entrance to the hocel. 1
have always encoursged my brocher to misbehave while I didn'c. WHe
began filling up paper laundry bags or pillow slips or some kind of
bags end dropping them out of the front window on people as thay




Biles=;

Mewhall:

owner's : up
Well, nmnﬂnmhnmmmhﬁim1
getting Hally to run in and start blowing the steam
don’'t think he and anyona un hn:ﬁ& ship could ﬁlvi
mach longer. :

We came back down here, and I remember his t.lt:.ﬁg ﬁm,.
he said, "Amnna, you were :'151-1.‘:, and I was wrong. 1 Mﬂtmm-
to ba seen in public with your children q,iﬂ;n " That was the only
thing he ever zaid. We were really terrible, cerrible. I don't
know what I weuld have done {f Hally and I had hﬁlh'!? Ehildrlu__ b
probably would have dropped them into the Seattle gutters and left
town--and let the police handle it.

We went to this very stylish garden party., Everybody was at
the Boeings' place--chey had a nlce escate up there in Seattcle--
svarybody was done up in his white linen jacket and the two-toned
white shoes. Hally and I knocked over a tray of drinks; I rn:!mnhqr,-
among other things. We were rough-housing as children theorecically
will. It waps just terribly embarrassing for the poor man, and he
never did anything. He sheuld have put us in leg irons and chained
ug- to the hotel tollaet,

Social Taas an [N}

Vere wour parents Incerested in the Sierra Glub or hiking gproups?

Hy mother and father would have contributed or supported anything
like that, but they were not particularly involved in hiking
themselves. They weren't all that physical because my father was so
heavy and sa on. But at our house she would continually sponsor
everyching. She was very active working for this orphanage over In
Marin County, called Sunmy Hills. And the Sunny Hills orphanage
sponsored the greast Marin County Grape Fastival.
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Riess:

Newhall:

m wery much invelved with her Thursday afterncon
es. I was always fascinated to watch the cars drive up the
1] mwﬂuﬂ They were filled with ladies with white
es and white shoes and skirts. Seta Stewart was a Berkeley

~ woman. She played the piano very well professionally, She'd be
rq?tt‘iwlut’int these musicales and tea parcies. My mother would

alse get some sert of relgning oboists or violinsts and or & couple

:df other stringed instruments.

1If you have ever heard a woman's tea party from a distance it's
1ike being Iin the San Dlego Zoo--trapped In the bird house down
there. If you are & young boy upstairs you can't get a word of irt,
but there’'s this distant indistinet chatter that goes on. Anybody
who has heard an afternoon tea party In full ery will never forget
ie. T remember coming home, and I'd go up the back stairs and then
listen te thisz, and then we'd sneak down the stairs o see who all
was there. It was very nice. It was just parc of the routine,

In the springrime or Fall in San Rafsel my mother used to trot
all of her captive Sunday luncheen guests out for = walk through
Black Canyon to see the wild flowers or the waterfall or whatever it
was, They'd all have to get out and trot slomg and identify the
birds and the bees and the trees and you name it, I loved it. I
used to go along. You see, I used to go along on a lot of the stuff
with my mother. My father, he wasn't physical. He wouldn't go
walking along--couldn’t much, T loved Lt.

Who was Sets Stewart?

0ld Mr. Stewart was a Scotsman who settled in Berkeley. He ruled
his family with an iron hand, or iron rod, and he had four daughters
and one gon, Roy Stewart. BRoy Stewart became & Matson Line captaln,
salling from here out te the Istands and back to get away from the
famales. In the end the old gentleman died, and there was the
mother and four sisters, and only one ever married, I beliave.

Seta was the musical sister, It was kind of llke a Jane Austen
situacion, I guess. During World War II, oy got a ship, he came
back to the sea, but there again he also teock to the spirits. 3o




Hawhall:

Hewhall:

‘gome of wvhom woiuld ba sort of p:tt huiinuiaflqﬂ

Sure. Hrfu:hﬂ: he knew an awful :uum_"”

Boeing was a campmate of his, I think. up at the
not sura. I°'d met him, but I didn't know him; mwm:-m
win

Fe)

Hevada Tour

The greatesc trip we ever had with my father and mother--now that
you mention the trips--was where Governor Scrugham of Nevads Eniitqg
us to take 1 tour of the stare. This {= in 1925. MNevada then was
all desert--not juat 99 percent desert as it L& today. BSo off we
gterted, and lr waz one of the most memorable trips I hava evar
made.

There were all dirt roads, maybe a little pavement. We wenc
all the way down past Fallon, Yerington, Tonapah, Goldfield, Beaccy,
Laz Vegas, Las Vegas then was literally a cowtown and a railroad
Stop to get water, because there is a water table there under the
desert. Of course, there was pambling in Nevada then. Hell, we
kids could gamble if we wanted to, but we didn’t have any money.

But the governor was quite a character, He knew everybody in
Wevada--I mean literally., You had to bacause thare wers only about
73,000 people in the state then. Thac's about the number of paople
that go to a Cal game now.

Then wa went north on the east side of the state to see 4 state
monumant up there, Lehman Caves, limestone caverns they'd just
discovered. We'd camp out some places because there were only these
little ghost towns in Nevada., But once in & while we would stop off
in an old hotel that looked like something from the TV "Bonanza™



Hiess:

Hewhall:

i 1 i ﬁhﬂ CI'11 be Elnl,
! pped, Env:tnﬂr ltﬁppnd and 1 started off
=ﬁmmﬂﬂ with my little Brownle camera--it was just a

ﬁ' d I made some pietures of what 1 thought was going to be a

scene from a movie of the wild west in the raw.

‘& sudden thiz dasn horse put his head up and began
cook a look ac me, and I guess {t was the scallion
had all thn-un mares out there, and he started after me. My

ggs
i
b

God! ImﬂuilMIbagﬁnmrmnnﬂIbemmaﬂ. "This
‘horse

{s going to kill me!" Townie and Artie, our colleagues,
tarted after me in the desert. Well, finally the stallion figured

h
E
he had me under control and turned areund and lefc.

During the trip I went out humting for Indian arrowheads for
the firast time. Hally and I sach found an arrowhead near Sc.
Themas, now under water in Lake Mead by southern Nevada, This
started me off on American archaeclogy or anthropology. Buth and I
for many years later on used to go up every week and look for
arrowheads in the Husboldt sink near Lovelock., We found thousands
of them--beautiful --so mich fun to look for them. They were lost in
the fire in Piru, They have a record of cur collection over at the
Cal anthropology department., Bob Hedzer, a friend of ours in the

anthropology department, put together thls record eof Pluce
arrovhesads.

Fhar did "Kuru" mean, do vou know?

"Furu" mesans water buffale in Swahill. This was che name of Stewart
White's wachrt.

One story--it haes no place here, buc Stewartc White told it.
He'd been over in Africa hig pame huncing and stuff ac Kenya and
Tanganyika, He told me that coming back from one trip he gor To New
York--he'd been three or four months there in Kenya--they called for
& Red Cap for tha train or something, and Stewart said, "1 saw there
wag a black man standing in front of me and 1 jusc automatically
started talking to him In Swahili. And he got dewn on the ground
and began bowing to me this way." [laughter| This just wouldn'c
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Newhall:
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Newhall:

Riega:

Did you keep up with all these friends from your childhood?

Well, Harry Johnson (= my closesc friend still. T know them all. A
lot of them are dead, believe me. I'm not all hh-ﬁmmfﬁ ;
did keep up with them, but now we're all sort of ;nttin; older
apart or dead.

Some of the ways in which you rebelled didn't separate you from
them?

Listen, I was only one of many, many rebels. We all did in guar ﬂﬁﬁ
way., [ wasn't the only person who drank or who passad out in Paris.

You weren't tha only person whe thought that maybe this wasn'tc the
only thing in llfe--te go duck huncing?

Well, I was one of the few who just went off on his own and inte his
own business. There had been no newspaper men in my family hera.

It was jusc one of those things Like going te the arc deparcment.
Femamber the Depression hit us sll. It vas s mew experienca.

A lot of my old friends, most of them, went Inte thelr old
family business or allied encerprises. A few of them may actually
have bacome, 1 guess, artisca, Some of their daughters and sons
became nurses, teachers or engineers., MHost of them took a more
pormal routine career., A lot of them mover really did work. Some
of them still had enocugh money to live on. In my opinion, tha

luckiest thing that ever happened to me was that we went broke. 1
toally mean that.

Were chey your nerwork when you were here on the Chropicle?



Riess:

Hewhall:

Riess;

Mewhall|

r #ﬁiﬂk{lﬂ about the girls. They were bright and they were
B-- ﬁ!iitkiutn--qni they were going to end up as either
d es or on drugs of some sort. They died young, a lot of
them, ar committed suicide, It was very sad. 1 ::unu_nh.r clearly--
we used to have these junior assembliez and chen the debutante
E::tiﬂn~+f=r some reason or other I really felt very desply about
thess poor girls had to sit and wait to be asked to dance.

The boy would have to go up--. No girl ever came up and said,
"Here, will you dance with me?" Or if she did, it was very unusual.
They'd have these go-called wallflowers. I used to walk around and
literally try to dance with all of them. Some of them would sit
there the whole evening, and I figured their hearts were breaking,
They sust have been. I don't know, you probably never went through
this, but in my generation thosa girls had a hell of a bad time.

Girls still waitc for the phone to ring.

I can remember them all dressed up with thelr white gloves and their
ﬁrgan&y'guuna. sitting on the side on ballroom chairs, slecting
thers, ‘and everyone can see that -nobody is asking them cto dance. I
really fele very sympathetic and felt one had cne’z duty to do. As
a reasult I didn’'e 1ike the partiss all that much because the girls I
really liked and loved to kid around with, they were always popular
and dancing so you didn't have to worry about their being lomely.

I'm glad there were some boys torn up abour this dilemma.
T tell you, even at thac age, thirteen, fourteen, fiftéen, I could

see it. There were alwsys a lot of girls around ameng our families
and friends,
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But aside Erom the ranches
summer Tresorts that other members o
George Newhall, he built his home down in
called La Dolphine, a copy u:“tﬁn ﬁtﬂ;
of Louis XV. It L5 still there--down in
was quite grand, but sgain that*gp: ‘more a ;.
Uncle George had & tremendous lodge up et Lake !
slde, on the California side. He had a ?tdﬂt
largest one on the lLake.

Where?

Bubicon Lodge it was :ailnﬂ, about in fhn;uiqﬂil. jqqt;nn!#h-ﬂﬁ;
Emerald Bay batween the north and ‘scuth end of Tahoa.

A mumber of older families were there, the Livermores.

Livermore--I think they're a little furcher north, One of the
Jewish familles from San Francisco had a nice place up there. Many
Bay Area families had splendid Tahoe summer homes--the Meins, the
Crockers, the Stanley Dollars, the Fullers, and many. many mora.

At Bubiconm Lodge on the west side of Tahoe Uncle George had his
boathouses and the main summer household, but he also owmed about
literally half of the Hevada sidas. Ha had & humting 1ndgu ‘over
thers with all che deer heads, stone fireplaces, cook ovens and
sruff 1lke that. And that was called Skunk Harbor. It's still
there, I think. Have wvou been to Tahos? You notice on the NHevada
teide there Is still a huge open stretch, running north from
Glenbrook for cen or flfteen miles up to about Incline Village, or
up to Secrer Harboar.

Well, Uncle George owned that vhole ching--ic must have been
ten miles--and finally sold it to George Whittell, who was & Teal
characcer out of Hillsborough or Burlingame. The Whittells were
very rich: George had a zoo and a4 garage full of Duesenbergs and 59
forch. All 1 am saying, though, iz that In terms of summer places-
-the family could go over and camp out on the Nevada side if they
vanted te. I think ic's now a Mevads stace park or some kind of
public preserve,



iess:

_' were a fourteen-year-old did you feel the ripples of
 about family finances?

-f; : ﬁ: "Fl were é&iiﬂm 1 always thought we were relatively poor,

tiﬁiﬂhil}a because sometimes our cars weren't quite as big as a
wisitor's car. You know, kids are very sensitive about cars--among
other things. As a matter of fact, today I just went out and bought
myself an old Cadillac, and I haven’'t bothered with a Cadillac for
many, mENY years because one doesn’t really drive cthem anymors, It
can be embarrassing. But I was looking for a comfortible sedan, and
so I bought an eight-vear-old Cadillae. I've got & lot of cars.
I'11 get ints that someday. Automehiles hava really been a big parc
of my 1ife. They really have.

In our S5an Rafael materialization we lived wvery simply, and my
mother wes always saying, "Oh, we don't have enough money, Almer. "
But T just took it for granted that there would always be enough to
keep things going. As I say, our domestlc world wasn't elaborace,
it wasn't fancy, but It was very comfortable with plenty of
household help, snd we had gardeners and a washerwoman and a sewing
woman and young womeén to take care of each of us kids, and some
malds, upstalrs snd dowmstairs and so on,

I really mean that--very simple and homey and kind of nice.
Bobody was dressed up much in uniferm, except for the butler vhen
people wera coming for dinner. And once they came, they never laft,
When any of the staff got old, either my mother would get them a
home or a little house in Bolinas ovr put them up In the rooma. She
kept putting more and more rooms in the actic to take care of some
of the people who got old and were dylng. OF course, they died to a
certain extent younger than they do now,

That's =such a nice feeling, that nothing would ever be discarded in
an offhand way. It must be a very reassuring feeling to a child,
It's like saying there will always be somebody to care for you.

You are absolutely righe. 1t was all very permanent. It was a
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I'm a member of the board |
Aksociacion. I think my great-gra
out at Laurel Hill. One just mqrpdﬁi ﬂnn;:@ﬁ? —

anitdidn'tummth-mldnmhmnlﬂ i
table--times when you didn't have nﬁhb of tﬂ;‘:ﬁ]ﬁtﬁiﬁ one
--"Anna, things aren’t looking good.® d

They mever discussed it in my hesring, lyaknnmlqdkn, Ome
Christmas 1 remember toward the middle nﬁ the twenties !F father -
gave my mother an envelope for Christmas. And she opened lt--and I
remember this--and resd it and went into tears.

I =aid, "Well, what's the problem?” “Mo, no,no," she said,
"nothing at all." My father was sort of patcing her on the back. I
think he probably handed her a note or semething that had been paid
off. I do know that she always had a worry as to whether she could
maintain this household beeause they gave so much money away. This
is quite rrues. Everybody was welcome. :

Ona time she brought over a musle teacher who used to come over
from 2an Francisco to give us lessons. The chauffeur had an
tecident down at the gate leaving tha home, and so0 the music
teacher, far ahead of her time [laughs] suffered pain and whiplash.
She ended up in one of our guest rooms for three months. She just
had a ball, I think.

There were two or three times when kids would come in and liwve
with ws from the Hawailan Islandz, or from--thers was 8 firs &t the
orphanage, and one of the kids had a bad foor beceuze a burning log
had fallen em e, and T guecss he had & bone infeceien that didn't
clear up. He lived there for six months or a yesar. There wvas
always a little something going om.

When the St. Francis Dam broke that must have sent a [lsancial
cipple through the family,

It*s a véry interesting story. I don't lkoow if you want me to jump
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s @iy on 4304 and B "jr Hy unnl.:* % think

th __tiﬂld tn gell thm wholae Newhall tanch down there

. furtr-ai#:t Enrqr-nim thousand acres,
And nobody would buy {t. People

, the City of Los Angeles sectled our suit--we had brought
some kind of & damage suit againsc the city because the St. Francis
Dam was the Los Angeles Clty wacter supply. They paid us about
4$780,000 or $790,000. That bailed us out in our ranching business.
So ﬁhu-ﬁtmakiﬂg of the dam, except for the poor people who were
drowned, saved our llves, It's a strange twist perhaps, but that's
what happened.

A few years later it turned out to be that. But ac the time?
Well, at the time I didn't pay much actention to itc, really didn't.

I can understand that. I was just curious about whether these were
big impaccs or not.

T wasn't down there at the time, 5o we were not 50 close or tied up
in 1t all that anything that happened on the ranch had any
significant emotional {mpact In & sense. You wouldn't want to lose
the ranch, of course;

How upset was your Fathar? How distraught because of the
Depression?

I never heard a word of complaint sxcept, "Well, we have to sell the
San Rafael house," of "We have to sell the Bolinas housae."

You were only fifceen. I realize I am asking yoéu te be 4 wicness to
a whole era at an age vhere most kids are only interested in
themselves.

Are we at whac, 29 now? I was In Lawrenceville when the erash came



The Depression actually didn't have &ll ﬁ' 1 me
got home and =y mother and father iqli..Hﬂhﬁ
I said, "Wall, what are we poing to da?® He -
move over to San Francisco, and HI*#ucnn#ﬂﬁuﬁﬂrﬁiﬁqﬂﬁp“f
floor of Ginny‘s house--Virginia Whicing Nes =i -
grandmother’s house--and so we all moved in tn.hhl tnﬁ
Facific Avenue.

The hotse had an elevator that went from the li:lg; up to ttl
third floor. It's thiz huge Cape Cod cottage out there betwesn
Brodarick and Baker. It owverlooks the bay, lﬂﬂ it wae wary
comfortable. 1 went away te Webb School for a year, and vhen I Bot
back we were moved Into the third floor of 2950, which was
originally built to resemble the interior of a Yankee vhaling ship.
My father still wenc to work down at the Newhall Building on
California and Battery. My mother did the cooking. They had
friends In. And the traffic at our dinner table was down to-a
trickle,

My father had always been = stamp collector. My Uncle Edwin,
whe lived there at 2950 Paeffic, he also collected stampa. And so
evary night the twa brothers would come home and talk and go over
their stamp cocllectionz. My mother wes golng crazy because my Uncle
Edwin was ona of the most kind pecple in the world, sort of Sanca
Claus. But He was not what I would describe as & brilliant
conversationalist. He and Dad would =it there and talk sbouc cheir
sta=ps by the hour. [laughter]

Anyway, 1 went away to Webb and almost graduated and got in all
that trouble snd came back and mowved in thers ar 2950 Pacific. I
had a little rosm there that had been, I'm sure, an upscalrs mafd's
room, and I put some Egypeian sort of King Tut wallpaper around it
s0 I'd feel kind of different from the redwood Tfinish on the Cape
Cod cottagm. T still lived quite a social Llifa.

I worked then at Coffin and Redington, the wholesale druggises.
It was that summer I went cruising in Alaska with the Scewart Edward



Mewhall;

Newhall: -‘-ﬂh:a, I don't think it was a support system for me.

Was :l:’l:‘-ﬂ:aﬁi:tﬂir practical to live in Borkeley? Or was it a
~suppert system for you?

I think my Eather
and nhnh:f ﬂlﬂn*l: want te come back and live in the third floor

attic of a home that they had once cwnaed. 1 don't know; wa never
discussed it that much. They just came over across the bay.

I think they bought the house, rented it or bought it, on
Hawthorne Terrace. It was a typleal north Berkeley hillside house,
quite nica. My brothers and I lived in llttle rooms up in a timy
attic. T &till kept doing guite a lot of drinking. I went to
school, joined the art departmenc, met Ruth there, and scon my life
began to change.

You joined a fraternity, but you didn't live at the fraternity? You
liwved at home?

I lived at home. It was cheaper. At the Zeta Psi house I think the
room. and beard were 555 dollars a monch.
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‘ﬂhm mm- years at Berksley of the Social Probiems Club. Did
,jmm&m te that?

1hl: vas rluty much Popular Front, left wing. I had no respect for
them. They were not the most magneclie peeple In my ﬂpiﬁiﬂu Thay
were ﬂnntﬂm;hh Thiz was more or less the tise of the Popular
Front and they were Just espousing a straight, oh, Marxist line
despite what they said. I had always found that very boring. But I
knew a lot of these people, mind you, and some of them were good

guys snd good people.

1 got involved at that point with the Dggidept magazine. It
was & literary magazine on the campus. It had bteen sorc of
staggering along. So 1 got interesced in ic and wenc around and
sold lots of subscriptions to it and gor it going and became guica
active with lc. 1 pusss my intereac in promotions and stuff cams
out because I started giving interviews to people. Some of the
Deeident edicers and managers--Dorothy Fraser and, I thiok, John
Conrad--were pretty humorless and, agaln, dectrinaire.

I tended to be & lictle bit more mellow inm my interests, so I
set up an Interview with the Dally Cal. I knmew & lot of these guys
around the student union: Wally Frederick, who 1s an old friend of
mine Frem Marin., Did you know Wally?

Tas.

Hizs wife Christine was an old San Rafael girl and a very close
friend. Christine Brooks her name was. George Pettitr was there.
He hed been director of the Cal admlssions office and sort of helped
me get into Cal, So I began fooling around with some of the Daily
Cal guys on the Qcgldenc,

But I set up this big interview. See, I really wanced to get



Riegsa:

Newhall:
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A Fromoter at Hearc

So that was your first attempt at a promotion.

L3
I suppose 50, but I can't explain it exmctly, You see, p:nnntiuu
and public relations can be fun. Basically, for the interest of the
good people at The Bancrefr Library, in some senses I'm a prn-uﬁht
at heart, [ love people. They can be manipulatad, By that I don't
mean necessarily for any evil purposes, but [t iz fun te work with
them. So it was Just fun to get the kids at Cal, the students, to
buy a subscription to the Ogcidenc. I'd ger out there in the ﬂuuf;
near the student union and hustle rthe customers into buying the
Decident at "speclal prices.”

Do you have to know who wou are manipulating? It sounds like in
general you don'c.

Yo. I don't care. I don't want to be too subjective in all this
except to explain somecimes my actitudes or outleok. T keep saying
I love people as o group and Individually. 1 go through life more
or less trying to stimulate them into not being as- dull as they
might otherwise be. 1 don't know how else te put {it,

In the newspaper business, for example, an editer's
responsibility ia te his customers--to make them resd. But there
are all kinds of technigues for informing people and making chem
read. Today the job of making people read is a litcle tough,
particularly when you see what television is doing to overpower and
sedate whole nations.

However, baeck to my life at Cal., 1 was promoting the

Decident, but my major was art. I got into the art
department just because nobody I knew was an artist.
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Em ﬂéﬂf great affection and respect most of our faculty

There was Chiura Obata who was a Japanese guy--sent away

ihhﬁmmmmwaﬂam II. He had a son, Kimio, who is a

very good friend of mine, and & litrle daughter, too. The faculty

‘members were grear: Ray Boynton, Ferham Hahl, Worch Ryder, John

Mh?Hupuhhnﬂm"munﬂsamﬂuunIdm:kmwﬁﬁm
is still arcund.

I don't think =a. Thare were a lot of politics in that department.

Hgﬁt- That's right, Art departments are not normally the most
atahle academic lnstitutions in the werld. They finally had te put
in a Latin archaeclogy professor as chalrman of the department
because they were having sgquabbles. They tried to put am
administrator in, I puess, to straighcem it out a little bic.

Perham Wahl was & wonderful guy. He came from anm old famiiy of
California artiscvs., And I knew Eugen Neuhaus ome of the department
oldtimers. Bud Neuhsus, his son, and Kimio Obara were shourt my two
elogest friends. He'a gtill around, isn't he, dolng someching or
aother? The son.

I don't know, The father Eugen Neuhaus iz lang gona, Burt you ware
not in the modern artists camp?

1 don't think cthere were any on there,

Well, Worth Ryder?

Worth--he was good. He wasn't all that modern, but he was good. At
Cal when | was thers, we wére concentrating on the Renaissance--not

Tomortrowland.

I thought there was & real division between the people who were
trying to bring in Hans Hefmann and the mederns, and the others.
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Eiegay

['ve done all kinds af’thingp. 1 lqw?
never done any of them very well.

Jazg

Music is another field. [For more on music, ses ﬁ;ﬂﬁndlx HJT
life has been tocally wrapped up in what was then called ]lﬁt;” ﬁﬁ
music of the twenties, thircies, scill in the forries. I'we known
lots of musicians, but 1 never became glfted tnnuﬁh to become a
performing artist. I used to play the drums back in the schools.
At Lawrenceville 1 umed to gneak our at night and go up to Naw York
and sit in with a jazz band at the Crpheum Dancs Palace at &2nd and
Broadway, They had to play all the time--ten cents a dance--se
there was alwvays ene musician off taking a break. I either plaved
the drums or a lictle plane or saxophone with them, T was tercible,

¥ou just picked up those instrumentcs?

Yes. Well, we had te have piano: lessons as children. Burp I was
foraver a bust at classical mpusie. 1 really don't relate to it. So
then iny sother got thia jaze teacher to come over to our San Rafael
home. She was the one who staved wlth us for months after her
little accident dovn at the frzont zate.

I'm sorey. 1 wandared off Gal.
Fhilogophy and Galning Perspective

Mar ta puszh this painc, but yau sald at one point in your 11fe if
vou weren't doing someching well you weren't really Inceresred in
doing ic, WNow here you have yoursalf doing a little music, a llcecle
art. It doesn‘t exactly jibe with that idea.



Hewhall:

ot to know him

z wufu-m *prl‘bﬂ]' well if T was

Teally ge in paleontology until ahout the

‘hree weeks i iruﬁmiy discovered what p:limmlﬂr;y was,
Vvﬁmﬂﬂiﬁrﬂ my&.l.ng better in my life--che second time

I'Hunﬁ the ngpicll'phllﬂluphy courses. Psychology, Psychology
1 felc was wary dull, I just didn't think much of it. You could go
in there end get an "A" if you wanted, with just your left hand. 1

guess you s£till can.

Tha philosophy courses had & tremendous fascinavion for me,

_Ehﬁr really did, particularly 3A, or whatewver the lower divisiom

course was where you ploughed along starcing with Flate and
Aristotle and Lucretius and ending up with Nistzsche and John Stuart
MI11.

The University of Califormia is the greatest thing that ever
happened to me. It opened up a whole wide wonderful new world--
perceptlions of 1ife and thought and culture--,

H#

1 am crying to state simply that at Cal "philosophy™ as it was
provided to us--1 don't know if one "teaches" philosophy or not--
opened up my life, because after you have been through about five or
slx or seven, even superfieially, of the great philaosophers or
thinkers of history, you suddenly realize thart righr and wrong are
not quite as right or gquite as wrong as most people think. I have
never forgotten thac. That's whar Cal did for me really.

From the mountaintop of philosophy ene can watch the world with
an enchanting, intellectual perspective--forglve me if I am phrasing

this pompously.

1 enjoyed many courses at Cal, most Lf not all in Letters and
Science. 1 did not bocher with engineering, economics and political

-gapience. Most of the other students were doing that.
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Well, we all turmed in our papers. 1%‘13#%‘“ hose
ﬁmmwmm"m"ﬂ:
charactar means !kiﬁf“‘In ‘English. Bo I iﬁnhii
wery, very hard and finally turned it in and iiittiﬂ
word of my great scademfe investigarion into the Lit
China. Well, the semester snded and none of us :lmﬁl.ﬁﬁ_lﬂ_
word from Dr. lnnﬂhutg

The end of this saga {s that the next year I happened to run
scross Dr. Boodberg down near Sather Gate, :nd-ulth failing hrn:tﬁ I
asked the good doctor what he had thought of my uhlu:t.ﬁt rqnpﬁh
and my solution to the myscery of “"wang."”

He wore thick glasses, as I recall, and peered at me with a
kind of srrange decachmant and sgaid: "Oh, I mever read any of ‘thase
papers--1 haven't the s=lighrese ldea. My job is to make you atudy
and think. Did you?™ And then he walked away on his business,

Well this was atlll actually one of the =ost llluminaring and
excieing classes I ever got into at Cal. Although I acill can't
cnll anybody wvhat "wang" really means.

Training in Visual ATEE

You have said that you credit your art training with giving you a
kind of facillty In leying out a nevspaper.

I think that the art studies I had at Cal have certainly heen
tremendously Important to me professlemally. The graphie concepts I
assimilated or learned or practiced at Cal hawve colored my whole
life:, It has to do with the cars I buy, the whole life that wve
lead, the decorations of our home, cur lifestyle: A&fter all, our
whole earthly environment is a perpetually changing art form.

I do know that because of my formal art training at Cal--if i



1-" 'l']_"_

all: :aiﬁuﬂ.ﬁu_,_.m what I was going to do until Ruth walked ints the
3. ?_inmulnljfmmym She called the roll of our
3 class. I was horrified, absolutely appalled that at the
',miq of Galifornia anybody would come in and call the roll,
ﬁﬂﬂrtfﬁthtr did call the roll that they would expect me to answer.
ly this person who called roll in 1A was devascatingly
attractive, 1 never forgoet her,

Rless:  How did you pursus her?

‘Mewhsll: T never got her out of my mind afrer that first time. She was the
| i secretary of the art department st the time. And I began casually
to drop by her office and say "HL." Ve got to be pretty good
friends, and I remember for some reason or other we vere walking
down the street toward her house one day, I said, "You know, I like
to play tennls, but [ also like co play jazz piano.”

she said, "Oh, I can't believe you're any good. I'm'a very
good jazz pianisc.® I said, "What do you mean?" GShe said, "Well, I
can play anycthing. 1've poc perfect pitch." (It wasn't quite that
diroct.) Then it sort of went Like this, T rthink: T =zaid, "Well,
prove it to me." She sald, "Okay, come on, we'll go o the house.
It's a few blacks over there.” 5She sat dowvn at the family pilano and
played, "You're an 01d Smoothie.® 1I°1l never forget that somg. It
was very popular. A woman called Ramona had made a hit-selling
record of 1t that year. And we got to ba pretty good friends and
spent more and more time together., She was twe or three vears older
than 1 was, buc I was in kind of a hursy. 1 had to ELIL1l up thoze
voars fast.

Well, Eugen Neuhaus had organlzed a trip to Europe, &n art
seminar for his students. So Ruth and I--she talked to me ahout it
-=gigned up for it. My mother figured she could put enough morey
together. (My father had just died at this tims.)
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Erck tt;ﬂu'ii:aaﬁtf:' SiRar

No. We weren‘t married than. I'd only mer he
whenever college starts, and sailed on the
summar. But off we iiﬂt We want to London and
and the Tate Gallery and the Natiomal ﬂntlirr
marvelous. We were living hand to mmuth—Lthﬂlh
and so on. That's vhen I wanted to ses the Bavis I
That‘s when I went to France and I got so loaded. ’ﬂh.j#"
Anyway, I spent half my momey for che whals trip in ElELl

when I was out of sy head and buying champagne Inseead of lqmlﬂ;ﬁ; # :
plecures.

After the Davis Cup matches we were walking down a Paris
boulevard and a little fellow came by on his bicycle with pedals and
a lictle moror in it. I said, "Ces, that's a wonderful thing Why
don’t we rent & couple of those lirtle moror bicyecles znd lqt'; ride
around Europe.” (We planned te run into Keuhaus in Florence, I
think.)

S0 we bought a couple of Motobecames--you know, to atarc the
motor you pedal them and off they go. We started out from Parls and
we went down through Lyons and Grenoble and co Hice, Canmes, around
the Fremch amd Italien Rivisras, down to Piga, and finally up to
Florence: Then we stayed In Florence for gquite a while becauzs
that's where all arcists go.

Just with a little kmapzack or something?

Yes. We ocach had a little bag; it was nothing. %¥You put in about
half & gallon of gas in the little machines and fefs good for & day.
We had paid abouc 700 francs: pach for the machines. It wasn't much,
probably thirty or forty dollars.

Then we started north from Florence, We had to get back to
school., We didn't go to Venice, but we sctopped in Padua becausa I
vanted to see some Glotro frescoes there. It was & great Litcle
town. #And Bologna. And then started climbing the Alps and all of a
sudden there wesg the Austrian border. We didn't even know we were
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ghghtiyiﬂ in Munich for awhile, went through some mussums and

. then went back to Paris, and then finally came on back.
this time I realizad I just ecouldn’t live witheut Ruth., I had been
ﬂtitin; all this time, my whole long life--1 was nineteen by then--
and T said 1'm not going te let this girl get away.

We stopped off In Chicago to see the 1933 Exposition afcer

wisiting Ruth's uncle in RBew York, a newspaper syndicate publisher.

Then we caught the train and came back home. And I wanted to get
married. I wasn't pgoing to waste any time, because & couple of
young men--some crazy dentisc and some customer’s investment broker,
& young man--were paying attention to her, and I dldn't 1ike tchat,

But her family didn't cake kindly to the idea of losing thelr
daughter, They had heard that I was & degenerats. Those wers thea
words she used. She said, "l can’'t have my daughter marrying a
degenerate." Besides, I think my future mother-in-law wanted Ruth
to be the first female President of the United S5tates of America,
and LT she was going to throw hersell away on a drunk, forget it.

They were {(n Berkeley, the othear beaus?

Yes. They lived in Berkeley. Ruth had besn very blg in Berkeley
High. £he'd been class president, and she was the vice-president of
the student body at Cal, and very active,

When I broached the subject, my mother was &all for it. I guess
she figured somebody else had batter werry about me. But Ruth's
family really didn't llke it, and it was & terrible mess. 1 was
never sllowed in the Waldo house sgain, and Ruth was in terrible
shape with them. I just persisced, end I did. Poor Ruth! I don't
know how she scood it because there was her family--her life had
been &1l planned out, I'm sure, and Mimi, her mother, was a wery,
very domineering person, Her father was furious--my mother had
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sother rented a plane for Reno. We chartered a lllhi,'
Alrport because I was only nineteen, and I had to mm q;;
witness to make overything legal.

It was at night, and we flew up over the Sierra to Reno, and
when we got to Reno, there was no sign of any airport. :hi:~1g_ki&3'
and we were in a dinky little plane with fabric fuselage and wings.
The pilot was confuzed and went down and started to circle uh@gg'hq
thoughe the alrport waz, and we were gerting a litcle nervous. Then
he went dowm and sort of started to land one placs, but instesd of
the airport it turned out to be the raillroad Ereight vard at Sparks.

But then, all of a sudden after we had climbed up again, the
lights did turn on at the airport, The guy in the control tower had
finally heard our motor. They did have a control tower. But
anyway, they turned the lights om, =0 we lended in Reno and scayed
at the hotel across from tha Mapes, the Riverside, I think It was.
Hext morming at about 10:30 we were married by the Heversnd Brewster
Adama, who was one of tha marrying parsome. &t Rano. Soma cousing of
nine who had sioped tald =e to look him up.

Mopday morning right afcer the ceremony we got in the plane and
flew back to Cakland wicth a friend of mine, Harry Johnson. Harry
and my brother Hall had driven owernight across the Sierras to be at
the wedding. I remeaber I had two mid-terms that szame afternocon:
pne was in Chinese history anmd God knowe what the octher one was. I
got wery good grades in both of them, co Buth has besan angry with me
ever since. Anyway, that was the beginning of our married life.

You mean vou shéould have been more discracted by the eventc)

She gald I shouldn't have beaen able to get to the classes, let alone
make even & "C" grade. That'z the way it happened.

And you knew you had to marcy Buth when you were nineteen.



!ﬁth?tmmmdu*t lpilktﬂhﬂfnz
ua it?p the best thing that happened to us. I
agree to that too. Because we had s lot of rocky
1ad been drinking and all that. Then it was after about a
ge I had to get straightened out, or {t weuld have all

‘Bid you have an apartment?

We got an apartment. I think we spent our honeymoon wich =y mother.
I was s student, Ruth was working. £She had a 5100 salary & menth,
bur I had no salary, o my mother provided 550 a monch whieh rented
4 litele apartment down there on LeConte or LeRoy down there by
Horth Gate., We lived there for a year, Then we moved up the hill
right balow Sam Hume's castle. I domn't know if you know this; it's
up on La loma, on Buena Wisca--right up cthere somewners. We remted
a lictle place owned by Jaime d’'Anguleo. Do you know abour Jaime?

| Biazs; ¥ell, I know about hisz wricings.

Wewhall: It was thiz funmy lictle house built by Maybeck, right abowve the
Boyntons remple chere. You know that Oreek temple up there?

Biegs: The Temple of the Winds.

Newhall: Wa lived thare,

tandid Photegrapher for the Chrgniele

Newhall: Then, hurrying chrough it all, I went back to schecl my junior year,
but T got 4 job then at the Chrgpjele. I was such & lousy artisc In
a sense that I atarted taking up photography. That summer Ruth went
to work for Henry Hart who had been teaching Orlental arc st Cal.
She got a sales job in his antigue store.




S mmmwﬂm forever t
m:mwmm* and oddly
1 walked in with my camers,
editor was a fellow called Jack Robinson, and B!
managing editer, Mthl}kﬂl'tr nmrm*ﬂﬂr

I forgot to mention, by the way, when I went to W Tk |
Coffin-Redingron wholesale pharmaceutical hﬂﬂ;h,.ﬁt} Coff:
7ot to use my real name. So I worked there for about o
under the name of Douglas Scott because, apparently hhl? dn't wi
anybody ta chink that they were Fllyin; favorites or Etﬁinl jobs ﬁg.
thelir friends or something. 1 was Douglas Scocc for seven
hell of a namel

When I atarted on the Chronicle, T had this little camera, I
got it from a cousin of mine, a Kolibri or something.* It was a
little candid camera, and this Iz when the phrase "candid camera®
was new and just coming in. I told the city editor (and I was
terrified at the time) buc I said, "Look; this iz a candid camera;
this iz the new wave ' He said, "Yes, we've naver ctrisd chac, We'll
b 7! e

I'd never developed a pieture| I didn't know anvthing about
photography.

Albart Bender, an old gentleman boulevardier around town, an
art connoisseur and a great friend--wou'we probably run across hi,:-]_
name--he was a Irlend of Henry Hart's, 1 went runnlng up o tell
Euth I had the job, and Albert Bender came in. I was this young
punk about twenty at that time., I said, "0Oh, T don't know what I'm
going to do;, I don’t know how co- make & pleture.”

He went down to Hewbegin's Bookstore and hrought oe back a
present for my career, a book by Ansel Adams called How to Hake a
Photograph, and it told how you go and develop the film. Of course
Anzel Adams wouldn't cell his readers how to shoot a prize-

*Kolibri, made by Zeiss-Tkon, was manufaccured between 1930-15, In
Getmany, See Appendices for an expanded version of this story.



Biezs:

Mewhall:

! upqik-hﬂ'hin r I gaid, "Well, gﬁu, Iﬁuh'--I gimn
’E"i';_i;li:m 1c--"1 just got a job, and I've got to get a

T

He zaid, "I'll tell you what. You geo over and you ait there,

cand when I see him coming down I'1l tip vou off becsuse they

absolutely don’t want to see anybody. It's up to you from then on."

8a precty soon down they came and here was thils Lupe with the

Elashing eyes and EI.E Johnnie Weissmuller. I went up, and I guess I
looked kind of helpless, and he said, “Okay.” Eo they went and
stood by the mailbox outside, and I made a whole bunch of pictures
with thiz little cemera, and I thankad them, and that was finse.

I went back. Wall, of course, the pletures were terrible.
They were sort of oot of foecus and they wore really not very good,
bue I didn‘t know what £o do. 3o I brought them out--I daveloped
tham--to the city editor. I said, "Gee, vou are not-geoing co liks
these much becauzs they sre candid, you know, It is net any of this
posed seuff." They were kind of fuzzy,

He safd, "That's right! They've got a real fesling abut chem,
dom*t they?" [lavghter] So he used them, and then 1 was &

photographer for a year for the Chroniclsa.

Psychotherapy

Not to stick a big pin in the middle of the story, but were you
through with your thezapy?

Yes, I was through with tha therapy. Thank God. T might as weall
gat some af that on the record. The dector’s name was Kenneth
Francia, He was & practitioner here in San Francisco, My drinking
In & sensze got o0 bad, he said, “"Look, you have gor to separate from
Ruth. You go live somewhere else.” 5o I got a roem in the YMCA
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according to th gwp-hnﬁ Dr. Francis.

Pretty soon [ went back home for awhile, and
Basically I never drank again after I was through. I m;_
probably six to eight =menths. I really’ domf & r AT, Tk sl
like a long time. i --f!

of Be 3 W

There's a plcture in the arcicle that you gave me hr'Jﬁhﬂ.Lnﬁl in

San Francisco Magazine, It shows you with a blackensd eye, one eye
swollen shut. WVhat's that picture from?

Oh, that was from when I was & phocographer. I became & wvery
profezsicnal photographer. 1 had co get ona of chese Speed Craphic
cameras. We had flagh powder at first, but then in came tin foll
flash bulbs, and now of course {t's all different.

I just covered everything in town, and thersa waz a cave-in down
by the elephant cages out at the Fleishhacker Zoo. This was in the
old Depression public works WPA days. People vere very semsitive in
those days, thas Depression was roaring along, and this was 1835, 1
went cut to cover this zoo cave-in and gec some pictures, and the
WPA people had put up a picket line around the Fleishhacksr
entrance. So they wouldn't let us in.

The fire chief came by, and he said, "You got a preblem, boys?™
There were two or threa of us cthere. I said, "Oh, these fellows
don't want to let us im" He sald;, "Hers, hop on, &nd I'll caks you
in." 3o wa jumped on the running board of his car--or I did anyway
==and wo started through, but a big fellow reached up and pulled m=
off. He just wenc whaml I'"wve mever won a £ight. T have had thres
fighes in my life, and I ended up a bloody pulp afeer every one of
them. I will never fight sgain I{f I can help it.
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1, just a minute, just a minute.*
 He sort of staggered back and sat
-,' "Don't worry, your Honmor, don't delay the trial.

:=mhnﬂumynm He's rannjrtustapinmny shoes. "

E-: the son took over the case, and by polly--it was a jury
trial, we demanded a jury trial because we wanted everything on our

=ide--the jury found him totally innocent of any wromgdoing. And

they had a picture of that guy punching me with =y camera going
down, We interviewed the jurers sfrerwards to ask them why did chey
do this. A couple of them sald, "Well, look, of course the fellow

‘was gu:i..'l.-f.-}- but we felt sorry for him. He was unemploved. And

newspaper men deserve what they get.”®

There was a story in the paper about it. You can find ic,
That was San Francisco justice as it was practiced on Kearney Street
at the old Hall of Justice!

And newspaper men "deserve what they get,” huh?

Some jurcrs said, "Reporters are always butting into people's
business and they deserve anything chey get and it was good for
him." They said that.

Anwway that's the black eye for whatever it's worth.

Then following that sbout a month later--this would have been
1936, abour April or March, in there--there was 4 lirrle wreck. &
Valkup truck, one of those stevedors trucka with a low flat back and
stakes zround the edge, had a little sccldent with a Southern
Pacific traln down ac Third and Townsend tracks. I was sent out to
get some pictures of the crash, which 1 did.

However, the truck driver took a lock at me. He sald, "I don't
want any piccures." He walked over and grabbed one of thost stakes,
(They were about four or five feet long.) He pulled it our of his
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have to get cha Fiﬁkﬂ#&- 5{& :
and call up somebody and say, f‘-ﬂh

Writers, when they're sent our on a story, the re
got heart attacks much. They'd go along and l:ﬁﬁ e e
de that. You can write your stories from & barroom, b
make yeur pleturas from n barreem. 1 just mentien Ehit

Speaking of the WPA, did you meet Diego Rlvera when he was hera?
¢

Tha WPA art down here at the Maritime Museum building has® chése
marvelous murals in it. I was mentioning Tony |Antonio| Sotomavor .
I don't know LE he ever did any work for WPA, buc he did & huge big
beautiful founcain for the 193% World's Fair at Treasurs lsland:
Then there were the Colt Tower murals snd Rincon Annex.

1 don't recall that I ever met Rivera, buc I mec a lot of
people who knew him, That was gsll veey much a part of our scene.

Emmy Lowu Packard?

Emmy Loo was a very dear friend of mine, and amelia Perle, Emmy Lo
is sclll around, isn't she? Hasn't she done some writing? Somebody
called Enmmy Lou is doing it. She h&d a mother called Emmy Low, Coo,
didn't she? [Emma Packard] 1 read an artiele abouc her in one of
the California historical magarines.

She was a clossmate of mine, or mavbe a class ahead of me ac
Cal. Or two classes. It was quite & group there. We used to come
ovar to San Francisde and sulc up for the annual Parilla. This was
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ed to the ones that were a little
re"--the ones who naver

im:' the tal
m pnrn:. ir socisl philosophy abut

iy or other you have been saying that old values are the
b ues, Restoration I know is an important theme in your life.
~:u.?““ bl a Ilbt:ni at the same tima?

. Well, when I'm with my old colleagues and friends from San Rafael,
-'I"'I n !unurg. radieal. And when I'm with the Student Problems El'nh
-P‘nl reactionary. That's the nature of the beast. I feel that
thera ‘always has to be a middle ground, or ac least another version,
The philosophy of the world can never be capsullzed Iinto cme simple
capsule or flaver. %You can't.

Look, I suifer & lot of dichotomy or whatever It Is. A person
who has been borm--we were discussing it a lictle bic--into a
gartain comfortable social situatiom, can take his security for
granted. ?rgmftharu it's easy to diwvert yourself and go in other
directions and assume octher roles, If you have that soart of
sacurity anchor to windward all your life--1 don't express {t very
well--fr'e sasy co assume certain poses with whomever I'm with, tha
"mickeér pose," or vhatever you want to eall irc,

If wou ave born with a certain stability somewhera in your
background, even after the Depression, or during the Depression, you
can probably have a safes psychological "home base" In your soul. So
then ft's easy to be the liberal, You can see this kind of role-
playing in a lot of vyour politicians.

What kind of a 1ibaral was Helson Rockefellar? He was a pretty
good friend of mine, but {t was the same deal. Tt was very &8sy ro
be a liberal just as long as he concrolled a good percentage of the
pacions wealech. OFf course I -didan't contral any of f£t:
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-something You den't realize unless you'wve seen it. And the Chinese

vl
T can't explain ic. I think patience lnﬁﬂhtri ank Fq éﬁhnlh.fn-
thiz was bhefore the so-called mainland or Gannﬂni:& '
over;: I was thers when the “Comsmunist" a:miaﬂ ﬂnén: Mao ]
wers besieging all the major clties. I'm jusping way nuﬂ;
The shsolute thrust of world histery (s over there on the Chlpess
and Southeast Aslan mainland.

In 1948 and 1949, when [ was there, the Chinese merchants or
salesmen would come In and say, "Master (lc was then), don't you
want to buy some clothes or bring something home? Snmn drasses for
your wife?" 1 said, "Well, I'm leaving on the nine o'clock plane
tomorrow." “Okay, HﬂStET we will have chem for you." They made
for Buth a vhele trousseau of pajamas and nightgovns and blouses
from about six o’'clock at night uncil about seven in the morning,
and they brought them there to the Wagen Llta Hotel in Feking in
plency of time, [See digscuszsion on p. 110]

The work that they will perform wich such privacionm is _
something ve cannot conceive of In this country. 1 think. This is

are going through this amacing "Westernizing" period mow. But
maybe--1 don'C want to get depressed now--maybe Wescern culcours will
somehow debauwch them. They are golng through this "Western"
metemorphisis wery fast-mayvbe too East.

Kill fE'aft.

That's right, it may very well. [lauvghter] But I tell you they are
fantastic peopla.

Polly's family ibnily fhes, Newhall®s seoreotary]--chey came
over from Korea. 1 think her mother and facher were very woll
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ﬂﬁbﬁuﬁ,mm take 4 trip. You thought that your life wa
: ﬂﬁﬂﬁiﬁifll.:hlnt in a direction that made any szense yet? :

- Well, oy father had left me what amounted to about §10,000 n
ﬂtiﬂritin:. one thing or another. My great fantasy, and Ruth's--or
at least she went along with it--was to travel this whole great,
wide wonderful world. This fantasy of romance, the Indiana Jones
bit, I lowed ir. (This was very, very pre-Indiana Jones
ineidentally.}

We wene to Mexico first for a year. That ocpened up & whola
world thers. Thia was before I went to work for the Chronfels, 1934
it was, the First summer after we were married. Meaxles was a
faraway place with a strange sounding name. There was no true
highway or road to Mewico Clty, but they'd just started building the
-s9-called Pan American Highway, and I wantad to be out there in the
grear untamed frontier.

Ve had been saving money. Our llfe style was very parsimoniousz
then. Our Hodel T Ford rcadster had cost us only 312,50, We saved
on our food bills, We put thirty one-dellar bills in the top drawer
of the bureau each month, and we would take a dollar bill out svery
day to buy our day's food supply down at the market. S0 wa vere
able to-sawve anough for & summer trip through Hexico.

¥We had two or three, four hundred dollars maybe, and I bought a
baby Austin. Those were the tiny llttle American ones. I don't
know whether vou have ever seen one or not, but they were really
amall. I thought, well, if we get struck in the jungle or whatewver
Ie £x; w8 can push it out.

S0 we started off for Mexico. I eried to get a map. Tha man
at tha AAA said, "IF you're going to take your wife to Mexfco, I'm
going to call the police.® This place, Mexico, was just finishing



Eifteon guu; m n'm
the Caterpillar :g:m:y ﬂuh
recovering from terrible at
their agriculture a little bit. - revolutionary
broken up all the haciendas and the churches.

So Ruth and I went down to see Teddy. We livad ,ﬂﬂ‘%
there because the Foreign Club, which was a big gnlﬁmﬁﬁp
establishmenc. had just opened In Mexico nizy-nug toward
Chapultepec. Ruth and I had developed a system Co hﬁnq.tﬁl
wheel. We hic it. We ware paid off in pesos, but we had ""'_

of pesos. We used the simple system of just doubling ﬂp—;ﬁ.*ﬂm#
the "red" or “black.” You had to go In there wich 'a dinner jacket;
I rented a dimmer jacket down there. The last time we went: in-
was too much for my heart--she kept doubling up and the wrong
kept coming up, unctil finally we wers wiped cut one nighe.

We had hired a car and a chauffeur and were living at the
Churubuseo country club, Here we were broks| But we were kids. ESo
I borrowed $100 from Teddy the next morning, after our great loss at
the Foreign Club, and we started morth. Well, there wers no genuins
roads going north to Guadalajara, Tt was the ralny season, Ve went
cver to Juerctaro and through Irapuato. These towns are uwp ==L
don't kmow if you know Mexico--on the placeau country vhere Emperor:
Maximilian waz finally wiped our by the pative troops. Then we
bogged down in the mud--no roads, no nothing.

This councry, believe ma It's mor the Mexico you think of now,
I promise you--(I was going to do a book on it)=-it wvas
unbelievable, There wasn't a priest in the country: there wasn't a
chureh that hadn’t been ruinsd. It was Juse getting over tha
revolutions, They'd jusr thrown: General FPlutaro Elias Calles our,
{I intervieved him later.)} There were still generals in charge of
the country. Abelardo Reodriguez had been president and Lazaro
Cardenas was now in the zaddle,

The roads were 50 terrible and there was zo much rtain that we
would zink into lanes running through the cornfields. So we'd have
to hire theses oxen to pull us out. Ome bunch of rancheros there
wvanted to ' buy Buth. I said: "No, I can't 2ell her, she's =y wife."
They looked at her gold wedding ring and said: "Well. what about



a ;ﬂmnmﬂhﬁﬂuﬂnmﬂdu:
L cab, and asked the driver, "Where can we get
TERE lnfhhtn the eity of Guaralajera and the town of Tepic
s this huge barranca. The train then--it was a Southern
;-‘ilhl-aha&-h track going scross the tromendous gorge, Buc I

! t, well, we should make this a personal trip down to the
htm t]:mﬂ-: the ja,mgu ravine. And we would have to make the
t:i} on horsohack.

: Eﬁ_ﬂl went out to the fair. Every Sunday thay sell horses and
buy them at these markets, We bought a couple of herses--about
nﬁ!tnty pesos apiece with bridles and saddles and everything. And
the pext morning we started out for Tepic, which turned ouc to be &n
elght-day ride. We rode over the countryside and down into the
barranca, which is one of the mosc amazing places--huge barranca. 1
Eorget the name of it--Grande Barranca--and up over, We want
through the towns. Weo'd make a day's ride and stop in little towns.

The last night out we srCepped at what musc have been che last,
true haclenda in Mexico. The patton came cliding up wich his spurs,
and his foreman jumped down end took his spurs off when he
digmounced. He was a bhuge man with a whice besdrd, wvery polite and
humorous and very regal. He was a teral Gachupin--a Spanfard. He
said, "My house is yours " and 2o we came in and stayed with him.
He tald us about a daughter art UCLA and thisz, that and the other.
Don Eduardc Varela--1"1]l never forget him.

The next morning off we went to Tepic. We sold the horsss in
Teple and lost some money in the Nayvarit lottery. Then wa still had
our tickets to the coast so we headed up in the third class train,
stopped for a night or two in Mazatlan, case on up to Hogales, and
crossed the border and came home in.a Greyhound bus,

We had eleven cents in our jeans when we gor home. So that was
that story. It covers a lot of terrain, but this was the beginning
of our wandering or traveling mostly in Latin America for the restc
of our liwes. This wee before we started out again on the boat, a
yaar later, in 1336,
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You said somewhere that Mexico was iﬁlf-ﬂf real
gentlemen.

We have been in Mexico a great deal, and thers is this fan
old-world, colonial sense of hnlﬁitnlit?.,ﬁsttinﬁiﬂhitfﬁh#wi___ T 8t
lesst it used to be that way. There iz a chivalrouz echo ﬂﬂiﬂ
be heard in Latvin America. We'd be nutr-inﬁ when I say "our in f
nmm'Imnmtinmatmmnrwhnmmmlrtﬁhtﬂﬂﬁniﬁ.ﬁl.
so-called town would be one adobe hut with a fellow with hiz family
and his kids and a few corn stalks and beans.

Ha'd come out, "Welcome. Be =y guesr. " You'd =ay, you know,
"Don Eduardo, how are you today?” TYou'd think that you were in the
court of Spain for God’s zake. These are sort of semi-Indians out
in the councry. Ic's an amazing place, It was. Now thers is this

cremendous Mexican middle class, of course, that has grown up there.
Thare wasn't any then.

ecigl r i -

%o then you came back.

I came back to work for the Chromicle. I'm sure that was it. In my
senior year--I couldn't finigh it, I couldn’t do the job and scheol
at the same time--T1 sorc of quit Cal. T never gor a diploma.

Didn't Buth push you to get that diploma¥y

What good does Lt do?

To push your
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to make a chelee. The or the job. The job meant a
> deal more to me., It's as simple as that.

It sounds like you were more of a grown-up. You were married.

I don't know if enybody ever grows up.

‘Married usually means responsibilities and taking care of the wife

She was working. Ghe was kind of liberated then. We had our own
contribuotions to make, I will never forget Ruth's beling willing to
go along on these hare-brained adventures, but she always did.

Qutfitting Another New Adventure

8o you hed momey, and wou boughe a boac?

Yas, We bought this old boac--a 42-foot ketch. My family had had
some yachts im tha bay and so oen. I have always liked ships. You
will see I make occasional remarks that there were "old ships" tied
up here or there. My father used to take us up to cthe Sacramento
Fair and on San Joaguin River. He'd charter a boac. He had his own
boat which he laid up, and =y grandfather had gquite a nice yacht
here in the bay. The family had always sort of fooled around in the
water.

When I was up in Alasks with the Whites I learnsd to love the
water even more. Another scory I read while I was up with the
Whites was Arpund the World, which was about a single man going
around the world in a small sailboac.

Joshia Slocum?




Riess:

Mewhall:

Hewhall:

Thi:r.'- was some commitment to wrice?

e Chronfels sald they'd buy sreicles--tvancy-five hﬂiﬁ an
Hell, twenty-five dollars is enough to live a mﬂ;:ﬁ;

lrticlu

Mexicol I wrote guite

We sailed from here down to San Fedro, and then from m ii_i
ran aground halfway down lower California in a little xi;ﬂqﬁ? ’Eh
finally managed to haul her off with an anchor and s windlass. I

thought the trip might

experionce--but I suppose exactly what we wera looking for,

Went into Hazatlan for awhile.
Manzanillc we became storm-bound for a month.
because the wind was blowing againzt us for abour twenty-nine days,
We couldn't go to windward at all.

hmmmmmnﬁ?
it was fourteen cents {n our pockers, Lit
could uithu:ﬂmim!hlnrﬂﬂ

or shoot

& few, or Ruth did.

-
-

have ended there, It was a hell of an

And then on the voyage to
We couldn’t go south

Then we got into Manzanillo

which was a marvelous stage-set kind of tropical seaport then.
Thare were none of these tourist hotels or anyching like that.

e and

Again, this waa summer
Manzanillo--this was &
to let you clear until
dangarous.” They hava
rainy zeaszon.

S0 once again, an
wandering by the plaza
two gringos, I'm going
mountain down there in
got a4 loct of bhlg scoma

and the rainy seasen. The port caprain in
amall sleepy town--sald, "Look, I'm not going
mfter the rainy season because it's too

some pretty good blows down there in che

old Mexican fellow, a story teller came

cne night and paw us there, and he said, "You
to tell you a story. There 15 a sacred

the jungle, down thera in Michoacan. It's
idols. People ares afraid of it; fc’s
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Riega:

| Newhall:

‘Iiprhpu tm lm welght. Oh'my Ged, it was

- But ﬁﬁlﬁflug-ﬁﬁi still with you?

Newhall: ©Oh, he was to be our guids. Well. it turmed out that as a guide he

wasn’t all that really sharp, buc he was a great scory teller. He

‘wag about seventy-two then, protty old we thought, because we were

In our uiddlﬂ twanties.

We were going up and down; it was the rainy season; the rivers
were torrents; we'd swim the rivers and hsul the horses and kick
them and sometimes sleep out Iin the rain., Thls was really, as they
would say now, roughing it. I would shoot an occasional dove or a
guail or a chachalaca, which is a wild chicken, and sometimes we'd
trade them for eggs or beans, Wa were hungry.

The biggest thing of that trip In the end was to go through an
experience of total hunger and malnourishwent. Unless you have a
real season of scarvation, you cannot understand people who, when
they . are 11l-fed and {1l-housed, are ready to kill. We would dream
of food at night. We were hungry. Because, while cthe countryside
was jungle and there was enough growing in a sense, and in a while
wou might pass an avecado tres orf eEomething, the people had no food.
This country was still just torn apart fellowing the revolucion.

Why Lidn’e yveu turn baek?

Well, there's always the next mountain. We finally just ranm out of
time and started to head down to che coast. We had more or less
been paralleling the coast through the mountains. Then we went over
and down to the cosst and ran into a miner, a Texan who was running
8 gold mine there, This was near a litcle pueblo called Arteaga,
They'd hit a blg bonanza proving out at about $90,000 a ton, which
Is high grade ore and a lot of money.

But the local Indians--and 1l cannot stress this too much, this



“The 'rmmm af ‘the si-ru ﬂpm;_* althou
partlcular movie yer, .

i'

W& started sut towsrd the coast from & _'
said, qu.ymnptmganuummp -El'nn
a long tlme because I have not been able to appear la pu
we rode, as his "guest” almest, through the countryside
three days till we got to Ahuindo, the hacienda, and sa |

We rode armed, by the way--the first trip ﬂu;ﬁnt&ﬁhﬁnk too,
had a pistel and machates. Everybody did, 1 didn'c really hﬂ’r
ta use the pistol, I dropped mine once, 1t fell out of ﬂu
somehow on that ride through the jungle. Two days later this H a
fellov came plodding along and said, "Don Zefarine said to ilﬂi qu
this. I found it -lying on your trail.®

Then we got down to the coast and started to ride and hike back
along the beaches. You go up the beach until you come to the maxt
river, and you then go inland to & point where you can find a
raaring ford on the river, Sometimes you'd be stuck for a day or
two. It was slow golng, slow going. We were walking. Pretty soon
the poer old horses got so thin and tired we were hehind them
pushing them.

Somerimes there would be an Indlan ctowm here and mestizo town
there. That was the way it stacked up sociclogically. We got into
one town, and local Folk were having one of their feuds. The bipg
man in the town had the biggesat house, 1 guess, which was abouc two
rooms, [ remember how we weres 0 hungey at this place--Colre it [s
called, for whatever it's worth--and a fellow had a branch of
bananas on his back, You know how bananas grow, a whole branch of
them, end they ware for sale. Usually you were able to buy a banana
somewhere, We bought the entire branch, Before we got off our
horses, we ate the whole thing., The three of us ate a whole clump
of bananas. 1 have never eaten so much In my life,



. [laughter] We'd go chrough
ﬂmﬁﬁftmmﬁmpmmi it
. truly. The people again were so

ﬂi‘ﬂ!ﬁl n#umiknt a flooding river one time, The household at
which we stayed was the only shack we had seen all aftercon, and it
Iiﬁtﬂ'ﬁm'hﬂn totally as large as most of this room. Tt was a few
poles under a chatch roof, The mother was running it, I don't koow
if there was a father around or not. There were four or five young
kids. 5he mustc have been all of thirty. S5he was wonderful. They
had a little corn patch scross the river. S5o while we waited there,
she would go across the Flooding river once or twice a day and bring
. in corn, and all we had to eat was just this corn. Tt was very

{ good, of course. But we couldn't eat all of it because you'd try to

let other people have some corn too.

_ Egg was the delicscy. The beans were even difficult to come
by. People were 1lving in thatched huts, and tha pigs lived there
too. BRuth and 1 amused ourselves one night by pushing with our feec
on different pigs. They had a different pitch., you see, vach one of
| them, and they'd grunc, [laughter| We sort of kept ourselves busy
| with a melodious evening.

I mentioned the town we'd come into where they had this feud,
and the people were killing each other. They"d lock the town ac
night, £o0 you were locked in, you couldn't evenm ger out of the hut
The day before, we were coming over a hill and we suddenly ran onto
a corn field coming down toward the river, It was very hilly, with
rivers poing down te the ocean, #Amother hill, anocher river. So I
pleked a fow earg of cornm which I probably shouldn't have done, but
I did.

The horses--and they were sick and hungry by that time too --
stopped to eat and I became very angry with my mare and 1 gave her a
kick to move her along. She hauled off and kicked me in the shin,
1'd never had zuch a kick before, and I thought, "My God, she's
broken my leg”, but it wasn't brokem. It hurt, but I went on. That
night, halfway down the hill, we ran acreas the fellow who was in




Hewhall:

1 said, wﬂau,,:tm*tm:mgn :
slse." Then he found somebody, m:uuxm&-
rEﬂlﬂhl!ld there were tigers--they used that n;in
or bcelots--in the brush. And he laft.
This was our lastc night on horseback.
miles from San Telmo.

Desperate Davs

I was being very protective. We were at the site of a beautiful
stream, really--a sandy beach, and the stream--and a couple of
lamons came floating down and we made lemonade, We had soma sugar
cane. I thought, Ruth has been so gallant and she's so tired and
our feet were so wet from all these rivers and stuff, I'd put her
boots there by the [ire to dry, and of course, the boots burned up
because we fell asleep. 5o Buth was left barefoot.

We literally had only the clothes we had on our backs. 1 had
boots on, but tha soles were gone. The tops looked pretty good.
And so that's the way we ended up. We went on down and finally got
to this lighthouse. a plaster or stucco place, kind of colonial. We
rode into cthe courcyard, and there was the lighthouse keeper there,
and his assistanc, and the lighthouse keeper's son, and this very
pregnant Indian girl.

Futh was on the horse. 1 maid, *You ride the horse."” We had
sold one horse and Antonio, our original gulde, headed back to
Manzanillo with the other. We couldn’t even ride them. Thay were
bones--poor animals, Ruth burst {nte tears. It had been 8 long,
hard trip, about filve weeks, I guess. We were really, really,
really tired. I guess she probably loat about ten or twenty pounds,
I know I was down from abeut 130 te 1210 pounds.



s H:tﬁithltm that all that he and his
,_ﬂEﬁIl-tlnﬂ this light because this is a very major
; coast. Well, the assistant lighthouse keeper,
young man, had had an affair with this young Indian girl.
- another fellow sitting on the verandah of the lighthouss,
all Ehl time polishing his pistol, his revolver, and so

I“uik?h "Hhu*l this fellow?” He was the brother of the
pregnant Indian girl, and she was a local native. Pops said, "He
has sworn, unless they are married, he is going to kill my
asgigtanc.” 1 gaid, "Well, why {s he siecing there palishing his
gun?" He sald, "Ch, he can’'t kill him as long as he's a guest in my
home, No p-rﬂhluu1

The whole time we were there, thls fallow zat around., He ate by
himself, buc he sat around cleaning his pistel. The girl, of
course, wailted om the table--vhatever the table was., They
slaughtered a cow while we were there so we all had meat to eat and
chicharones and stuff like that, Whac we ate mostly was this dried

salt meat, a heavy tough jerky.

These Moxican guys had big strong teech and they could eat it
so fast. They put & bowl of the jerky on tha table., Ruth and [
would sic there almost in tears wacching all the meat disappear
while we were still chewing our first mouthful. You are out of your
mind, balisve me, when you go hungry for a couple of monchs. 5o we
developed a cechnique where while our hosts waren't loaking or
asating or something, we would grab a piece and let {c drep in our
laps. Then we'd go back and get another piace. Then at night we
would lie in the bed there and gnaw on the beef that s had been
sbhle to pirace.

It was really quite an experience, and I'm sorry that every
slngle one of our affluent American fellow citizens cannot
experlence it.-what true poverty or hunger or malnucrition means. I
can never forget what [ went through there.

The boat finally came by and picked us up and brought us back
to Manzanillo, To glve an idea again of what this food problem doss




Fless:

Mewhall:

Eiess:

Hewhall:

guunﬁﬁh ¥a sat dow

My mother then cama down. &I _
problems, and she hadn't had ‘[ﬁi!" eroks
of jam because she had written and safd
something sweat, jam or _1111}*

We all went up to Uuliixsjirq* ih:ﬁﬂ i:-  day’
Manzanillo, snd ztayed at the Hotel - Liery
hotel, There in those countries they uﬂlﬁ. L0 SEFVE yOU YOur
vegetables and vegetable dishes on plateers fi@lﬁ ‘They
bring it in, you help yourselves, then they'll take 6 & m'ﬁﬂ. .
you're finished. Well, Huth and I would sat, and they would come
and rake the vegetsble dishes away before they were clean, "tiﬂl"'
empty. We didn’t dare say, "Gee, we'd like Some more," blnluin-ut
thought that would be rude or groedy, of they would t&tﬂt there's
something strange about us,

We were still unbalanced on the subject of food. I Imow Ruth
once went into tears when they took the wepetable platter away too
early. This was three weeks later. It took a while to get our
health back. ,

It ousr have affected your thinking, too.

I know at one time we found a big horse banana when we were out
therse wicth Antonio Renteria, who was our “gulide.® And inscead of
cutting this banana {nscantly Inte three equal pleces, I =aid ro
Futh, "Doen't you want 17" She sald, "Oh, no.® I sald, “Antonio,
wouldn’t yom like this?™ He said, "0Oh yes, I would," and tha
bastard took it and ace the whole ching! We didn’t speak to him for
a day. We never said anything, I hated him. I hated him! That's
vhat starvacion does to vouo,

E lococens, Seprie A, —and taticn
That didn't contribute at all co your general health. If you had
been healthier, do yvou think you would have survived the leg Injory?

T dom't know. T had starced ca come down wich a series of
staphylococcus infections--they didn't know they were staphylococeous




Bia=ss:

Mewhall:®

N
i
at e Lut-."ﬁiﬁ been in pain all that cime?

- Ko, it sort of receded. The skin never really healed up, but it was
not & !yigi problem; It was arrested, [ chought. But that must
have started it sll geing. ! still have the leg that was kicked.
Itlﬂtl the other tn; that was finally amputated. That was cercainly
an. fndication that I was no longer resistant because what I had was
& total hone disease right here,

We had gone on te Acapulco. We had cleaned up the Mermafd,
We'd re-rigged her to a eertain extenc. We probably worked on her
for a month or two after getting back from the horseback trip. Then
ve salled on to Acapulece. We dld the Manzanillo te Acapulco rum in
thres days--just the two of us by this time. It hsd taken us thirty
&aya to go the same distance from Mazatlan to Manzanillo. We went
three days dowm to Acapuleo with a following wind, and as 1 dropped
the anchor there, my right leg began to hurc.

I ran across an old schoolmate of mine, Lewls Riley, from the
Webb School who subseguencly married Bette Davis and Dolores del
Rio--not at the same time, but that was afrerwards. He plcked me up
in his fancy Cord comvertible car. Acapulco when we were thers was
literally the bay, the Mirador Hotel up on the hill, and the rest of
it was just a towm, There had been a hotel down below, the
Tropical. That had blewn down in a hurricane.

Acapuleo, then, was just a fishing village. Hy friend and a
parcner starced the firsct real escate development dewn there, and
they made a lot of money. The last cime I saw it was when [ came
back in the Eppleton Hall., and oh my God, Acapulco was like Biarritz
or Monte Carlo or something--worse.

Ware they the people whe put you in touch with the doccors?

Yes, Lew came down, gave me a LLft up to see my cousin Teddy in
Mexleo €lty. The doctors in Mexico operated and opened up my leg
and sort of arrested the infection. But they sald, "Look, we don't
want Lo take your leg off down here because it may not be as bad as



il HOL: peamiE: Lt tare: L3 Ui S ERE KEAE
approved by the Food and Drug mm:mﬁmw
had a capacity for combatting staph and strep.

I was them suffering from streptococcus septicemia, The doctor
in Mexico said, "Well, we don't kmow what to da, but'ﬂt'#i
geing to i1l you full of rhis.” They gave it to me Bymuﬂr thlg"
gave it to me In injections. 1 woke up, and it arrested the
terrible wirulent part of it. Buat that whole leg -piiud: was tha
most terrible pain I have ever suffered. I have never hﬁﬂ.ﬂﬂ?ﬁhiﬂ;
11kE 1t

Ly
&

And T gat up here ints the hands of our San Franeieeo society
doctors, and they damm near managed to kill me, I can go inte &
long oration on the subject of malpractlice and social ethics in the
American sickroom, but anyway, I got inte the hospital here in San
Francisco. The docter said, "Oh, wa've got to straightem your leg
out, Tiger, or you'rs going to have a sciff knee the rest of your
Iife.® (Hy leg had beén kind of bent at the knes [n order to eszs
the pain of it, and it had been in a cast. T had made the alr
fFlight from Mexico to San Franciseco with the leg in a castc.)

So they put me out--boom--without any preparation for 1t. They
straightened my leg out apparently--I didn’'t see it of course, I wag
out. But by sheer force they straightened it and then put it back
in a cast. The damn fools managed te break my leg while they were
gtraightening it, They didn't have any idea really what shape 1 was
in, 1 promise you I have npever, never suffered anything like that-
before or after, I went down to about 100 pounds or less, 1 was
jusc lying In bed. I couldn't mowe for abouc three or [our wesks
from the pain of ir.

If somebody came inta the room and happened to hic =y bed, I
would Just start screaming. It was something flerce. The doctors
let me lle there until]l Ruth and my mother said, "Well, we'wve got to
do something." They got Loo Eloesser who is ome of the great heroes
of my 1ife. I don't know if you've ever heard of him or met him.




ke over. He said, "Yes, this has got to come off."
Wﬁhﬁ{ n. I had not been able to turm over to reach the
was immobilized in this cast. And pain. Oh, God! They
ook me down, and they were going to take it off, but they opened it
up, and he and one of the other doctors had an argument about how

‘much they could save of tha leg.

It made a hig difference {f you take off & leg at the hip or
down halfway to the knee. 5o they sent me back up again and studied
some more X-rays, and the next day they took me down, and they took
it off. Well, when they cut around the muscles, the leg fell off.
There had been this spontanecuns fracture, So it was a4 hell of a
mess. The morming efter that, when I woke up, I rolled over, I
E dialed Ruth, and I said, "Hey, how are you?" I was on my way back,

It's tough to gat into one of those involved sthical debates as
to whose patient are you, but he [Eloesser] agreed to come in te do
the job, He took care of me on and off ever since, and we've bean
wary close. He slways came by to see us. I never got down to his
ranch though. He loved that ranch. It was in Michoacan.

Biess: That's a grisly story ac the end, isn‘c Lc?

Mewhall: Well, I's sorry, I'm telling exactly the way it wemt. Let me hasten
to say with a big smile on my face: This, T think, iz probably the
luckiesr thing that ewver happened to me--like going broke. You lose
the leg, and then you reacr to it in a certain way and make certain
Arrangements. So then you get on about your businesa,







Blegs:

Hewhall

#uu-ﬁid gone off with cthe notion that you were going to
ﬁﬂﬁ! stories from Mexica. Did you? And was there a job
mfumummgtnunthHW?

Wall, wa sent a few stories by mail, you know. But they were very
Etu, because we would be at sea for a month or so, and come in and
write a story. And they were just a little casual adventure srories
or travel stories, you know. It wasn't much of anything. Of
course, then I got gick and so was sent home,

Bur I was very fortunasce--if you'd like to talk sbeur how T got
back in the paper--.

Yes.

A very good friend of mina was & yvoung man called Paul €. Smich,
Paul Clifford Smith, who was the young bey wender of Sanm Francisco,
He was quite a personality, gquite a skyrocket around tewnm, and a
very lmportant man in San Francisco over a perlied of ten or twalve
years. He had come from somewhere up in the norcthwest. He had been
hitchhiking around. He led a kind of adventuresome life.

When I firsc met him on the San Francisco Chropicle, I had just
been hired, and he was a red-headed kid or young man who had just
been appointed executive editor of the paper at the age of twenty-
gix. He had been a financlal editor of the Chropjicle. He had
na.ught the eye of George Cameron--Uncle George ss we called him--who
was the Chropjcle publisher, FPaul Smith was also a protege of
Herbert Hoover.

The Chronicle was listlessly floating along in the journalistic



Eless:

Kawhall:

mnmmwwﬁuulwﬁ-

Well, every nawspaper has its own system of
uniformity as you might find in a monar
anything like that. An executive editor
Chroniele is anything you made it eut to
mmnhm.;ﬂitﬂﬂw.mﬂh;_
the then-publizher, responsibls for e ;

Paul was a very dynamic young man. E& iii'!t&tﬁﬂiﬁ
brilliant. And as executive sditor ha prunnn.ﬂ h:;ij
managar a&nd editor-im-chief and uvtrything_liit ﬂ; L
execntive editor, and was in charge, Co enswer your guestlomn .
direccly, of all edirorial activicies, Including the ?Iudﬂﬂpipq?ﬁ,_f
mean, from the editorial creative szide of the whole newspaper,
he sort of took over the editorinl page ftself.

It all depands on how tha axacutive editor . ﬂpu.t.u.tn:. ar hl:u
rést of the paper iz made up. Titles really have not muach ﬂnjmia;
excepr in terms of the scrual--oh, wall, the proof of thn Pﬂdﬂiﬂi
in che sating?

Chester Bowell

Yes. #And Chesver Rowell was che Chronficle editor?

Chester Rowell would have had the title "editor,® and his activities
ware confined totally to the edicorisl page. He wvas a sort of an
cld-tima Republican journmalist whe hsd coze up from, [ think, the
Fresno Republicen, I think thar iz correce. Maybe Fresns or
Bakersfield, down in there somewhers.

Mr. Bowall, like William Allen White, had been one of tha
Hepublican party sages, and he came to work on the Chronicle. He
was & roly-poly old gentle=man, I leved him:, He Lived in Berkeley,
up on Tamalpals Bead. He was a man, I think, of great integrity.
And I'm sure the people at Cal, in The Bancrofit Library, will have a
lot of material about him. I hope so, because he deserves it. [The
Chester Rowell papers are in Tha Bancrofr Library.] '




the r Imihﬂl!'mluthiapnm“-
’;Iﬁﬁiuﬂij on a personal basis. For some
he was very warm toward Ruth and me. When we had
Golden Gate in the "Mermaid,” our little yacht, he
vad £, ) San ?ﬂﬂrﬂ where we tied up for about three or four
or five days !ﬁntl was a girl called Jean Mulr who was a young
i - imm : | 't;h’.r came down on the boat., Then we went
=" up and had tﬂ‘w: and fooled around with them in ‘Hollywood for a few
K __._jﬁn Faul and Buth apd T were on pretty good terms, very close
He had made arrangements for my mother te fly down to
Hatinh-phnn 1 was 50 sick, and had chartered a plane and so on.

Filling and Newspaper Libraries

Rewhall: Immediately afrer wy amputation, Paul came by the hospital and said,
I| "Oh, by the wav, your camera's hanging up in the darkreem for you
when you come back.” So 1 had a job waiting for me, basically
because of my friendship with Paul.

Everyone at the paper was very nice, It was a very warm place
to work. I enjoyed it always. But I did have a leg off, and 1 was
on crutches. I was on erutches for shout & year, because the
surgeons had not been able to suture the amputation, because there
was £cill 20 much toxie material draining from the wound, I had to
leava Lt open to drain for about a year, and 1 zouldn’'t get a wooden
leg during that time.

S0 that year when I was on crutches I went back in the
Chrenicle llbrary filing scoriss. Those wera the days, of course,
long before computers. And the library clips were made up of
euttings from che paper, filed according to either subject matter or
the biographical name of the person invelved, And 1 did that on ona
leg with the crutches, and it worked out very well. I was much
lighter then than I am now, and I got around pretty darned wall om
one leg. It took me sbeur two or three months before 1 could really
get up and around and function. 3o in answer to your question, chey
were waiting for me at the Chropicle.
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are
1ibrary s cructal--T thu
important m.f_t,y resource."

Enguirer went out of business. '
Dakland, published by Hearst, and the f K
more tuned in on covering crime stories and ch
Tanforan or semething like that. Y

But when they closed up the paper--. A papar’s usually “ﬂﬁﬂ-
up at a moment's notice, with no early warning; somebody will come
in and n:ll the scaff tugathﬂr and say, "We're closing up; lock tha
doors.” and thac's the end of the newspaper. This almost ﬂ;ltﬂ
!uppem that way, And at the Post-Enquirer when that paper was
suddenly terminated they threw the whole library out in the trash.
Took all the files out. Some smart reporter came along and picked
the files up, and I think he sold them for quite a lot of money to a
Library or somathing.

The Chromnigle‘'s old filas are here in San I‘rﬂrmiﬂﬂu somewhera .
I think the Califormia Historical Sociecy may have them,

Paul Smith's Lifa

I read quickly through Paul Smicth's book called A Personal Fila. IE
gounded 1ike he would be & wery appealing persen. [ hadn't realized
vou were that close in ags,

Well, he was twenty-six at that point, and I would have been cwency-
one or twe, We were three or four or flve years aparc, He wasz a
fantastic apparition in 5an Francisce., He was somathing very
special. And ss executive editor of this Chroniele, which then had
a esireulation of only abouc 150,000, he was a big man on the Pacific
Coast,
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y court to him or to wisit him,

It sounds like he made up his own life, that he really could have
been one of those characters who could get to be the top surgeon in
& hospital without having gone te medical school. .

i That's right, That's whact he did in the newspapers. He was

respurceful, imaginative. Where he got his wision, I don’t know,
but he was headed somewhers. And che war came along and he was in &
hurry and he had & most remarkable war career. But in terms of his
lifetime, Paul rose so high so rapidly and reached such rarefied
levels, that by the time he was forty, forty-five, hs was burmed
out. He cames back from the wir snd was never the same after he
raturned. I guess he knew somehow or other that he wasn't going to
go as far az he had hoped,

The whole Faul Smith story isz a fascinating ome. If you'wve

aver run ecross people who knew Faul, you will never get any sort
of, "Yaah, I remember him, lec's sea, what was he? T'm not sure.”

Thevy'1ll rempamber him.
Mortimer Fleishhacker in his oral history--

Mort and Paul were very close.

He said that Paul collapsed of some mystericus illness, and
Fleishhacker wasn’'t really sure what ft was all abour.

I hawen't zeen Hort for years. Is he atill alive?

Ho.

Oh, I'm sorry. I met him and Janec quite often at Paul's. They
were really quite close.

And Paul Emith ended up living with you and Buth for a summer?



his leg and d-lll!id the :r:ill:lr: nerve, -hi;h&
arutches and in terrible shape. |

To talk sbour myself, I had a wery difficule ai:ﬂ!!iﬂnigﬁ i
suceeeding him in his job at the Chronicle while hﬁiﬂl a loyal
friend. I was torn between the paper itself and my p-:1u&.}
friendship with Peul. We were always very close, but it was a
difffeulr situscion because Paul was not good for l:hh WW
longer at that time, he flnally left the papar, and'it-wt: ﬂn:ﬁi!ﬂl!;
not good for Paul.

When he went sast he got round the town partyving to a certain
extent, sltcing up late, drinking a let of scetches and apdas and
calking with his friends and so on, and he was just abusing himself,
too much. I don't know, Paul--the fire gradually died. BSo he came
back sut here, We hed thin house available and he lived there with
us for a year or & year and a half, maybe more, I don't know, He
wrote his book there, Buth assisted him gquite a ble, For a year,
anyway, And then Paul went down to Big Sur. And he lived up in a
1ictle house an & Hill down chere. We would see him on h:naﬂihni
My lord, he went In and had his abdominal cavity carved up. Has got
a licele bit of evarything. I don't think medically anybody can
tell you what 511 happened to him. He had some brain surgery. He
had a lot &af crouble,

Finally ho was broke. 1t was tho saddest thing I've sver seen.
He had a big blua car that meant a lot to him, an Imperial Chrysler,
robin*a epgg blue, 1957, The motor burned out on it and he couldn't
pay the garage blll and he finally wént to the Veteran's Hospital
down in Menlo Park or Palo Alto, wherever it is. He was go alek, I
went down to ses him and 1T realized that he didn"t want to remember
his pasc or his friends--cthis ides of going down so & person can
ramember the good times Iz not all that good hecause under some
copditions the good old times can become precty unbappy.

Faul fell out of bed one night when he was in the Vet's



‘a ﬁmwln n! h:rﬂ..‘lihj!t

. *&ﬂﬁmﬂn ‘BAY, I!:.iilft I'm on t;hl subject, though, that I saw
of Faul in all those years, on %o many occcasions--and it was

nﬁqﬁntnn: because he was a very demanding, he wanted

. and demanded people around him--but I learned more, I

ﬂghi.mm journalistic ideas or ideals, journalistic notions,

F:inniplnn more from Paul than from any cther single human belng

I'vye ever known. ile was someching.

- Rieams: He picked them up whare?

‘Hewhall: T 'don't know. It was almost magic. He read. He was never
educacad, really, beyond Pescadero School down below Pacifica tchers,
down by Half Moon Bay--and I think he went to school in Dakland. He

I had been put out inte foster homes. His mother had been married or

his father died or something, who lmows. IE was & very hazy

background and he always made quite &8 point of that, He never had
any family stabiliey vhacsoever, never kmev his father, I know that.

Bo here is5 this lictle credheaded guy, golnpg to fight his way up

through the American escablishment. which he did. He had guts.

Riess: It was the establishment that he obviously ldentifisd wich.

Kewhall: Well, he used them.

Rip=g: Yag,

Wewhall: But finally he couldn’t beat them, though he thought he could. He
wanted to buy the Chropnicle at one time, but of course char wouldn't
have workesd out, or didn't.

Rioss; ¥Yas. "He had tha mistaken notion that ambition and talent were
{ thicker than blood," I read.

Mewhall: That's one way of phrasing ir. He didn't understand the
complexitiss of California foudal family life. Feudal, not futile.

You asked where did he get his ideas. He read voraciusly, as
one would say, or omnivorousiy. 4&nd many of us around him read




Rless:

Mewnall:

Riesg:

Hewhall:

Eiezag:

Newhall:

The Refarming Young Intellectuals

You're saying you didn't go along parcicularly ﬂth mm

viewsT:

oh, yes, Paul's first big journalistic splash at the Chromigle--
this old eighty-year-old, ninety-year-old newspaper which had always
been somewhat co the right of Hoover or Chaster h:thurviﬂgl iiqmphp

went down personally to cover a lettuce strike in the Salinas
Valley. You've probably read this, I don't know. And the
came out really on the sida of the lattuce workers--on the side of

the pickers and the strikers. ©Oh, my god, this set the whole town
on its ear. BSo hera you had this dashing young man on the fl '

trapeze of liberal peolitics In San Franciace, trylng te breathas
ince the Chremicle.

Who were the what you would eall young Turks? 1s this an
appropriate expression?

Ch, I don't know, [ was just & young good guy. I don't know about
the rest of them. Maybe they were Turks, [ don't know. But who
were they? Was that your question?

Yes. Apparently they wers all young.

Paul faveored young mewn. And I went from the Chronfcle library to
the Sundsy magazine--oh, and I wrote the. society items for a while.
But then I went toe tha Sunday news magazine, the tabioid-sized
magazine called This World. The editor was a young guy then called
Bill Richardson whe was a brilliant, brillianc semanticist. He was
young, twenty-four or twenty-five. He had a precty wife called
Antrine from the deep south. But BIll began bouncing checks or
someching, and Bill finally left.

These guys, thay knew their grammar, chey knew their syntax.



Riess:

Mewhall:

Hiess!

Newhall:

‘Riszs!

e 'ﬁmnuwmm-mmmnm
h ,ﬂiﬂﬂhi!i for zo many years and the paper was going
e hnﬂ.tgul came along, started this fire under
':h% the New Republic of the West. He always kept

Lt turned i
Zmﬁm“w turn the Chronicle into the New York Times of the West.

The Chronicle never became that at all. It was just kind of a

?!tﬂﬁif and very small newspaper. But the idealism, £f I may use

that word, was certainly there. Everybody was on fire wich

_ﬁrinnip;ﬂ and we wera going to reform the world and do wonderful,

-great things.

Paul would go out on a vacation, driving around rthe countryside
or going east or traveling somewhere, and these young guys would
show up at the Chronicle managing editor's desk. And they would
say, "Mr. Smith told me to come here for a job. He picked me up
hitchhiking in Idaho," This would happen all the time. God, the
place was full of them.

Did George Camsron Just withdrawv from the scene?

Uncle George and Aunt Helen--she was Helen deYoung, che oldest ona
of the de¥Young sfisters--had no children: And I think Faul was
probably their long-lost som or something, I don't know. Uncle
George was really fond of Faul, and vice wersa.

And ha could do no wrong?

Exactly. Uncle George zaild, "Gea, my boy,” you know. Uncle George
was not essencially a newspaper =man at all, He was in the cementc
businesz and very much involved with the Crocker Bank, as were so
many people I knew then, He kept picking up Paul's bills and .
backing Paul's sometimes flashy Lifescyle. Fortunately the cement
business was somewhat batter than the newspaper business. They
buile the Galden Gate BEridge, among other things, and the Bay Bridge
gut of a lot of coment then. So the cement kept the paper afloat,

I said to Karl Heortum, it sounded llke Faul Smich and you wers the
same kind of guys. And he said, oh no, that Smith was always
putting on some kind of & show,



Mewhall:
Rimss:

Hewhall:

Riess:
Mewhall:
Hiezg:

Hewhall:

Rless:

Mewhall |

Yes. well thac's a big difference.
The scatf under bin included Willtan erman,

Yes, OGerman is still there.

And [Abe] Mellinkoff, They started with you?.

Yasg, A4Lbe came to work T think a faw months 'bifm ; ﬂﬂ.} & wa
went out together on a story right in the very beginning, ﬁiﬂ

just started ac the Chronicle, both of us kind of green. !iII
German came in & few years later, I think. two or three years ;gggg;

Herb Caen

And Herb Caen?
Yea. Paul por him, and Herb has & real fix about Paul.
Bagativaef

Ho, no, not at all, Paul looms to Herb as & kind of a major salnc,
one of the archangels or something. Herb spent a great deal of cimm
in Fsul's company. I would say Herb and I were probably the two
closesc--by close I mean we weére up there at Paul®s apartment
headquarcers mosc. Paul had us around the mosc.

You mean up in his offlce?

In his aparcrment, you know, &C his parties, his galon, his soirees.
Har so much in the affice, Herh and Paul wéere {n A =zénze zo clooe
and so intertwined and perhaps shared some equal psychie problems.
But Herb walked out and went to the Exagiper, 5o he has carried with
him like Saul of Tarsus or whomever, this horrible guflec because ha
had walked out on the Meassiah, When Herb dld come bask to tha



ing muﬂkuqut

wi aran't

Tou see Herb came

.i.. ..'llsm.- nf.i th!rlp:ﬂ:r

Give me 8 litele sense of how the Chronicle ran under Smith.

Well, Paul ran the paper precey much by delegation Ineidentally,
thnrn ara times when he would do some stories. When England went to
war ha went over to London for the "blitz" and wrote some stories
then.

He wanted to participate from time to time in the dashing
foreign correspondent aspect, too. But he did have to try to run
the paper successfully enough to build up advertising., and he had
plenty of editors and managers available. And his social 1Lfe and
newspaper life and business life all sort of melded into one scens.

Paul would po to the editorisl conference usually every
morning. The editorial conference included the editorial writecs,
t¥wo or three, whatever there were, and the cartoonist, and then Paul
would come in to join them--which is aceually whar 1 did lacer on,

‘uguwally. He would not go to the daily news conferences or

participace In the daily coverage or anything 1like that. He would

talk to each one of his editors or svbeditors or whatever you wantc

te call them from time to time on gspecific things. or they would gao
to him. He ran a pratey good ship that way. The paper was able to
come out bacause he had a lot of people working for him who admired
him and liked him.

Ic wasn't all that different years later when 1 was there, not
all that different. We rolled along in somevhat the same style, buc
with some differesnt people. I can be more speacific onm it if you
want., I didn't attend the edicoriasl conferences mysalf unril] a
couple of years after the war, I had been editor of Thils World for



Aissg:

Hewhall:

nlmr.t ynu ‘can }:ﬂgﬂﬁiﬁ L
power. Idmtmhﬂth-nﬁﬂnﬂfwwit
the great motivations of the members of any co
in the 1ife, the cultural, [ntellectual, pnlitl#il or spo;
that community, 15 the mu.rﬂ of seelng your name Lo -

ego trip on the part of the politicians, nlﬂhﬂﬂu -ﬂﬂ.ﬂ-ﬂﬁﬂ
such T'm talking sbout.

When you go into any community and you're going to start a
paper, you think, okay, who shall be included in the casc of
characters, And you can wield influence--not power nnnnn:itii --hgﬂ
the smount of publiclty or exposure that is given to different
leaders or candidates for leadership In the community.

How I den't know 1f it's very clear what I'm saying, but this
iz why papers are one of the few Induscries in the Uniced Staces of
America that can be losing $20 million a year and yet somebody will
pay 530 million for the privilege of owning such & paper. 4
newspaper publlsher can achieve instant soclal status and wield tfhil
influence by the use of publicity, by sprinkling his favers on the.
beautiful people of the town, in the form of stories and photographs
and selected publicity in his newspaper columns, [ do noC mean to
sound too cynical or surgleal about the whele thing, but this is a
Fact of lifa.

How are those messages gocten across? By innuendo or is it wery
direccly said?

I can't deseribe it exactly At least I wouldn't, and I don't think
Paul would have said, "Well, I will give you thi= coverage, or use
wour name in the paper if you will do that, so on and ss ferth."
Or, "I will support wou or publicize you or laud you, praises you,
whatever.*® But you do hold this weapon of either critigism, or
damnacion--or glorification--of individuals who are within the
political, cultural struccure of the communitcy.
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. Hewhall:

Riegs

Hewhall:

ptblilhtﬂﬂ!ﬂinl? mﬁrﬂi tha
, which means the eireculatien of

B ,' n the end, the publisher Ls the dominent

_ Now you have to watch out again for titles. Many publishers
‘are hired . 86 they have no power--no true endemic power. Hany
‘newspapers are now controlled by corporations. So again ic's the
chalrman or the president of the corporation who has the powver,
Then the publisher just becomes an editor and manager--a hired hand.
‘Bo watch out for titles. Do you follow me?

!il.

In the Hearst papers, for example, a board of directors in New York
can hire and fire publishers more or less at will., In the end the
power does reside with the group that ls In contral of the Creasury,
It's as simple as that, Buc if you get a good, smart editor or a
good, smart publisher and he's making them a lot of money, then wha
is manipulacing whom?

Yes. All right. Wonderful business!

Tiresome after fifcy or aixty years.

Scott Newhall, Reporter on the Rise

Where did you scart writing once you were really on two feet? It
was the society page flrse, did you say?

I went in there from the library 1 guess for a perlod of three or
four or five manchs, I was writling Sunday handouts, about a parcy
given by Mr. and Mrs, Crossett, or Mr. and Mra. Fay, you know.
"among those present were the Monsisurs and Mesdames So-and-So and
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Kewhall:

Rlass:

Mewhall:
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no more shipping 3 e
It's a benefit for the crippled

Ihis World

Let's see. From chat secial page you said you went to This World?
Thiz World. Paul started that.

Paul -started that in 1936,

Totally, He used te like to run around with people 1lke Luce and
the Cowleses. Look magazine gnd Life and all that crowd. He
thought, weil, the Sunday newspaper ought to run a competition with
Time magazine. 5o This World, as it was called, was born, It was
just & cop¥, in a sense--far berter of course--but navercheless
patterned on Iime magazine, weekly news style, We would pick our
stories from the wire services and papers and magazines. Wa wrote
and sweated through a four-day week, bacausze This Warld cams out
once a week on Sundays. Those ware long, long days.

But didn't & lot of writers develop there!

It was a wonderful place.

Joseph Henry Jackson.

Joe, yes. He wrote book reviews and put together a stable of

eritics for his book seccion. That was a major sectlen of its own.
The main news rteview section of This World was written in the chatty.




i Riess:

Riess:

Hewhall:

Newhall:

i ﬁhiﬁh :hu«ﬁh:nnlgit:uuhinrih:d to
e #itﬂihh=+ ﬂi also subscribed to a lot of

-1nﬂ Iﬂﬁli~#lﬁmmlnui and speciality magazines and material
‘We just f£iled all the incoming news material according

. then the writers would go through all the sources on any

!gitln-uuﬂi ltem and bang out a story.

#bout By-lines

With by-lines?

No, no by-lines, This World didn't use them. Well, they do put by-
lines in Tige nmow, I notice. But no, none of that in This World. A
by-line used to be something rather desirable and {mportant. Today
it's just, well, you say to a guy, "Do you want a raise or a by-
line?* Most of them go for the by-line. But then, of course, thay
want the raise afterwards, Take the little Signal, our own paper
dowm south [n Newhall. We've got more by-lines in that paper overy
day than we had in the Chronicle in six months, them. Everybody
gets a by-line now. 1'm not particularly sympathetic with cthat,
because it cends to personalize the news. But [ suppose readers are
used to it mow. You'll find those big by-lines in every major paper
in the councry. The real newspaper business has gone to hell.

It implies that there's an editoriasl stance if there's a named
person writing the plece?

I think gome of it comes from the fact that some smaller papers Wanm
people to think they'we got 4 lot of reporters on the scaff. 1
don't know. And it's an ego trip for the reporters. you know. As I
gay, "a raise or.a by-line."®

It's always struck me as heing mors meaty somehow when you see a by-
iine there.

Psychologically, more people are used to ft. 1 don't know vhen you




Mewhall:

flass:

Newhall:

Riess:

Newhall:

Riess:

Hawhall:

Well, I was mm&m and 1 think, yes

fntrn:ru writer.

That's pretty wild, that's *n.tﬁit

1 will say, at one :m:it;pnﬂn“hgqtl -1
recagnition that he or she was a top person, :‘.‘_!.-;:'l:p'
pros on the staff, the fast track. mmvn-m

Mow it's a cheap shot. I'm nat trying l:nh-ulitl:li L h‘l;. iy
had to make n rule down at the little paper in Newhall: no more
one by-llne per person per page. Because then you're giving :Hq

the awful truth that you've got only two pnn-plu on thi;mﬂ"ifyﬁ}
sea what 1 mean.

Yes [chuckles], I have seen papers that looked llke chat, that's
right. And those same people were there with thelr cameras; too.

That's absolutely right,

Hax Years
Hith the Royal Navy in the Morth Sea

Up to World War II you were edicar.

I wag editer of This Worid.

Yes. Then you were aboard a Royal Navy destroyer? How did you get
that assignmentc?

Well, would [t be of any help if T just quickly ran through the
chronology of my overseas stinc?



- Ente h@ Ean Franciscans. I've always llked the British
" 'giil ﬂ:r elese to the public relatfons people in the British
;._ n Barvice who were using the Chrondcle as a pipeline to

*hxuﬁ; AcToss the sea." They were lobbying for poor old

‘beleaguersd England and all that., And we got to be very good
d friends. We went ta a lot of hard-drinking partiss and various
celebrations with the young Royal Navy airmen and the sircraft
t::pinr: n:-vn and officers.

So they invited me, to put it briefly, to come back to Englsnd
with them on board one of the carriers. I zaid, "Sure, thac's
fine.” 5o they talked to our managing editor, who was then a fellow
called Bill Thandler--a nice family guy. Paul was away at war.
Bill said, "Surs, you can’'t mlss thar opportunity.”

Well, I elimbed on board the carrier and went off to the war.

[lacer addition] May I incerrupt here for the purposes of
clarity and provide a guick vignette of how and where I went teo war!

On & persomal basis I had become very close to the officers of
a c¢ouple of baby flac-ctops that the Western Fipe and Steel company
wag bullding down in South San Francisco--HMS Attacker and HME
Btalker. Their ships were essentially nothing butr tanker hulls,
glightly beefed up, with landing decks on top. In & eense thay were
floaring bombz or mines--they went co sea with chousands of gallons
of aviation fuel sipshing around in cheir bottoms. But they becasme
a key to solving the problem of German U-boats destroying the trans-
Atlantic convows.

Anyway, ar some point, my friends who were about to cake the
' Attacker to sea asked me Lf T would llke to come along. dAnd
| obvicusly I jumped at tha chance to parcicipate in the excitement
| and fame and parils of war, You ses, no one would draft or accept
me as & volunteer for military service becauge of my wooden leg,
|I HI'IZI.}" af my friends ware away, te do chelr duty; 4a I wae restless.
But & problem arose. Shortly before the Attacksr was to sail omt




he was less than five faat uu, HI:I:—]!I wWBE 5
owed most of my Life to him, hmmtﬁl’:"
over to the old Stanford Hospital in Ban Francisco
going to set my wrist, The treactment rooms seemed fﬁ? s
the time, but with his customary celestial in

decided to do his bone secting on a magazine tml; l.us:gt
visitors iobby, He summoned a nurse or two and asked 'tﬁi
requisite plaster of Paris bandages and a pail of water and some
towels or papers with which to cover the tabla,

The nurzes were practy frosty, but they flnnilafhultlnd up ﬁﬁt
stuff and brought a copy of the day's Chrenicle to cover the cable.
Without cracking an expression, the good doctor r.lurmqn :'utld.
"Wurse, will you please get an Examiner for the table cover. I
can't set thiz man's wrist on a Chronicle. Please hring ma the
Examiner. It's better for thiz kind of rhing." Well, If anyone
could have seen the poor nurse’'s reaction--an expression of horror,
digsbalief, mingled with &corn and frustratiom! But she did Finally
provide the proper paper, It was geudy. Howewver, Dr., Eloesser did
indesed get =y wriast on the fronc page of the Examiner and he nevar
did explain to the purse the relative therapeutic merits of the
Examiper and Chremicle.

And back to the war, [ was stlll heading for the war zomea,
and I must confess that the spectacle of my departure for Armageddon
must have had a touch of peculfarity about it. I appeared for the
Stalker’s departure Irom the Ssn Francisco waterfromt in
correspondent’s dress. That morning I was off crutches and able to
strap on my wooden leg for the firat time {n a month. Hy left arm
was in & cast and I suppoze I was limping a bit more than usual
becauze my leg was still throbbing somowhat. T was afraid to show
up at the pier with a set of crutches in my hand, becausa I was
terrified char I would be weedad out a8 an undesirahla mamber of the
ship's company by the officer of the wateh. Anyway, 1 got on board
and eollapsed in my appolnted cabim until we had cleared the harbor.

And we wvere off to the war. And now let me add & couple of
chronological and geographical paragraphs of where and how we went:



nans were still bombing Londem every night, but by this
i ~as much attenction to the bﬂlﬁ‘!hlltltl as during
;. The ﬁity-nf London at war was unforgectable. It was
» and death, love and hate, 1:§ﬁht'= and tears, I don't Imow,

nimﬂiﬁﬁi~ 1 sailors and pllots Red Cross 51:1:. Urens and women
sergeants, homosexual boulevardiers, and generous cab drivers, I
wisived everything I could think of--American army reshearsals for D-

& 'ﬂ!;ﬂ._  glant bomber squadrons that flew deep into Germany every
- night, They wouldn't take me along with them, thank god! American
alr fighter groups north of London, the eslite exile Polish army
division headquartered in the Earl of Weymss' (which is proncunced
Weams)--the Earl of Weymss' castle at palatial Gosford House ocutside
of Edinburgh, the antl-aircraft battery at Ladywell east of London.

j At one point my friends at the Roval Mavy provided me with a

Plane, a Fairey Fulmar two-seat fighter complete with a marvelous
| vyoung plloc with a wooden leg. Ve wers a fime pair. We flew around
the south of England out to Cornwall and them up to Scotland for AN
torpedo plane axerciszes at Crail and Arbroath.

I =pent & bima our st Grear Yarmourh with tha motor gunboat
squadroms. It was strange zomehow, crawling anmd pitching along the
coazt of Gérmany ‘and Holland one night, and chen the next night
| gitting comfortsably in & cholee zéac at the London Palladiom cheacer
| enjoying @ musical review and supper party. London In the blackeout

was something--bombs going off sosmevhere in the distance, on fogpy
| nighta queues forming up to lead each other across an Intersection,
| Chelaea cigarectes avallable by the cartom at the American FPX
storés, girls available everywhers for a single package of Chelssas.

The Americans were 30 rich and the English were 50 hungey. I
romembar that up at the U.8. airbases around lunchtima the BAF
fighter planes often suffered engine trouble and had to make forced
landings. The British pilots were always szked to tay on for lunch
or dinner--and they ate 2o much. as if they hadn’t seen zerioua food
for a month. Oh, yez, I almost forget, I had to go up te an
| American army hospical in Oxford for a week or so to have a lleels
[ repair work done on my leg. Anyway, the London of World War I was
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Then in 1945 sfrer V.E. Day, befors
conference of the Uniced E.;ﬂﬁ:f was er
o o here” o 1 e
& Ware & Tl
the pieces sort of began t.ﬂ-wﬂnhﬁ I.!.f ]
editor, and then Paul got in all this trouble ; :
editor. Then for ninetsen years I Vas. rrying to b ' ul
putting out the Chronicle, and 1 lefe the ;h:kﬂiiii=iﬂ'15?1.  For
vear or sixX months [ was at After ﬂ;.ﬂ:-

San Francisce Magazine.
had a dreadful time running for mayor of San rrinnilnu
unsuccessfully., Tn the meantime--.

[chuckles]

Wall, I'm just trying to tell you what the sequence was! I left §
Frapcisco Magszine after about six months. In 1963 1 had hﬂ“iht 1
Signal down souch. So then when I left the Chropicle we sort gE: ©
moved south to put out the Sigpal. I've bean at the ﬁiﬁnﬁl ave

sinoe.

; H-

"Growding My Luck"--Baw Fear

Much earlier, what did you do when you were on the British
destroyer? You were on board as a reporter?

Well, T could do anything I wanted, you know. I could go anywhere
in the world thls side of Germany and France and Japan--chis was
before D-day of course. The assignment was to jusat do whatever [
wanted, to cover anmy war-related stories [ could dlg up. Remember,
[ was unfit for an active job at the flghting front becauss of my
wooden leg. The next best thing to war service was tiding along as
a kind of passenger in warshipes and planes--writing stories of the
warriors. But 1 was crowding my luck,
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iny. The others were there because they had to be.
asked myself, "Why are you doing this? What are
Armyway, 1 used that as an excuse for why I came home,
-ﬁﬁﬂ#’ Iﬂﬁfth:gpt back to work,

‘Bid you file stories from that ship, feature stories?

. T wrote some pieces on the rorpedo boat actions for the North
ﬁ.ﬂtiﬂﬂn Hliiplpt: Alllance ﬁfndinatu Dddly enougk, the London
papers plcked up some of the stuff, as well as the Chronicle, There
‘was something slightly eerie--T1 was living in a flat in London and I
received mail from the parents of young British sallors who had been
killed or wounded in some actions I had coverad.

I remember [ had some places on che old Werld Wae [ destroyer,
the ¥idegze, These were just color stories whare they'vwe got a
submarine on the way back. But there wasn't anything to that, you
know, ¥ou don't even soe [t. The crip on the destroyer was from
Londonderry to Argentia, in Newfoundland. It was the North Sca
convoy route OHS 10. This meant Oversea Horthatlancie Slow, I
think, comvey, It took us about ninetesn days, hecause our mean
rate of advance was only about five nautical miles an hour. You go
in this great elrele in the Korth Aclantic, just souch of Iceland,
and come around off, there's a Cape Farowell or someching in
Greenland. Our true rtate of advance was & good £ive knots ot
gomeching 1like that, because we were contimually zigzagging and
everything else.

In terms of a sgea wovapge it was something! 1 have never been,
with one possible exception, in any rovigher situation, It blew,
You get the westerlies up there in the Hoech Atlantic, and a World
War I destreyer L4 evén smaller than our old four-scackers from
World War I, the American destroyers in World War I. aAnd wo wore
| pounding inte very, very severe gales. One night--you know, you
. sort of tie yourself In your bunk so you wouldn't bHe thrown aut--
there was 5 big crash and 1 tell you the whole boat shuddered, 1
Eigured we had had a torpedo, I really did., And T remember [ just
rolled over and said, "Heil, I can't make Lt to déek. I'm going to




HBiossi

Hewhall:
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- of how' iﬁiﬁ-";
'Ih&-ﬁ:iti;h wmtn war ip stuff char would
and put {n a junk plle here ln the United 5t
deatroyer we were in, I don’t know vhat ﬁhﬂmd?nuii
it. I doubt if we Americans would have salled Lt acre

Francisco Bay. i

after these months I had with the Roval Hawy, 1 have the
profound respect for the Bricish navy. And no American is
to say that, [ would never tangle with them as long ss I lived
an American, belleve me. They are amazing, They gec these kids out
of Oxford, you know, i{t's the same thing wich the Iﬁ! Some of them
have a handkerchief up their slesves, and they have thil very htﬁﬁﬂ
Cambridge or Oxford accenc. But my god, what warriors they aral
They are fantastie, After all, as you know, they did control half
of plansc earth with a "thin red line™ for one hundred or two
hundred years. They have been bred and brought up for thac, bellieve
i

Just about & month ago 1 drove to 5an Diege and I met ona of my
¢#ld shipmates, ward shipmates on ths HMS Stalker. He's over hete, ]
he's still alive, He had run the laundry on board. Of course he
was also the fire control director. but ran the laundry, so wa were
good friends, He came over here with his wife who is mow an @uthor
oL Gathic nowels, a wvery succegsful auchor, amd T went down and
traded & [ew memories with hilm from forcy-five years aga.

They knew that you ware an American journmalisc.

Obh wes; sure,. I was in uniferm, oh sura.

bid thev tell you any tales? Were vou privy to everything?

Oh, sure, I was the assistant to the cods officer on board the
¥idetta, Evervhbody went to work., 0Oh, sure., As a correspondent you

were all part of the show. Those motor gun beoats in the Forth Sea
--that is another type of service--chat's where 1 was the most
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=, and the United States in World War II

1 was thinking maybe you were leading up te the ldea that everyones
should experience rhis,

- }_'tmla ‘A littla fesr goes a long way. One doesn’'t want to go
Eiqk- m:r. right away. You koow, right now this poor old country
of purs--this is 1988 that we're talking--is so restless and so
ready t n go back to war. And we sre restless. 1 don't care what
anyone says, At che soment we have a president there in Washington
who can't live or breathe without sending troops somewnera. 1 used
to write editorials for the Signal saying, "Okay, if they want to do
it, fine. Any president cam send his army to war as long as he will
ba riding in tha firstc landlng ship to go ©e shore." I eell you,
it's ugly, there is no glory. War ls only tragedy, Buc people do
get 50 damned bored, they're willing to trade, I guess, trade
tragedy for boredom, 1 don'tc know,

Riess: And if you've ever seen any of the movies that have come out
recencly, the Vietnam War movies, you'd think they'd be enough--but
thete: 18 that sort of balance betwean 1t belng tervifying acd It
being quite, quite thrilling.

Hewhall: People do survive. The herces normally survive, the hero figures.
I didn't think such of "Apocalypee How." Did yvou Zee cthat?

Riess: Yes.

Newhall: I couldn’t guice follow it all, but 1t did show some of the
hopelessness and the utter, I think, the ugliness, Some of those
scenes in there wera just terrible, it seemed to ma.

Riess: Yes. But [t {s the surviver's story, always,

Hewhall: Always the surviver tells the story. Dead men don't talk or write.
Very few movies will darve come out and kill off the hero.




KHewhall;

Hless:
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Rimss:

Wofe you Pro-warl?

I felt it was inevitsble. I felt it wes & necessity. Inevit
really, more than a necessity. 1 didn’'t see any other résolufl
the rise of raw power and raw brutality in Germany.

o
About getting inte the war, was the paper early on the bandwagon?

There was neavar any debate about it. We were so anti-Hitler and
resentful of Cermany that there waes not much talk about it, not much
yelling or shouting around the pasper. 4s I gay, Paul was tocally
z0ld en gecting inte the fleld himsalf. He volunceered the day the
Japanese made their sortie over Pearl Harbor. My feeling was vary
strong that it was inevitabla, it was fate, there was no way put.
Hitler had to be stopped. And lt was 'a matter of tlme.

I remembor, ! was a great admirer of Roosavelt, pzrtiﬁulnrlx in
his first two terms. I didn't think be should have run far a chird
term; 1 thought it was very un-American, but chac’s one of cthose
Ehings.

I was irritatod with Roosevelt because, ss with every Americam
president that I can remember, his placform was, =I1'11 ¥eep us out
of war, I hate war," all this. aAnd the guy was lying through his
teech because he knew he had to go to war and he didn’‘t have the
gucs To lead wus into war, MNeow I think he was probably correct,
pragaacically and politically, the way he handled it, But there was
no escaping ic, no matter what anyone would like to think now.

You didn't come from a eonselentious objector point of view.



Rigasn:

Kewhall:

lon’ t ke _F-:F!ﬂhll mean when thqy zay, "Wa let it hsppen.
i know abour ir." 1 do not recall anytime when I was not
I";__.u:: the brutality and menace of Germany, I didn't knew in 33
v tlgi wold ':fm., Hﬂ.ﬂ" in '3“] but many of the American
gﬁ:l__a and certainly 1, felt that thq greatest incentlve for our
going to war was Hitler's tverrible behavior with reference to not
only the many Jews but all of the people who were in concentration
CAEpE . And we couldn't stay out of {t. MNow, we might have gone
into the war sooner, but perhaps we even did becter by net golng
inte it gquice as soon and by sending all this stuff to the British.
There was & Lot of anti-war feeling in this country at the time, but
I never encountered it. I have no recollection of it whatever. I'm
sure many people will tell you differemtly. But oh god, it was

coming.

You probably wouldn't remember, but Hitler's speeches were
broadeasc, we used o liscen te them. It was the most terrible
nightmare in the world., And it was. The editorials we used ta do
about Chamberlain snd sll thet stuff--. Anvway, I cthink that
hindsight tends te be 20-20., But we did get into lc, and It was a
tough thing, and a lot of poople got rich from it.

That's a funny conclusive remark.

Well, 1 was just thicking and sermonizing that war was a terrible
thing for the country. Then I thought of sll the thousands of
people who came out here, the boilsrmakers who were women, the
shipbullders, plpefitrers of America, and they would go inco
Magnin's buying mink coats for cash. It was guite a scens, You
know, we had hundrads of thousands of war workers out here, and they
made cuft 1ike bandits.
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1 can't anawer that. Mlthnwia:wdh'itt. tt
cercainly underscood and agreed te, nat ilﬁnl o
but by many, many businesses.

Lol B

Thers was this real pacriotic war fever ibﬂani qi'{ﬁﬂtil:
When you get a bunch of Japanese £lylng over Pearl - and
dropping bombs on poor old Americans, American seil, you're gol

have an upsurge of patriccism you can't believe. Eiuxi E::hﬁ; zean
war. This wasn't a silly Vietnam farce. The difference between
World War I and Vietnam are so striking as to be innnunrlh:nsihln

Some of these women, llke Carolyn Anspacher, went an in thuir.an:.

Some of them did. Carolyn was therse. lnn! before the war, nuﬁ she
was permanent, 1 think a few of them did, We had copy glrls. 1t
was strange to see girls instead of boys huscling copy and fetching
caffee. That was the first thing. 3Some of them nta}rnﬂ, an and went
onward and upward wich the art.

What was Buth doing during this cime?

She worked om This World for almost the whole war. Incidentally sho
also bore and reared her children at the same time.

After the two of you got marzried, she worked all that cize?

When we gor married she was workimg ac the art deparcmenc at Cal zs
a goeretary, We wvant out travaling and wa came back, [ was asiek I
lost my lag. I sant to work on the paper. Rath came o work on che
paper writing on This World--I'm sorry, I'm not sure when, because
she ¢ame and went. She'd come to work for a while and then go home.
She'd heve kids and then she worked on the World writing. Then
she'd have & child or two, and she'd come hack and she would work
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to take care of the kids. Aand her

le-- -it was probably only sbout six weeks after

_ﬁihmﬂutlhlqmmktumﬁ 1 don't know how

15 }mm and she tqq'k um‘.‘n of thn“ childrcen. It was
2. 1 thought it was wonderful.

And almest all the time we worked cogecther in che newspaper
Imﬁﬁu; Our whole life, basically, we always worked together
except for periods when she felt it was very necessary for her to be
home at a sctrecch. 1 think when I firsc took over as executive
editor 1 said, "Hey leok, we don’'t want too much nepotism around the
plant. You'd better knock off for a while," whiech she did. Then
she would come back to work from time to time Paul always tried to
hire her, because she was awful good.

.é;i.l_a-u: A good writer?

Eﬂhwhallz Yas, she's a good newspaper writer. We worked together on the
Uniced Matloms., We had a ball.

Showing the Flag--Australia to Gibralrer, 1344

‘Newhall: One moré war scory, posc-war. In 1948 1 had a fascinasting erip
around the world with the American carrfier, Malley Forge. I was
Sunday editor, or maybe editor of This World. Faul Smich was still
the editor and genaral manager of the Chromicle. He'd received an
invitation co make a cruise of the Pacific aboard che ¥alley Forge,
one of the old American alreraft carrlers atill in service.

The navy was embarked on a kind of a pseudo-goodwill tour, and
to show the flag in the Pacific Basin. They'd pactched up what they
called Task Force 33, Task Foree 1B was a very well-known wartime
‘ navy group that had been down in the South Pacifle, I believe it was

under Admiral Halsey or Sprusnce, It was very blg with the publle.




egcort. Ue headed out nml:hm: scross the
australia, on eur geedwill tour and we arrived
fncident and were entertained very nﬁnllr cthe Aust
knew I met all the publishers there. them was & f
called Frank Packer, and I think ﬂ:mun a 53;: Frank Pack
Something-or-ocher Packer who's & big deal now in eicher
newspapers or someching in Australia.

Then we went north to Hong Kong., WUe went up the Coral Sea and
along the north coast of New Guinea. We got up towards the
Fhilippines, and we sent all the messboys ashore in the
fightar planes so they could visit their ralatltaa, {?hu hﬁqﬂ
they're mostly Filipino messboys In the navy, all proper style.)
They had a nice wisit, and then we went on to Hong Kong. Fru-.HhM!
Kong the ship then went up to Tsingtao, which is just south of the
Shantung Peninsuls. It was a former German kind of colonial seaport
port of emtry.

The ¥glley Forge then received orders to go on around the world
because there were Communist troubles im Italy and they wanted to
show the flag thers with some American warships, We proceeded from
Tsingtao to Singapore, visited Singapore. We then went To
Trincormales Harbor im QOeylon--what is now called Srf Lanka. Then
we went up the Persian Gulf co entertain and again show the flag to
the Arabs because Aramco, the Arabian-American oll company, was just
now pucting down blg wells in Arabia anod cthe oil was begimming to
flow, Then wa went around., up the Red Sea, through the Suez Canal,
and over to Gibraltar, esod stopped at Gibraltar, From Gibraltar we:
went up to Bergen in Norway.

At Bergen 1 sald, "I beactar get back to work.® 5o 1 flew back
via London and Casablanca and the Azores to Patuxent, Haryland, -and
I flew home te Callfornis, and that was the trip,

How, to me the remarkable thing about all this is thls was In



il m,mﬂitjrl;nmthﬁmﬂd tha
ﬂ!l 'a:t recovering ?buu the war; thera's
.+ Lt was an interesting experience
thnah-mdudumﬂhmdnda of junks
In Hong ¥ong harbor there were still
qf;ll thatmknnanﬂmuhm: that had been sunk by
Japanes: '%ﬁhblﬂ; in the harbor., Thers was no real recovery from the
ﬁﬁi. It'ﬁhl n;ill a Bricish colonial outpost. We went around and
bad tea en rhe verands of the Hepulee Bay Hotal where chey'd kept
the Ei;Fiqh prisoners--civilian prisoners the Japanese took during
the war.

1 asked the admival, 1 said, “Leok, you're poing te go up to
Taingtao (n three weeks. Do you mind if 1 leawe the ship and rejoln
you later?* He sald fine, so I hitched a ride in a Marine plane up
to Canton, and from there 1 picked up an Air Cathay plane--
Chemaule's old Fly¥ing Tiger afirline, they turned it ince Air Cathay
~<gnd T flew up to Shanghai.

How, I meant to mentlon, while I was in Hong Eong, in the foyer
of the main hotel there, the old King George Hotel or whatewver ic
wig, colonial kBocel, I ran into an old buddy of nmine whose name was
Franc Sher, who subsequencly became, [ think, editor of Hational
Baographie. T think he was editor thare for quite a few yesrs. He
wag =ort of an old-time con man who had worked for the Chronfele a
lietle bit; he'd been a publle relacions agent and so on, but he'd
algo spent =ome time in San Quentin prisen for eicher rubber checks
or eomething. We weré pretty good friends,

Franc ssid, "Dh, Scott, vou'wve pot to go up to Shanghal.
Chiang's on the run, and I've got the only Cadillae in China.® (I
don't knew how he pramoted it.) "My girlfriend ls in the nospital®
' --:ghe had hemorrheoids, and that's not becoming to 4 weman; to a man,
| maybe, but not a woman--"Will you go see her?" "I'll have tha driver
meet you,® he said, "I can gec word to Shanghai.®

S0 I went off from Cantom, flew to Shanghai, and landed, HNow,
1 musc say this was the end of '"48, and just for simpllstic reasans
let's call tham the "Red Chinese® or the "Communist Chinese"--they

‘ had gained all of Chinma except for Peking, Tslngtao, Tientsin,




:111 nonsense.” I Flﬁd* *ﬂillf = "E il .
nonsense. It looks p:htt? sad to Hlblitﬁ :41?_ ik:
troeps outside of Cown.' T ol

"No,™ he said, "things are going to be 111
send your stories smyway.® And he did, ha t:tniiit @
and they were published. and of course, it was only t
weeks hefore Chlang Kal-Shek got out of cown wich hi#
his gold bars. Chiang used the Cadillac IiunUHiﬂi. It was the
one in Shanghai, buc I was able to use it while I Hnﬁ hhﬂfﬂ hith
the driwver.

Franc was an operator; he had a country house. IC was an |
absolute stage-set place out of House Begutiful in China, with the
moon windows and the moon entrance and pavilion. I dozed off to
aleap the firsc night 1 stayed out there. 1t had a scaff, a
houseboy, and rhe walters, and so on. I heard all these
firecrackers, wou know; the Chinese were really celebrating stuff.
So in the morning I said, "Hev, what was tha celebration last
night?" He =aid, "Oh, that's the Red Army, Itfz jusc out there
across che other slde of the field." So 1 left and went baek ta
Shanghal immediately; I wasn't going to get into that. 1 had & very
interescing time. His pirifriepd, ['sm happy to repart, Tecovered,
got-oue of the hospital.

So then I took & plane and flew up ta Peking. Forgive me for
talking about it so muech, but It was one of the remarkable
experiences of my life, to fly into Peking. The army was areund ir,
the rallrecad had juse beon closed. There used to be a rallroad up
from Tlentsin to Feking. and the Red Army just f£inished clesing thac
off. They come around with a pincers movement. But from the plane
1 could see Peking, and at thact time ] pguess It scill looked tha way
It had been bullc in the fourteenth cemtury or whenever it was
built. 1 guess it was originally Monpol rather than Hanchu, but
anyway, it was a big, square city with big, big walls around fr. |
believe it's all different now. But at that clme in 1949 you could
see the whole clty, just one big square-walled forcress-metropolis,




Prmmﬁ” friend, Ehnt: Band, who
t Coast magazine, what do tl'mr call ic?
S putio ﬁhirtia: Doesn’t matter. (Coast magazine.

5 o l sort of semi-smotty guys from Hsrvard, Beacon
= thlr East ﬂpﬂﬂﬂ Massachusects. But Chris had been a
Chronicle msn. We were buddies. You found people you knew
‘ayerywhere in the world.

: We fooled around there, and I went to a banquet for Ghina's
‘most revered artist, but I won't bare you with that story. He sac
mext to ma, I will only say rhe interpracter--. Well, ic was an
elaborate Chinese banquet, quite formal, and this guy'se eighc-five
ar ninety, che Reberc Frost of China. 1 made some resarks ca the
interpreter about what a fine-looking old gentleman he was, and ha
“interpreted it, and he came back to me, the interpreter, and sald,
"He thanks wou for your compliment. He wants to know Lf you would
like to know why he i in such good health.™ T safd, "Yes, I would
indeed." He talked to him again. He said, "It's because he has a
bawel movement only once a month.® [laughter] I sald, "That's
interescing.® Then there was some more talk and he turned hack to
me and he said, "He had & bowel movement this morning." [lsughter]
Well, thac's che end of that story.

After my visit with the nice Chinese poet and going around Co
the Imperial City and the Forbidden Clty and the Temple of Heawven,
which are unbelievable, or they were then, I flew down to Tsingtao.
I joined the Valley Forge and we went off to Singapore, which was a
Chinese city then. This was all fascinating to me, It was the
expleration of the wonderful planet we're living on and the
frontier, and here were all these strange-sounding people and so on.
Sipngapore was 211 s one or two-story Chinacown.

They had Chinese theater and amasement parks chere; [ never
will see the egual to them. The Chinese theaters there; the
costuming was so magnificent, You've seen Chinese theater. 1 guess.
It goez eon all day, Yiterally. You go in and they throw you the hot
towels and the oranges and all this, 1t was greac.




Riess:

-'mhhﬁﬂ, ‘natural mmf m the

NEVET S&an. unmth{n; like it, I Llft ﬂﬁl at tl
for & nnupia for days--the port is a Little, E
really wasn'c much of a hﬂtbnrﬂvtﬂl--&ﬂ,li ﬂﬁliﬂﬂ 588 S0mé D
ot azoll

I always wanted to go to Kandy, the nuginsl ﬁf-, .
hitched a yide from the ruins. The navy sent all the crec p ke
ses the ruins at Polonarua, 1 hitched a ride with a- couple of
English ladies. 1 went up to Kandy and scayed there iﬂﬂh;ni-jhif y
Buddha's Tooth pagoda, and then hitched a ride back, Tha B
interascing thing about that--again. 1t was 1949 hy chig tiuaw ﬂﬁin
1 went ashere first in Trinconmalee, the sort of #il}lgu 1$nun¢.1t1
a litele guy came running out of the shadpws to me. T don't hnuu
why: I Just looked regular, I gusss. He could speak Engll:h '
because in Cevlon thers are or were a loc of Eoglizh,

. v
I|

He sald, "You're from America, 1s that right?™ 1 gald, "Yes.®
He was a Little guy, barefoet, probably. He said, "Could I get to
America?® I said, "I guess so; & lot of people have.* He said, .
*Yeg, but what sbout this?® and he held his hands out like this. I
said, "What do you mesn? | don't underscand." He said, "They're
the wrong colot." He said., *"I'm not whice,® nr-suunthiﬁg+ 1 =aid,
"Ch, look, wou can make it, just keep trying," or something. He
wasn't threatening or anything, I just mention that because it
struck me -at the time &z to what che resc of the world must chink
abauc Aamearica and so on, and cthe croubles wa miaht have kBaesn hﬁ?ﬁﬂ;vw

You know, they had a lot of crouble In Ceylon: chey scill are
having trouble. Ruch and I went there about four or flve years ago,
and we wers just able to squeesze In the trip when the killing had |
ceased for a while., There's been-a lot of wiclence there, and I 1
guess that Ceylon--or 5ri Lanka--is going to be viclent for a long |
tima scill, '

That was your only kind of Imeldent 1lke that?



«i:ﬁ'--ﬁﬂﬂn that. While I was in Peking at the Wagen
b little guy came in and said he wanted to make some
. Eﬂ‘b—‘k'-ﬁm to buy some clothes?

wsst mmﬁﬂ you told.

Rieas:

Nevhall:

: Olay, well, that was {t, The¥ made them overnight. It's this

ﬂ?t#g;#l work ethic and this family ethic that is so phenomenal. I

‘wént out with Chris Rand. and there were rickshaws then, [ did a

story on the rickshaws and the rickshaw coolies. They'rs something.
‘They're all skinny and die of consumprion eventually, But they work
and work without stop.

Whenever traveling--and I zay thiz adviszedly--1 liked to gover

‘a house of 111 fame. In Peking I sat there and 1 looked at the

family, the girls and their lifestyla. It was a tiny family home
and the mother and two daughters were doing anything te ralse some
money. Thare was a certain hospitality and pride, and utter abjectk,

‘horrible, awful poverty. 1 figured, “These people are going to make

it." I can't axplain it to vou, Suzsenne. I had the experience of
watching people selling me stuff in the mserkets and managing to
survive while the Chiness collapsed and Inflation went from 1 to 10
to 1 to 700,000, The Chine=se sre going to survive forever.
Kobody s golng ce put them down, They'te just too many snd they
Wwill @ccept thinge., and they will surviwve,

[ ean't degeribe it very intelligently, but I just saw their
perslistonce and their native hosplcality. It's & remarksble
ciglture. They're either down and resigned and they will acespr it,
but they don't die. They survive. If yeu don't have a slick
Italian car in this country, or & wind-up laser-operated teddy bear
when you're & kid, you're finished--. But I don't want to get inte
that. I'm going eround the world wight now.

Well, I think you're just about done.

Okay. Well, the visit with the shelk in the Persian Gulf was pretty
inceresting, ing Ibn-Saud was still the king, but hiz erewn prince



that the Arablans prayed to Mecca uﬂ'.tr wnﬂiﬁ,
‘guests got down te pray, don’'t hocher them, l.ﬁfii
they thought that this poer guy in robes and hea s lying
deck was praying to Hecca. But the fallow iﬂi almo -ﬁﬂ _
kind of vertigo. He began ta vomit. They finally fixed h
the doctors took care of him, but that vas aluays 4 funi:' !
incident:

We were entetrtained ac ona of the most memorable dimners 1'wve
ever attended, in a palace in Dahran. All this took place at a
place called Ras Tanura, which is an Aramco port. Thare was &
party glven by the crown prince for all of us on board. We went
this party. We sat down, about fifty of us, [n a cent-like -:-:r-pmd
on the ground, no top. The moon came up over the desert, the air
was exquisitely clear, and the guy sitting next to me was & fellow
all done up in robes who turned out to be Sir John Philby. Old Sir
Jehn was a very famous arabist who was a faverite of old King Ibn
Saud, the father of the Kim Philby who defectead to the Bussians.

Sir John began telling me abour tha king. "He's like my facher," he
said. =He calls me 'My son.' He told me about hls wife. He had &
wife, apparently, in England, and one in Caire. Philby was: flnjllf,
you know, told to get sut; bhut he lasced until ¥ing Sand gor in,

Then we went on through the canal, past Suez, and landed in
Gibraltar, and I visited there and went up to see the Barbary Apes.
You know, cthare's the old story about Gibraltar will be secure until
tha apes depart, Winscven Churchill had said; "Replenlsh the apes.®
S0 I went up to see the spes. They're carried on the roster.
Vhatever ic's worch, the apes are carried on che rostcer of the
Gibralcar garrison, and they all have their ration and [t's all
recorded every day, whar they're pald in terms of bananas of
vhatever they s2st. I went up to pay them & call. Thay gave me a
page out of the roster fer & memorsarndum,

|
|

Then we went up around north of England and across the North
Sea to Bergen. And them I fléw home.
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- But you were part of the team that was really home keeping the

going?

Oh, yes. & girl, a woman, Carelyn Stull her name was, from Marin
ﬂuuntra was edirvor of the Wopld while I was goma. 5She was a really
smart girl. She went to work on the Ex later on. She started ocut
A% an aasistant to Joseph Henry Jackson, a secrecacy ln the book
dlpuntnant

After the war a let of people came out to the Bay #Area who had been
here during the war and thought it would be a wonderful place to
Ceurn . to.

Oh yes, that certainly happened. That was the end of California,

In a sonse it was a preat leap Eorward, You say it was tha end,

though.

Well, what's a leap forward? I don't know. 1t was, in a senze,
During the war so many hundreds of thousands of young people had
comeé through San Francisco particularly, and Callfornia genorally,
that chis ls where they wanted to come home to after the war and
enjoy the [reodom and excivement. They went home; I pguess, to one
winter back in Minnesota or Michigen or somsthing, and chen they
camé haeck out hers. %o this was the discovery of Califormia, #ven
moras dramatically perhaps than the discovery of gold in 1849. And
out they camse.

There's an old saying: when you go to war, Lf you join the
navy, the regular mavy's always in charge: TIf you join the army,
the regular army is soon submerged under the mass of volunteers and
civilians who come in end cake over. Well, California remained in
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& B
Well, describe ths San Franciseo that was. rdIve

San Franclsco was, 1 think, s remarkable, remarkable communi
always paid, it was a state of mind, it was & h’;‘ﬂqr iﬁ_ﬁ-ﬁ:ﬂm ]
tale. And San Franeisco--I'm talking now about geo
Francisco, forty-nine square miles at the tip of Ehln.l%ttlp
peninsula--was the bright light or the centerplece of this whe Hay
Area. And when people used to travel--I lived for a long. tigﬁ in
Berkeley, and I've lived in San Rafael--and when people sbroad
-asked, "Where did you come from?" I would always write "San
Francisco® on the hotel register, or zomething 1ike th-t blclpll
people knew vhere 5&an Franelsce was,

San Francisco was a mining town, it was not a farm town, and it
wae & real international seaport. Therefore the mores of the
communliy Were Very permissive. Saturday night was hltmyi. a big
night. People ware allewed to go thelr own way. The ciclzens of
San Francisco--you know the turbulent history of the city. And we
werea all very proud of it, we were all a part of ir.

This was a clty made up of four or five ethnic groups. Tharae
were Irieh Cathelies, Italian Catholics, a very strong Jewish
comsunity, a few blacks and a few Latinoa: And San Francisco was
controlled, gonerally speaking, by an amalgam becween what thay now
call bluo-collar or whatever, South of Market, Irish Catholie
population, the machinists and the boilermakers and the [lremen and
the policemen and all that. And some San Franciscans called
themselves [rlshmeén, or others called themselwves Italians, or Jews,
or they called themselves this, that, or the other. And they lowved
each other, or st lesst they respected ane another as "San
Franciscansg."

How 1°'m talking In generalities, I know. When I landed In
Lendonderry on my way back from the war, the mimoce I walked into
the officer's club there a eouple of guys came running up. One of
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.iﬁiﬂi was not then :Eiu tarrible sort of EEu:Eutriﬁ quality

-ﬂhtdh-ﬂﬂu o8 Tiow in 50 many people in San Francisco, where they

have come to this city because it was permissive. How these
tiresome peaple who came hers in recent years because it was
permissive are insisting that the city must be cast in cheir mold,
There's a whole different spirit about this place. God knows where
all these people have come From,

I started to say that the Board of Suparvisors, which sert of
gontrolled the e¢ity, and the mayers, the executive branch, and the
nawgpapers, and the Pacific Union Club played a great part Im L,
and Montgomery Street, all sorc of in this s¥mbiotic rcelationship,

In the past, for example, you'll see che chiefs of police were
either Irish, or sometimes Ttslian, but mostly Icish. A lot of
Italiana and Trish in the fire departmenc. The Scavenger's
Assoclation were men of great substance hera. They were mostly
Italian. The fishermen ware Italian., But they were-all San
Franciseans, And {t wasn't an etheie zlur to call a guy by what his
family heritage was.

How you have to be careful about names, or ethnic derivacions
and racial ancescry and such, or at least you should be, And le's
kind of sad. I think it's very sad. A3 I've described it a little
in San Rafsel, there was & caste system and a feudal state here.
This Is a very scrange ciry, But now che women have Tto join the
clubs, and I don't know, you'we got all this business. You have to
be careful asbout what wvou sav.

¥You didn't mention any Asian population as part of Ir.

Oh well, chet was marvelous. That was the besc partof ic all. But
they were cotally separace, historically, yeuw know, because of the
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don't know what the vernacular $a7 1= tual_? “don*
& damn abeut it one way or another,

1960s Permissiveoness

You said it ended twelve years after the war--that Inkuq ic ﬂp tn
abouc 19--,

In the sixties or late fifties, I think, “You know, tha Elowar:
children and 21l this psychedelic business. That's because we wers
very permizsive then. And you know, we'rs not that permlssive
anymore, Because you got a mayor Iin there who's always ttying.tn
get the votes from the homosexuasls or whatever it is, whatever:
minority group. the blacks or Asisns. San Franciseo 13 bhecoming a
city that has no flaver, honeacly, exeeprt Just as a rtrouhled clcy.
It's & troubled gity.

The low point of San Francisco--I1'm really rambling now, I'm
sorry--but the low point of San Franciseo in my expérience was the
night that George Moscone and Harvey Hilk were assassicated, [ have
never seen the city in a greater agony, Oh, god!. I was Living in
the south than. but I happened to be here that day.

And then the night they had the rlot vhen they let Dan White
off. 1t was 'a city that was truly schizophrenic. It was awful.
How I think we're climbing back up out of it some. But thsat was a
terible time, just & terrible time. And I don't know all the
answers, I can't tell too much asbout it hecause I don’t knaw che
whele scory, but 1 do Enew chat Ceorge Mosconn had baen a very good
friend of mine at the Chropicle. We had more or less put him in
Sacramento, but scmething happened to him and it was awful. I'm
gorry, this iz really--1 wenc down a cul-de-sac there, 1'll gec back



1
_-ﬁﬂaiti" “yellow peril, " vzl-.ﬂ-n its stories
anti-vivisection hoopla and all this stuff, it
. And Lt was written just to keep the working
now, in ignorance. Tha superstitious lower
d-butter, Iunﬁhhﬂn San Franclsco working man--it was
er that e could read, so he would read about things like
WEES C thﬂiﬂ-ﬁhlﬁnl in English castles, you know, and abouc
W who gave a mink coat to every ocher cherus girl in
nsky This was no way to put eut a newspaper!

2 ﬁhgught all right, I'm going to change it. Perhaps | got in
the newspaper business by mistake or accldent, but then 1 saw what
was going on. aAnd of course I'm sura I was motivated s lirtle bic
because Bill Wrem, the then managing editor of the Exapiner In 1935,
refuzed to give me & job, Well, che crazy people ac che
bired me. And naturally I wvas selzed with contempt for the Hearst
pecple. Probably back then I thought, "We're going to finish chese
Buys off."

I figured the Chrgnicle had to be successful and the city had
to have & papar chat would amuse, entertain, and inform, and save
pecple from the perdiclon of Hearstian ignorance. It's all kind of
confusing the wav it comes out, but these are some of my feellngs.
S0 when Paul Smith goc into all this trouble and things turned out
g0 badly for him and He left, and I had en oportunity, I had talked
to Charles Thieriet, who was tha emerglng helr apparent to che
de¥Young family and so en. [ don't knew how much of this I've said
before.

Riess: 1 think we're gecting into cthe begimning of a new story.

Eﬂ.ﬂ Emiﬂu ; Eignginugd
Dinner Guests

Rless: Let's go on to how you toek over from Faul Smith.
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) i“ﬁﬂ:ﬂm&ﬁﬂ'tﬁﬂhﬁiﬂi"ﬂn -~#
the world, but smyway the Dr. Hu, the
remember in cthe middle of desserc he t
when the communisss, the Ehinlln Reds
them, were attacking--and he said, "De .:':iﬂs
our Chinese men? The womens brigades are
streets in Chinal® Now thiz puy, as I‘i#?.

Vince Mshoney, sitting next to me, Was an. :ﬁﬂﬁglﬂ.: weiter for

w There was this loud silence, and ﬂ;:ﬁ__f wed a
said, "Excuse me, Your Excellency, would you repsat thnﬂep a5’
And he sald, "Yes, the Commnist women's brigade come inte m
and they roam thrnugh the streets raping these men and there was a
terrible scene. [chuckles] There was no more :nnvhriatinmsun that
subject at the dinner table., I'm not sure what reaily happened in
the streets of Tzlngtao, bBut amyway.

And, oh, Anthony Eden was there. One of the great memories I
have of him--I happened to be sitting next to him at dinner. Then
England was s2till recognizing China and we had gone through this
2i1ly business with Nixen and Knowland, cutting our realacions wich
China, severing our ralations, which was the silliest damn thing
that was aver dona. And Edén at some point turned to me--hers 1 wae
a licele guy huscllng around with This World sr someching--and he
gald, "You know, I think we're very unpopular in Amatrics because
we're atill recognizing the Chilness *

[ sald, "Mo, you're not. That was the smartest thing you ewvar
did. ‘And sven so, you're still popular with me. That's all that
matters.” He said, "Well, thact's very encouraging." I remember
that conversaclon. Anyway, here he was, and he became Frime
Minister afver that. Oh, yes--I also remember a dinner up at Paul‘s
when I won some monmey from Randolph Chuorchill. He had some problems
usually, buc that night his worst problem was chat he gave me 2 to 1
edds that {n five [lips of a coin the sme face would nor come up
three times in a row.

And why did he visit Paul Smith?

Becausa evervbody did. Anybody who came to town. Llke when you're
In ITndis you wisit the Taj Mahal.
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Hewhall:

REiegg:

Fewhall:

i'iﬂﬁﬂfﬁiﬁut Hn#wn an iquivilunt of Paul. Mavhe Hin:y Luce.
See, the Gettys can't do anything for Anthony Eden except maybe

M‘Hﬁmﬁy ‘4nd Paul could perhaps marshal the forces of Sanm

sco, in & way, to back the British policy. I mean, Rebert

Frost was there, Carl Sandburg, Clare Luce, these rich Texans. 1
'dauft know, everybody came through.

How could he afferd to entertain chem?

Uncle George had a lot of money.

He wag backing this.

¥as, sure: Peul would charge it off to the paper. #As: I say, Faul
Iived high, in his own way, Buc he could get away with it. He knew
people and they knew him, What he says in his book I think is about
100 percent accurate. Doesn't he drep all these names, poing
through che book?

Yes.
Yes. And they all wenc co cthiz little tiny aparcment up here on

Telegraph Hill and had dinner served by the two houseboys, Jimmy and
Cliff, Everyons sat around and drank a lot of sootch.

The Chronlele's Reputation

#ind what was tha fallout of all that for San Francisco?

What dld San Franeisco gec?



Rless:

Kewhall:

Riagsg:

Mewhall:

i

1t m-; Iir-, You hﬁ‘*
But this ﬁm:mw

And people came to San Francisce think:
was the most imporcant newspaper in the 1 i
comvinced that Paul was the smartest and riches t
world had ever saen. &nﬂ-uﬁ course, mim
Well he might have been the smartest, T:-n;: ﬁnﬂiﬂm tﬁn
The Chronicle was a little old paper in nn.fk?mﬁigﬁ#}
Influence was, oh, so-so. OGh, it always had & 'h!ﬂa 4 -bﬁE"
following. 1 remember during the war, In London, there i:ﬂ:l.q.ﬂ.k
old man in the British Huseum, I waiked by 1-.1-, and somehow [ told
him I was from the San Francisco Chronicle. He said; "Oh, come
see your newspaper. We keep Lt on file here, it's very important
S50 I took a leck. This was when the bombs were falling. [Iauiﬁhth
Anyway.

The Pressure on Wewhall

{laughter] In facr, when you sat at those dinners did you say, "I'd
1ike to be llke Faul Smith."

Bo. I think I said, "Jesus god, please don't ever let me get into
this sicuacion." There's too much pressure. And my life was
difficule. Rudelf Hess, you may remesber, durlng the war finally
jumped [n a plape and got out of Cermany, Well, 1 often censidared
jumping into a plane and getting out of Fifth and Mission, becauvse
Paul was a very demanding persen, And he needed sctention, and he
needed backup and people to be én hand whenever he wanted.

ind you were irvolved with him in many waya.

I:felt at timez & lot of pressure tr¥ing to live up to what Paul was
demanding, in & sense., 1 was trying to run the damn paper, 1 mean

This World or the Sunday pare. And all of a sbdden there would bae &
phone call, "Hey, wa‘re having a party, come on up.® And T thought,



L #HFE ‘back to the nriginal purpose of this, after the war

Paul came blﬁE and 1 said the flame on the candle or the skyrocket
or whatover was flickering somewhat more dimly, Lf something can
flicker dimly., Anyway, it was flickering. *Diﬂly 1 guess is a
;hdumﬂinty. Semeching was troubling him. He'd gone into the navy
as a lieutenant commander, he'd gone {nto the marines as a second
lieutenant and came back to the navy after his stint in the marines.
It was the unusual, you know, Paul Smith saga.

But something happened out in the Pacific, T may have an idea
what hﬂppﬂnsd but I'm not sura. He was a different man, in a
sense, when he came back, Suddenly something had jolted him. I
mentioned that the experlence of war hics men differently, But it
can hit some men very hard.

So he bagan drinking more, buc [t wasn't in the terms of an
alécholic, He was, 1 think, removing himself to a ecertain extent,
And he began traveling. He keprc going to Hew jhrk or Washington,
and when he did, he would cake two or three secretaries with hlm.
And then he made a trip or two around the world, Some of this is, I
suppose, a little personal, But anyway, the nagles or the
bloodhoundas of the IRS were afcer him for taxes. And oh, pee, he
had been living so high and so fasc, as they say now, "on the fasc
track,” that (v was catching up to hia.

He was paying less and less attentionm to the paper and thinking
more and more about Paul's career, his own career. And this
bothered me. I'm being very frank i{n all thi=, but anyway. FPaul
was not the publisher or the editor or gemeral manager (or whataver
title he was using) that he had been before. He was still looking
for--what {= left? His karma. You know, he was asking, "Where am I
poing? And I think he feltc chact the Chronicle--1 think psychically
ha knew he had finished with that particular chapter or passage of
hig life.



Hewhall:

fanily wore bugging Unele George. Thﬁy

There was !ﬂ?lI-fhil big ﬁnqg
say existed Mmﬁul.haﬂml-ut

becsuse the Chronicle was lesing money lﬂd qq-'f
wasn't doing anything about it. |

Crisis: Debts, Taxas

And the debts were mouncing up, We were in terribla ihlpr
girculation was slipping; the paper was not good in terms of ‘m@
success from a circulation standpoint. Our circulation nllypmﬂ i
a high of mavbe 170-80-90,000 daily down to abeut 1350-145,000 -
Inevitably Uncle George was going to have to make a decision, Lgt
Paul go or do somsthing. I remember, Paul came back and Lnrty and I
went down and grabbed him at the airport before anybody slse :ﬂuld
get te him to tell him what had lined up, and I'm sorry, oy mumnr?
--1 ean't tell you what all it wae, but 1 do remember he had a
significant tax problem, ©Ch, people were after him, 1 gpuess,
politically, and so0 on.

[
L

Finally--this was now arcund Thanksgiving time, 1952, and Paul
was: Living in this strange half-world or something, Thege kids were
still eoming in from nowhere and saying Co the eity edicor, "Hey, [
met Mr. Smith ac 4 party and he sald T had a job.® My pod, ws had
two or three guys a week come In. So the family was Insisting that
George do something about this, put &n end to it and get the
Chronfele in a momev-making situation., [t was obviously the end for
Faul, Uncle George sald, “"Paul, you've got to cut &0 many people
from the Chronlcle staff, You'wve got to do this, you'wve got Lo save
this momey,*

Paul =aid, "Well, I'm going to handle ic my way.* He held a
staff mesting and said, "I've beén told that [ have to fire tan,
twenty people,.” or something., "and I'm not going to do ft. 1'm
going te back you &all up." And in the end, that was the and, He
mada hls choice and he left.
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nﬂnnnnu. 1 mst dissociate myself from the
:." S0 Charlie and Uncle George said, “Oh, geez, you don't
ﬁﬁr to go. Would you like te help run the paper or samething. "

ﬁ,uﬂ.h was miﬁtm puhlishnr I talked with Charlie,
Charles is & very close and dear friend. He's totally differenc
:ruu.!:ui but we were vory close and became very close. 1 said,
*Qkkay, 1f we can work this out together, but 1 have toe have a froe
hand. Because I just csn't go along and always be frustrated

because there's somebody behind my back.” 1 ssid, "This paper iz in

too critical a condition.” Paul had lefr by chis rcime, and he knew
what T ﬁaﬁ_gpue, 1 think I sent him a copy of the meme and so on.

Were you really Ehe helr-apparenc?

Mo, mot at gll. Hot at all. Charlle was. And he functioned as such

anyway, you know.

But if anyone had locked around the paper, would you have been the
obvious person?

I can’'t answer that, I don't think so, I figured this was all kind
of my ldea, and 1 waz playing it by ear. 1 was winging it, I don't

dnow, I felt so deeply about the Chronicle. 1 mean, really, the

Chronicle was my own, it was my life. Hearst was stlll akead of us,
They were rich, and we were losing, 1 felt this could be done and I
thought, 1'd4. 1ike a shor ac it,

It was & mission for you. 811l German and Abe Melllnkeff, they were

‘all there, Larry Fanning.

Oh, yes. We were all buddies, you koow, really.
But vou reached out for it.

Well, I was sort of cleser to Paul and closer to the deYoung famlly,



Mewhall:

[Interview &4: April 7, 1988)]

You had asked the question, had [ been an hni: apparent th-y
like that, and I said, no, I was just gplng along., I
1itrie bit--memoriss cise back up about those init fiﬁ'di&i in”
fall of 1%52 when Paul was leaving and before th& ‘s
hierarchy was changed around, and an incident or a ltnﬂﬂd'n. which
had more or less forgotten occurred to ma.

In the spring and summer of 1937 when Paul was off traveling
around the warld trying to forget his troubles here, and the
Chronicle was floundering in terms of its revenuss and losses and s0.
on, Paul agreed that he would set up what he callad a Watchdog
Committee, to sort of review chings and to make suggestions as ce
how the siruacion internally in the Chropicle could be improvad.

This was indeed established, and [ was a member of it, alang
with Al Tenny wha was the contreller. [pauses to think] Hy mesory
begins to falter right there. Al was there:; Paul himsalf, of
course; Larry Fanmiong might have been. He was the :;ﬁaging edicor
at the time. And the advertising managet, Bfll Phelan, and the
circulation department wauld have been represented probably by C.E.
Gilroy., We met once or tWwice a woek and sort of would go over
things,

This Watchdog Commlttes never really came to anything, exeept
at that time | remember I began talking more and more, being I
supposo one would have thought bumptious. But I have sometimes a
sort of low threshold of boredom, and I like co kid around & litcle
bit., I became more and more talkaclve. Paul was avay a good deal
of the time, and I was crying to ba kind of protective when he was
there., It was a difificult time.
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- Mo, the Examiner was dying.

You said that the ﬂh:nnigln s circulation was going dewn, GSo if it
was guing ‘down, then the Examiner's was golng up?

You asked If the Examiner was & better paper. Well, their
eirculation went up to about 212,000--1 believe they were always.
ahead of us in eirculation--but they were a terrible paper. That
was why I knew we could knock them off.

I can wrap up my whole journaliscie career in San Franeisco in
one. sentence, The public doesn't realize that the Chronicle didn't
Eill the Examiner, the Exsminer commicted suicide. and this iz a
fact, We perhaps helped thom aim the dagger, admittedly,

The Examiner was dead, you see, 0OId W.R, Hearst had died, and
so his papers were still in the hands of his hacchet men or his
publishers, and the old guard. And there was this enormous
pverbearing Hearstc Corpeorecion in New York, so that the poor Sap
Frgncigco Examiner never had a chance, It was aimless, Thera was
no chanee for a persomallty to emerge and direer that paper. And ne
teuly successful newspaper can ever be published or ediced by a
committee, [t has to reflect a single, focused emergy or
imagination or whatever. It has te. And vou ¢an go through paper
after paper =nd find that. A newspaper will grow, some of them, but
then when the origimal founders disappear or fade away, the paper
becomes amorphous. A drifring or desd newspaper is like eating
mashed potatoes instead of, you know, some fine roast squab in wine
sauce or something like that.

Riegsg: bid the people of San Francisco knew that they were reading a paper
that was edited by Paul Smith in the same way that latar they knew
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covered some nni.niﬂllﬂ ;
was mtlj‘ltjriu 1 h’tmwﬂ
somewhers

Yes, but people knew you.

Don't ask me why. 1 can’t amswer that. I got ;l.gt,pg publicit
people damning the Chroniele and damning me for T
worst paper [n the United States of America.  But Paul p ¥
himself. This iz where he rr:tgpq& up and fell @un Iﬁ, .:~_‘";
was promoting Paul and not the m b L

I promoced only rhe Chronfcle all my life, I promise Wou,
went along, I'm sure, and got a lot of frnhiu on che way, ﬂ}u
magazine and other people, you know, they lock for pﬁnuﬂltﬂii.
They like te tell storfes in terms of porsonallties. And I:hlﬂt:
Thieriot was very self-effacing, he just couldn’‘t--. 1 used to go
ot and make a few speeches once in & while, but it wasn't ihlut
Scott or his experiences, it was about the Chronicle, if anything.
And the Chronicle was not my paper. It belonged to the deYoung
family. When Paul was there it was his paper, but the deYoungs
happened to hold the stock. 1 mean, there was a basic difference.

Charxles deYoung Thieriot

I had known Charlle Thierlot on and off, you know, around. [Not only

at the paper but once in a while socially at parties, something like
that.

He had had no affieial role on the paper?

He had some. He had always been very nice to me, But Paul had put
him in charge of the television station, And Paul, 1 will say for
him, because sometimes the hlstory does tend to fog things up a bic, =
Paul himself had been very instrumental in acquiring the Channel &
televislon franchlse for San Francisca, This was pne of cthe first
franchises In San Francisco. There were then three basic channels,
%, 5, and 7, But then he had delegated--I imagine with some
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The Chroniele at that time, to be repetitive, was sbout 140,000
daily. The Ex was abour 212,000, as I recall. All these things can
be looked up on the ABC records, Audit Burecau of Circulation
records. The Call-Bulletin, which was tha Hearst afternson papar,
and the Hews, which was the Scripps-Howard afternoon paper, were
atill alive. The Qgkland Post-Enquirer had already folded, That
was a Hearst paper in Oskland. The Oakland Tribune, however, was ]
think number two in terms of circulation in the Bay Area. It vas
the Examiper, the Irib, the Call-Bulletip, and finally the Chropicle
and the Hews about neck-in-neck, areund 140-some-odd thousand.

Maybe it went down te 139.

o Charlie and I began this long relationship. We were of an
aga, by the way, T think only a few months spart in age. Charles
deoung Thieriot was the grandson of Mike deYoung., Hlz mocher, who
had been Eathleen de¥oung, married Fardinmand Thieriet, of French
derivation of sorts. Charles had been brought up, particularly
during the Depression, In France, He was cotally bilingual. During
World War II he had served as & language offlcer, after Normandy and
in Paris and in France, But he had come back and had gone to work
on the paper and ended up with the TV stacion.

Charlie had cotal responeibility, and ha was very good at irc,
of trying to organize the finances. 1 remember I went over one
Saturday and met with Charlie, This was right in the begioming., I
gaid, "Charlie, I have to understand what you have to work with.
What have we got? 1Is there backing here?® 5o he sat down. He
always had good handwriting, wery careful handwriting. 5o he listed
the Chropicle assets. And at that time the Chronigle assets as I
Tecall were the Chromicle itself, the San Franciszce Chronicla, daily
and Sunday, Channel &4, the TV station, KRON-TV; the deYoung Building
in San Francisco, dovn across from the Hearst Building at Third and
Marker; and something-or-other called the Castillia or Castilja
Corporation, which held zome real estate in New York Cicy and among



Rless:

Kewhall:

Rigma:

Hewhall;

n-n;rhm n&;ﬂnﬂ? di :iﬁ;ﬂ#
a oL cre 4
hﬂnﬁnﬂ:ﬂ: up, the payroll had really
mﬂ:-:hly. So the most unpleasant uhm:ﬂ
moat unpleasant job with the ' ill
responaible for cutting back che staff; in ot :
the Firse few days, I had te discharge 'l:hut;l'-. e
being I think fifty-four people--all on the ugitpgi;if_. a. T
were a few youngsters, but alss a lot were older gentlemen
worked there and really had served their time, ° i i
dying. It had all these young guys whe hnﬁ-nqlg o work, and older
guys who wvere never replaced, And we just coul afford it.

So tha firing hadn't happened under Paul?

Mo, he said he wouldn't do it. And he couldn't have. What the
hell, it was a good way for him to go, because even if he had, he
couldn’t have lived with it. and the Ghropicle as &n institution
meant more to me, the Chronicle. than any individual. Now you can
gay Paul has pethaps by far che greater vision here. I mean, he
stands perhaps with more stature. But I felt if we don't do this
painful surgery, well, the Chronicle will not survive. And ic
wouldn't have, 1 promise you. They might have sold it, of coursa.
But then everythlng would have changed and we might all have been
fired snyway. GSome people wers offering ten, twenty million dollars
for ic. Lord, vhat a bargain that would be--pow. But then, It
wouldn't have beéen such a good bargain.

But fifty-four people off the payroll was enough to clean up the
negative cash Elowf

I think it was fifcy-four. That's the figure I've used. 1 remember
Larry Fanning fired some of them. He stayed on as managing sditer.
I was executive editor. It was & little difficult because Larry had
been, in a sense, senlor to me, and we were awfully good friends.

It's difficult. these situations. In the end I had te lat Larry go,
because Larry was pretty much of a doctrinaire liberal, whatewver.

And 1 saw the Chropigle being a little differenc. But that was
after about a year or 5o,

|
|
:




Newhall:

FEiegg:

lﬂ.iﬂﬂiﬂlﬁinn of the superannuation of the Chropicle staff was

?thlt-ﬂhﬁ'ﬂﬁhtﬂﬂﬂ age In our composing room--and we must have had

. seventy, eighty people there--was sixty-siz. Now, that's a

il{tﬁ 2 senior, Something had to be done, and everybody had just lec

it slide for a couple of generations. There were no serious
retirement plans at the Chrepicle, but I felt that If the Chropicle

‘was to survive we had to make cthese cuts and then get about our

‘business and change the percepcions of the 5an Francisco newspapar
reader as to what the Chropnicle was.

The Chroplcle was just flat. It was dull., No matter what anyone

-gays, it was dull. And nobody really wanted to read It much, There

was a lot of bad talk arcund townm. And philosophically or
paychologically, the problem facing any newspaper editor or
publisher Ls not what his newspaper is but rather what people chink
his newspaper is., Therefore we had to reorganlze the paper, reform
ic, do whatever we were poing to do, refurbish ic, and then convince
pecple that this has lndeed happered and that they wers in faec
reading the greatest paper that had ever been published. I'm
exaggerating a little, but it's true. There's no use putting out
the Hew York Tlmes unless the people who are aveilable as clients
realize that the Hew York Times 1s a2 fine paper. It's just np use.

And the word around the Bay Area in 1352 was, “One: Paul Smith
had lefr, therefore the Chronicle was going to die. Twoi The
Chropicle is & rerrible newspaper, trash, not worth looking at or
reading. Therefore let's turn elsevhere.® And chis iz what we had
to go to work to conquer.

%o the Examiner had its readers by default,



Newhall:

Flesa:

Hewhall:

Eiegz:

Kewhall:

Rless:

ﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁi: 'ﬁ!ﬂ'ﬁ? fﬂujgﬂi!‘qﬁ .Tfﬁ?
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In other words, thqdiﬁ.‘:quﬁ-rﬂ*
[laughs] ,H

Mo, no, we were afcer :n;hndy and n¥t:1hﬁﬂr =§uﬂﬁgn;:
Franciseo, but in che vhole area surrounding. San F
g1l is simply the Camelot of the Bay Area. San F
a fantasy,K a legend. But everybedy, generally s

MI1l Valley, down the Peninsula, Oakland, wants to Iﬁi\h‘lﬁf@r
themselves with San Francisco. And that's why in Ehaiﬂnﬁ -
had to resd the San Franeiseo Chromicls. San Francisce has alw
been a touchstone. It 15 a falryland. I mentioned, you know, th
vwhen Bay Area people travel they say they're from San !ﬂlﬂﬂlﬂﬂ!,
not from Vallejo, or Sonoma or Redwood Clty amd such.

bid you have an idea (n mind for how te get readers when you “"FL.f'
lm 19527

Pretty much. I felt strongly in the last fow years that the horizenm
was unlimited for cthe Chronicle. Somebody could put out a paper
that would absolutely captivate the people In San Francisco,

Forgetting for the moment the news itzelf, the correspondants,
the stock market tables and baseball box scors, & newspaper is
basically, or should reflect the life of any communicy. It fia the
only means--and you can almost forgec TV in this respect--newspapers
are the only means that people have for communicating wich or
relating to each other in a community. A papet Ia 1lke che water
woll in an eold-time medieval or encient rursl countcy Eowm, the Hillc
that people go to for their water. Well, everyone has to go to
their newspaper for thelr intellectual or ecultural neiphborhood
water. This iz the role of a newspaper. I'm just preaching. |

It sounds like & kind of one-way communication.

Na, you have to gerve as the catalyst so that people can communicatas
emong themselves, basically. You're the bulletin beard.

Letters to the editer, but you don't sean that.



seop! to uliﬁmhu&# ﬂ:nut, to have a
'_ ---'Ir m: did not describe it too well, but--.

!nu:-:t!h; E- quescion of which parts of the paper the husband picks
ﬁﬂdh&lﬂm:t the wife picks up, too.

?

. But in the end we had to put out a paper so they'd all reach for
thing. We tried to. Usually people put out the sporta for the
m.,?nuimnw. and the "women’s world® it used te be for the women
and 511 that, But in the end you find thar both men and women all
read the same storles about sex, they all read stories about
violence, and they'll all read gossip. It's a fact.

5

How I am & little bit rambling philosophically, but so0 many
editors think, "Okay we want the childrem to read our paper so we’ll
put out a children's or an adolescent page.® And that is nonsense,
The adolescent doesn't give a damgn what’'s happening with another
adolescent, he wants to know what's happening ({n the red-light
digtrict among the adults. This is a facr.

The dullestc and most unsuccessful pages in any newspaper I1've
aver had anything to do with are pages that are aimed basically for
one audience or another. You'll find teday that as many women as
men probably de read the business page or should--maybe half as many
women--but they read ic., And editors nowadays have tuned up the so-
callad women’s pages. HNow they call these female departments
"people" or "lifestyle" or some other cruddy kind of title. Many
ment will read that, too, Don't make a mistake.

I felt that the Chyonigle, if it was co survive, had to be this
rather magical product that was delivered to every home between
sbout 100 and 2,000 feet above sea level. I'1ll get inte cthe
demopraphics later on.

| Riess; And it had to come in thes morning.

Newhall: It had te be in the morning, you're quite right. Ban Francisco, and




Bless:

Mewhall:
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‘And I should hasten to say that no news
anyway, was going to be successful - :
progressive as far as 1 was nﬂnnn:nnd llhiﬁils
that it made a secious attempt to cover the news and to-
Franciscans in communication, not enly with tlih.ntﬁt:;A
with the rest of the world. So what wa had to do i!q (=]
package in which all the news--I'm shortening g :hi:; chis
that mattered, or that was {mportant or interssting, was ;tu:qﬁniﬂ||
briefly so people could read ic.

Most people are only semi-articulare and semi-lirerare. Host
people are children. Most of them belleve in falry tales, '
particularly the American people. Thersefore we had to put out &
nevspaper that took Into consideration these rather primitive or
adolescent appetites of the American reader.

Really? What do you mean by faicy ctales?

Well, I'll tell you. If you want me to discuss ic, I will, What my
own philosophy is--in my experience In the newspaper buzinass--
Americans, particularly Ameérican women (and men now, there is no |
difference}vant to read Buspelstiltskin, Little Red Riding Hood, thl
princess marries the page or the prince marriss che practy working
glrl, Americans, particularly, are Lliving in never-never land, and
they continue to do so.

Working for & newspsper az a photographer, for axample, you are
gent oub en & =tory about some prostitute, say, who':s run In for
rolling & customer or something like that. Well, any cameraman or
reporter worth his salt, if he wants his pleture or story to ba rum,
s going to try and find out that the prostiture has really got a
heart of gold, or she has a master"s degres In comparacive
Literature, but because of hard times she's had to £eed her poor
starving mother or somebody like char by selling her alabascer body
to the ravening mob. You try to come up with che stories, the
Horatio Alger scoriee or the faliry tales to fit the American
Fancasy.



1: Sure Ihﬁf do.

Rless:

Hewhall:

Rless:

Fewhall:

‘S50 I don't have to defend the readers, because the writer iz part of
this fantasy, too.

ﬂh; ic's. a symblotic relationship. Thevy live om each other:
And it doesn't happen in other countries?

I Imagine It does. 1It's probably even more flamboyant there, but I
have never published & paper in another country, I think it
probably is even worse in other countries. I think the English
papers, In terms of their fairy tale content, are oven worse. After
all, they do have royalty on hand. So you can get a fairy tale
going every day,

Did you and Charlie feel the zame way about that? Was that the tone
of your interchanges?

Well, Charlie vas a very f[ilne pentleman. 71 liked him personally,
and as I said, we were of an age and more or less an educatiom, But
he left precty much the whole producc co me. He gave me the
respotislbilitys-the privilege, but alza the responsibilicy for it.
And he tried to provide the money to keep the doors open.

You wera describing goilng te zee him and he had written out what the
aAssebs waTo.

Yes. He said, "All right, this is all we've got to go en.” 5a 1
thick wo worked out when could we afford to put some advertisements
in the trade papers or in our own papers saying, "Read the
Chronjcle "



Hewhall:

Bless:

Newhall;

"L"n;ua. Mﬂﬂmjw
you can quote things mmmﬁ

The ideal thing from my ;lﬂpﬁﬂﬁﬂa!@i
promoter, or an editor and a promoter, tﬁ to put
terms of the Chronicle that, if people went & ﬂ%
to the pub or the bar to drink and their friends £ _:-
see that atory in the Chronicle abeut so-and-sof”
would feel embarrassed to admit that he really had nc
had not seen the Chroniclse. Inthntwnyjrmdﬁﬁnw
if vou gee what I'm trying to say.

S50 we had to put out a paper that once people read i, thay
would econtinue to read it, we hoped. Then we had to, as I say, get
the message circulated. You know, "Hurry, hurry, hurry, the show is
about to go on," so people would tune themselves into the San

And we did this by contriving a promotional
campaign that would attract attention.

Tha Ivory Tower Assessmants

I will say early that our promecieonal campalgns ware so successful
that moast of sy colleaguss or contemporaries in journalistic
acadamia wore so smitten by the promotioms that they never bochered
te Eind out whether or not the Chroniéle was in fact a good :
TEWEPAPEE.

Smitten, or stricken!

There is still a legend abroad among these poor people that, my god, 5
the Chronicle is garbage, And lt's a shame, This fellow [Ben] I
Bagdikian over at Cal--I've never met the man, but I think ha's
probably really quite able--he wrote an article in iﬁn_jl]ﬂﬁil;ﬂ
Magarine and he had the gall to say, "You know, this iz ths most
terrible garbage that has ever been put out under Newhall's regime, J
|

:|
|



Resei 2 ‘Berksley and you must have taken a
N mer _ijiﬁﬁstidﬁ.tht University people you knew,

did. As ﬂ:l w succeeded--now when I say

I'a m in terms of Mammon--as our ecireulation
ceuzed 8 certain asount of shock among a great many of my
- . particularly on the morth side of Berkeley, up om the hill
ihi:ia 1*& g0 to parties--I ¥new a lot of people--and I'd ger such
=:lgatni wou know, &bour vhat wes wrong with the Chromicla.

i

'ml' I .!:ntl::.!:l': tired of it I eventually just quit making the social rounds
- on But HI11. Tt just wasn’t worth the efforc They were all wrong,
| of course, but that was their privilege.

I

h T met Lewiz Mumford ar a parcy at Bill Wurster's when Mumford
wag out here ac Cal for o semester. He =zaid, “"What's all chis anci-
Chropicle stuff? I've been here six monthe and 1tz one of the
greatest papars I've ssen." Someons said, "But there's never any
news." He zaid, "Well, look, I looked at it yesterday, and every
story that was on the front pages of the Tises was on the front page
of the Chromicle.® T think it was the only time anybody’s ever come
up with this, Mumford was greac, and he shut them up.

I will jump for one moment, parhaps to simplify =zome of my
artitudes wich respsct to the product and readership. In 1963 I
bought a paper called the Newhall Signal down in the litrle rown of
Mewhall. It was the kind of southern California Middle West tank
town in which Richard ¥ixon would be regarded as a roaring liberal,
I méan, thiz was really John Blrech councry, 95 percencr. This was
also a very competitive situation, and I figured, "All right, Ifve
gor to take over this community," in terms of being a communicacor.
Thiz wasz during the Viernam period, and I would say that people down
there were 98 percent pro-Vietnam, you know, pro-continuing the war,

“San Francisco Magazine, May 1982,
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Fewhall:

Biasss:

Rewhall ;

Eiegs:

Hewhall:

Mavajo rugs on the £lince and ihe Inﬂ;pg;hggg_
adequate little Mapa Valley wine and ﬂﬂﬁiﬁﬁgﬁ=
listening to Scott Joplin or Dizay G e--and th
telling me what a shambles the w ‘l-'l.-l IHE :I! i
ks

Did you defend yourself In the begimning?

Mot mueh. Mot much, I really didn't. Why bothes? 1 mean, :h;:_”w
ware my friends. I didn't care. Quite honestly, I didn't care what
anybody thought. Thar was their problem. =

Was it that old "We'd rather be reading the Hew York Times"
acticuda?

oh =y god, that started it all,

Is that basically {t?

Sure, well, the Hew York Times came out and printed an edition here
around 1960 or so, you know. They talked to some of the profeszors
at Cal and some of the professors at Stanford. I ¥new them all at
the time, and they came to see me. “Do you think we ought to put
out & paper here in che Bay Aréa?™ HKow this was some years ago. and
they ended up by putting out a West Coast adicion of cthe Times.

They wired it into Richmond and printed it thers because they'd been
told that the San Francisco marketr was just collapsing. that the
Chropicle was & disgrace, and If the Times would come it would ba
supported.

Turner Catledge, an old friend of mine, was the exscutive
editor then. 1 sald, "For god's sake, Turner, don't come out hers.
I'm celling you that this is not New York, this is nor Manhactam.
This place is full of a few very loguacious refugees from Harvard or |



=t

ronfcle was a I'm saying that
W‘!ﬁuﬂ"’ﬂt i.'&iunmimmm
rm!ﬁ mmmmmsmmm.
wm“nu+wandinm
and nacional news, although it was presenced in almosc
, &s anybody in the country. Certainly in the Middle
my god. !mhm.mmymtu-hntmw
i ich and the Kangas City Srar and the Chicage Dally News.
mu#mm'm:hp alongside the Chronicle. I rhink our
TIEWE nﬁ#triﬂl-it probably better.

Riess: bid you start the capsule news over the masthead?

Bewhall: Yas. We scartaed that right off the bat, because I flgured--Charlie
wag in on all this, a great part of this--we would sit around, and
one of Charlie's grear wvalues wag he had a very short span of
attention in tarms of reading. If Charlie could read the paper, I
flgurad everybody would or could. 5o we put that theres to beckon
Ji people to the inside. And I guess they'ra still doing Ie, aren't
they?

Riess: Yes.

| Mawhall: I never read the news synopsis on top of the front page. Newver in
my life. Because I read the whole paper. But I figured most
people--fifty percent of your customers are non-readers--they're
going to read the Macy's ads or the Emporium ads, they're going to
read the race results, the box =zcores from the ball games, they're
going ro read the New York Stock Exchange, and a few maybe front-
page stories, But they're eszsentfally not readers, because reading

w*¥or did the Bay Area wildly welcome the Western Edition of the New
York Times when (& came hera nearly a decade ago. True, it was mot
a reasonably exact faesimile of the real New York Tlmes, but support
for it was even slimmer than the paper. Subscripcions wers
scattered, advertising was slender, and the Western Edition died.®
(Rivers and Hubin, A Region's Press, Institute of Governmencal
Studies, U.C. Berkeley, 1971, p. 21}.




Biesa:

Then, for the first year or
Charlie would sit down--he was & man for rh :
we went over the size of the cype, the size of fhu:ﬁﬂihihn,
mumber of columns, the headllne type. It took months! We musc have
gone through a hundred or fifty different body tjﬁuﬂ:ﬁn Ehm ;hgit i
What typeface is the easlest to read? "Easy to read" was the
biggest, most important thing. There was no use w‘r.ﬂngm a,_;lﬁ;:
of stuff in ruby type, you know, sbout & tenth of a centimacer or
millimeter high, that kind of thing. And unforrunacely papers were
shrinking all the time in silze and in width--hecause nlu:print was
becoming more and more expensive--so we had a hell of a problem: how
many columne or how wide are the columns gufn; to be? And how does
the eye follow a column as the reader goes down {t? How muech will
the person read?

We developed at that time what is one of the great trademarks
of the Chromicle, the boldface leads. They're still using it, T
gueas. The Chronicle then used to start out in seven point minlom
type. After six months or whatever Lt was, for the front page we
started out with ten-peoint boldfsce, down to ten lightface, then Eo
eight point for the restc of the story.

Today’s Chronicle is probably set in a somewhat larger
typeface. A lot of papers run up to nine-point body type now. I
know at our lictle paper in the south we run ten-point all the way.

We've reduced the number of eolumns, and so has the Chronfela. I
see the Chronfcle s rumning six columns. And there were eight
columns then.

And this was all just making it easy te read, easy to read,
easy to read. Because there's no use putting out a paper if a
person can't read ltc,

Were these expensive changes?
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| Riess:
‘Mewhail:
Riass:

Hewhall:

Riess:

Hewhall:

7 _mtmwﬁhh of ua initiaced some of
e --hﬂﬂliltﬂfp:ﬂmlmwmiu
ﬂﬁﬁgrﬂmn# this decailed stuff, but everything,
these vears I was there, was basically snd essentially a

':ﬁn:l.:—hm Charlie would not go off and make his own decision.

‘me to say, "Yes, Charles, that's the way te do {t." Oc I
ﬁuiif. lﬂ:‘!ﬂ! to say, "Charles, can we do {t this way?" or something
I.lh l'.'h!t.- !ﬂ.lt it was joint.

And he initiated some gtuff--as a maccer of face, he discovered
Count Marco, but I'll get Into that lacar.

Did he have an offlce next door to you?

Wall, let's see, he started out quite a way down the hall, around
the corner. Then Uncle George died in a couple of years and Charlie
became publisher--1 was disappolinted at that point, because when he
became publisher I thought he was gofing to name ma editor, and as I
told you, my name was never in the newspsper, you can go back and
look for it, you'll never find it--he bécame publisher and editor,
because the family always had & family member as editor of the
paper. Again, these are titles.

Evervone knew you were the editor.
But why?
I don't know.

Neither do I. Heally, I guess, because I was more vislble, kind of
a front man, they had somebody to yell at. 1f something was sour
the public had someone to yell at. It was all my faclc, you know,
g0 on and so forth. And Charlie did not like to appear in public,
He was really very, very shy. People would think he was indifferent
ar, what 1g the word? Fatronizing or snobbish.

o aloof?

Yes, But he was terribly, painfully shy. Se& was I, but I tried to




Rless:

Hewhall:

Hiesg:

Hewhall:

Riessi

& r!'-iﬂ

But ag far as the edicorial: :un-:a. you were mm ith what
it had been. - 7

. L o g g = S
Oh no, we started to change that right away. mm
are successful and get the circulation and get the advercising
get the revenue, you have to deliver a memorable
get people to read your paper once, if It's a 1Hl'l-j' Flpi:,
might be able to get them to read 1t twice, or ':f.ll.,.|I
won't keep at it. Therefore you have to deliver.

We wouldn't even start any real serious promotion unless we had
something else interesting in the paper--news or features or
columns--wich which to back up the promotion. 5o when we would t:uipw
on a new columnist or a4 new service or something like chat, we would
get it going and then we would hit it. There was no use taking the
old Chronicls as it was in Nevember of 1952 and l:t.'ln:in; all this
buginess, the hocus-pocus and the elreus, because the people would
not read it lomg enough to becoms addicted.

Actually, that’s interesting. When I say editorial stance, I really
quite 1iterally meant the editor‘s slet, and you mean the whole
content of the paper.

Well, the paper is the ediverial product, When I use the word
"edicorial” 1t means evervthing that's nen-business or clreulation,
It {5 the creative written word in the newspaper. 4nd 1 do not mean
it to be the editorial page only, The comic page is part of the
editorial concent, you see. Do you follow me?

Yes, I do. Recencly I've been tossing out the editorial page befors
I mean to because It {5 so regrettably placed right in the
claseifisd section.



Newhall:
Riess:

Kewhall:

Blass:

Ic's cthe most important parc. Or it should be,

When [ use the word "editorial" when I'm discussing something
on a nevspaper, I mean everything except circulation, mechanical,
n&?lrtiﬂiug, I mean everything that is produced by the u&ttnrini

staff. And the editorial staff, which is broken dowm by divisions,

includes all the people who produce everything there, excepr the
advertisements.

Okay, well then I'll po back to my question. DMid you want to change
the editorial page zcance?

Yes, oh yes. Oh, totally!
It was a progressive Republican paper. Did it change?

It was blah editerially. Faul had put in some wvery exciting
editorial atritudes--ag I memtioned, the lettuce strikera and "lat'a
Eo to war against Hitler," amd this. that and the other--buc it was
not consistent, and he had some very much older editorial writers.
The Chronicle was one of the old-boy Republican establishment
editorial newspapers that were common across rthe country., And it
wag a disgrace; from mv point of wiew, I have pot nothing poing for
the Republicans, but [ assure you I have nothing golng for the
Bemocrats eicher. And I wanted the paper to be vigorous, outspoken,
humarous if necessary, and challenge or infuriate or amuse or
delight our readers in our editorials.

[looking at day's Chronfcle] Where are the editorials? I dom't
even know where they are now. You say they’'re behind Herb Caen?|

They're in that World section, right in fromt of the classified.



Riess:

Hewhall:

Riess:

Hewhall:

iﬂiﬂi to save newspapers In our pmi:l&t i:f-_
television. In our little paper in the south, w
later, most of the edlitorials are played rigl
page asercz: the top. And the readership IJ amark ;

majority of the people probably &nsplli thﬂi. bue Eh#r'tqtﬁ

And in the case of a subscancial number of people--it's tha qgﬁﬁl i
reason they look at the paper. That's my own Elilinﬁ:liﬂnt deu

But what the hell have we got here? The editorial: “The
conviction and ouster of Gowernor Evan Mechem of i:il#Ql‘l senate
brings a sorry chaptar of the state political history to at least i
partial close." Goad godl

Hot interasting.

That's Thursday, April 7, 1988, (I'm just putting a date in.) Some
tired recivation of how a scoundrel Is a scoundrel. Well now, what
the hell news {5 it If a scoundrel i3 a scoundrcel--partlculacly in
Arizona? The news would be if you found some hero and he turned out
to ba a scoundral. If they wrote some stuff like this about Ed '
Heese, instead of about Mechem. Here's Jack Anderson: "Why Meese
should go." Well, why am I going through this? Here's anothsr
editorial, "Baby Boomerz|",,. "The Census Buresu reminds us that tha
post-war baby boomers are eicher reaching or are well Into thelr

forties, a demographic ocbservacion thatr will do more than cduse us
to ba nostalgic.”

I think that sounds wery tired.
Well, this is what we had to starc with In 1952,

I am delighted again that you brought this uwp. The edirorisl
page was my particular interest and baby, I had a little probles
with Charles early on becauze his family was basically Republican.
I didn't want to be Democratic or progressive or communist or
anything else. I just wanted to be independent and speak our owmn



Riess:

Newhall:

Biegn:

Hewhall:

we were the

X
4 = t;hl;tﬁ: Iﬂwiltr-utth at Gal--some of thn cldtimers

.tiﬂﬁfﬁhi'iﬁhu: it--snd we fought tirelessly and von. Not that

- deciding factor. but we kept hammering at the regents;

You had a reparter over at the University to cover thoze regents
meatings and alumni committes meetings and all of thace?

Ruth did. She represented me, Oh yes, Well, we told them what to
do, more or less. I'm just shortcutting this.

You told thes what to do?
Mare or less.

What do you mean?

Wall, they're children. They are.
Tou told them how to--3%

The Academic Senate. They're the ones who really had to fight this
thing, not the regents.

George Stewart was one of the people that you were talking to.

Sure, an old friend of mine, And I wanted to emphasize here that
unless & lot of fighters and idealists like George Scewart and Jim
Hart and Yalcolm Davizson were not out there fighting, we would have

had nothing to supporc
Bo how did you advizse them?
Wall, George Stewart knew thar he had the Chronicle behind hi=. So

he would talk with Buth and she would talk with him and say, "Dkay,
we’ll back you up, you wane to de this," or something like chat. It



Kewhall:

Well, j‘ﬂuﬂnn’thﬂitﬂhth:t

H:mm“s an illustration from dn'urn lnnl:'h ac m'_ i
other day came in to ask for our endorsement, )
paper. 1 didn't particularly want to endorse hn'
She's very moderate, & modestly endowed person.
you don't nppr:uiatu what a following I have.® 1
do vou mean?” She said, "You don't appreciste raiﬂ.gr my stat '
the communicy." Then she said, "Look at thesze editorials :h.mm
in the newspaper. Look what they say about mal®

Well, to begin with I had personally written every word of the
material she showed me. And yet she was cblivious and trying te
convinoce me that the world was sitting at her feer, because of a ﬂtﬂ
casual throw-away editorial remarks [ had written myself.

These editorials I had written were--to her--the most important
political assets she had, apparently. And all of this was a
startling demonstration of the persuasive power of the written
nevepaper word., As an old and tired newspaperman, I sometime forget
how much a paragraph or 4 column or a mention in a piece of '
nevsprint meens to most people,

Therefore when this horrible fight was going on at Cal becween
the Academic Senate and many of the regents and the governor and all
that--1 forget the ins and outs of the whole thing--as long as the 1
Chreplcle was thare backing them up and pushing the scery thes "pgood
guys" at Cal knew they had support. They knew the public was with
them, and they figured [slaps his knee] god, there are champions out
there. This is like King Avthur's chivalry, or Camelot, or '
something like that. In any case we were very helpful, if nothing
else, in this loyalty ocath fight. And ft teok a lot of doing. It
took the efforc.

As I say, Buth handled it for us on the ground. FPhil Griffin
was involved in it, George Stewart was deeply I[nvolved, maybe Jim

Hart. All the old crowd, Malcolm Davisson of the econ department,



‘Hewhall:

Risss:

pid old Chronic » fought hard. Of course,
was ._gr:mdnubudﬂ.ﬂ in the Berkeley
back at the canape tray, as 1 say, sipping their
whatever it iz and figuring eut what's right and wrong
~world, And they're saying the Chronicle i= & rag, T'we
that all my Llfe. It doesn't bother me, it's juse kind

f'nf:‘!knr We're swell when we're on their side, you know, and not

calling them names.

Miii i

The Hew York Sun, which was called the flrst newspaper designed for
the common man, lnvented a hoax in order to sell papers way back in
1833. So that kind of promotional effort has a long tradition?

Oh, pewspaper promotions have been going on longer than that.
"Hoax" 15 a horrible word to wuse. with me anyway.

Fairy tale is better. Or fantasy. When did Stanley go get
Livingstone? I don't even remember. That was & nawspaper scenario,
VWhen was the Spanish-American War? That wasz a Hearsc promorion,
You know, literally. He needed to sell papers.

You remember ] held forth here rather pompously on the subject
of fairy tales and legends and myths. If you will look at all these
hoopla journsliscic carmivals, they're all old, old Victorian er
even LEth cencury falry cales, either Finding hidden creasure,
getting a reward, or adventure in darkestc Africa. That's what the
peopla lowve. The princess marries the page bov,

Let's go to the prometions. What was your thinking a8 you cooked
them up?

#




Newhall:

JImowledge a "hoax"--and I'm using the «

We never did run any :tnﬁy In the Ch £ L W
dietionary sense. We never did, l:ﬁfil Iﬁzﬁﬂ
the publishing of anything that was either untrue |
false or fake or anything like that. Some of our
have been exaggeratad, if you will. & good bit ﬁt 1
vas amusing or entertaining perhaps, but despite ufv nd

middle of--all the zo called fun and games of ptﬂlptihﬁ mo
Chronicle was a very chaste newspaper--and Lt ﬁruhihli.ltiil fi

Emperor Nerton Treasure Hunt

The first promotion I think we ever came up with was the Emperor.
Norton Treasure Hunt. This was brought to me by a fellow called
J.F. Cahn. He had written for This Wogld and he came hack to the
Chronicle as promotion editor after a leave he spent salling

imported care for British Motors on Van Kesa Avenue. And Cahn had

heard about a newspaper treasurs hunt that had been a great success
in some midwest city.

The most important element In promecing the Chronicle was to
weave the paper into the hisvorle fabric of San Francisco, We
decided to get an exclusive copyright on historic San Francisco. And
one of the most outlandish historic figures in San Francisco was a
man called Emperor Norton. 1 cannot remember at the moment what his
resl nase was, but anyway he was Emperor Mortom--a character in & [
beaten-up Mexican General's uniform--who used to go around cown with
a couple of hungry dogs. I don't know if you know about him or noet.
Thoze were the days when S5an Franclsco had a lot of savvy and a lot
of style, and everybody used to humor the Empercor. He would [ssus
imperial decrees, and he issued his own bank notes. The restaurants.
would accept his money end feed him lunch and dinner and so on. He
is perhaps the greatest single historic personal legend in San
Francisco,



nze plague saying Whoever Digs This Up Will Get A
lver Dollars, The plaque was beautiful, about a foor im
. custom made for us by Shreve's jewelry score on Grant
We buried the medallion snd published the cluss and my god
reets of San Francisco came alive!

Peoples were roaming through the streets with shovels and picks
and going out to dig. And they would dig] We printed daily clues,
sort of jingles, Ruth would compose these rhyming clues carefully
enough so that hopefully the treasure would stay buried for abeout
four or five or six weeks. People began to buy the paper to read
the clues. &nd while they were reading about Emperor Nortonm you
would throw in a lictle stuff for them about, if you wish, the
lo¥alty cath in Berkeley, or the acom bomb, or trouble in Singapore.

When [ say our readers would dig--we burled {c once right dowm
here in the beach at Aquatic Park here in 5an Francisco one time,
Well, they dug up thac vhale beach, We finally had to pay 4 let of
money to hire some heavy grading equipment to bring the sand back in
and replace the whole heach there, It was horrible.

And the phones began to ring., [ remember--again, to deascribe
human beingas. A great big black guy with his Cub Scout troop, he
had a message, he said, from somewhere up in the heavens, & message
that It was buried underneach the basketball court at some high
gchool out in the Sunseat districe. And we pot a call from the
school authorities that the Cub Scouts had got through rthe pavement
and they were =ix feet down In the middle of the basketball court.
1 mean, normally you couldn't go through that concrete with a steam
hammer! It waz terrible; But these people want to dig.

Human beings want to dig for treasure. And if you'll look st
your news, they're always going down som&where and pulling treasure
up. Hell, they even pulled up the Titapnic. HNot pulled up the
Tiantic, but they went down to the Titanic the other day. Human
beings are still fascinated with what is under water or under the
garth. I am,

The Emperor Norton was one of our first prometions. And then




Riess:

Wewhall !

« the circulation would go upwnlﬁnﬁ .;i
m“mu prmuyﬂummmm- h
something like that iy

"Great Clty. Drinks Swill®

For instance?

Well, Buth and I were back in New York one time, I was & juror Eﬁ;_
the Pulitzer committee at that point. And we were staying at the
&t. Regis Hotel. At dinner one evening at the hotel 1 ﬁ:dnnd; cup
of coffae and I began drinking the coffee and I turned ta Ruth and T
said, "My god, this {3 good coffee! TI've never had anything like
thisz in my life.”

I said, "Geez, I'm going to tell them to find out whacr the hell
has happemed to San Francisco's coffes.” Wowl

Ean Francisco--I may have mentioned it bafore--when I was &
child this was & huge shipping port, The ships came in from all
over the world. As & small boy going along the waterfronc you ﬂuulﬂ
smell the coffee roasting. It was & big coffee cown, Hills
Brothera, HJB, Alta Coffes, Folgers Coffee. Five or six, and they
wore big companies. And oh, it smelled so good, the nuffun
roasting. You could smell the spices in the old tramp freighters
that were tied up along the waterfront, the copra, and juce, and
teakwood logs and all that stuff. 0Oh, it was marvelous|

I zaid, “"What the hell, hers we have San Franglsco, the
Chronicle’'s trying to stay alive and promote San Francisco, dnd
Christ, the coffee you drink here iz garbage!" So we pur & kid
called Jerrcy Root, Jonathan Root, to do an imwestigstive job of
reporting what the hell were San Franciscans drinking today. We
used to call it coffes and pald & nickel or dime for a cup. ERoot
went up and down Marker Street, he went to the horels, and my god,
he found coffes urns with dead rats in thee and evarything slie, or



Hawhnll:

PO

And I imm@h e nage-T taiine Guaty sna oF
__ginEﬁ-nt it. And if they thought lhzu: it, chey x

"-‘-"'-

mm ﬁm‘dm make & difference In the coffee?

" ﬁh yes, for & while the hotels and diners cleaned up. Yeu know,

Ehgslfﬁl:kgn Screet chop houses and rescaurants were terrible. They
atlllr were terrible. This city had been once teally quice great in
terms of belng s gourmet city. But, I promise you that today,
twenty-Elve years later, the ciﬁizans of ‘our great elty are once
again drinking swill.

Columnigts
Texrrence O'Flahercy

And we began to concentrace an columniscs, and to promote chem
heavily in the paper. Herb Caen had leafc the Chrenicle. He went to
the Examiger in '50, dnd came back elght ¥ears later. Dal was
already in the paper--that L[5, Stan Delaplane. We decided to plece
Torry O'Flaherty's TV column on the front page of the second
gsection. You know, this zecond section was a whele feacure ssctcion
--ineluding edicorials at chat cime,

0'Flahecty--when we featured him, ] had a long talk with him.
I sald, "Terry, we're golng Coe pur You out on cthe section page, not
with TV logs. We're doing this because TV 15 such a blg part of our
culture today. Do your column assuming that nobody who's reading
your column haz a TV set. Then do your column on the TV world and
you'll be a great succesas." And I think he was one of the great
columniscs on the paper. He was a beautiful writer, That was very




BRiesg:

Mewhall:

Rless:

Mewhall:

Hlegg:

most ou# or: d-u;hmitﬁr m:l,m I
Eyhliuh

You want to talk about some of tha w—*‘:ﬁ ]
I've gone from promeotions to columns, 'h-:iti. Lt
package, Everything was promotion, and the best .
promotions was the gqualicy of the newspapar and tt:ﬁ!rlf

LI .

Well, in a ESA Magazine article you are gquoted as mmm you.
took over you saved the newspaper by 'gtving it hiﬂk

creators,” these people, these columnists, "k

Well, we got them, yes. It's true the Chropicle was saved harl:!m

people who ereated IE.

I'm interested in how they came to the Chronlele, and I'm Interested
in the business end of it, how you syndicated these ptngl.. and what
the benefits to the paper were of that.

Well, basically, they were all our own columnists, We had a few
syndicacted columns, but few of the syndicated columns wlll becoms
popular, They normally don't pack the punch that a local guy will
that you're paying en your own payroll. For example, you can get &
syndlcaced columnisc, a top man, for 525, $530, 540 a week. And
you' 11l pay vour good colummlsts, you know, 51,000 or 52,000 a week,
depending. That's quite a difference.

Yas. Well, then did you sell these people to other papers?

*The UCLA Office of Oral Histery is conducting an oral history with
Terrence 0'Flaherty.

|
*k*Newhall says he saved the paper by glving lt back to lts |
ereatoars; 'We decided that we were going to get every writing talent

we could, and we put together a remarkable group.'" PSA Magazios.
Movember 19R2.



ﬂ-m& pages (I'm using the firse-
ﬁ-#ﬂ‘hﬁ#ﬁl for {t, ic's just

‘them. Women's pages had all this
; hﬂpii what, how te cook or how to do
s other. Bur the one thing that women are

L*&ﬁﬁ!t@;ﬁtd.lns-:ntu:iir the two things--are either gossip

e in thosea old days no respeccshle American

pap '_Mthmlﬂnmtcﬂﬁm!nrmnnuhg them how to
‘88t & guy inte the sack. Now forgive my patois here--my vernscular
~-bur this 15 a fact.

Charlie wandered in ome day with thiz fellow whe had been a
hairdresser and who had worked a stint as a producer at KRON-TV.
His name was Mark Spinelll # I thoughet, "Jesus, Charles, why are:
Fou ihdltﬂg a¥cund here in the editorial department?™

Ho said, "Well, Mark's got an idea. He says some of his
ANCEeSTOTs wWere counts or something.® I looked at “the count” and I
sald, "Well.that's good encugh for me. Have you got tha family coat
BE srme?” Well, we talked a litcle bit sbout how asz & halpdresser
ha heard what women talked about {n the permanent wave booths. I
gaid, "Thart s what wa want. Let"s ger really down to the nicty-
gricey of this dnd not Just carry scories about the bachelor's ball
or the spinster’s milk fund drive or szome damn thing like that.” So
he said, well, ha could do a column, he thought, that would be
stimelacing.

I said, "Dkay. Wall now, what was your Family coat of arms,
Your Excellency?" And Charlie--you lknow, he liked to get in on
things that were precise--ha said, "Now look, this =an has che
makings of & count.," And Charlis and cha Count began arguing aboot
whether cthere should be four splkes on the crest of a count's crown,
or Eive? Well, we finally settled on four or five or aix. IC
didn’t macter mach, You know, the spikea with the ball on top. And
I don't know, the Count said thare wae something, some kind of
animal on his coat of arms. I forget what kind of animal It was. 50

#Henry Spinelli, in Warren Hinckle's If You Have a4 Lemon, Make
Lemonade, Putnam Books, 1973, pp. 21, 22.




Bless:

Kawhall:

Time magazine plcked ttwmm
to Count Marco's column--other papers--in
and such, And he wrote some columns about |
out of a bathtub without losking like a cow, b
It wag veird, You've heard all these ltuhilr

Yes,

Well, the Count became a sensation i{n town. We hired him a luﬂl”
Foyce and he would go out to night c¢lubs and the hhtltl T tti‘ﬂm‘?
vatch his expense secounc. And they all called him “Count, " "Your
Excellency," and they'd give him a front seact. The people were
dying for chis. They wanted te be part of this myth.

The Count, as far as [ was concerned, hit the big tims when Hgé
covered the Finch trial down south., This was the trial of 2 decter
who was accused of killlng his wife Big deal. He had a glelfriend,
and he killed his wife. Well, because he had & pretty good Incoma
and so on, the final trial became one of these really top-drawer
murder cases, -and - &ll the- papers from the East covered itc.

Hearst senc out Dorothy Kilgallen, their big sob sister. This
is the kind of yellow jourpnalism thac the American people Lowved,
particularly (if we're poing to discuss castes In America, the caste’
system) the middle middle class end the lower middle class loved
this stuff. Hera's a doctor, a lot of momey, supposedly killed his
wife, crime of passion.

I said, "Okay, the Chronicle's going to really top this whola
thing. If the American people want a circus instead of a serious
criminal trial, all right, the Chrenicle will give them all three

Eings. "™

50 we sent the Count down to covar the mucrder case, though I
gent a reporter named Tom Mathews aleng to rewrite his stories. We
hived him, che Count, the blggest Rolls-Royee we could find in



i?ﬁlﬁ#ilﬁ#ﬂmﬁﬁliy atola the show down there, whether

: or Where every other paper was invest
5:i§ﬂﬂfﬁfizﬁ¥nttilﬂqrb-t don’t Iﬁﬁv, I can't nvim?z::::git

- - vm niinha.lwd'hm whether or not there were ﬂ.ngn-:-print: on
_the butler's collar or lipstick on the doctor's lapel or whatever.
jlut ‘the Gount made big headlines whem he wrote, "The important
gquescion is, ‘'does she or dossn't she?’ Is the docror’s girl friend
really a blonde?®

- DE courze we made mockery out of Lr, but the whole rrial was a
mockery., Ifm sureée that my good friend Ben Bagdibkian would have some
comments to make, that we would dare make a mockery out of a trisl.
| But I promize you that American metropolitan journalism (and
Eelevision) i1a now--and alwayz has been sbout 30 percent fact and 50
percent mockery. If the word "mockery®™ 1z too scxromg, then use che
(W term "stercotyped.” Anyway, the Count managed Co create quite a
ruspus. In & sense, as far as I was concerned, I was simply holding
up & mirror to the American public and to the American press. What
the hell, wea ware jusc doing this,

Elﬂun: Haz he rewritten in pgeneral?

Rewhall: The Count was edited guite heavily. Bur the Count was a goad guy.
, He’s zedll In eawm. He's put on too mich weipht now, and some
eritics might zay he L2 past hirs prims.

I'11 tell you & saricus story about him: he canght the aye of
a lot of these editors of papers In the Middle West and in tha
eascern seaboard escablizhment, stuffy newspapers. This was “"hefors
sex," before human copulation was the only subject under discussiom
in the women's department of America ag It is today, take =y word
for ic, and I"11 hold forth on that tiresome subject later. But the
Count was kind of asusing. People were talking about him. 5o we
syndicated him, and I think twenty or thirty papers subscribed. Oh,
Beauty and the Beast was 50 innocucus really. And the Count was a
clean guy.

Riess: Well sctually, going back to whiat men and women are talking about at




Hewhall:

Riess:

Hewhall:

Biess:

Mewhall:

Riess:

Rewhall:

That sure fen't. You mean, to go into a
Yes. Well, yes, and I would say in aﬂ

Summer.* 1 don’t know what that is.

has been incredible regularity of pop psychelogy sort of
investigations. ==
»

Oh yes, it's awful. Tt's all the same; there’s nothing
le, And let's see what we can find: "The. s of
'Illﬂnl;.ll Jﬂlt?ﬁ DUE

hway- -Hypochondris.” “Here are the Colors t'h.u.l_'. r&.n,um Your Skin.*
This is all old stuff. *Half che Rape Victims are Teems.” Well,
vou know what I'm talking about.

I do.

To me it's ewful! I'm so cired of these women and men all !ﬂlﬂiﬂl
about their sexual problems. I'm just sick of {m.

Fow two colummists, Buthie Steinm &nd Gerald Nachman, represenc the:
singles scene for men and for women on a regular basis.

Oh really? 1 was in &8 restaurant last night and I was appallaed.
(1"m wandering.) Karl and 1 went out and I gaid, *let’'s go dowm to
this place called the Callfornia Cafe." It's where Victcoria Statlion
used to be, down at the foot of Broadway., 1 drove in the parking
lot and I said, "My god, this i= Yuppiesville." Because hara were
all these Japanese and German cars all lined up. I went In and
there were abour five women to everyv man in there. They were all
siceing arocund, all these girls, vou know, or women:. I'm suUrs
they're junior executives in all these new buildings downtown and
all this stuff, and they're s8ll career women. And there's not & man
In town for them, This is a whole different subject,

That'e sad, Isn't 167

It is, oh ic is. 1'll talk about that lacer if vou wish. Really,
it is. There is a commentary on San Francisco. This town s full
of totally frustrasted, lonely women, because half the men in town
are homosexuals, And this is true, and 1 can prove ic if you want
to argue or something,



Hiegg:

'lhhiﬂ::ﬂ'lﬂ to hi..u column, And there must have been quite a few,
:uljrhl twency u'npapu:l That was & good beginning.

ﬂil on that subject, Where were we? 0Oh, the Count.
: stuffy midwestern and eastern newspapers, they all

Wall, the m deesided they were golng te shoot the
Chrenicle down., So they gor the ward sut that the Count had once

‘been pleked up--now I may have this a little wrong, and I don't want

to slander anybedy--but he had had a lLittle record of some
homosexual deal, He was on the rap shest in some police department
somevhere for semething naughty, I promise you. I forget what it
was. A very minmor infraction, whecher it was, sither pinching a
Iittle boy on the ass or someching like that--or maybe even a girl.
The Examiner puc out the word that "the Chronicle had a homosexual
for a columnist, The Count was a bad fellow." Thereupon every
paper cancelled the Count's column without rumming a single colusm.

How today--on the other hand--if a guy wants to gat a column
syndicaced, he's got to be & homosexual! That's almost the truth of
the matter, San Francisceo in that day, when the Count was starting
out, was just sort of the Grandma Moses of hoterosexual sex. The
Chronicle was criticized for the Count's "pormography." TIime
magazine published a story abut the vulparity of it all, Every
paper without exception cancelled his column wichout even running
it, We ran it, of course, and wa never had any problem wich £t at
all, And there wvas nothing vrong with the Count. He's a good guy.

¥arren Hiockle

Was it Warren Hineckle who exposed him? He says he wroce a piece



Mewhall:

RBless!

Newhall:

$o he was just kind of a "bad bughl'

Mo, well, San Francisco’s full of these i
E&ﬂ:lnli:,,nmlhamttuﬂﬂ And if you m'
got problems after a while, because the Jml-i;r tend
complicated when they confuse "falth" with "reason.” 3§ mas they
seem to heve trouble scruggling with the normal human g;l.ﬂ.xt T
feelings,

In Hinckle's case, he vas a wery t.i,l.,mtmt man. I Iwﬁ the w
he wrote, because he wrote very well when he was roaring sbout ﬂﬂl
Chreniels, Oh, he excoriated us! Bue I Flgured well, if he's sur
bad boy or Lif he's our gpuy, fine. He was such a beautiful Hrl.'l:ir.,,
and I think that after a while he became a true Chronicle patriet.
Warren is & friend of mine. I've alwaya liked him. And if he could:
write, then | wanted him on the Chronicle. I'm sure what Hinckle
sald about the Count factually was accurate. BPut it didn't matter.
But he thought it mattered.

arc Hoppe

How about Art Hoppe! When did he arrive?

Well, Art was on the Chronicle as a copy boy, He was a San
Franciseo boy--Lowell High--whe went to Harvard and then started as
a eopy hoy on the Chronfcle. He began writing stories for Abe

*Warren Hinckle, ap clt.



Hiegg:
Mawhall:

Bigasg:

Bewhall:

. It was supposed to be, but Arc's column jusc grew and grew and grew.

You knew, Art Hoppe, has his own inimitable brand--his own unigue
styla. You might say he has patented the art of gentle satire--with
a bomb shell tucked inside lt. There's a very fine line between
satire and burlesque and wryness and cynlelsm and sardonicism and
Arony and all thaet. Art always had--and I see that he stlll has--a
marvelous capacity of stabbing the readers with a rapier and

wiggling it around--1 mean, & rapier &nd not a broad sword. But Art

has such a mellow touch that he has always managed to ansesthatize
the readers before thay feel the sting. Now, after 30 years or so
he still has a ecertain serct of a lovable boy gquality about him, he
really does. He doesn't seem to he wviclous even whemn he's
dreadfully vicious,

e

You zaid somewhere how difficule it was to find good writers.
Writers are very rare, I think.
They're not" jougrnallsts then?

Mo, no. Well, there have been, there are some great journalistic
writers., After all, Mark Twain, Robert Louis Stevenson, Ambrose
Bierce, Edgar Allan Poe, there's a long line of them. I think some
af the greacest writers of the world have come out of mewspapers.
But not every newspaperman {s a good writer,

When I first went to work on the paper, you had reporters and
you had writers. You had a whole bank of old rewrite men, these old
puys with the green eyeshades on, you know, with che phene, The leg
man would go out and cover a murder and he'd phone it in, and the



Eiega:

RNewvhall:

Biess:

Hewhall:

Riess:

Mewhnall:

Riess:

Hawhall:

Rigss:

That's interesting. In fact, I was going to ask you what yeu read.
) 1

8y the time I had to be executive editor, there really wasn't tm-ﬂ. .
moch time left over. And you're pretty tired. I didn't read much;
I wouldn't read the paper all that much. ' _

Did you read the New York Times?

Ho, I never read the New York Times in my lifa. Oh, I'm
exaggerating., T would when [ was In Mew York. And I have been
reading the Times now when it pops up. It's a wonderful paper in
many ways.

Did you read your competitor? Did you read the Exasiner?

o, 1 never read them. And I still don't, anywhere I am. I don't

care what they do. They're going te serew up. I don't mean to be
quits ag anotty as [ Bound.

But vou did read The New Yorker, you're saying.

Yes, when I had a chance [ would read The MNew Yorker, simply for che
pleasure of reading good writing, what I considered to be good
writing. And I read Ceorge Bernard Shaw, Evelyn Waugh--I think I've
mentioned this--and somebedy else. I have always tried to keep up
on hiztarical macerial. I've boen going through Gibbon's Decline

and Fall recently--there‘s one of the world's great intellects and
stylists.

One of the books I looked for abour newspaper editors and publishers
sald thelir average age is 47, they'ra male, they read an average of




Mewhall:

Riﬂsg:

Fowhall:
Riless:

Newhall!

Biess:

§

ﬂhﬂht 85 percent of Americans--I'm ractling these percentages
-jil;t:i:,.ﬁfl ﬁ! my head, I don't know--but to BS percent of the American
news is what they see on television. You've got & half-hour
-mm hﬂuﬂ’ﬁ‘iﬂ!ﬁh of TV news shows & day, and they cover about ten or
a dorzen evencs, and after all, there are thousands or millions of
uvtnﬁh ovary ilyh But the magic picture tube manages to condense
‘all these nIllinnn of avents by condensing a dozen of the totral into

'l&nut :iintr secends or a minute aplece. An edivar has to know vhat

hiz resders are talking and thinking about as they sit around
watching the magic tube, That's why I watch television.

Then your paper is partly a corrective?

Well, yes. But =mainly I wactch the TV news in order to find out what
people are Interested In--vhat they're looking st, what kind of
brain food they're getting from TW. They're inrerested in what
they've seen or heard to & certain extent, and not only something
that is nmew and novel once in a while. You know, today ic's
Moriega, and Panama, or Nicaragua or Palestine. Yesrerday it was
apartheid, it was an ail spill, or China or a burming American flag,
or sbortion debates, The news comes and goes In faddish cyclas.

Twenty years ago people didn't =it in front of the "Today Ehow" at
breakfaat. Then they had only your fawspaper.

Do they sit there now as early as breakfaset. I suppose =o0.

I wonder.

I've never zeen the "Teday Show.® (You know, of course, thac on TV
the news iz always packaged as the news “show," ic's not the news

=program. ™)

I wonder, if you think that haa happened, then would you have a lot
of trouble getting them to read the Chronicle?



Tell me about Lucius Beebe,

Yewhall: Well, I admired Lucius from afar for many years, b - _:f-'
of a kind 1 firsc got to know him in the columms of iew Yor 3
and alse from the columns he used to write in the Ww

When T said I mever read a paper--& lot of people put ﬂttupum
my desk to read. You know, they’'ll ellp it out or something. 'Dqt
honestly never had the cime to sit down and go :h:muﬁ seven p.i}m-
If any editor tells you he goes through seven papers a day, tha som-
of-a-bitch fsn't working for his own paper. And that's a fact,

And I know these guys. You know, [f vou boecoms a membar of the
ABRE, which is the American Society of Mewspaper Editors, and they
have a national convention once a year--you can alwavas tell the
airheads from the fairly competent peeple, These muttonheads will
come in with a copy of thelr own newspaper in their pocker, and
they'll have it sent to them by carrier pigeon or by airmail or air
express every day chey're there, so they can go through the
newspaper. Well, any newspaper edltor who goes back ©o che
convention and bothers to read his own paper is crazy., Now I'm
gorry, but vhenever I saw & guy doing that, I wouldn't even bother
ta {ntroduce myself. 1 would flgure he's tes tied up with his own

PARPpOT .
Anyway, I went away from vour gquestion.
Risss: Okay, Baeba.

Mewhall: Lucius, okay. 1 admired Lucius. I read a definitive;, as far as I
was concerned, definitive pilece on him years sge in
and more somewhat later. He used ro come out once in a while to San
Francisco, but I'd never met him. Lucius was a great poseur, He
had his own s=tyle. He was living a role. He had been fired from

both Harvard and Yale, and I felt that gave him his credentials. As




a8 & ﬂ"ﬁﬁ somebody purleined it during the night, and he had a
1 of 4 time getting it back. He finally got it back, But I
thought any guy who goes to these lengths--Lucius iz a good writer,
he's a hell of a good writer, and I like Lucius, I admire him, I
would 1ike te have pacternsd my skills after him. In great pare, I
couldn’t. He took second place to mo man. He was smooth or elegant
en the outside, he eould be tough, but on the Inside he frequently
turned to jelly.

Ne.
And
hell

- After he got tired of NHew York he came out te Nevada, He
bought this little paper, the Territerial Enterprise, up in Virginia
City. And he wrote editorials. I teld you, the editorial page, 1
think--and I repeat myself--is the greatest and most important
section or department or item fin any living newspaper. And
unfortunately, in 935 out of 100 newspapers it is turmed over to
peaple wvho are either tired or have run thelr course as city
editors, and there is wery little truly creative journalism In Terms
of editorial wricing in the country. But Lueius with his
Territorial Enterprisa--I used to get that paper faithfully every
week to read his editerials, because he pave peseple hell. And he
took nothing from anybedy.

Ruth and I were having our twenty-fifth wedding anniversary and
decided to celebrate Ic in Bepoa, So we flew up to Reno, apnd on the
way up--Dolly called and I asked her to get hold of some Mexican
mariachi musicians, two or three or four of them with guitars. 1
said, "Send them on up. We need some music on our anniversary." We
brought a marfachi band up there with us. We were enjoying ic. I
sald, "Let's go up to Virginia City and see Lucius." This was
shout, well, let's gee, the twenty-fifth? We were married inm '33,
g0 thlis wag in 195E.

So we weant up and Lusius end Chuck were there, Chuck Clegg was
a very dear friend of his. Lucius was there in all his finery. He
and Chuck came down to meet us in a Virginia City saloon. He had
gold nuggers, yeu know, from here te here, hanging around him from



‘bafore I passad #ﬂt*+ﬂildlﬁjilnﬁi 20
Tell me, young man, where can I get |
the only man in the world I've met who w needs a

to send his boots to Tiffany's."" U.:mllhl‘ - ﬂt"t%
-always stuck with me. I thought, well now, thers mﬂ :
to salc-pf-the-earth America--sort of in :mﬂi

S0 wé went up to see Lucius and Chuck. ‘H'ihii‘m X
playing, and I said, "Lucius, you'wve gOt CO COME TO W -
paper somedsy. I‘ve been watching your things. If you ever re
naed 4 job or want to run away from Nevada, the way you did Hew
York, come on down."

So I went back. I used to write him a letter every now and
then, or see him or something. I picked up this paper one day--the
weekly Territorial Enterprise came in and he‘d done an editorial
about o couple of Baptists or Hethodistz or some kind of Protescant
missionaries, in Yeman or Oman, one of those Arablan countriez, And
they had fallenm out of favor. I think they'd been pushing thefr
Protescant doctrines somewhat too wigorously down there on the
deserc. So the sultan or whatever the hell he wvas of Oman or Yemen
or something took them down to thes sarketplace and beheadsd chems.

There was a great hullabaloo ower this for a litcle bit and
Lucius wrote this marvelous, absolutely hell-fire edicorial saying,
"This 13 the beat thing that ever happened. It will teach those '
begging prieste to keep thelr nozes cut of somebody elzn's
churchyard . ®

S0 I palled him and I gald, "Lueius, you'we got o coma EO
work. Come on, you'wve got tol”  So then he came to work for us and
vrote & column then, évery week. I'm sure Lucius--locok, you can
believe in anything, some people who took him seriously, but Lucius
was just 8 great yarn-splnner. And he wrote these sort of
outrageous edirorials. They really had a pretty gpood following,
sppeared on the aditorial page on Monday, as I recall, in cthe
Latters space.

I really liked Luciuws. I could go on at great length about
him. But anywey, he wvas playing a role, and he playved it very well.



fiess:

Newhall;

Riess:

Newhall:

Then 1 got McCabe to start doing his column for us, and then Lucius
came down to work very shortly thereafter, They didn't get on too
well, Lucius and Charles MoGabe. I think Luclus thought Charles was
using his style too much, I remember we had a big annual dinner of
zome kind celebracing something spurious at Trader Vie's. All the
Chronicle columnists were thare. We were always trying to keep the
columnists happy with a lot of wine and caviar and would sluice them
on a regular basfs, You know, a little styla. MecCabe asnd Lucius
were giccing at the bar there at Trader Vic's. I or somecne said,
"Well, Lucius, there goes Charlie McCabe. How are you getting on?"
He said, "Oh, splendidly, splendidly. That is, if you can get along
with anyone who has syphilis of the brain.® They didn't get on too
well, actually.

Was Lucius’ one column a week supporting him?

Well, I didn't pay Lucius all that much, Iucius was a man of some
Earious mesans.

Bur McCabe?
Well, ves. MHeCabe wrote five or six columns a week. [Lucius wrote

only ona. And at that time I think we probably pald Lucius about
5350 a week, But he didn't support himself writing for the

*Zae p. 199.



Riess:

Newhall:

Hewhall:

They wers daily?

Oh, yes. Well look at Harb. He ﬂiﬁh«%
[tape interrupcion]

When we had all these writers and ﬂhp!f
parcies, Peeple would come through town 2
te entertain, Russian journalises, a lot uf .
would get in, sometimes sort of semi- l:llﬂ]:ﬂﬂ.ﬂ .
these quite nice parcties. 1 would get all of the old. :
at Trader Vic's or down at the Villa Taverna or ]”,%
were some pretty good toots. And tv:trhndy 1 think e q;nd.i:h
They felt as if they sort of belonged somewhere and umtl
contributing, because they were the people who were
Chrenjele. And cur circulation was climbing nll the tlli

'_Eht}
This distinction between columnists and reporters, was m:g’m:n
Included in the party? Or were the columnists the elice.

Oh, we always included a lot of columnista, editors, snd some

reporcers. There was actually guite a variety at the Chronicle
soireas.

George Draper Reports From Africa

Some of our reporters could wrice like angels. Or do angels ever
get arocund to wrlting. George Draper and Art Hoppe--Hoppe was
doing a columm but he also covered stuff in the news. I sent
Draper--1 tried to cover the world in a strange way. UPI camas
through with & story one day thac the country of Zambia in the
emerging continent of Africa had entered the space race. Zambia, (t
was reported, had in place & program where they had thelr own
astronaut, and they were training him in a large cauldron. Thay
would sheoot him up Into the air with a glant slingshot. And I said,
"Okay. you guys asked for this." 1 sent Hoppa down to cover



1t WAE til::iuus-

mmnnnﬁmtm: I think Hoppe
i .'._:mumu.m:mmnuumtmmg
. our __ﬂﬁamﬁﬂththnphwt respect. But these Zambians
Mﬁp&n they puc it on!

~Ih¢tut Eﬂutgn-ﬂrﬂpn11 who was & very dear friend of mine and
was & marvelous, rollicking kind of 1928 writer--he comes from =
very highly-placed New York family, marrled Nancy Draper who was
Wancy Guggenheim, I guess she was the heliress to one of the largest
fortunes in America. but they got diverced--I sent him over to
Zaire. This was early on, 1 said, "Look, what’'s going on in
Africa? Thers are all these strange things. Tell me whar it's like
there. Forger all this crap that's coming in ever the wires." He
managed to get up into the rain forest and interviewed somebody that
he described as the pygmy king--of prince mavbe-- who was
complaining sbout the lions or elephants or something. They weren't
eating well enouph and the flesh wasn't good, IE was & strange sortc
of & thing, And the prince was not enthusiastic about his country's
new lhdependont government.

Really, things were all kind of muddled up there. In fact, in
the fifcies in Africa, oh Africa was having terrible problems, And
I was tired of hearing all these things about how 4 new world was
developing and democracy was rampant, you know. In some equatorial
African countries they would be tying guys up to scakes and shooting
them. [ don't know if vou followed what was going on there,

It was wildl ©Oh god, it was awful, That's ons of the greatest
periods of history. Dictatorships, local kings, emperors, violence,
I never saw anything 1ike it. Like Noriega, Papa Doc. Al]l that
same bilt. Thore was terrible, terrible repression in many African
countries--and in many cases there atill is.

Riess: And what was Draper supposed to be doling?
Newhall; I =aid, "Look, find out what's golng on." He wrote about the

poverty and who was In conctrol and how the armies were in contrel,
and 50 on and so forth., A lot of this had been skipped.




Rieas;

Rewhall:

Mewhall:

Riesg:

Hewhall:

Later on I sent Draper over to the n
We gave him seme money and told him to buy &
we've got all this stuff Ehuut‘hﬁl:ﬂﬂilﬂﬂ*qﬁi
cured all the world's ills. Will you please !ﬂ*
slave. Co over there to Zanzibar or . Dar-es-
Salaam, anywhere, and get yourself a slave,  See -ﬁﬂhrigﬁﬁ’ -3
pretey good-looking one, female. And.ilfli bring hl: ﬂpqun' '
United Nations in Manhattan there, and we'll manumit her. We‘ll get
her some gold-plated chains. You get har up there on the frome
ateps in Manhattan in the United Rationa Plaza or Buildinmg. We'll
strike the chains off her to demenstrace how we're eradicaring
slavery from the face of the earth.

Anyway, it was kind of weird. He couldn’t get &' alave. He
apparently drank all the travel money up, or slave money up, or
something, and never came hack with one. He did quite an
interesting serles of stories on the problems of Somaliland.

HManumit?
That's the way you frees a slave., You take a slave and you manumit

him. You give them their papers of freedom. Manumissien; you give
them their freadom.

! & Jau 1 !

I told that story purposely to show you how, in & sense,
irresponsible I have been. A4ll of this was pretty raw, soma of it,
but was sort of an almost blcter rejection of the cliches that were
flving around the councry. The United Nations-everything waa
written in such a never-never way.

What did you expect from your story?

Well, who knows. Headership of course, and we did get readership.



¢ went along with it all right. Ho. HNo, the
locally, iﬁnmlla‘. was the question of

1 ﬂu drive to the :i.;htf to the conservative,
ﬁfﬁswﬂ'ﬂn And Lt took some doing to get them past that,
iiﬁiﬂi!fﬁt'ﬁid.tn keep control of the town. and we could nat
; the power if we eontinued to support every jackleg
Ilpuhiiuln ecandidace who ran for office, After all San Francisco is
a2 Democratic city. But that's & whole different aspesc of this that
I hgwn ‘bean discussing, totslly different.

Riess: And your columniscs--did they vake on the politics of the town?
;ﬂﬁihﬁll:- We were all independent mavericks.

i Rless: Hoppe's policleal thing is natiomal, mot local. I can't think of
one of our opinion page columnists who was local.

‘HWewhall: ©Oh, that's correct, I mever could find in all these years whac I
considered to be B top hot-shot local San Francisco columnist,
politiecal ecolumnisc, T just eouldn’t

Riegs: Zo Herb Ceen is the closeat.

Bewhall: Yes. And he is more than politieal., Some papers have been vary
successful with political columnists, The job of good political
reporting can be very dangerous, in a senses, bacause a good
political columnist always has to walk the tightrope between joining
the establishment or reporting on lt. In Washington right now so
many of these big shot journalists consider chemselves part of the
establishment, part of the povernment. Like the attorneys, after
all, in a legal case, in a trial, are pfficers of the court,

And that's something--1 don't have all that much respect for a
lat of these high-pressure, high-powered Washington correspondents,
I really don't. I don't mean on g personal basis, but I thick they
get very colored. They tend ta become part of the whole legend, Che
political legend in Washington, the Beleway syndrome.

Riess: Wers you saving some of these people for the Sunday pages?




Newhall:

Rless:

Hewhall:

Rless:

Mewhall:

i e

Despite tha titlh.;lﬁi!yﬁhiﬁg_ 1elue

trucks and the eopy in eur Chromicle
not run the advertising departmenc, I didn'

to bother. But everything was kind of joint.
I would work ocut together the mmﬁi 1 - and all
least for the flrst few years, [ didn't h#'ﬁ much time for i
that.

Critics like {Allan] Temko, |Thomas] Albright, [Alfred]
Frankenstein--wera they people you brought in and developed?

Well, most of them had been there before. But they 111 kind -n! m
back on if they'd pone away, and thay sort of hlndiﬂuli in thhgm A
years. Whether or mot I really was responsible, I can't say. But I
knew them all personally really quite well, and 1 1liked them all.
There was a very nice relationship. They were given such a free
hand. I think they would probably &1l agrees that they were
basically free to do whatever they could or wanted to do. They were
never edited, really, except told to do becter or somecthing. 1
don't know.

Temko was a marvelous wricer. He's a very dear friend of mins,
and also a dear old friend is the one-eyed pirate, you know,
Hinckla. T zaw Hinckle just the aother nighr. I try to keap up with
them all, Templeton Peck, he was the head of the editorial page,
and he did as good 4 job as anyone could do under the clreumstances.

Templeton Peck?

Yes. He was the head of the editeorial page.

How come ['ve never heard his name beforef

Well, you know, In the editorial page departmemt, ¥ou're sorc of &
little bit aside from the reat of them in 8 gense. And you ses,
Temp never got a by-line in his 1ife. He just wrote edivorials.

You see, the gpuys in the floor show were the reportara, you kmow,
who went to Zanzibar or Zambia or wherewer.



| ﬁ%m&nmwfﬁ yourself using the same phrase and the
same words, trying more or less to describe the same situation. The
; hﬁn*h M that much.
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3 }:u: get into any more aboutr the paper, you may recall that che

suuiiun wa had I made some what I'm sure sounded like and were
yﬁﬁhlhiy quitn arrogant remarks about academic journalism and Ben

- And I quoted from an articla: I quoted a zentence In
ﬁhiph ha said something about how bad the Chronicle was and that it
was too bad ic’s been so successful. And then there was the
santence, "Unfortunately, however, Newhsll was a geniuva."* 1 knew
it sounded arrogant, and I mesnc it to be, somewhat, hut it pecurred
tn n¢~~un& 1 josc want ts be acnurlta--ﬂlgﬁlhihn Eay not have
Hrittnn that, [t might have been writteén by somebody else atc about
F the same time. Thers were twd or three articles that came cut--gll
. written by people who are familiar in the Berkeley hills, sbout how
cerrible the Chronicle was, These articles were all poC
| particularly laudatory, I think this plece 1 mentloned was by
Bagdikian.

I But the point 1 was making--and 1'm sure [t wasn't clear--was
first of all I was trying to prove that Bagdikian is not & good
reportar because I'm not a genius. And secondly, I was a liccle bhitc
gore because he said "unfortunately” I was a genius. And that's all
I wanced ta say. I1'm really in pretty good spirits about it all,
but I didn't want to appear to be taking it all wery seriously.

Riegs: 411 right. Maybe you didn't deny the genius last time [laughg].

#*gpatt Newhall.. He had no faith in the readers’ intelligence and
did not take |ournalism sericusly. Unfortunacely, he had talent.
He was the evil genius of fun and games.® Ben Bagdikian, "The

Chronicle Chromicles," San Francisco Masgarine, May 1982, p. 66.




Hewhall:

Riess:

Newhall:

wﬁ - ‘.E v
- Kot really, I l: pac
You'll have a “nen and

all in m
changes ih:tlruu*ﬁnnt then and there.

ithiﬂiﬂ“wuld'htnﬂmm
major chunk of Chronicle hiﬁtnqj

Who initiaced ic?

In the early middle of 1960s the Chronicle had just |
some money. We had started out ten years before lo: ‘b
million a year. (I'm using money as a nnuuntt.mhﬁ.i* JECal
tied in with the promotional success, the eirculation, &q_m
of the paper.) The paper was being recelved more mﬁm wi
readers and paid for. In the early sixties we about E;ﬁht"_ 1.
had a couple of massive promotiona and we plalﬁﬂ the =) y
eirculation. We were both running sround 215, ﬂﬂﬂ Eﬂﬂﬂﬂﬂq daif i -
this tims, The Exgminer, which had been making two
dollars & year, began te lege, and the Chronisle bl a
dollars, but nothing rhat mattered too much. So at Ehl: time t&tﬁ
question of merging the two newspapers--I mean, people say "merger®
but joining them together--in a joint production company had
occurred to 4 lot of people. It had been done in I think Tucson,
Arizona, Salt Lake City, and the Hawalian Islande. (I believe the
Hawailan Islands are now a state.) Anyway--

Yes, it iz, [laughtar]
Dcay. they arel

Things happen usually because of very personal relationships,
and it so happens that voung Randy Hearst, Randolph Apperszon Hearst,
one of the five sons of the old gentleman, iz a great friend of
Charlie Thieriot, our publisher., They wers both members of the
Burlingame Club and the P.U, [Pacific Union] and that serct of thing,
There's one thing only that all these loval Hillsborough people do
as telliglously as, =zay, the Pope celebrating Easter Mass In St.
Peter's Squaro. They all go duck hunting, starting with the firsc
day of duck season, which is mormally in Hovember, lata October, in
thers sometims.

As I recall, Charlle and I had been discussing a jolnt San
Francisco newspsper operation quite a bic, and T believe Randy and



the papers were still gy
_m?’nwwhm 50 they decided te look

hrot into it, We were aot mesting together with
= r yar. Charlle and 1 first had to decide what we wanted
_ﬂn&ﬁ?ﬁﬂﬁmdﬂidhihﬁtthnymtnﬁ

h Mt.'hrmmi‘:a Lt back to you.

- Oh yes, the next day, surel Oh, we were in constant touch about
everything. I keep underlining that. Everything that happened on
the paper, I think everything Charlie did, as I say including
denrti:ing rates or anything else, snything I did including
sometimes a delayed report on sending somebody te Africa or someons
to Bussla, we discussed it all. It was an absolutely joine effort.

So your lawyers were the nextc involved.

Yes, becausas this is a wvery, very tricky business from the point of
view of law. The point of view of the non-competitive agreements,
that body of law in Washington called the Falr Trade Practices Act,
whatever it is. This is ail very sensitive in the Anci-Trust world,
Anyway, there's a problem with competition.®# We had to be sure
that we were clean in terms of Washington, becsuse Charlie was
magnificent, in my opinion, in his concetrn for amd cere for the
corporate aspects of the newspaper. And remember the Chronicle
Publishing Company alse owned a TV franchise, Channel &-KRON TV, and
a telavision license is a privilege grantad by all chose nice people
in Washington. D.C.

We didn't want to do anything that was going to cause criticism
from the government. So we studied the Salc Lake City deal. (The
papers all pass around thase different joint agreements that they've
made, the different papers have.) And we studied the Tucson
agreemencs, And | think there was one at that time in Homolulu.

As we went into it I felt very strongly, and =0 did Charles,

#Senate Antl-Trust and Monopoly Subcommiccee




Rlass:

Mewhall:

So then we met, presumably in nﬁﬁt!ty in thes Clift
it was on the third floor somewhere. It was Ch :
Sheldon Cooper, who represented ﬂungu:- ihittﬁﬁlﬂhﬂbtr i
that handled the Chronicle business. (Sheldon Caoper’
the record, was a deYoung g:&n&&lughtut She wil-!it__
Tobin's oldest daughter.) Sheldom, Charlie and I, and them

]

semetimes the Chronicle’s business manager, Lyle Johnsen, Qu* 'E
in while a specialist from the advercizing department nzaftﬂlt =
eireularion deparctment. But Charlie and I and Shel.

0n the other side were Randy Hearst and Charles Could,
sometimas young George Hearst who was working as puhliih-:'hﬁ Eht
Los Angeles Exsminer them, snother failing Hearst newspaper, this
time in the Loz Angeles area. Then one or another of tha_ﬂidftlli
Hearst corporate beautiful people, Dick Berlin or G.D. Markinson.

What does thet mean, to he a Hearst “beautliul personi"

Beriin I chink was chairman of the board of the Hearst Corporatiom:
Harkinsom waz either executive vice president or--oh, these are
corporate jobs. But they came out to sit in on thiz: It wie not juse
the local Hearst guys, ses, BRandy was at that cime publisher. Oh,
I think he had gone on to another title. Anyway. he had been
publisher of the Call-Bullatin and he became president of the Hearstc
Foundation, I believe, and he also had some kind of a citle that
sort of put him in charge of papers out hare on the Wesr Coast., Burc
anyway, Randy and Charlie Gould, who was a very nice man, publlaher
of the Examiner and esort of completely at sea, He had come out from
the Easc Coast,

Charlie Gould was a wvery friendly kind of person. His paper
wag In desperate crouble and I don't think he knew what to do about
it--becauze he had some certain beliefs and ideas and {deals. Well,
he sent out Christmasz cards thar alwaye had a kind of a poem, eicher
from the Apocryphas or from the Old Tescament or something, I don't
know. He belleved in things. So you could always sort of play him
-=I'm wandering a little--play him for & sucker 1f vou had to.



Riess:

¥ewhsll:

Risas:

Howhall:

. Now ﬁﬁt.ﬂg‘g crucial to the whole thing because advertising

rates and circulscion practices are where you ger into trouble with

ﬁhiit fellows in Washington in the antl-trust business. How do wou
establish }niu:cadﬁhrtlutng rates? In other words, can you have a
joint cuc rate for advertisers who go in beth pl@arlT Well, I
Euess you can do that in a sense, because you sctart with a race for
each nzuﬂpapar Then you see the old gimmick was. if you're just
;uln; to publish fn the Chronicls or you're just going to publish In

the Examiper, look, why don't you put your ads In both papers and
you can have the package deal for 10 or 20 percent less than the two
separate rates added up together. And this is where there's
trouble. There was a leor of decail work sll the time because of
thiz kind of thing.

How are you going te cireulate? Whose presses were we golng
to use? What building were we golng te use? It went on. Really,
it was. interminable. Charlie and I dreve around San Francisco
looking for sites for buildings or some place to pur the Jeint
gperation. In the end we ended up right back at Fifth and Mission.
The Exsminer moved into headquarters right across the alley from us,
and we both used the old Chronicle press room and 50 'om. But Ehat
took us months. Charlie is a detail man. I've never seen anything
1ike ic,

Was Gould a parallel kind of detail man?

Well, no. Chariie Gould was a pleassant troubador--more of & poet.
Charliea Thierifot more or less did all the thinking for everybaedy,
You know, there was this love-hate relationship. Personally we were
all friends. There wers ne two enemies. This wag mot Israsl and
the Palestinians. Unh-unh. A2 1 say. when you shoot ducks together
vou're precty frisendly, on the whala.

Sa there were not & bunch of old antipathies?

Wo. I was rude. Ume session I got mad and I was rude to Charlie
Gould which 1 slways regretted, He had no real defense, you know,



Hutthnu:rnpnhlimnnﬂthuul:t--ﬁﬂa

Well, you know what I'm getting at. 5o nmr‘l,ﬂm"'t neces: --
reagon for the merger. L
Yes, it was., I will try to explain it, though, in line with ﬂ:ﬁ.b';-g
said earlier. There are publishers and thers are publishers, The
Hearst Corporation is one of the large corporations in the United
States, and it iz built on the basis of vast ranching umwﬁ;
it's built on the Homestake Cold Mine, digging the gold out of the
ground. The Hearst people also have & very large group of i:;iniﬂit
that are very successful. 5o the Hearst people make lots of money.
But they didn't make it either in Los Angelea or San Franmciseco with
the newspapers. It really didn't matter that they were losing
money; if they had been only businessmen they would have gotten rid
of these two West Coast papers years ago.

Now the Chromicle was at that time still about the oaly n-ﬂ.jn-r .
thing that the deYoung family owned, except for TV, which had helped
keep us alive when we were in such bad shape.# 5o it meant a lot to
Charlle cthat the Chropnjcle should be a productive newspaper, not
only in the world of the intellect but alse in the world of finance.
So to answer your gquestion agaln, about the same way, if the
newspapors were not newspapers, if they wore net a unique business,
and if they did not mean what newspapers mean in terms of the

*In the seven years betwesn 1958 and 1965 the Chronicle had lost
more than 53 million, while profits from KRON and other properties
had tocalled §15 million. After the Joint Operating Agreament, In
1968 the parent company earned 54.7 million on 545 million revenues,

and the Chronicle was making money. San Francisco Magazine, Dee.
1987, p. 96,



éﬁiﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁtiﬂiﬁtullij.ﬂihiﬁgza.ﬁfﬂf{t?

[ money for a while, I think. But I lefc wery shortly

3 {mmﬂymwlwtn the figures. The Chronicle,

d *ﬁﬁﬁhfiﬁﬁﬂ ‘the merger, was probsbly making a million a

: a litele more. And I would assume--and this is an
ly'twu or three years after the mergar, for a

tan.yuqrﬁ, they probably made six, seven, ten

mlaurml or more. I really don’'t know. They might

=illion doll;
 have made a g
Today--now this is 1988, and we were talking about 1968--the
printing company has grown, as things do in corporations. And the
printing company, I have been told, now has more chiefs than there
are Indians. They are being pald large salaries. These are the
printing company people now. You know, they have & general manager
and an assisztant, and circulation diviiiun: and advertising
| divisions. They drive cars, probsbly provided for them. They
probably have parking privileges in the garage. I'm sure they have

EXPETEE ZCoOUncs.

All during my rtenure at the Chronicle we were leading
relativaly spartan lives. I will aay that when I did resign from
the Chroniele--on the most amicable basls pogsible--the only
soverance [ got at that time was & bill for parking my car in their
garage that I hadn't paid up for the last gix months. 1 don't
particularly 1lke what now have bocome golden parachutes for the
corporation executives and all that business. ['we seen teo much of
that corporate lacgesse since.

Riess: In fact, one of the results of the |oinc operating agreementc was:
that B00 pecple were let go according to someching I read.

Hewhall: 1 can't answer that: 1 really don't know.
Rieas; It seemed like & tremendous number of people.

Hewhall: Nobody was let go from anywhere om the Chronicle pdictorial. The
cucbhacks would have been in the advertising or produccien
departments--which were the responsibility of the printing company.
Certainly nobody on our staff was let go., You know, people thought




Rless:

Newhall:

Hiepsg:

Hewhall:

hh'ﬂ
next door, pijﬂhlnlllr. zpirltn:llr. I:
Examiner moved in on the second floor of t
afrer the merger. The gh:gn;;;g_;t:!! was on ﬁhl ﬁh or. I'm
calking about sditorial now; this was all t&iﬁh:ktl,l Th hﬁ#ﬁdf =
Examinar built a building next door lnﬂ'itfubuld,;qf:h;ﬁﬁgﬁiﬁhva ir
building, I know I 4id put up & memo thar any Chronicle employee

found on the second floor would be subject For automacic 5
I didn't vant any part of the Exasiner.

Vhy?

Well, because we had our own paper to put out.

But why--

Everybody was saying, "Oh, this is going to ba the end of
Journaliasmi" T wag determined it would make no difference, 1 lkmew
also it was golng to be competitive journalism. Look, we took care
of Hearst, put him out of business, and they're still out of
business, It's craglc whar's heppened to cham apirituslly from
their point of view.

This is very important, I think. Forget the economics of it,
&1l these people running around the area saying, "Oh, this i=
terrible, San Francisco now has just one sort of paper and £wo hats
on it," and so on, and, "They're going to milk the town, they'rs
going to make money.," As far as I waz concarned, I think I have
stated very clearly I wag In business tea put Hearse out of business.

*"The Chronicle Clan," Part II, San Francisco Magazine, Dec. 1987,
n, 35,



both papers participating in a Sunday news

ut out all the news, all the editorial pare, E:i:;:
orial section that the Chronicle had with a feature

the antertairment section, pink, and This World, and I

m't know, maybe a little bit else, I forget what. But anyway,

ist to keep the franchise, the Chronicls is seill part of the

Sunday package. The lmportant thing was the Chropjcle would be in

the md:nin;, the Examiper in the afterncon. And I was convinced

Ehi: this was the end of the Examiner.

Foor Randy, whom [ really llke--1 do, he's a pentlemsn--sat
there across the table conseling himself, saying, "Well, I think we
could probably work this cut. WNow, if we go to the afternoon, let's
see, we ought to have about 275,000, 325,000, maybe 275,000
eirculacion, and the Chropicle will preobably hawve aboutc 325, 000,
330,000." Well, I've always felt bad becauss I didn't say to Randy,
"Look, you're crazy!® But I wasn't going to, because he was just
committing suicide that way.

So It started out when the Chroolele went to the morning and
the Exgmiper went to the aftermoon. The Chropnicle, I think--this {is
easy to cheek through the ABC fligures--1 think the
probably right away went op to 325,000 er 350,000, In thera. And
the Examinsr probably started out around 263,000, 230,000, 275,000
or something, But from chere on the Chropicla went up and the
Examipier went down. And ic's scill going on teday. 3So today the
Chropnicle is sbout 00,000 daily in the morming and the Examiper is
about 140,000 daily in che afternoon. Now look at that tremendous
switch. The Examiner therefore i{g kind of a skeleton at the feast
and the Chropicle is doing beaurifully.

How a lot of the smart people around town are saying, "Cee, why
doesn’t the Chronicle want to break this deal?" 1 have not
mentioned that the basic econowic factor of the whole thing is--well
te begin with each paper pays its own editorisl bills. But the
advertising and eireularion costs of both papers are split 50-50,
Then after all expenses are paid--advertising and elreulacion
expenses--the lefrover profit i{s split half and half., You see in
the joint agreement system there is only a single advertising-
produccion-eireulacion staff for both papers--so these cozts are




Bless:

Hewhall:
Riese:

Newhall:

Riess:

Hewhall:

operator comes inte town and buys out the 'Hngﬁ

- ﬁu‘:m::;ﬂwuiﬂvﬂriﬂ

because the fact of the matter is, the C
dominant newspaper in the area. And .
from now on, 1tpmﬁﬂ1ymmw

morning field when the agreement nnd:

Fhat would hl:‘i‘.l.‘l! i mm@il’.’ m‘l H er | e a2
would you be tempted to buy the Examiner and ih-'&m'wi .
nun for its money?

Bo. 1I'd buy the Progress.
The San Francisco Progress. I've never even looked ac Lt

It's the throwaway, just in San Francisece. But anyway, 1 don't even
know {f 1t {3 even still being put out. I wouldn't bhother with the
Examiper because there’s too much severance invelved. I mean, the
Exgmiper is putting up a wery brave show, but they're in a lot of
trouble. But there's no sense my sitting around here sounding smart
or something about the present situation because I am not very well
informed on the matrer. I do know that the chrust at the momenht,
the momontum is still with the Chronicle.

Eolls

After the merger why did cirecularcion climb?

Well, it elisbed because 1 think I sald saclier, cthe Examiner was
dying. The Exgmiper was dying. 8o it just continued to die. But
it went to the afternoon. San Francisce ls a morming towm.
Dtmngrnphically~~1 havan"t got into this, which I will--ths

was shooting for a certain readership, whether the
customers lived in the hills in Marin, Berkeley, or San Mateo. The
Examiner hed nothing much to offér. Readers, American people, husan
beings, asre very sheep-like, And so eclirculation success for a given



P m~m¢mm~n. did you
to !-Huii:btﬂlﬂ-}ﬂur target audience

iﬁmih: ¥ would never hire any bunch of experts to do
. !ﬁ-mlmmmmuhnpulL Wow, the Chronicle
;1g;ﬂ*tn do a lot of polling, and I notice they still do.

They do polling on your sex Life.
Rl O S she Bl ] pmaic. o know:

Ch yes.

Okay. We used to poll stuff. But don't ever poll enybody, and I

say thiz advisedly, unless you know how the pell iz going to turn

out or unless you want to sctually--1 would never manipulate an

i honest survey--but I repeat newver run a poll (if the outcome is
important to you) unlazsz you know how lt's geing to turn out,

| because normally people don’t know what they think. And I make that

statement very advisadly.

Ie doesn't matter what the people who are answering your poll
guestions or your survey guastions think. Because first of all
their answers to begin with are probably fifty percent jusc vague or
random. MHost people answer what they think yeoi want te hear or what
they think will make them sound good to the person who is asking the
guestion. 1 think some of the political polls, presidential polls,
they may have zome of that worked ocut. But be gareful of polls on
how you ghould run your newspaper.

I maintain the public dossn't know anything, basically, or very
little. A= the P.T, Barnums of the world have Sugpested, the
Amarican public doesn’'t know what's good for tham. Or, &5 some
genius once said--I think it was =y old hero Henry Hencken--"Hobody
aver went broke undersscimating the intelligence of the American
people.” I've zden coo many people fall intoe the clutches of
dictators because they chought that tyranny was what they wanted.

My whole Life now, balieve me. my whole professional 1ife has
been dedicated to protecting the public insofar as I can from
[ dominaction by a dictactorial group or whatever of whom I did pot




Rewhall:

fless:

Hewhail:

foreign service and get more foreign corraspondants out and cake

Good. Wall, that's a statement about ﬁ!-:mﬁ ' 28, NO
quastion about ir. t.__ .

Vell, the non-exercise of mm?ﬁup " I'*"-

¥ w

One sentence to try to wrap this wpt 1 fael thﬂr:ﬁt
newspaper, the preegs, is rtha only ﬂmlutahﬂﬂ #ﬂiiﬁ? =

‘a free soclery to keep them free. Now you can f “ﬂﬂ A .

It's our business not to go along with the nﬁu’buﬂuiﬁr

always be the critic or to examine che escablishment Eﬁﬁhl ih:g’!p
iz not leading us down zome pach.

Divergent Views K Newhall Hesigns#f

Were there changes in the energy that went Inte the Chronicle after
vwou had made the margec?

Well, we went inte this joint agreement in about 1968, I believe. I
kmow I lefrc In '71, three years later, I had felt basically chers
were two problems. (Wow I"m getting to sort of why I left. I guass
wa're way ahead of it.) Afrar the merger the Chronicle from my
point of view was secure financially, it was secure in circulacion,
The Chronjcle was a lot better paper than a lot of paople think,
probably including yourself, I don't know, [t doesn’'t matrter. But
the Chroniele had one great weakness, the foreipgn news coverage.

And I will go alomg with any editoriasl critica of the Chropicle on
this score.

I wanred to starc a foreign service, because I felt the
Chronicle was on the threshold of being a truly great rocognized |
newvspaper. We had enjoyed a lot of fun and games to get the paper in
thiz position, but there we wers, And I felr after the merger that
we would have enough financlal energy that we could sstablizh a

onn some of the eztablishment papers around the counery. Hsll, we



nk personally it's b
! -h\mml‘.rzﬁhq-‘
't measure Eﬁnu very reallstically.

Charles Thi h’hﬂ pulled off this wonderful merger. Why didn't
?ﬂ%iﬂﬂi him to run with it? &
—t - ‘ e
e I—Mﬂﬂﬂ' satd, ﬂ}l.I ‘goe, now lect's see some of the results of
all thig. 1 can only surmise this, I never was a member of the
board, I never met with the family on a corporate level. 1 was
strictly & working staff member.

You never shot duck with the boys?

We, I never went for duck shooting that much, except when I was a
child. It's a child's game. It is. I loved it then.

I f:;isni Okay, you couldn't see how Charlie was with his family.

‘Mewhall: ¥o, and it wasn't up to me to tell them what to do with thelr money.
' I couldn't do it anyvway, and besides I was getting, I guass, bored.

Rliegg: In an interview in 1968 yeou said that you and Charlie and Gordon
Pates could go on and on and on forever, that it was such a super
working relationship. And vet you had earller bought the Sigpal and
precty soan you wére poing to be leaving.

Kewhall: Well, I think I hed fulfilled whatever missien or destiny 1 had In
San Francisco, 1 think I felt that way. 1 was cerrified that I
would find myself in a position where I could not afford to leave
the Chronicla. &nd I think that’s one of the reasons I left.
Because if 1 went on, if there was something more to do or if 1 made
more money at the paper, or something, I'd have probably felt that I
couldn't leave. And I fele alse after observing the Chronicle that
entreprensurial jeurnalism was the only answer for an
entrepreneurial journalist, whatever that means. Anyway, [ bought
this little paper becsuse I knew the area down around Newhall and
Saugus was going to develop. I thought, "Well, there's something 1
can leave to my children.® 1 had nething in the Chropjgle I could
leave to my family,K you see, in terms of an estate or a heritage.

Biess: That's a nice thought. Time Magarzipe, February 15, 1971--cthis is
ahout you and your departure--says, "When the Chronicle and the




Newhall:

Riess:

FNewhall:

Riess:

Newhall:

Rless:

Hewhall:

Hiess:

Mawhall:

, -_ - ._ - i s bt A e s S =R -'.-".
Gonflict is probably a wrong choice of words on
A divergence of long-term views, M}ht-

[resumes quote] *[Thleriot was] slowly lﬂﬂtl}; o ﬁt
and more Newhall was in a buffer position betwsen his young L
staff and the conservative publisher...The weary Iaﬂftu:n’yu aft
because he was just plaln fed up with ideological dispuces ifElp
publisher.”

I think they've oversimplified it., Certainly there was some of this
ipvolved, of course. For twenty vears, after all, Charlie and 1 har I:
sat down and worked together. He came, as they say these days, ﬂm:-,_
a slightly different place than I did, In a sense.

And as people ger a little older they tend to go back to cheir
"placa, "

Well, you must remember, on Charlie’s behalf, he had always been the
buffer between me and his family. I had been the buffer, co a '
certain extent, between the staff and Charlie, because Charlie--in
the way the Mﬂ:;lnan language Is now used--Charlle in a sense was
not a "people persom," if you know what I mean. I dom't like those
phrases, but snyway--. '

And that seems to have been the role of Uncle George, too, the
buffar between Paul Smith and the family.

Yes, this goes oo and on, See, Smith was a very different cup of
tea from me,

Yes, and 1 didn't mean to ger hack to him.
You remember Paul saw the Chropicle as his own newspaper. My

loyalty was to the Chronicle totally as an employee. Because in my
own grea with my own family we had our own little sort of



3 .-"'-"E‘ bﬁmﬂu ﬁm:ﬁiaq questions to

4&;&&11 ‘had deputized me to make decisions on almost
eTy ‘And 1f it was a question that I would heve to explain
. &ﬂm T would. But as I keep saying, I can't underline this
Iy -tnnqﬁh* ‘he was vtrg-lngll to me. Why he should let some guy who

: some- people considered a communist or snarchist ruin his paper is
beyond me--but now I'm being a Little supercilious. He was very
loval. Ifn-vnr; fond of him and I respect him for what he puc into
that paper, and he got very little public recognition.

Riess:  Maybe that {5 a little bir of rthe tona ef these gquestions, but it's
not my assumption.

Wevhall: Oh, mo. Mo, I'm just trying to go on the record with it because

. all the storiss, even today, about the Chronicle, are abour the

“ Thieriots and the de¥ounga and how they're penny-pinching, and this
and that, and the staff which [= rhe guts of the paper, you know, is

getting & bad shot at it, It's not quite righe, it's not quite
fair.

Entreprenecurial Publishers

Riess: A'publiszher iz cast into this role. The editor 1z the hright.
smart, upcoming thing, and the publizsher is the stodginess thing
againat which you work: It's just matters of degree.

Hewhall: Generally spesking, the typical newspaperman, OO woman, is
essentlally a gossip, a very sentimencal person, and they'ra going
te look usually for very simple explanations or answers to problems.
Thersafore they do tend co think in terms llke "the working press
varzus the owners or the intellecruals wersus the bankers.” You
can't escape 1t.

Biags: You considered somewhere along there buying the Sagrazento Unfen.
Did you and Charlie congzidar that togethar?




Riess:

Hewhall:

Rieza:

Hewhall

Risgs:

Wewhall:

The McClacchys mow with the Bge T think have done &
and they're a very imporcant outfit mow. Thay really are. I dar

know if you saw the story about C.K. MeClatchy, the preseat '
publisher, giving the papers hell the other day. Me sort L1
a lirtls half-cocked, but neverthaless he had &
see by any chance the plece?

1]
s

Wo, What was it?

IE£ 1 can dig one up I'11l send ir to you. He just said, look, these
papers--this was about how the Uniced States of America Is now full
of entreprensurisl publishers who know nothing much about the
business but who are going around and buying all these little
papere. It's che Ilatest fad in corporate journalism.

You mean, more than Rupert Murdock.

Oh god look, che Hew York Times owns Santa Rosa, I think. And the
Chicage Tribune bought the Hews down in Los Angeles. Our paper, the
Signal, I sold to a guy in Savannah who's got twency or thirty
little weekly papers, [Charles H. Morris, Morrls Mewspaper Corp. |
I'm sorry as hell I did it, but at the time it seemed all right.

50 what does HeClatchy think ls happening?

Oh, he just says these guys are buying the papers and they don'c
know anything shout newspapers, and they're just buying them and
they use them a5 mlilk cows, I don't know 1f he gets into that, but
it's the latest thing. These guys--some of them have had some
newspaper experience, but they dom't even call their newspapers
"newspapers.” They are either "profit centers,* they call them., or
"franchises.” And there's no longer any independent journalism. 3o



Blass:

Riess:

Hawhall:

Newhall:

;gﬁ'm;u!:ﬂ!ﬂgm'ﬂ gotr & chance of good newspapers rising up.

m:; pqnih',ﬁy I think--when you say “good newspapers.” what does
that mesn? Sometimes I don’t know, and I mesan that pretty much.
!ut Itya alwayas felt as long as you have lots of independent, or atc
least, Intellectually, spiritually, independent publizhers or
gditors, the whole body of the press gives the public a fair shot at
sone kind of balanced view of our environzent.

If you were reading more thanm one paper.
Oh yes, yes.

Eut people get locked Inra their papers. The whole body of the
country presumdbly can elect z preasident but thay dom't seem to ba
able to do thac.

Yes, but of course, scill, you do have your press services and then
you've got TV. Anybody can turn on four or five or tem TV things.
There is not always a totally parallel approach toward the news in
any of this scuff, Now papera--you're not going to read five or six
papers. But down in our area theé people who think or can influence
anything will look at three or four. But anyway, thac's justa
thaory.

Editorials Worth Writing
Editorial Btaff

[musing] If all the papers were esdited as most journalism



Riegs:
Hewhall:

Rlesa:

Wewhall:

The good old days.
Don't say good. coms on, just the old days.

Back in the old days [chuckles], did you have a staff of edite
writers? Did cthey have free rein? I_"m frae rein lnm!.x i "'_‘.-,
a good thing, because that means that they -1]11': .ﬂjﬁﬁﬂ el

iy

0id you want te talk sbout the production of editorials in tha
paper? Might as well.

To me even then the guts of any newspaper was 1bl_;ﬁ1tntii1
page. And why, therefore, weres the edicerials written by older,
perhaps more tired colleagues, who were dutifully punching ouc
stuff, trying, as you suggested, te live up te the measures of che
publisher, to not rock any boats or amything? Among the first
people in 1952 that we lec out of the Chronicle were thres or four
of the poor guys that had been sitting around writing editorials for
50 many years. It was painful and difficult. They had been writing:
them for, you know, Warren G. Harding, literally. (Paul Smich. by
the way, this was gxsccly wvhat he wanted to do, but he was hung up
with all these old guys, too.) I had to relieve the editor of the
editorial page of hls duties which was a very, very difficult rhing
to do. I got him to write a columm, Ha was a very fine man, far
more intelligent than I was or ever will be. That was Royca Brier.

Templeton Peck, Al Hyman, basically were the twe who ztayed on
in 1952. And Balph Craib, & local fellow, wasz there, part-time
later, and Vince Mahoney, who was subsequently killed in a crash in
India, wrote editorials. There were three sditorial writers, and
they were very liberal Republicans or Democrats: One of the great
efforts I had was to convinoce Charlie that what was good for the
Chropnjgle was an editorial policy that was fashioned In our preasenc
century, and that we sheuld be tough enough to provide the San
Francisco Bay Arsa with some edicarfial leadership or some laughs or
some entertaimnment or something.



WW production in the Chronicle centered around this
‘editorial mesting every morming at 10 o’'clock in the offlce next to
‘mine. I would attend almost religilously. And we would just sit
'lxuunﬂ and gas and talk and make jokes and say, yeah, what is it we
‘want to say? What are we going to do here? and so on. We went
through some very difficult times: Vietnam was the toughest. &nd in

things we talked s great deal about the San Francises
local scene, too.

One of our earlisst edictorial skyrockets in those "olden days"
ﬂqll on the decadence of tha culsine at the Palace Hotel after the
Sheraton pcnp'.la had bought 1t from Mrs. Johnson whe was a member of
San Franclsco's old Sharon family, The Palace Hotel had one of the
great menus in San Francisco. 1 used to eat down there two or three
times a week, wyou know, a nice table. The new Sharaten management
began cutting back on the pheasant under gless and that kind of
thing and getting more into the bacon burger a la Embarcaderso and
other culinary garbage. And Al Hyman wrote & piece on the
gastronomic disastcer of the Palagce. Al's efforc is one of the most
superiative oditorials I've ever read. He sald that the Sheraton
people are now serving all their gourmet dishes with "a little sprig
of parsimony.” [laughter] It was a beauriful thing.

At thesa editorial conferences we would talk very frankly, you
know. We juat anjoved it. 1 enjoyed ic. 1 guess I had a chanca
for a captive audience. I wrote very fow editorials. Omnce in a
while I would sit down and write one if I felt stromgly and that
Charlie might object te, you know--because [ dldn’t want necessarily
to put their head on che block., And we tried to make the edlitorials
interescing. We would champion topless bars in San Francisco. You
see, Hearst had been building his circulation on this blue-collar,
sort of Roman Catholle doctrinaire ideclogy, what they call
"respeccability.” And San Francisco wes becoming & nen-respectable
clty;, Eake my word for ik.

I remember one editorial--and this was when our flghc was
really warming up with the Ex. Charlle Gould was putting big ads in



Hewhall:

Hiegs:

Mewhall:

eorrectly--"The tromble with San else
many topless bars, but that it has oS many top!
Jesus Christ, th:tummdupmnﬂ. _
we went on about Vietnam or semething, I don‘t remember,

Viernam

But I did try wvery hard, and cthis is persomal, to make ﬂm ad; 1
page In a sensze elther cutrageous or unpredicrable, readable .
eertainly, and underneath all this we had a very serious mission an
covered the big things. The Chronicls was I think the first so-
called "merropolican paper” rhat came out fairly strongly againse
Vietnam. And this was early. Your friends in the Times and tha
Washington Pogt, cthey were all braying about the communists or tha
domino theory and all this crap. #nd I acill shake my head at the
journalizcic eszcablishment that will go alopg with thiz kind . of
stuff. We have it today in Central America, this funny thing abour &
Afghanistan and Israel and all this. Theae papers, chey have no
guts. They don’'t come out and talk about the real world and our
genuinely serious problems.

Vell, mavbe thefir columnists are doing it.

Ch, liscen, ¥yes there are a lot of good columnists, But the papers
themeelves and thelr editorials, they're nocmally flac--once In &
while they'll come oot with a good one, really thay will.

I'm being a little Ispatient. But back to Vietnam. In thoszas
days everybody went along on this Vietnam thing, And I cammot
understand why, oven a5 I sit here today talking to you., But thew
did. The person who finally put an end, believe it or mot, o
Viecnam in this countcy wers the Hearst newspapers. And of course.
they were the last people in the world to come out agalnsc ic.



ﬂlldﬂim iml. prnl::“tdﬂ; and nhjn-:l:iu; and

themselves. I said, oh my god--we discussed

1 time--we've got the wrong people on our side.
.aﬂﬁﬁtt and {ncellectuals always frighten most American

How are we going to pet a handle en this? But that's the way
hﬂﬁcl ig and it's 4 wonderful place.

Anyway .

I wanted us to say something about the editorials. T know T
did a couple on this business of blacks and whites, the problem of
minerities. It was not all that sasy then, And schools, I remember
I a plece on black kids in schools. 1 don't knew Lf it was about
y busing or not, I think they had to bus here for a while, I can't
remember. And we used to comm out very strongly for incegrationm.

Jasaph McCarthy

Biesst How about the Fifties? Yeu had MeCarthy and HUAC and hosing pecple
down the glty hall steps.

Newhall: The McCarthy ching was the most terrible thing, really, that ever
came aleng. What these poople and the American people permitted to
happen, it was unforgivablel

| Riess: And thia iz an-obvicus one for the press: to take on.

| Wewhall: Yes, right. And I don't know any of the press who were really going

| st it hard against MeCarchy. We certainly probably wanted co casl
{e, but not as much as we should, on a personal basis. [ know Ruth

4 went over and interviewed J. Robert Oppenheimer and we gave that a
big play. We did all kinds of things te £ry to coal it off a lictle,
I can't remember if we did anyching about the Rosenbergs, you know,




that “McCarthy iz somerimes excused n: :n.*ﬂnni !

stood for his brand of Americani{sm. But that {3 nonse
sorry symbol and he will sink into the ocean and he qu; ne ;
a ripple and he will never rise again, It's the end of & Hhﬂi'if
I forget how T worded it. But I don't like this mdﬁ :

forgiving someone just because he happens to have ptniﬂﬂ on- tﬂ
another =tate.

Riesa: Iz ir troe thae when Movember came around, election time came
around, thac the Chronicle started getting gquite Republican?

Mewhall: Yas, usually--or it used to. It was the eéasy thing to do. I can ba
falrly specific about it, The Chronicle had always automarically
endorsed Republican candidates. There were supposedly a Califernia
axis batween the L.A, Timeeg and the Chronicle and supposedly both of
us would alvays endorse che Republlcans. Charlle and I discussed !
this, I sald, "Look, we've got to go for soma Democrats. It's-a I
Demoeratic city, and {t's a demoeratic world, or it should ba, What
can we do?" And I'm crying to think how we finally broke through, h

Jack Shelley, a former bakery wagon driver union cfficial--I"d
known him slightly, he went back to Congress for & long time, a wery.
nice guy, I liked him. He was a local San Francisco guy, a typical
Icishman. You know, he didn't have long hair or anything 1iks
that. He was & fine old guy. He came back and ran for mayor. I
couldn't get Charlie to endorse him, and he should have bacause
Shalley wis going o win anyway. I said, "Look, Charlie, the guy's



. | Riesst

Hewhall:

Riga=:

. ' m?* M.?ﬂr
_ thought lhlgmﬂfu:iui‘rmmu._
j:tunta;u Humm* "Yes, that's fine."

: J,J ﬁﬂl elected and he became actually very close to the
m;ﬂtu;ﬂ.ﬂly ‘at that time the Chropicle was huiuu.ll;r
- dow thu-Iinn of the conservative Democrat or a very liberal
fcan kind of thing, You know, we pever went really left-wing.
How some of my closest friends politically were George Moscone, Phil
Burton, (not John so much, I didn't know him), Leo McCarthy, and so
forth, They're all thnnrnt; Because there aren't any serious
Republican politicians in this town, basically, Poor old Harold
Dobbs. He ran for mayor and we worked hard trying to have him beat
out somebody, 1 forgec whom. Christopher was our first mayor, he
wae & good man. Anyway, Shelley won.

Bue Charllie wouldn't actually endorse him.

Shelley didn't run for a second term or I'm sure we would have
andorsed him the second time, We did not endorse Phil Burton,
though we were personally very close, and Phil was always obviously
going to win, He went to Congress. We had & very good
relationship,

Lack of Tnvestigative Political Reporting®

A way to look at the Chronicle ericically in retrospact is that none
of the Chronfcle political writers has written a book abour
California history or politics or national politics--such as the
Post's Hedrick Smith who has justc done Power Ggme. There waras just
no great palitical writers out hers.

*from Tape 1la.
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him well, buc he was an urﬂ-cllm m
spoaking, certainly from northern B Tn
advice, He would sit up thers hthﬁm
and hold court; kind of. Hﬂﬂuﬂl‘mﬁﬁmﬁi
not & so-called sort of hard-hitting, reforming
reporter or anything of the sort. He went - ]

in line. No, we did not have that kind of qmunqm HLM_
hall.

They're doing better now, I think, Larry Leiberc's doing a

political column and I think we have somebody in Mipgw now.
Years ago Paul Smith had hired a couple of young men to =ﬂi;_'
Washington. But I'm just sorry to admit I didn’t have a chance to
do ic. as I cthink I mentioned, when we had the money and the energ
to expand and cover the planet with Chronicle talemt, it muF::
really in the cards. The world could heve been the Ml
oyster. I think our horizZons were unlimited, But I'd been thrc
a pretty strenuous twenty years and I chought we had come along AT
good part of the journey, and it was time to wander off inte the
SUnSet,

LED
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‘Scott Newhall and Baby Scott, First plcturs of Scott Newhall to appear
uary 1914. in the Chroniele, age three, Marin Golf

ard Country Club,

I
#all, Chronicle photographer, after
B2 hit by a disgruntlied subjece, 1935,

\!

Seott Newhnll, 1985,






Scott Wewhall, on the rizht. At the Webbh School
Nemoke shack," 193L.

"+

home in The Mansiom,

Scott Mewhsll a
Shotogranh By Mok Haowquer
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if it wmad g ieel fuss, srihoall Bhe peelly gaida.

Scatt Mewhall, at the San Francisco Opera, "with all the
pretey . girls.”

fcott Hewhall, fifty-two years later, by the side of the naol

[n Piru with difi

grent pretcy girls, 1%987.
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Scott =nd Fuch EBewvhall =zeg sail in 19735
o the Mermaid.

Un the road, io Augusc I9

3,

reachad the end of the GREAT TREK. The Desert rcats had dieovered
tha exact spot where Padre Es¢alante crossed the Colorado Riwver in
1776, This was a tremendous gquestion that the entire world had
been waiting to be answersd. But, strangely encugh, no: one hasg - asg

vat ssked ir. Left to ripht: Pemny, Jan, Scort, Buth, Tony, Skip.

[captioned] "The Eing and che Jeep







Top Lefe: Panl Smith, 1946.

Top' Right: Scott Mewhall, Correapondant, World War IT, 1943,

Eﬂ-'.ltt-:-l.'l.! This World staff, George Draper, Gweovge delarvalho, Ruclr Newholl; and
l”ﬁ:m: Rewhall., August 1944,

')






Billy-and Bill Bartz, Harry Dring, Dolly Rhee, nnd Seoct Newhall at "the
ehutes” (loading point for Chronicle trucks on Fifth Strast, alongside
Chronicle building).

Fhotographe by XBarl Korium

r —






Top Left: Bcott and RHuth Newhall and Charles and Barbara Thileviot,
1958.

Top Bipht: Ruth and Scoct Mewhall at debutante cotillion, 1953.

Boctom: Jomathan Daniels, lefc, Seott FWewhall, and Lee HElls,
Pulicizer judping, Hew York, 15939,






"Scott and Buth created a home, garden, and shops in an abandoned rock
quarry at the top of the Berkeley hills." [Karl ¥ortum)

"A busy Saturday at the Newhall shops, #1 Hi1l Road, Berkeley.
MoCluggape, Eeanny Glasgow, Scott." [Earl Eorctum]
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Left o right: Penny, Jon, Skip, and Tony Newhall.

| Left to right: Barbsra Taylor, Scott Newhall, Audrey
Watermen. A night st the Newhall's Berkeley home, 1931,
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Top: Champagnie, the day the
Adpiast 1960, Scott Hewhall
Mellinkoff, Templecon Peck, Dave Parlman,
Faotograph damaged by fire.

and Charles Thieriot, surrounded bv Abe
and behind Nawhall, #11]

Bottom: Herb Caen, Charles McCabhe, Sheriff Matc Carberry, and Count

August 1961.

Chronicle |.I.E.-C..-‘:-:1d the I::J-_.ﬂ__'“l'!__l_l._t""_l. in ciceulacion,

Let Mo .

Mareco,






£ and Buth Newvhall withtheir grand prize—winning 1230 Packard,
ie Beach, 1981, William B. Crocker on the right.

Scott Mewhall and “Silver Dollar," Half Moon Bay dragstrip, 1964,







Dolly Bhes, Yvanne d'Anpers, the Persian Lamb, Scobt Newhall,
and presentation dragster, 1966.







Laeft: AE Ehe ship sccapplni
vard, Mewcastle~upon-Tyne.
Seott Wewhell discusses
rehabilicacian of the
Eppleton Hall with Bill
Bartz. 196%,

Below: Chief mete Karl
Kartum snd skipper Bcott
Kawhall on the bridpge of
the paddle tug Eppleton
Hall. Thewy steamed the
antigue wvessel half way
around the world, from
Eemuul.'.ll_"—|.|.|'|-|'.r|—".".'u- a1
the Morth Sea to 5an
Francisco. 1969,
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or Mayor heasdquarters, 1971.
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Hewhall and Earl Hines at Mewhall
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'iIEHIl]-H of the Plra mansion s attei-

wd th thi wrolritectural tenm of Snmuel and
#ph Cather Newsom. the most reoowned
Wistorinn architoets ln Coliforsia. 5t is
Al Newsom rendering of the Queen Anne
ran -:ll_._

HE HOLUSE WAS BUILT between 1888 and
by David C. Consle, who grow ap in Dlinois
founded company bearing hils aeme o

roligious books and Bundny school
b—mcompany which still isin business as
Cool Publishing Ca, of Elgin, Ohio, His
Ith fiiled when he kwns & litle past 40
i favorable climate, he selected Venta-

ty, than bevond the end of reil lise. and

d the Moxican land grant known as

Il Ikanche Temescal, which ingluded the

town of Piru ond severnl siitos of

SHuERry canynas, He lnid oas the town, bailt o

the Methodist church down oo the
s BEd, finsily, tha maneian.

FLCOOE was & devout Methodine, and set
inereate buth o profitahle freit raneh and o
Garden of Eden. Cooforming to fruits
med [n (he Bible, he planced dotes,
n

rmegranaies, Hgs, apricots, aod
e, The olives and pomegranstes have

#tive” pnd now grow chickly n the town
of tie hills around the house

THE RAILROAD was completed abowt the
Lime the hoase waa wnder construction, which
allowed for doors, windows, lumber, and Hie to
iz abigrgwial ir, mw weall s for dried Fruit o be ssnt
i mearket.

THE MAMSION was eguipped with gas, sinoe
thars wars anbaral fas wells on the canch, bt it
hod mo electriclty or maning water, The small
circalor stracture wphill from the mudn howsse
i tha Ehrese-hole oatheass, which was csed
unil e turen of the century whien Mr. Cool his
kealth restored, deported for the Enst nnd beft
the mungion tohis son. Hisson introdoced  toa
LR A, a1 patnird Angd one down, and the
Warring family, who bought the hoose (n 1912,
ndded & third both im the LBd0a

THE PRESENT OWNERS, Mr. and M Scasd
feewhnll, booght che moncion from che Worring
wxiate in TME, They went siowly abowt install-
Ing walnsewilng, pipecing, ard Mnally wors
mpdernizing the ldichen and painting the
axtecior in [10-81. Tn February 1981 & spark
fram & painters torch apparently escnped
under the eavea o the attic. ood the mansion
bsirned o the fround. By the tima tha deheis (BE
dumpsters Full of Femeins) wos carted away,
nothing remuined but the floor tile, the stome
work, the lower two-thirds of the tower, and
W el

LUTDED BY PHOFMOGRAPHS contributed
many visibirs to the menaken, and by the exp
hnowledge of people who hod helped msint
aod restore it over the yeors, the Mewhs
hegun reconstroctios.

COMPLETION of the rebuilt mansion 1o
iwd wnd ope-half years, The matecials, inel:
ieg all-redwood exterdor siding, the sain
glasa, the tile patierns in the Aoors, and t
carved wond of the origingl have been faitkf
I% Fepraduced, Thonks oo skilled and imogis
thve artiaans, somes sdditional design sleme:
{like the Lhrary ceiling) have been added. 03
of the additions is the bird, corved o
redwondl, atop the small tower on the =
fromt; where boefors the fire was nn elgg-shap
fimial, The bird is 2 sympelic phoenix risi
frvems Ui salise

WITH BALE EXCEPTIONS, the farniturs
antigue, ax are the chindaliers. The devign
tha kitchen is new, ns are the athmoms — o
for cach bivdroom. The fire made it pessible
install modern beating and air conditoning,
thai the owners were ahle o combine the ha
il Vigtorian with the besdi af modern fvin
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p-4 HBless:

Newhall:

You said that you had some chitgs en your mind for this interview.

I think that probably seme of them were the promotioms,

Well, we've talked sbour when we rook over in '52 Charlie snd I sat

down and tried to figure out how much money we had, how we were
ﬂlng:m promote the paper. I1've jotted down some of the stories or
seriea thar we ran, which perhaps might not be described as great
Journalism. But these sfforts had a tremendous response--and these
promotions were tied In somehow with stories that we ran, just to
get people talking. They did no harm. although they may not have
centribuced seriously to the knowledge of mankind.

You know I mentioned earller, and some people T don't think
agree with me particdlarly, that most newspaper readers and most
Americans particularly are basically fourteen wyears old, and they're
l_,l\ri.h! in fairyland and they balieve in fairy tales. They like to
dig for treasure. They love every fallen woman to Turn out to be a
princess and so on, and every frog I guess to be a prince. There
are gertain human situations thac I think the Americans really wantc
to believe Iin, And %0 as our growth started we treated our good
readers to the Fat Venus and the Persian Lamb.

I'm glad you're willing to talk about the promotions. T guess I
thought vou would be tired of i,

I'm delighted te talk abour them beacause some people have an idea
that a pramocien i& necessarily hokum. 1In other words, the
promotion and some essence of truth do not go hand-In-hand, thac
jr:m-.l" re asking somebody to come inside tha tent and see the bearded
lady but wyou put a false beard on her befors they come in. Wall,
that's not right. Our bearded ladies had real besrds. If vou have
to put the whiskers on her, forget it, in my opinion.

43 T weep saying, mostc people. no matter thelr age, llving in




Hewhall:

Some of the Chronicle’s early pro

Morton Treasure Hunt, was just a st
together as San Franciscans i
picnic lunches and taking their !iiiill: out to
and so on. They enjoyed it, but that was about a

Dr, HMiller and the Naked Animals

The naked animals. The naked anfmals ig a liccle bit like ﬁh;r
coffee except the coffee’s more legitimave. Omé of the -I:l.ﬂ'.j!i'
oolumnists that we took on when we got going at the Chropicls was &
fellow called Dr, Miller, whe vrate a column about animais.

1 figured there are locs of per lovera. There ars lots of
animal lovers, and people are really freaky about animals. Did you
see the story in the paper this morning in the Chrenfcls, this is
1988, sbout you're not allowed to have cats in Marin County because
they would epdanger the field mice in the boondocks next door?
Well, just think about that for & while.

Down in Hewhall, our way, chere’s something called the thrﬂ&— ,
spined unarmored stickleback. 1It's a £ish, the mbet ordinary d '
fish vou ever saw, about two inches leong, but-it's an endangered
species. A&nd whenever things get too quiet down Newhall way at thl...
Signal, we just start mentioning the stickleback and how some
developer is bulldozing garbage toe clese to & stickléeback pond, and
the whole community goes up in arms to protect these miserable
little fish. They're not even geod eating. But you know how peop
are now, We're going to save every lasc animsl, not mstter how
horrid ic is.

|
I
]

Amyway, getting beck vo maked snimals. Dr. Miller suarced hlt..]|
very succesaful pet column, and ha's a very hona fide veterinarian,
And we were going up te the P.U. Club for lunch one day. I used to
take all these fellows out as much as 1 could, and I liked to keep
in touch with them. He said, "You Know, therefs s funny guy in.tnﬂg
here, ha's going around preaching that animals ought to have cinﬂllg-



Aa 4 It!l tﬁ::ihtn+ Fh‘haﬁl.nn
ﬁur'wm-m th-'-nhthﬂl cows always have w
!I!n.gnn,d:irt by them? Because they's embarrassed! "
cklos |

S0 I got George Draper to interview Allen Abel. HNow look, for
the record, obviously animal nudity does not sound to anyone,
iqnluﬂing me, a5 being a parcioularly substantial comment on the
mores of the Amearican pecople. Bur it Is such an outrageous concept
Inﬂ.lﬂ thocking a notion that anybody could go around seriously
‘saying that animals are embarrassed because they’'re naked--of
‘wourza, most of my fellow San Franciscans are guing to be shecked
thart a paper would come along and runm such & story with a seemingly
straight face. They're sura that Father O"Flannigan or vhoever in
the local church would say, "Why no. this is ridiculous.” They justc
couldn't sccept this concept as belng gort of semi-serious. It's.
the kind of notion that gecs good sound, salc-of-the-earch people
upset, They have to run to church or a saloon in order go to gat
rid of a4ll this ianer turmeil.

i S0 wa interviewed Hr. Frout. A&llen Abel got hold of someone. he
called CIifferd Prouc. I got George Draper to take him out ta the
Fleishhacker Zoo and to talk about the nudity of the varicus
animals. Ve took pictures of them out there, either the chimps or
the African foxes or something, I don't know. But none of them had
clothes en, Prout and Abel had some liteérature about bloomers for
the elephants or whatever, and you know, shorcs and brasaieres for
the cows and all that business. [laughrer] And as I aay, this is
not really stop-press news, but we ran it and we didn’t say anvrhing
except that Prout and his Indecency Scciecy declared San Frandisco
to be an animal nudity dfsascer area. This is what the fellow said.
I didn't want to check him cut teco closely.

Rlezs: Vhere did you run it? Front page?
yuwhlll: I think za. I hope zo,

Rless: I mean, that's where you would put 1t?



Riessg:

Newhall:

Riess:

Mewhall:

, while Absl was mmmm
talking with him, Dolly went outside and 5
eity editer, co phone Kansas Clty nnﬂ.ﬂhlﬁkgﬂﬂﬁi];-

were inconclusive, Just for the hell of it, I wante
a little. But at the moment I couldn't find out if Pﬁﬂdﬁ;:.-
called uncle, had 1ived chere.

Anyway, we all goe to be very good Efiundl alw; matter
fact, we got Abel to write a columm for the ﬂh:nﬂ;;}g ‘later
was called "Professor Bunkerhill® or something like ﬁhﬁt He
is around, ‘and he is still in the busine=s of pr&ﬂhﬁbﬂl Jqﬁn;:T-
Hew York,

S0 you had lots of letters to the editor and you pnhtijhtd.ﬁh-i

Oh, a lot of outraged letters., Some people thought it was greac.
As 1 say, I'm not going to dafend it as journalism, excepr it get
people talking about the paper and 1 don't think it did them any
harm. And basides that, I think lt's good therapy once in a while
ta shock people. 1 can'‘t defend it any more vigorously than that,
axcept 1 thought it was amusing and enjoyable. And, of courss, LE
occurs to me at the momenc, there are still a lot of nude animals
still running around loose.

Did you cook these promotions up when things were dull? They scart
out as & kind of laugh that vou're having in the office with '
Charlie?

Sure, sometimes. Sometimes you have to play them stralght. You
know, wa played that scraight., We never did say that any of this
was true or anything else. We just said, "This is what they've
sald." Somm people say it's Hollywood. And the Examiner, they g&
crazy because they were alvays trying to expose us as fakes.

Well, what are you going to expesa? People wera having a
laugh? 1 don't know. But anyway, the Indency to Animals puupln
declare us to be 8 disaster area, particularly the Flelishhackar 2



ﬂumklinl legend,
S0 what 15 an ugly
women ﬂ'm are grossly fat,
Ehl na;llnrﬁhuli; of this fat woman, and I

"E
E

Ep 1 got Count Mares te pick up about seven or eight or nine
very, very obese wemen, And we established the Fat Venus contest,
with drawings of a very everweight Venus de Milo as our trademark.

The count took the seven or elght contestants out to dinnmer,
and we had plctures of him surrounded by these mountalns of feminine
Elash at their "lsst feast.® He took them over to Banducci’s. (We
had to promote Enrico Banduccl to promote a free meal for them.
That's the coffee house down there on Broadway.)

The count finally picked che girl he was going to use, and ho
wag going te put her on his very own special diet, he was going to
dress hor, he was going to counsel her, he was going to follow her

| through a glorious metamorphosis, from this fac eshrys scage to the
slim, beanciful butterfly,

Bow, I'm telling this story very frankly because it will give

. people & chance to think of what kind of an insensitive person was

more or less lnvolved with the Chronicle at that time. We got right
| up against deadline and Marco came s$ctorming in, tearing his hair,
saying, "My god, I've got to turnm in my Fat Venus column here right
away and I have to include her first week's dietr, the first day of
the diet, Where (s {£7* T sald, "What do you mean?" ‘He sald,
Mdall, I don’t have any diet."

Se 1 proaned, "Well, glve me a copy of Vopue magazine," 1 sald,
| So he came running back with that. 1 locked through and sure
enough, there was something sbout black coffee and melba toast and a
b Heele gruel and this, that, and the other, 1 sald, "Well, this
| won't kill the pgirl. Let's use this for tomorrew's dietc," 1 wrote
y it all out oo a plece of paper for him. So that was Count Marco's

|
|




. So I called him, "Hey, ﬂuﬂﬂt 5
with this Fat Venus? What's your ;1:1 dnin;?“ ,ﬁmﬂ_ﬁﬁéﬁm
silence. He said, "She's been cheating.” 1 said,
mean?® Ha gaid, "She's not thin encugh yetr ® *:ﬁiﬂ ]
care, You get some pictures. We'wve got to run lpuithin; ta tiﬁ
public know that chis is a Itrlight -shot.™ {ﬁnﬂ this was straight.
I was convinced that by now we'd have this gorgeous creature to

display.)

It turns out she had gone down to about 1B0 or 190 or
something, and then unfortunacely she got herself looking good .
enough so a boyfriend came lnte thl_pictu:t 1 sald, "You get some
clothes on her and you get a picture.” Marco came in Ewo or ﬁh:q;
days later and he had a picture of Mary Ann, vhatever her name was,
leaning up againsc a esucalyptus tree with the Palace of Flne Arts In
the background. She looked precty hefty, but at leasc she looked
1ike a woman, It was all right. And she was done up quite micely,
her hiir and so on. S0 1 said, "All right, we'll tun the pinturq:ﬁf
her.® 1 found out later that they had taken this dress, this
clothing, and they had llterally nailed her to the tree In order Ep:
pull her stuff in like this. And theres she was nailed together to
the tres like this with most of her lard behind her| [laughter]

Then it went om a little longer and I said, "Okay, how's it
going now?™ He said, "Just terrible. She's cheating again." 1
said, "Okay, leok, we've got to go public with this, I can't have &
catastrophe, because Charlie's getting a little impatient here.
Look, put & private eye on her, and lec me know what hhppaﬁad.' 1 1
sure enough he put a private detective on her, and I think I still
have the private derective's report.

=7:00 P.M, Subject was seen leoaving her home and gecting
inte a 1957 Chevrolet driven by unidentifisd man. Followed
trail of subject and driver to Blalr's Ice Cream Store...




mew&m%u
m’i ‘cranked up and ve ram a huge
%mmmm What shall
Fat Venus be givem another chance or is
_j;lllf hundreds of people wrote in zaying,
| Giwve her another chance,"

ﬁh-ﬁiﬂ inﬂild aiv; H!;f Ann another chance, and she scill did
I;1uﬂr1hﬁﬁﬁﬂt properly. 2o I said, “Dkay, you've got to do
- There's thi: spa somewhers in Sonoma County, Boves:
:ﬁﬁrﬁﬁ!ﬁ I think it was probably. We took her up there and I said,
ipﬁk her in a room. Leave somebody up there and lock her in
t room and ?ﬂﬂ don’t lat her out for sbout & month." And by
golly, thay kept her up there--passed her food to her chrough the
door on & tray--and they finally sweated her down.

Was Mary Ann willing, or ultimately was she a victim in all of this?

Yictim? Lizren, this was the best thing thar ever happened to her,

come’ on., She got her welght down and down, and we taok her down to

Hollywood and she had a screen test. I dom't know what she did wich

| it. And she came back. I don't know if she ewver married this

s fellow or noe, but I heard cthat aboot s=ix monchs lacer she was back
up to 22% pounds. But I'm sure it was the time of her iife. I

can't 'gee thar £t did her any harm ac all. ALl of & sudden zhe

| became somebody and she had a lot of publicicy. 3She was an awfully

nice girl, she really was. 3ut she waen't able to handle it, I

Busas,

Tha story about the princess marrying the page didn't work outc
too ‘wall that time, bat it had fantastic appeal. People really
wanted her to gét her shot and ger her second chance. Ch, and I'd
, forgotten, we provided her with 4 psychlatric counselor the whole
I time, by the way. She was a doctor, dietary specialist.

Riess: Yes, well that makes sensa.

Rewhall: Oh no, T wasn’t feeding her the croissants or pretzels and Vogue's
black coffes all the time, GShe formed a very serious sttachment
with this nice woman. That cost us a lieele money, you know, but it
wag fun., I think she probably had a precty good cime, I don't know.
You sight not agree with me as a woman, I don't know. Incidentally,
the idea behind the Fat Venus was Jjusc to get people talking about




I’nﬁ:, or Texas, m: u;ﬂu a ihi:rmmi %ﬁ'
pﬂhliﬂity-nt::ting;up every year, so I said,
camel race, they'll h:w 4 camsl :fmh
We called Bob Richards, who was then managing e
Jerritorial Enterprise, and we sald, "Now look, you'd |
along with this, beacause you're going to e ass-doep lg.
pretty soon." We played lc up, absolutely utriiﬁht, th-ﬂht
department and out in fronc, too: "The annual r.rm].u:m I
Yirginia City were coming up, the Chronicle was eo-: sponsering ﬁt
with the Territprial Enterprise. All entries will be welcome."

Larry Wade, I think, was then the promotion editor of the =
Chronicle, T s=aild, 'nulr Larry, please go get us some Eilhﬁlﬁ * He
was always a very good, loyal young man. He said, "Okay." So he
went out to Fleishhacker Zoo. Carey Baldwin was then t dlrnnnn:
of the zea. He sald, "Sure, you can have whatever we've got."

We loaded these camels--he had two of them--into & truck. That
was grand news, and we had pictures of them. We got Billy Pil:aﬁﬁ.
4 jockey by prnfns:lnn. who had starred on naticnal radio or TV as
an art expert, and John Huston, the great movie dirsctor, as
jockeys, We had all che proper publicity ahead of time, and
persuaded, urged and beat the pong for S5an Franciscans to come up
and enjoy this grand old sport, this typlcal historic sport of .
Virginia City. And sure snough, a couple of entries announced they
were coming up from Indie. You know, they've gor some camels down
there among the date palms and so on.

On the day of the camel race we all went up to Reno; we got &
plane and went up there. Lucius was the official sctarter. John
Husten was riding one camel, Bllly Pearson the other, and everyhoo
was declked out, There must have besn twenty or thirty thousand
people who showed up in this toewn, you know, because camel races
aren't all that frequent. {Incidentally, ever since that time
they'wve held camel races in Virginia Clty every year:)

The day we went up Larry said, "Ch, by the way, 1 forgot to



- T Wlﬁiﬂlﬁfﬂ?'ﬂ. 1 --:. iy .:I '-"_"ﬂ.:l'_ - ?:-

m ¥You strap the badminton necs around them so the
_'.-mﬁlﬁ & lot of places, you see. Because a camel's mot
B e Y . Piﬂ m‘

Iﬁﬁiu# ‘shet off this big pearl-handled Colt 45 of his and off
ﬂ,ﬁ: animals went down the stroet. We had pleturss going the whole
‘time and everything. Billy Pearson’s camel took & turn. He, the
‘camel not 8illy, apparently panicked st something, and he Semt
glllﬁpin; into the Catholle church right there on the street where
Tucius had all the fights with the padre. It was on a Sunday. I
don't Jenow if there was a mass golng on at the time. Billy got the
camel out but i{n the process knocked an old gentleman under the
bumpar of & car parked near the church. All the miserable beasts
Finlshed the race. Some of them kept going, they wouldn't step, I
navar saw the camels again, but I'm sure they got them baclk.

- 1 waa a litrle bit worried that this might have caused zome
trouble, because the camels had bumped people; there was a crowd and
) they pushed them asround a little. Well, the most welcome letter 1
' ever got about the races--this ls why T knew the old man had been
pushed down under the car--was from this woman whose Tather, she
sald, had been ac the camel races, 1 said, "Ch my god, here come
the lawyers,h "

She wrote, "I wanted te write you hecause my father, who 1s
eighty-five and is fairly frail, was pushed aside or run over by
this steed, but managed to roll under the bumper. He wanred me o
tell you that this was the most glorious day of his life, he’ll
remember it as long as he lives, and we want to thank the
Chronicle.” I tell you, that was the most rellef I'wve ever felt
about anything.

Anyway, that was the camel race. [t was just sort of an off-
the-cuff deal. But It was good spirit and everybody would ger into
it. You know, we would come up with & promotion idea, discuss it,
and then it would all sort of take place, don't ask me how.

‘Rless: 0d the Examiner cover your stories? When you scarted something
like this, then did they have to deal with it?




Tvomne d"Angers had started out im Forth hﬂb; on 4 St
topless bar called Backstage, or Off Broadway, som
and as I think I mentioned earlier, there hl# b#km tﬁﬁh_
the ghronigle being "indecent,” and the Examiner was a
championing the “respsctable” people. And of course they
losing circulacion, slowing up the whole time, hecausze
wanted to be indecont or at least to read what was uﬁr:intiy
in San Francisco, the Babylon of the Pacifie.

She wag not eéxactly a Fremch girl, Yvonne. G&he was a Per:
girl--TI guess it was called Iram by then, I'm not sure--who hii
over here. G5She had a couple of brothers in school or :n-nthing
She was a very, very precty girl, she really was, I thinlk,
beautiful. Then she got herself doctored up with a lot pf-:il cona
or something and turned herself into & blopnde. But for some 5
or other her passport was not in order, and the immigracion
departmant wishsd to deport her.

B 8 EO0
S

What a wonderful chance this was to champion a poor wronged
girl. I realized that it was a terrible cthing, & morral sin, Eo
misuge this charming yvoung lady vho was about to bes deporeed from
the United States, vhere we protect eo many unsanitary refugees or
illegal aliens, "How can thay do this?" The Chronjicle will ba ﬁhﬁ,
champions of this gorgecus creature and ceszcue her from our rutttﬂh
dictatorial buresucratic government.

S0 we decided thac Yvonne was the Persian Lamb . We ran )
pletures of her--she chained herself at one point to the Golden Gage
Bridge saying., "I can't leawve this cowntry," in tears, you know.
never will forgec, Incidencally, the name of the Immigration
commizzicner here in San Francisco at that cime was Fullilowe,
believe 1t or not, Mr., Fullilova,

We sent our lamb back to Washingron te Interezt Fhil Burton in



You could have used something 1like this as a way to focus on
! 11_zrg;;m-u#;:qtinm.pnIiniﬂ:-:nd:nldu'hn;tj'ﬁitar-nf it. Did you

Well, underneach Lt all 1 was personally serious and disturbed. It
;y;g;riﬂi:ulnua that the immigration department would take & girl who
18 making some money, helping send her brothers through scheol, and
ﬁigqyg_hi: when they casually permit thousands of insanitary people
to float around the country. They don’'t extradite them. But
anyway, that was all.

You didn’t focus that much on the {ssues.

 Bewhall: Well, it was the overriding, the leitmotif of all the pictures and
i stories.

Anpuillan Liberacion

Riess: What's the Anguilla story?

Wewhall: Anguilla is a little island In the Caribbean. It's about a mile and
a half wide, and about eight, ten miles leng. It's right there in
the curve where the Leeward Islands turn inte the Windward Islands,
right near St. Martin. Anguilla was a former British crown colony,
Then when &ll the upset came and the British Esmpire began to
dissalve and freedom and dignicty returned to mankind, Anguilla was
associated with St. Kitts and Nevis, another two islands, as a self-
governing Caribbean state, associated with Great Hritain.

There was & lot of unrest among the natlves, chere always is
down thers in the Carlbbean. I don’t know how well you knmow it.
Have you been down there?

Riless: Ho:




sl right, except he did it by bu
gt. Kirts and purring a big sign over
that was Anguilla‘s share.

Anyway, they had a lot of problems. Angu
deseendants of a whole lot of slaves who--I ﬁhﬂjt EHHH} th
aver freed, 1 think thelr masters just lefr lnd ﬂh;:l ihaf.Aﬂl
gussa they’re fres. Anyway, they have about ten diffi:ﬂﬁt ames
the island, the Hodges, the Gumbs, the Websters, the Adamses, and &
on, and there they are. They c;:nh a few lobaters and that's £r;

It is & miserable place., It's got two or three beaches, huu chere
are pa trees on the island, they've all been lnnﬁ hiﬂg‘ cut 3
burned off or something. Th-tu NEVEr Were Very many,
just a rocky, inhospitable cutcropping. But today 1t Is
materializing as a resort island wich nice beaches and somes
comfortable hotels--or at least so the advertisements say.

Well, the revolution started with a beauty contest in Anguilla
in 1967, and the winner turned out to be & ringer from 5t, Kicts,
not an ﬁnguillnn girl at all. The concestc ended up with a shootd ﬂj
and somebody was killed, one person was, I think, and the ﬁnguil
declared thelr Independencze from St. Hltts and Mewvis. They gnt*wn

militia, you know, & rag-tag affair. d|

I read this In a wire story. There was soma casual :ﬁwa:égg i
the rebellion. It was sll very legicimate foreign news. The
Britcish pavy pet Iinterested, (I had recently seen "The Mouse fh;ﬂ
Foared,® the Peter Sellers movies of & very tiny little nation Ehat
was declaring war on the rest of the world or had an H-bomb of
someching.) This musc have been in 67, things were kind of guiet
then, I had a vacation coming up, so I asked George Draper, &
;h;nnl;l_ reporter and an old friend of mine, to join me on a safa;
to Anguillas and see what the Ection was.  And we could drum up ﬂﬂﬁﬁ
front-line coverage of the revolurion,

All outside communication with Anguilla supposedly had been cut
off. UWe landed at 5c. Marcin, which is a neighboring island, part
of it owned by the Dutch and part by the French. The governor of
the Duceh part just happened to be in the alrport when ha saw two




wn mm.mtﬁnﬁtmﬁ;rm
:h hal p the island and I persusded a local

h an outhoard motorboat to Tun me over to Anguilla.
t‘.hql:'lmy strait, 1'11 tell you, in this boat was a
Bx 1 had & white linen suit on, like a Vietorian
: . Well, th#ﬂtit got greasy from the bilges, it was one hell
of s, The northeast trade winds made the cressing very rough.
Tﬁii_uruﬂiing was very similar to a rough, uncomfortable vovage from
Long Beach to Catalina Island in a cockle shell,

I landed fn.ﬁhgnillﬂ and was welcomed, in & manner of speaking,
by some derelict guerrillas toting pistols and worn out catbines,
Huﬁnndfg.rldn in a truck down to the Valley, as they called ic.
There was nothing on that island, mind you, but & few trees and nice
beaches, lots of rocks and the wind and a couple of churches, Thers
are a few houses along in & row there in the biggest towm.

I met Ceorge at the sirport, which was pretty much the center
of Information on the island, The landing strip waz Interescing.
The Anguillans had covered the strip with these old oll drums so
l that "enemy alrerafc” could not land and take over their island,
| They were expecting an invasionl

We covered the rebellion of Anguilla in a serles of scories.
We taped most of {c. T was very interested inm it. I really was.
It's not every day people are fighting for liberty and so on. At
the fzland we were 1iving at Mrs., Lloyd's boarding housa. Mrs.
| Lloyd was a mntherly matron but the culszsine art her 1adglng house was
sparctan, tuna sandwiches--we ate tuna sandwiches or tuna salad for
five days, lunch and dinner, and sometimes for bhreakfaat

| One day in walked Professor Kohr, Leopold ¥ohr, He was an
academic character wheom Howard Gossage bad dredged up. The good
professor, a mild little man, was currently emsconced at Puerto Rico
University where he was teaching the virtues of "smallness™ as a
gacial alternacive. He's over in Wales somewhere now.

Kohr preached a seciological doctripe in which =zmall iz good:
zmall i= beautiful snd the world, you know, is teo big now and wve
have to bresk it dewn inte small units. He had been fascinated with
Angullla because here was an island of about the area of San




Rieaga:

Kewhall:

f:ruiu:ml:dﬁjruf Heor Hljnuyﬂuﬂl;uin
The Anguillans felt that they would be suppor
than by Bradshaw. oh lord, it mvutym-lﬂ A
Under a Garibbean Sup, has been written by some Engl:
started giving us & hard time.)

In order to get things rolling, we brought mjﬁnﬂtﬂ- 3
government--the bankers and president and vice-president and £
minlster--to San Franciseo. The foreign minister n-#‘hutllj' '!‘ﬁt an
American elcizen who had a fuel oil company in Parth Amboy, Hew
Jersey, but he declared himself to be the Ea:tigp-ﬁiniuuﬁr of
Anguilla., They all flew into San Francisco. We hprtm ﬂhﬁ
mayor's car, We desipgned flags for Anguillla and put the EI;;I on
the car and had press conferences in town. It all makes no sﬁ;ﬁ'
but anyway, it was intriguing. This was sort of half Chronicle and
half me. The Chronlcle coversd 1t straight.

I didn't use the Chronicle in this, really. Some people might
think sa. But I was honestly interested in it in a personal way.
I've always been interested in coins. And we were going to try te
save Anguilla, because they had been cut off from all funds, and
there was & British navy gunboat supposedly lurking offshore. I
don't think it was really there at all.) The Anguillans had the
milicia out and the padre, the local Anglican elergyman, had
sprelasses ond smoke signals. It would have been a beauriful mﬂi
Take my word for it. But they needed momey.

8o what happened?

I waz interested in codns, 1 said, "I will prowide your nuitu.gi
And 1 alwost losc my shire. 1 goc 11,600 silver dollar-sized co
mostly from Latin America, and some from I think Yemen or Oman or ’[
gomething, and I counterstamped them. I had them struck here. 1

obtained some “ARGUILLA DOLLAR" dies, and ran the trial strikes. Hl%
the dies in the machine shop in the basement of the Chreonicle,

because there were some hydraulic presses down there. The coins
were stamped “Anguilla Libercy Dollar.® This is not all exactly
journalistic, but anyway, it was sort of part of the act, 11,600

i



and ::jﬂ'imnhﬁmthﬂrulmrmlﬁ,hu
- :I;n Eiu‘ﬁuﬂﬁam area for centuries.

e —

ﬁili, ‘the Anguillan government officials began fighting among
#ﬁl!l!l?!! and they all began thinking that somehow we were cheating
them. They tried to steal all the money from Larry Wade. At one
ppint 1 got a suitcase with ten thousand one-dollar bills and sent
it ﬁﬂn i:u a.nguilll in order to lossen things up around the placa.
Ihi members of the provisional government bﬁgnn confiscating that.

1t was a wild cime. Anyway, 1 did mint all the Anguilla Liberty
Dollars, and I sent them dowm,

The How York Times got on to this. EBemember, the Chronicle was
not any part of this latest Anguilla activity. This was a free
enterprise, charitable effort by Howard Gossage and his group, "the
S5an Francisco Group," as the Times called it. Thea T WaE
conmvinced we were crying to do something to take advantage of
Anguilla. It was & wery strange thing.

In the end; I gave the Anpgulllans about twe or thres thousand
of these silver coins, so I wound up with about elght or nine
thousand dollar-sized coins that wera worth at that time I guess
five or six dollars aplece., [ [Finally was ablé to sell them fox
what cost I had in them, Then I washed my hands of the whole thing.
This could have been a great story but unfortunacely Lt seemed to
get out of hand.

The Anguillans are famous mariners. They have [ast schooners,
We were going to sail them up to New York. They wanted to get into
the United Nacione--see, that's a precty good deal--so0 we wanted to
sall them up to New York and tle up thelr schooner in the Esst River
there, and then their foreign ministers and minfisters of juscice,
and the president of Angpuilla weuld try to join the United Nations.
It would be pretty good copy. However, they never did come to New
York, the British teok them back in 1971, and I guess that's vhere
they are today. The Anguilla revolution never exactly jelled as the
perfect news story, It was just too complicated,

We covered it straight In the paper, I was pretty sensitive,
and because of my own personal intersst ln this particular matter 1



Riess:

Newhall:

Riass:

Hewhall:

Riess:

Newhall:

Mewhalls

pid nn:uitll Hlvu a tiltr tale lndih:f

Well the Anguillans gor away from St. Kitts and regained t
colonfal status, which is vhac they ‘wanted. M‘@: i
atory gave the F.E!...E.Hﬂﬂﬂﬂ & reason for artack

They tried to make this into & big Chronicls plt :a
it was wvary macky.

Because of a conflice of inceresc?

Well, just because of the Chronicls, or becausza of me. ¥You m
Bruce Brugman has to make a buck, and he nLuwgt haz to have am ¥
or & willain., And he was always taklng off against tha Chronicle.
He treated this, I think persomally, very unfairly, saying thae
Anguilla was a Chronicle plot, because I made these coins, some of
then down in the basement there. He couldn'e follow it.

[chuckles] It does sound complicated.

It is an interasting story, BRuth took voluminous tapes on the
thing from everybody who was Involved. And Lt was wvery involwed.
It would have made, I think, a fascinating and a grear movie, but
didn't jell, and it was not essentially a Chropicle project. I'm

gure Charlie would heve dizowned Lt and go would I hawe, as oditor
of the Chronicle, except in terms of whar the Anguillans were doing,

The Last Man on Esrth

Okasy. Then what else 1s there? "“The Laszc Man on Earth" was a lii]a '
one. How I don't know how much time you'we got there.



' Hewhall:

Bless:

\1 i
|

-ﬁmwm frankly., Why thera's
] about these promotioms kind of

i.‘ mww the one thing that will bug the profession, the

;m_tm:f.n establighment, if they don't approve of ;rm:, the one
thing t,hut really drives them up the wall {= suecess. On the other
‘hand, :H{ the paper had not done thesa things and if we had not
promoted ourselves, and had started just to sort of slowly slip
dﬂﬂhm or under the surface, they would all have zaid, "Gee, the

wag 8 grand paper, Isn't it toe bad they couldn’t nake
4c?" or somerhing like that, I promisze you

Okay; I ses what the other side of 1t [s, wves.

The Fantasy

How, how did you cook up “The Last Man Om Earth?"

And that was "cooked up,™ all righe. I have always felt, im line
again with my feelings shout the aspiratlion and incerest of the

-average person, that the grearest basic adventure story ls the Swiss

Family Robinson or Robinson Crusoe legend. There's zomething that
any young man, and I suppose young woman, too, who read the scuff
ecould mever forget. The idea of the desert island and human
survival.

and as you poilnted out newspapers had sponsored the trips to the
Fole.

Oh yes, papers had dome that kind of thing. Those were adventure
stories. But Robinson Crusoe was a story of man's survival and the
footprint in the sand and building the house and so om.

I had always felt that s great promotion, or if you will, .8



Biegg:

Hewhall:

Biess:

So Bud said, "Yes." he'd do it. Then he said, 'uq
children wanc to come, too." 1 said, 'mt'.i not ‘EHI
you think they can last?®

We were going te put Bud out in the wilderness somewhera in
Callfornia with nobody arcund, He waz going to uu!mdmmuiith.:ht
basic few items he had with him., What he would da, hs would .
establizsh with a ranger somevhers a location, & 'Ilnl'lﬂl' tres Im
log, and would leave a record--a dﬂily diurrh-ul how ha was dbtn;
this, and the ranger would come and pick it up und.hfin; . 1 o dhhq
headquarcers and phone Lt In to us, And it had to be a secret pla ce-
vhere--we couldn't divalge vhere the messages weres to be hidden or
obviously somebody would come in snd try to spoil it.

The title we came up with was *"The Last Man On Earth." The
ldea was that we would assume for the purpose of this experiment or
this adventure thatr the big bombs had exploded and that Boyd was up
above in the hills and all the polson was down below and he was
surviving.

Right, it's like the Gearge Scewart novel, Earth Abides.

Maybe he wrota it before or after, I don't know. PRut that was th f
{des, IE was, again, just Robinson Crusoe out there to ses If he
could feed himself, clothe himeelf, protect himself and so on and
survive for I think four weeks or maybe Tiwve,

50 Lt was a big deal. We had our own Eeature syndicate by
time, and we cutlined it, we had promotion hrochures, amd abour
twenty or thirty papers across the country went for ft. It is a
fascinatcing story.

How do you sell & story?



Hill Iﬂﬂ-inltnttd he wanted to bring his wife and his kids,
uuﬂﬁhh ‘had & litele kid, a daughter, and another daughter who was

an unhappy love affalr. so she didn't go, We hired chis old
jjﬂti to get him up there one day. And oh, there was all the bugle-
=h1ﬂn:tn¢ and the advance stories, "Can he m-ka it or ean’'t he?" And
we designed a standing headling chac was supposed to run every day
with the Last Man's daily diary,

On the way up there, just before we took off, Bud said, "Oh, I
forgot semething.” He went somewhere and he came back on board the
plane and Larry Wade or I saw that he was carrying with him--1
forget what, I guess it was an ax. We said, "Hey Bud, yeu ecan't use
this. This [s not part of the deal.” In other words, this was
absolutely straight.

Ve flew to Scocc Valley wich Bud and his family. From there we
could drive to a ranch house where we hired some horses to pack them
in--no canned food supplles, no nothing, There were gbout ten of us
in the party.

At the ranch house they served all of this fried chicken at
lunch., T told Bud, *"You and your family had better load up on this
food because that's all you're going to get for a while.®

He had a pancil or pen with him, and paperz, and they had
established a place where the guy who owned this sort of dude ranch
up there would go In every day at a certain hour to pick up Bud's
dally diary every two days or something [laughing|. Om the way up a
bear came bresking out of the brush and galleped across the front of
the truck we were in, and I chink it scared them all to death.

Oh, -and in the party that flew up te Scott Valley we had with
us & prisst from a choreh down here on Army Screst. He was one of
three {mpartial observers. It*s important in a sense vho they wvare.
They flew up with us, and they watched Bud snd his family go inta



Hisss:

Mewhall:

Miswbiall:

Tha first day's story told MW;&W#

place to sleep, &nd had to start eating frogs, hﬁr
sharpenad sticks te stah the frage, and this, ﬁ and the

other.
ST
-

You had removed tha ax?

Oh vea, absolutely, I grabbed ic. I will take IlnuﬂitHEEQr sts.
From our point of view this was an nh:uluhnly scraight shat, T"
thought it was faselnating, and [ wasn't sure Bud mldulhi 1!'
particularly with his family aslong. (I should hava lbtﬁiﬂtilr
refused permission for the family to go, as you will u*ﬂ_j

The BRumpis

Aleng around the time we were |ust about to start running the

saries, there was a Concours d'Elegance, or & maeting of the Ellll e

Car Club, down south. I used to restore classic cars as & hobby,
kind of, &nd I was down there shewing this car, an old 19331 Pac

roadster, On the way back Ruth and I stepped at Paso Robles at the

Paso Fobles Inn. And there was a mpessage walting for me, “Call th

pffice."” Bud had been up in the bush about a week; In other Hﬁrii:

the Chreonicle was in the process of publishing the Last Han a-rtti;
the firsr or second day, and there was Stanleigh Arnold on tha oth

end of che phone saying, "My god, I'wve pot the worst news. Bud's
of the bush.*

*[For the record the chres “"offlecial Impartial chgervers" ware!:

Galifornia's Attorney General Stanley Mosk; Hear Admiral A.G. Cook,
Civil Defense Chief of San Francisco; and Heverend Francis J. Fuij,.

0.F.M., Alr Force Reserve chaplain. The flight to Scott Vallay
place on July 10, 1960--8.K.|




litdr-?-h "
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. qﬁunl;l!ul thln; gning.
;iﬂ;tngnihlé iﬁﬁﬂ&ld ihiﬂiﬁuﬂt:th of stories, and
:;:g; ntere and very good. Finally I got Bud
rﬂ!ﬁ' he was, beaten, Iu:l.ﬂ* "Bud, you promised,
- is going on? Bud, this is history.” anyway, I just talked to
: about fifteen or twenty minutes, and I said, "Bud, you've
t to go back up there and don’t give me a lot of trouble on this,
rﬂpﬁﬁnﬁﬁftﬁawisltiuhnﬂthinﬂmnummd

"Well, okay, I'll do it." So apparently he started back up
again. The next day the Examiner started playing front-page
stories: "'The Last Man on Earth' Heax: The Chronicle iz doing this,
the Chronicle is doing that." Every one of our syndicare ellents
who ware gatting the stories heard about it. They all cancelled and
‘everybody, including the wire services, began playing the story as
If the Chronicle was trying to hoax everybody. The Examiner
reported with a hullabaloo that Bud had gone up there and was living
on a patio somewhere, vyou know, with & Bloody Mary in one hand and a
shotgun in the other, I don't know,

Well, in fact Bud had come down. MHe went up apain and--. I'm
a litrle furey, then he came down egain or somethlng, but by chis
time we had all of hls seories, less than two weeks worth, [ just

i don't remember exactly the day that the Examiner story broks. We
¥ had about gight or nine stories, and indeed Bud had flilﬂd and had
r come down. We were running the diary faithfully, Day 1, Day 2, Day

i & 3, Day &, and so-om. I think the Examiper started its "expose™ on
fﬂ about Day 3 or 4.

The "Examiner®

Wewhall: What happened was--and the Exgminer had & hell of a good atory--chey
put Ed Montgomery, their ace investigating police reporter on Bud's
trail. He figured out where Bud was, somehow, and had gone up and
found the remnants of the Boyd camp, and he found tin cans and stuff
like that. Of course this was all newz te me. It was horrible. It



Az T zaid, mmntmtymhwnﬂﬁﬁ“
little trowel or shovel he began going th
Boyd family had left behind them to £ind out
they'd been eating., The full Last Man saga is
story, really. 1 can recreate [f, or somecns can re
they just go back and take a look at the ﬂaﬁ the st:
published in the Chropicle and in the Examiper.

At that time of course I felt a lictle bit 1ike this poor g
with a one-man band because I had the national magazines on ulaT' T
syndicate customers were all cancelling, the Exsminer was harg
us with hoax, T called up our lawyers--I didn't talk to Charlie or
anybody at that moment, we didn’'t need a lot of conversation just
then, we needed actiom. At an early point I called our attorneys
and said, "Look, will you file sbour a cen-million-dollar slander or
Iibel szuit against the Exapipner for publishing cthe fact that ve were
perpoetrating a fraud or a hoax. The Chronlcle is In fact honest.
You'we got to counter all this scuff." BSo we came out with a big
headiine, "Chronicle Sues Examiner For Libel,® It was one of those
things. And Lt made a hell of a rumpus. There was some nacfonal

axposure on it.

Ed Montgomery did in factc find that Bud had not been lLiving
necessarily on toads or lizards or on gpoose grass or whatever !rnii
up there in the hilla. His wife, 1 think, had suffered zome kind ¢ :
colliwobbles, and the Boyd party did in fact come down out of the
hills & week or so after the start, maybe even earlier. I wish I
could remember it & Iittle more clearly, but it was all publishad in
the Chronicle. And I talked to Bud when I got back te 5an N
Francisco. 1 sald, "Bud, you'we got to tell me the truth. You have
put this paper in & ferrible position, just terribla. You'we gor T&
tell me the truth. What did happent®

He had written in one of his diary stories sbout how, golly,
what really saved him, they found hanging frem the limb of a tres &
cache of food and uupplitn cthat had been left behind by a huntnr--hi |
said. And {n the cache he said they found geme foed, you knﬂw. 7
all that stuff. Bud was lying in his teeth--to me. A&nd he told me



iner settled their
ﬁﬁﬁncﬂtqg ‘to the finest traditions

his story was 1!lit1nﬂtl. It was fascinating encugh
wsed this rumpus. I don't know that Bud would have
a Hﬂm‘w blast, lat alene an atom bomb from the way

The Beal Success Story

" Hewhall: How the most fascinating aspect of the Last Man sapga is this--and
ic's almwost an historic part of this whole interviewing that's going
on with me now. On the third day of "The Lasc Man on Earth® the
Chronicle passed the Exgmiper in circulation and we've been ahead of
| the Examiner ever since. And this was the end of the Examiner. Bud

Boyd and "The Last Man on Earth® were an historic prometlon. I'm
gsorry 1t turmed out In the mess that it did, but [t was lot of fun
while it was going on, even so, you know, it kept you busy.

But I have always been sensitive to the fact that many people,
and mogtly these sort of professional mamaging editors and executive
editors around the country, were convinced thac we, the Chroniels,
ware trying to hoax the people. It was Bud whe was heaxing us!

Rless: 1 used that word "hoax" with vou once before and 1 realized you were
- sensitive to it.

| ¥ewhall: Yes, that's why,
I Riess: 50 what did you do? Did you fire Bud?

Hewhall: Mo, he just sort of passed out of the pleture, I think he began
| taking money or something for publicity in his woodsman's column,
And he got down to Central America and some travel promoters used
him as a front, you know, the Bud Boyd Nature Camp or Hunting Camp
In Costa fiica, some kind of a promotion. He may have left the
Chionicle, I'm not quite sure, I never would fire him because that
| would have been too much of a mess, He discredited himself




Biess:

HNewhall:

Rieas:

Newhall:

lot of that, or upnd to, and I guess thgr iuil do.

Anyway, we did pass rhe Examiner then and we ;i‘l.ﬁ:lt”.m d to
elimb. That was the Egamiper's summit or peak and they declined
basically ever since.

1 can see how they were powerless, although Ed Hﬂnh;pqtrg
did very well on that.

Yes, he did a rerrific job. And I tell you, persomally I would
never have gotten my hands in thera and dug under thelr privy with 3
little spade.

After somebody llke Ed Montgomery does a great job like thar, Hiﬁ
you aver hire them away?

Oh, we hired a lot of their people. Let's ses, who dld we hiref

Herb Caen, of course, came back, but he had been ours originally.
Yes, two or three young men came over., MHichael Grieg, he was &
reporter. Harry Jupiter in sports. Some of thelr resporcers. Butc
they didn't have anybody at a higher level we were interested im, I
don’'t think. ]

One last comment. On the Bud Boyd story, some people would M
say, "You're an editnr, and when it failed you should have pub shed
it as a news scory.” 1 sald, "Why? Look, you read Dick Tracy in.
the paper every day, but the editors don't publizsh tche qnﬂ:iuniﬂn
each episode shead of time. You publish it day by day and then th T
end Inevitably happens on schedule.® 1 couldn't understand what
they were a8ll so upset about. I really ecan't still. |

They were frightened becsuse they knew that Bud had failed.
didn't say, "The last man falls" before we'd published the whole
story, which I think fs a very Interssting story. I just dom't
understand it. We never said it was news, we just said, "We're



1mn -every aditor if ha's worth anything has teo have scme
ﬁl‘ﬂan! & mission. Every editor is a messiah no matter what they
% &nli Hnlﬂﬂ want you te fellew thelr path and other
messishs--it's cleser to my own attitude--simply set up a situation
so the readers or the people can make up their minds or discover for
‘._Ehl:lll_ll‘v“ that there is more than one answer to everything, that's
all. It's a little bit of spinoff from the Universicy of Califernia

philosophy department.






_éﬂ%ﬂﬁﬂ#ﬁﬁ;ﬂl was great after the firsc couple of years.
;'Eﬂ'.‘ﬂ:ﬂlt to get away from the old sort of Paul Smith
_ but pratty soon wupln began having & good time because
‘had ¢1%;1£ fun, We had parties all the cime for different
'ﬂumt E:E; neﬁ;l.mm and things. When we passed the Examiner--

- re 1 promised the staff the bi champagne Fa:ty'in
‘history, We had a huge champagne party. {DHEE;IEE the party we wers
iﬁlﬁ'tﬂ'pnhtiﬂh the nexc day's paper.) 1 sald, "Is there anything
jﬁu*tﬁuﬂ? What can I do for all of youd"

They wers complaining about the men's room being & mess, they
had an old-fashioned trough for the wash basins in there and stuff,
So we had pold-plated swans and dalphins put on all the spouts.
That seemed to make everybody happy. [laughter|]

Ihe Police Daparsment

Riess: Perhaps a subject to tackle would be the paper's rtkpqnslhlllty Eo
*l the San Francisco political scena.

dewhall: Well, perhaps we can set the stage for this ares of the Chionicle's
involvement in political and social envirenmental accion in S5an
Francisco, The stage on which I appeared, the San Francisce
nevspaper stage, was one In which the city politically, morally,
soelally, was basically dominated by the Examiner. The goed old Ex
swned, body and soul, the police department and the mayer's office,
Fow vou cannot begin te exercise yvour own influence and power uneil
you either liberate che mayor and the police department, or take
control of chem.

S0 my absolute, and T knew at the time, [lrstc respensibility In
terms of San Framclsco newspapering was to knock off the Exasiner's
influence and contral of the mechanics of government. And Lt was

| net only the police department, all the different divisiens. the




Riass*

Newmall;
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Hewhall:
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~ To ser abour correcting that A
dastroy the P?“!i'qf the liiﬂllgg;?F VRt eve:
reasonably lndmplndlnt and honest BYOT.
straighten out the police department. -
supplant the Examiner as the basic Hu-hqmrIHUl:an -
politieal 1ife, soeial 1ife of San Francises, Now th

bagan.

These powar hases that the Exapiner had, had te do with old Irish
Catholic ties, or whatc?

Partially they were Into the archbishop's office. I'm not a
Catholic at all myself, but you hear ma ::a.ik quite & bit about m
church one way or another. You know when we sent Bud Boyd into the
bush we got a priest--we wanted an honest witness to warch Bud |
into the wilderness and so on, (After all the Examiner's “hnlﬂf
ruspus I think che prieat may have been as & matter of fact
defrocked or burned at the stake by the Holy See because he went
along on this.)

There's a great Irish Catholic influence historically in San
Francisco, and it's not parcicularly bad or good, you know, it's
just thare. Although the owmers of the Chropicla, the deYoung
family, are good practicing Catholics and very active in this, the
Hearscs--cthey were just sort of atheists, or agnostics or npu:tltntj
god knows what. But the Chropicle, the deYoung family, never played
along with or seemed to take any orders frem the archbishop's |
office. Th-y flgured, 1 think, the archbishop was weorking for thlma

they weren't working for him.

Well, what is it that makes for this old boy network between the
Examiner and the police departmentc?

I think most of the Exsmiper readers were probably Catholics and
Hearst was playing along to that.

So-it 15 that.

Oh yes, I think fc's just--you can't really get that into & numwﬁ:ulé
axactly, but you ses the "decency," the "respectabilicy" I have
been calkling about, it all comes from that middle class, blue



Hawhall:

; 2 o
h did a series of stories and it started a

: Eﬁlwuhﬁll point of {t was that the San Francisco police
.uiitnnfﬂ-wuru on the take, uneducated, and so0 on and so forth. They
were in great part a bunch of nnnvivill tesspots, sort of. Ha

=ﬁtﬂ!ta& his police series of stories with the old story--it's

[ guess, been used ﬁvarywhar=~—uf the San Francisco cop

.ihn found s dead horse at the corner of Guerrers and lith Streec and
‘he had to drag the animal up the block to Church Street because he

didn'tc know how co spell "Guerrero." It went from there downhill
all the way. About how the San Franclsco cops were amisble boozers.
1 don't know, you'd have te read it. I can't even remember it all,
but it was very effective,

Then Charlie and T talked it ower amd I said, "Charlies, we'we got to
get a maver.” Elmer Fobinson had been mayer of 5San Franoizen for s
long time. He was a Mason--there’'s a strong Masonic strain, teo, in
San Franclisco., Elmer was {mvolved to a certain extent with the
Woodlawn Cemetery--although that’s supposedly non-sectarian, it's
gsorc of Masonle in spirit--aslong with Leo Halley, who was one of the
old bov supervisors.

We knew George Christopher, a popular supervisor, was going to
run. I said, "Look, we've got to be first, we'vs gor to endorse a
good man, He's got to be honest, he's got to play it down the
middle; We can’t ask him just to work for us, That's no way to go.
If we let him be honest then he's geing to work for us, because
honest people work for us. They don't work for the Examiper.”

Charlies agreed, and this was about eighteen months before the
election, This was early. 5o we gor GCeorge to come in and talk



Fewhall:

gk
mayor 2 ever e o
mnlﬂﬂ-ﬁ?;immhmm
to preside ac. H-Hutmwﬂk-iﬂ<
uﬂ!—'nr:n-lrnmurnﬂ:ﬂ:h:‘hlﬂn
and the (hronjcle.
ﬂanlmn:ling

He said, "I want to tell you unuth;l:ﬂ; nhmai: Mﬂwﬂ ' He
said, *"The firstc day I was in che office the police chief ap 1
in my office, He gaid, "Now, Mr. Mavor, where ﬂﬂ?ﬂlﬂﬂt.ﬂl '_ '
bring the envelope?' And I said, ‘VWhat mln.pﬂ" And he said,
‘Well, the envelope with the money im fc."" {!hlu is EQn:‘g.

Christopher spesking.) It had been the Er&:tlﬁa in Eﬂn !rihﬂlihl
the old days, the bag man would come in with the money from off th
beats, or people whe wanted favors, this, thac, and the other.

George said, "I told him to get out of my office and never to
come back, and I changed the police chief, and there's never been
anything 1ike that while I was in the office,” HNow he had no res '*.
to say all this at this southern California occasion of which I'm
speaking a year ago. But I believe him totally, People have their
friends and so on, bat he was ‘an honest man. ' N |

Anyway, Ceocrge did becoms mayor, and from then on afcar the
police had been shaken up by George, more people and pulittqiﬂnl |
begen coming te che Chronicle to diszcuss what pt-u-hlm they may 113

had, and fewer to the Examiper, because the Exgminsr began ﬂhmg;l.ng
their publishers and their aditors. They were in so much troubla.

Enviropmentsl Advocacy

The Chronigle then, from that point, participated in or led the way
in some of the envirommental planning or decisioms or fights that ,
went on, After we published a series of intersating and
controverslial eplsodes asbour the Callfornia water plan, the i
froeways, the state withholding tax, we managed to get Into rthe |
pants, in a sense, of the governor. The Governor was Pat Brown
after & while, Goodie Enight was povernor at firasr, I think, in 1
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Riass:
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;Eu ?nﬂn Champion, Michael Harris, Allan Temko, some of the
stories they did were u,p.ﬂfiun:! Toemko alone made the Catholics

- redesign and redo their new cathedral here in town. It was a

‘horrible thing they had originally designed. And building che
bridge down in the South Bay--.

You qpnlldlr the architecture to be the enviromment, I take it?
When I'm talking about the environment I think of things like bay
fill and so en. You're talklng about the visuval environment.

It's all part of the same. 0Oh lord, yes.

These pecple that T mentioned, Michael Harris, Dale Champion, Hareld
Gilliam, did they start out being envirommental writers?

I think fc all developad. Harold Gilliam had come te work om This
World, I think, writing news stories. On his own then he went out
and began doing stories on places, ¥ou know, narture stories on
Tomales Bay, or here and there. He just had chis affinicy for ic,
He began doing mere and more reporting Like this and would get his
stuff published with us or In magazines, or finally in books 1
believe. Harold plowed his own field there, and he did beaucifully.

Would wou say that one of your strengchs was allowing people to plow
their owm fialds?

Certainly, I tried te find people who had these many, many gifes.
And they were marvelous ‘people., I would try to channel them. As I
say, I would try te get =zomebody to write about the epvironment or
about the fréeways or about the water plam or aboutr BART, because.
this was &ll so exciting to San Francisco. And aslso about topless
bars and about crime, shout prostitution, you name it. It's all
part of the city.




Riess:
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‘sugcessful edicor, the sensible, ﬂgulitﬂvpg

animal--he is, or he should be, an

magazine This World my citle and et 1
number of guys and women, during the war

the editor who can take anybody's copy and
knowledge and underscanding--thsc's niunli:ryw*in 1hitﬂ ]
product expresses even batter what they wers tﬂﬁiﬁ;fﬁﬁquhﬁ":q  a
day later they will be convinced nhlt.thlr hl#iﬁiti#tlﬁﬁliltr',_ =
of 1t and it hasn't been touched. Vgt

Mow this iz a challenge for any editor. You cake some of thess
people who are sensitive or prima donnas, you might call them, and a
lot of them don't like to be sdited. When you can have them come
back for more and thay feel that evervthing thay've wriutnn'ﬁliwul__:
from thelr own pen, which it has spiritually, but you've perhaps

sharpened it a little here or done this or that--. T

Edicing Is not simply a business of cuttlng up a stery or
tramping on it. What I call edicing is the process of #timul::ﬁhﬂ
or otherwise encouraging your writers--who are already great, ln
this case--to write their greatesc, that's all, The editor never
gets the by-lines, he never gets any glory, he sits there. But &1l
these wonderful people produce. And after a while thev're all in
their own mold and you don't even bother te look at their copy.

Like Herb Caen, has isn't sdited really, in terms of actual
galicing here and thers., 1'd try to persuade him to recasc or amend
some ltems, The ldea of editing anv successful publication iz to
develop writers who can preduce, who do not need editing or who do
not need discipline, But ['ve always tried to ancouragse them, o
excita them. ]

Training Hew Journalists

Did vou hire a lot of people right out of jeurnallam school?



Riess:

‘Hewhall;

ﬁtu:::

L

it's l:nruﬁ ﬂrr us down there. And

r a fbn# before you decide whether er not
| then by that time the cub reporters have
thﬂr go somewhere else for twice the salary. Time
I'm speaking now of a small paper.

The Chronfcle, we had just very little momey to spread around,
I'm not defending this as being a good approach, but I felt we did
not have time or money to put much energy inte training anybody or
developing anyone. We had to take people who were more skillful and
who could reapond more guickly to the challenge of Lt all.

So did you end up hiring people away from other papers?

Bome of the Besc

Oh yes, Michael Grieg we got from the Examiper. Warren Hinckle, I
got him from the Foghorp out there at the University of San
Francisco. He was a good writer. He despised the Chronicle, he
held us in the greatest contempt when he was, you know, plugging
away there on cthe Foghern, but he came around. He's a bigger and
bettar freebooter than che lot of us now, He's the best, but he
doea need an editor. And then we have some of our copy hoys who
have come aleng, '

1 tried to hire Tom Wolfe to do something for the Chronicle,
but he was riding high on his way already. 1 tried to hire Jessica
Mitford, I tried to get her to write sports for us, but she didn't
want to go along with the gag. She's a pretty good writer, 1
didn't care where they came from or what they thought 1f I felt that
they could indeed write some stovies that would have a certain chamm
and fascination about them.

Were Dave Perlman and Milt Silverman both science writers when you
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certain beat and m'u-;t‘ﬁi:
mﬂ':mmithtm;dmh
What about Jim Benet?

Jim was an ¢ld schoolmate of mine from Eﬁ:‘tnlni
Bovs. thmmwrtfnruﬁwhmhnlwnﬁu&

He did educacion?

Was that 1t7 He married Janie Gugel, 1 know that, Where is he now?
He's not working for us now, is he?

1 think he went on {nte television at the time of the strike,

Oh yas. Jim was kind of wandering around, in a sensa. Ha was
erying to find, I think, what he really wanted. He had had, ﬂdﬂlgq
anough, & nnupln of minor pollitical problems, and we had to
straighten that out for him. Jim was a good, smart boy. Some of
these kids would come te work--I say "kids," I'm sorry--they'd come
to work, and some of them were a little doctrinaire. We would try
co get them ce reélax and enjoy it all.

Hanaging Editors

You said chat scmebedy whe doesn't get much credit was Corden Pates
the managing editor,

Yes, sure, Gordom kept all the animals in line., He got the paper
out. He came to us straight out of Washington University and went

to work on This World magazine when I was editor of the World. Them
he follovod me as editor of the World. Then when I became Sunday
edicor and left that, he became Sunday editor. Then when' I got this
lagt job I got him to serve as managing editor, I

There was a problem, and I might as well mention ic. Tha
Chronicls was owned by the deYoungs, and historically the deYoungs



"conserv :

-possibly my clesest personal friend
) mm;‘vhﬂhﬂhmﬂm;!n;tﬂtnn We
';ﬁiﬂii very supportive and so on. But lLarry was
0 'y L think, nnuuttn.m confusing doctrine with journmalism.
It was just an upsetting kind of factor, and I finally had to part
with him. It was a very painful thing. Ha went on to the Chicage
Lif - and we centinusd eur personal friendship, but (t was
g}!!iﬁqlt__ That was when | put Gorden Pates in as managing editor
o :ngiaui him, because Gordon didn't care what any teporter was
1ike, just as long as he could be as accurate as possible about his
caverage. You know, Dogma did not fit in with Corden.

Japanese-Amexican Belocationdd
[Interview 6: April 18, 1988]

- Mewhall: You were asking about the days when the Japanese-Aimericsns here in

N the West Coast were relocated. Ve were speaking of rescicucion for
Japanese who were intermed. The old people certainly should receive
restitution, because so much of their property was elther sold at
fire zale prices or simply deteriorated. And here was a wvast, wvasc
miscarriage of American justice in that thing. I went and visited a
couple of the relocation camps during the war. See, a lot of my
friends were up thera.

Blens: How had cthey come to be your friends?

Hewhall: o©Oh, from Cal and around. But why I'did it is because it was so
\ unjust and so ipproper at the time, and believe me I knew it, It

was obviously & violation of the whole American constitutiensl
system. You know, thers were an awful lot of people who were hurt
--there's this oversimplification of everything. They say, gee, the
fmerican peeple--the white American people--wanted the Japanese to
go into camps. Well, maybe they did. They slso wanted the Germans
and Italisns put in camps, bur it's pretty hard to separate the
Germang and Italians out from the resc of us mongrel American
caucasians, Thig Japanesa relocatlion was just a local ching en the
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responsible for nllmd::; it teo h-;-pm,.
Were you reporting on this for Eht=Fl!ﬂfif

Oh, sort of. I wrote a couple of pieces, but T just felt very badl)
about Lt,

Do you think that your pieces brought it more to the attention of
pecple? Was there a response to the pleces?

Oh, no, nobody cared.

But you'd go up there to one of these camps on the backsida o
the Sierra Nevada mountainsg and you'd =ee all these people's
automoblles rusting oucside. They lostc thelr cars, they losc theic
homes, It was terrible. I don't know, I just feel so badly that
now it's sort of simplified down to, well, the Japanese and
Japanese-Americana were put in :hara and uvatyhndj else wag illltnE
te allew {t. This wag a milivary, Army decision. And Reosewele
went along with it, and he never should have, he had no reason to da
ic. I don't know why I'm waxing so--. In the Hawaiian Islands they
eouldn’t lock up the lssel and Nisel because they'd have to lock up
most of the people In the Islands. It was terrible.

I can never forget Lt and nobody should ever be sble to excuse
it. The Japanese-Americans have every right to feel as bitter as
they do, There ware a couple of suits by Japanese-Americans wio h,'¢
suffered this indignity. One girl back in Montana or somewhere, the
day after V-J Day, the court declded the detention was indeed
unconstitucional. Well, [t was unconstituticnal from Day One; net
just starting with V-J Day.

This had, I think, more to do wich my basically cynical
attitude toward our democratic government than anything else that
ever happened. This was a total violation of the American "dream,”
or anything elsa you want to call ie. It was improper, it was
terrible, and [T have no respect, basically, for our government

1|
|

g
l.



 #n artiole eared in cthe Chropicle. over which I had no say,
(A8 I say, I was then editor of the Sunday news magazine, This
World.) This article was abour how the Japanese-Americans, whether
or not they were citizens, whether or not they were Nisei, were all
‘here because the Emperor of Japan had decreed that the Japanese
emigrancs who went to this country should reproduce and develep
American citizens in this country. Presumably these new Americans
of Japanese ancestry would have sentiments emotionslly tied in with
Imperial Japan and that thay could function as & kind of Fifth
column in time of war.

This bunkum was an old myth put about by the McClatehy papers,
really, in Sacramento. The McClatehy papers at that time were not
quite as preminent as they are now, But they did represent a volce
of the Callifornia Ffarmer. particularly In the Central Valley, whers
thare had been historic Oriental prejudice because of the
competition between the immigrating Oriental farmers and the older
gore established Anglo farmers. The older middle western Central
Valley farmers were bitterly disposed toward the prosperity that the
griental farm families were achieving because of their work ethic.

I can't say much more than that about [r, but this enraged me.
I talked to Bill Chandler who was then the managing edicor. He had
ordared me to put this story into This World. I went up to Bill and
zaid, "Hey, what are we running chis story for?™ He said, "Well,
you know,™ or something like thacr. I don't know exactly what he
told me, but I was still so dissacisfied I went down and calked to
Chestaer Rowell, who still had che ticle of editor of the Chronjcle,
though he sat in a little office on the second floar, This would
have to be in early 1942, Rowell understood, and he talked about
the problem with McGlatchy and the rural attitudes and this, that,
and the other,

1 said, "Well, I just have to go on record with this that I



Biess:

Newhall:

& lot of puupll don't realize ft,
camp police, were mobilized from the
chem inmatez--the Japanese-Americans. In I!m;m;

basically totally lax. Nobody really cared, but these
had nowhere to go. See, these camps were h;qingll;
the east side of the Sierra. Some yhung man iﬂﬂ]ﬂ
and head for the mountaina, H!?hu they wanted to ghfhﬂlﬁ
something. Nebody ever bothered to chase them or tupﬂnt
know of ., The superintendent simply said, "They'll be hiﬁk
or two, They're going to get cold up there camping llnug;id; ﬁhﬁP
stream and they'll come back." And they did.

30 vou went really as an observer out of your ewn interesc, but you
wrote a few stories asbout ic? '

Yes, just an account, It really struck me how American everyone
really was, and {t seemod so pltiful. 1 think very shortly
thereafter I went off to the war, so-called. But I will never
forget it. 1 talked to all the army PR guys and the FBI and tha =
police, It was so unnecessary and it came right down to twa =&
personalities, as far as I could see. One was General John deWite,
who was the commanding officer of what used to be the Ninth Army
Corps. John L. deWitt, T think it was. And Franklin D. Roosevelt, |

The fact that Roosevelt would allow this to take place--you
sea, I had a great respect for him, although I think I never veted
for him--the Fact thar he would allew this to take place horrified
me, because this was not constitutional, I don’t care what any : {
stupid lower court or judge said at the time. I'm sure anybody ¢ -,'
see gnd appreciste this now. But then it was a ?utj diffarent ' _|
world,

Anyway, I'm sorry I got inte that,



Rless;

| Mewhall:

'

0 EMBNCE .
=y =

‘There was the regular police beat and all that., But there was a loc

* to cover in Barkelay in the 1950s scientifically, with the Radiation
‘Lab and the development of nuclear investigation and muclear

up at the Cyclotron, &ll that scuff. That was the big

‘story out of Berkeley then, the sclence.

‘And there were sclence reporters.

Oh yes, but Ruth would be on top of it, really, We used to
entertaln them, Seaborg and that handsome young man whe came up with
the dinosaur extinction theory recemtly,

Alvarez,

Yes, Luis Alverezr. Seae, they all lived near us. All our kids were
in nursery school togecthey, BSo sghe was pretty ouch posced on a lot
of that stuff. In some respects 1 think the coverage of a lot of
things io Berkeley--this is previous to the collapse of Berkeley as
a social and éultural institution--the coverage was very good in the
Chroniele, T would hardly bother to cover it anymore,

Ruth had access to so many of the faculty membérs--not so many,
but a few. She knew them well and chey had sutual confidence. She
could cover it pretty easily, vyou know, it's not like hiring some
little kid to come in and start off as an intern over there, saying,
"Where's Wheeler Hall?" or "Where's Sather Gate?"

Where did she write from? Home?

Oh no, no, there was a press room down at the Berkeley police
statlon., You float arcund, Yeu come into your desk, Yyou read the
papers, vou see somebody or you hear semeching or get a tip, or
somebody in the paper over in San Pranclseco gets a lead and they
say, "Hey, what about this?" or something. You see, the news has ta
originate somewhere, 5he knew old Dr. Birge, Professor |[Raymend T.|
Birge and "Earthquake Andy"™ Lawson., It was a regular sert of beat,



Hiese:

Mewhall:

Biggg:

Hewhall:

If you have a good beat reporter he is
unqhahm:lmmhnlnmt“'
is, and probably sarlier. Now I can't de o
nature of the animal. Lat's take Dave Perlman. T

chapter and verse on this, but he would have, I'm sure
personal working relacionship with all the w mgﬂ*&k
University in the area of the sciences and so on, and they
each other at parties or occasions, funnﬁlnul h;pﬁpmiﬂgg

you call lc, He'll say, "Well, how are you uuuing.uiﬁh.
the--" such-and-gsuch a virua ur.snuuthin; like that. _$ﬁﬁ
good chance that he may get what some people would call a le
of an early discussion on the matter, and will be after it.
develop from there in & number of different ways.

free Sipesch Debate

Whén did you and Buth and the Eh:nn;;lg get the first 1ﬂk11n; of
student unrest?

Well, if there's unrest you're going te hear about it pretty fast,
aren’t you, from the policae?

From the police?

Well, if there's any seriocus unvest, yes. But there's always bsen
unrest at Berkeley. You want to get inte the student unreat or F
Speech Mowemenc? Leat me say this, because maybe it will help

straighten Lt out, The Free Speech Movement was only a stranger,
more sctive example or episzode of student turmeil than there had
basn for the lasc few decadas, But to me it was alwave very

unimportant and just & nuisance and was bad for the Universicy. I
don't consider it a major factor in the soclological development c
the educational system on the West Coast,

But we did have to cover all these people running around als



_m_mmwmIWﬁmnthq
g power ls In a nega thﬂnfﬂ{"lmd;m :
~wwﬁuﬁ#nmsmt ly did attract
i ﬁ:ﬂthﬂﬂ-n‘iﬂlmmmm "My

. BT e Ll tﬁnﬁththg wrong here." BPBut a studenc rumpus in
i y--1 may be ;ntttng around and off the side--che student
Eﬂﬂi@ﬂl in Berkeley on the streets of Telegraph Avenue or at Sather
;ﬂ;th £l=¥IIt£? much Iunt a nulszance to most of the public. I do not
: er it as belng a very powerful thing.

Well, if it brings ocut the police and tear gas and the National
CGuard--

Well, that's because the police aren’t very smart sometimes.
But there do seem tCo be power {ssuss once you gerC guns out,
Wall, iz a disturbance of the peace a power issue?

Thiz iz really & kind of cuckoo disctussion because I'm here to find
out from you.

| HNewhall: Ho, but homestly, I'm trying to answer you. As an editer [ did not

' congider generally--1 wouldn't cever the student demonstrations,
protests, whatever you want to call lt, as anyching more than a

| demonstration or a protest, and maybe try te find out what these

| kids are telking about, you know, as you would & riot at Glant
Stadium because the Gisncs lost a game or semething. Hew ['m
exaggerating, honestly. I'm sure that te anyone whe was in
Berkeley, those were great days of important turmoil--that it all
mattered and went somewhere. Buc where did ic go?

Ripga: Digd che ‘sericusness of all this cteke wyou by surprise?

Wowhall: See, now there's where we ‘dapart. You coma [n with Che premise chac
it was gerious,

. #itts? Ultimately it became serious,




Hewhall:

Riesg:

Kewhall:

m‘ﬁlﬁ-'
fe. Oh, I know we coversd ir. We had
tear gas. Ihﬂuh‘&#m:tm
using mace, humhhi.t-muf_
But I don't think that was s student

I'm not being very sensible or reasos
was certalnly serious in that the Berkele
been one among many public protests against
And it probably came along--when did tiﬁ#fﬂu
1 reslly don't remember. Early ﬂi#,ﬁﬂi?

Well, the Free Speech was 1964, 1 came here In the if#ﬁhl
campus where nobody did anvthing. Se it is crue that I m_:!ﬂb
sbsolutely wowed by such a live community as Berkeley was then.

Yes., Well now, you pust remember, [ was In h:lr.-ll:r !:'n .lhuuﬂ Rﬁ
to '35 or '37 on the campus. And there were student protest L .
meatings every day down at Sather Gate, screaming about something.
S0 this was more of the same, but ‘[:{-I!-Ihh.pa on & somewhat more lush
level.

I think it was just fine that they protested. Buc [ think I
mentioned sarlier, from my point of view as a newspaper editor, I
was in complete gsympathy with vhat these people sald chey wers |
trying to achleve, what they were after, but I considered them more
or less A nuisance in en attempt to trying to achieva the reforms
which they said they wanted. Every rime you get a student protest
you have more problems in Congress with the right-wing congressman =
from che Middle Wese, or out here In Orange County or somewhere. 5o
voil take a step backwards, almost, becausa the wrong people are 1
protesting for the right thing. Hmr do you follow what I'm tcying
to gay thera?

Tes.

And it'as still the case. The minute the guys with all the beards
and everything else get out protesting something, now 1 know we're
going te have--. And I'm usually totally in sympatchy with tht-,_
vhat they want, But thac's net alwvays the best way to achieve it.
And 1 do not think-well, I don't know. I can’'t say much more.



Mewhall:

Biegs:

fitﬂﬂuhtﬁ. or th- citizen to speak up and p:ﬂtﬂlt the goverrment

S0 you would write sn editorial to that effect.

[ can't rvemember, [ can't remember. We probably normally would have
written an editorial, certainly, and I probsbly could find them,
saying, "These students are correct. Now let's get with it, let's
pay attention."

Vietnam 1964

I think most of this comes from Vietnam, Vietnam didn't really get
underway until about "64%. When did cthe Free Speech Hovement get
going?

In September 1964. Johnson sent troops in 1965 to Viecnam.

Yes, okay, Vietnam, that's what we're talking about really. And
this is the student manifastation of the antagonism roward the
Vietnam War., And there were lots of other people who were
unfriendly to ft, bucr the studenc protest and demonstrations did
underline it, there's no question about ft, The Chronicle,

promise yvou, was againsc Vietnam. As far as I was concerned, I sort
of had it out with Charlie on that subject, and the Chropigls was:
against it from 1964 on. In '6) Kennedy was killed [MNow. 22, 1%63],
s0 it was about '63 thac the Chronfcle got on it, because ]
remember - -when did these Buddhistc monks burn themselves up In publilc
down there in Salgon do you remamber?

Ko. Gosh, ] remember that piecrture.



I remember turning to Ruth
you do me a favor? Will you go back ove:
And let's ger this scraight." When was Diem
1963.] That was under Kemmedy. So that would b
it was all terrible thare. This 1s where it

Ruth went through precty such the whole histery of In
and we just came out with & total concept that this was &
thing that the United States was on, that we were playing a
the Archblshep or with that outfit in Rome, the Vatican, to a4
certain extent. And we'd héve to do something to try to calm
down. Because, again., when people are burping themselvas in procest
and 50 on and so forth, there's something wrong.

e

It was obvious that this Vietnam thing was no good and
Inevitably It was poing to damage our eountry. Thisa mors or less
prevailed in terms of our editorisl attitude. -Certainly it
influenced our news coverage of Southesst Asias:

By the way, aon the subject of the Chronicls's attitude toward
and coverage of Vietmam--I don't think I have mentioned that in a
king of final atcempt to provide some falr coverags of the Vietnam
mess we gent Feli¥ Greene over rCo put Cogacher some- kECories out af
Forch Vietnam--from Hanoi. 1 don't know whether or nat you remember
Felix, but he was an old time suppesedly left-leaning journalise. A
little flaky maybe but a well-known liberal. He was a brother of
Graham Greens, the widely admired novellst., Well, Fellx did indead
get us some stuff out of Haneoi, although this was considered taboo
by my old friends of the establishment crowd. And I was very
pleased wa could do this. 1 cannot recall exaccly when thils was,;
but I imagine It was during the days when Jane Fonda was having
A hard time because of her tles with Horcth Viecnam.

I'wve gor off the atudence a liccle bic, bue then the students
came aleng and the whole country caught fire. And they didl It w ;f
very important, tha part the scudents did play as a group, as again
culpinating in this horrible Kent Stace thing [May &4, 1970]. The
country caught fire and then we vent cthrough these horrible years of
Vietnam and Johnson and then Hixon.



d in precty much Mﬁhfﬁﬁtiﬂ almost
pormissive way. Certainly my own attitude and
i 'h thi#r-rﬂw always been one to rebel, or not rebel, to
pine the #qhﬁ:hlm:. the current mode of l'.hﬂl.lght--ﬁ'[ thought
Eﬁmt::j' needed & good shaking up.

Then you get the next phase, the homosexual revolution or

whatever you want to call it. San Francisco has been a lictle bit

in the forefront of all this, the hippies and AIDS and all those
things, 1 don’t know what response you're looking for, what you
want me to say now, what you want me Co discuss,

I am interested In the role takem by the daily paper in a city where
50 many trend stories breal.

A lot of these storles break in San Franciseco becauge--again, I
think we digcussed it earlier--traditionally San Francisco has been
2 very wide-open, permissive city. 5o many of these--if you want to
call them free souls or kooks or whatever vou want to call them--
come out here because they can express themselves, and find a lot of
Eellow free souls or freaky friemds. In all of history, Sam
Francisco has been one of the greatest free rides that has
incorporated itself as a cley.

Editerially, I have slwayas felt that everyone should be free to
express himeself without any parcicular restraint as long as he
doesn't bocher the neighbors. Or, as chey say, you can do It in che
stroets as long as yvou don't frightem the horses.

e

Well, after a while all the free souls came out here and they were
given so much free rein that things got a little out of hand, to the
point of boredom. ['m noc sure that all this early San Francisco
permissiveness and the freedom of the American youth or the American
people from the shackles of traditions has all been to the good.

But I've always respected anyone's idaa to express himself In any
way he wishes so long as it does not seem so unbalanced as to be a
danger to so-called Society with a capital §.




Riess:

Hewhall:

Rigas:

Mewhall:

Wall, I know it, hutthupmphihumﬂvmﬁn
are not very sophisticated.

So you were the enlightensd opposition. e -
1

Well again, we weren't shooting for--T1 dom’'t know, tf yuu!ggu
to divide our society into sorc of two camps, we weren't ihun =
for either one. We were trying to -:tlhliih.nn environment in which
both coulé operate and put forth their own u—gﬂmtl. ﬂ:-l: m
sentiments. We were, after all, a newspaper. I've been sp ng
very much in a sense today of bheing a 'pm:ti_l.u.m .4 p:!mmﬁt 4 '
all this. But cur function as a newspaper In a sense was to
mirror what the people, what soclety, what the establlishment ur
establishment are doing.

1 just knovw that all the major metropolitan papers in the |
United States of America more or less go down the same trail, hand-
in-hand--and an example ls Vietnam. Don't let any of these high-
powered editors do anything except apelogize for the way they went
along with Vietnam,

I forget how I scarted this sentence, or what I was going to
say, but--oh ves, 1 feel 1f all the major nowspapers, or most of
them, the big, heavy, traditlonal papers are going along one road,
there is something wrong. That was basically the Chropicle's '
accitude, unspoken, unwritten, umnmentioned, And it is one reasom
why, among Chese major papers and, In a sense, academlc enclaves im
schools and so on, the Chronjcle has always been considered more tl".‘
legs a maverick, unpredictable and probably untrustworthy--and in
the end unworchy. But anyway, that is the genesis of a lot of 1L,

San Francisco, you said a few minutes age, is a maverick I:ﬂm.mitjf{.i
and the newspaper I guess is mirrering this.

That's right, because 1 love 3an Francisco, and was breught up In



‘Riess:

Hewhall:

Piess:

Hewhall:

| Riess;

an editor. : h g '

Well, I don't know. But this was my role as a newspaper editor.

ey, ﬁu:-juu were true to vourself.

Oh yea, sure. I mean, I think so, yes. I tried to be.

The Universicy, a Force for Democracy

You were & Barkeley Fellow, which is a wery fine thing to be.

I think so. They made a mistake In granting me that distinction,
but anyway, I have always been homored by it. They should have mads
Buth =& Berkeley Fellow--I tried to tell that to Jim Hart one tims--
and not me. But anyway.

Along with gome of the other Fellows you spoke at Sather Gate to
appeal for an end to vialence on May 23, 1969,

Yes, I got it going. I felt that the different organisms of the

Universicy were hurting their own University., We were discussing
this a little earlier. I thought the students were overdoing it,
getting out of hand, that they were hurting the University. Whather
or not 1 agreed with cthem, with these people who were making thesa
rather seripus protests or noisy protests, they were holding the
University up to elther contempr or ridicule, scorn or obloquy or
somathing like that. And that was net good for the Universicy if
Cal was going co maintain its position as the premlere, or one of
the premiere, Incellectual influences in the United States of
America.

S0 this ls a way in which you're & conservative at heart.




Riess:

Kewhall:

Rie=g:
Mewhall:

Riesgs:

Hewhall:
Riesz:
Hewhall:

Riess:

Rewhall:

Stanford in } a
Californiz is nnu-ﬁf the |

the perpetuation of the concept ﬁEAQﬁﬁF%:.nx ¢
that functiona in the Unired States.

Tl it Wonictuios Biytheuid:

The Bay Guardian--I read somewhere that it mhm with W

support of a wealthy San Francisco heir to a dhipgiﬁg_in:&uﬁg
might that have been?

Bill Roth, maybe. It sounds like a cliche description of Bill Roth.
His mother, you know, was Lurline Matson.

An "heir to a wealthy San Franciszeco :hippin; company ™ uln
be one of the Roths or one of the Dollars, 1 imagine probably it
was Bill Beoch, but cthat's ctotally a puess.,

Bruce Brugmarnm--did you know him personally before?
Ko,

1 wvondered if in some way he was an idealist and an sdmirsble
Eellaw.

You'll hear all kinds of things sbout him.
From you?
No, no. From everybody,

Well, I'd 1ike to hear things asbout him frem you. Was he someone
who under ordinary clreumscances vou would have embraced?

¥o, he's not bright ancugh.



ﬂlmgnnnrlnit Hinnesora or Wiseonsin or wherever it was

of Hebraska]--1 want to be very fair, I have bean teld
Ehlt'hn tﬂft there under some kind of a cloud which I think upon
‘examination will not: Pmﬂ to be guite as serious as am people
would like it to be.* 1 forget what It was, cribbing papers or
‘plagiarizing or something, you know, & little desl, not significant.
And he came out here and he made this bigp rumpus, wvou know, hocus-
pocus about setting up his Bay Guardiagn. And this was going to
rattle the cup, blow the whistle and so nh, on the rotten
egtablishment in San Francisco,

And the problem with Brugmsnn is ha never put out a very good
paper. All the professional newspaper people I've ever talked to or
wvho have talked to me about it--I never pald any actention co the
Guardisn. T doubt that I read one copy in my life, maybe two, 1
read where he covered a story I was Involved with. Bruce tends to
oversimplify things, to look for villains and to set them up like in
the shooting gallery. MHe creates the willains and then he shoots
them down, sort of like that. And he did not have the respeet of
much of any newspaperman--1'm sorry to put this down, but I said I
would ba frank. 5o my opinion was he did nect have the respect of
his peera in San Frencisco or California.

It*s cthe one paper in tewn, I think, that either threw out the

#"At the University of Nebraska, whera he edited the student
newspaper during the McCarthy era, Brugmann found himseif defending
in print several liberal professors under fire from the American
Leglion and the Farm Bureau as suspected communists. He barely
survived several attempts to have him expelled from the unlversicy

for what he wrote." p. 177, The New Muckrakers, by Leonard Downie,
J£, The Hew Republic Book Cn . Ings 1976,



Rigss:

Newvhall:

Riess;

Kewhall

_________

......

Etwrthll:hm mrhunmmall., Im' ﬂ ]
the Chroniele tried to hlow it dewn or something

although I may be wreng. But It was widely known, C 1
granddaddy of all reforming cliches, this particular stery.
my term as an editor or a reporter on ﬂmw, o mes
ever came to me and said, "Gee, here's a great story, let's do
something on 1{c," because it had all been done,

And the city I suppose still continues te buy its power in
sort of strange arrangement, and their water--I don't know, !.'fﬁij"
the water I guess themselves, but it was the power deal ﬂ'tl-'.'h PGRE.
And 1 notice this all coming up agaln now. It comes up again ﬁi
again--every fifteen or twenty years. [ don't think any San
Franciscan glves a damn where his power or water comes from, as long
as it's not coming out of his pocket. Well now, Bruce and his
people for example would say, it is coming out of your pockst
because they're charging too much for it because of this ungodly
devilish alliance,

By his raising these guestions did he have a positive effectc on
pews?

Wall, I guess the question if 1 could translate it--did the fact,
that he was publisher possibly imprave the quality of coverage of
the other papers? Is that vhat you have in mind?

Yeos, sure, that's & fine guestion, yes. [laughs]

[ think so. As I saild earlier, I think the city ls nec shead having
a paper like the Guardign--however, I'm sorry it's not a becber | i
pEpET-=in existence. Because I do think s little loud-mouth
eriticism tends to keep some publishers s tiny bit more henest than
they might echerwvise be. [ have no ohjeceion te it at all.

I have serious doubts about good old Bruce's, I don'c know,
techniques or something. Because he coversd oné or two storfes ['ve



Eﬁu:w:mnhmﬂnﬂw Teal estate
'“ﬂhﬁfﬂtﬁu‘fﬁh‘

iﬁﬂn&-ﬂit at that time, and I'm astonished. Because (f
: ' MEWSDAper SVEr Came Sut on behalf of keeping some sanity and

ees in the environment, including your real estate
ﬂiqgihp.tnm and buildine, not only private housing but public works,

i;m the Chropicle. T think we had a magnificent record on that,
1 don't gquite undersctand [c.

Well, that was one of his campaigns apparently.

Do you remember what areas were involved? Is it downtown he's
talking abour? I really am puzzled.

Hﬂu: He alaso tackled the joint operacting agreement and won §$3500 000
apparently,

Hewhall: I don't know why chey paid him off. BReally, I don't. But I think
they figured ic was just going to cost too much to keep fighting and
fighting and fighting it, so they pald him off, I believe, and then
he could keep his paper afloat for a while. 0id you want me to
speak about that In some greater detsail? Because I left sbout them,

Rie=s: 1 thoupght maybe it was mixed in with Charles Thierlec's having te go
to the antl-trust and monopoly subcommittes, Beginning in 1967 the
joint cperating agreement had to be defended.

**In the book (The Ulcimace Highrize, which grew sut of a Sept. 1971
Bay Guardian "investigative reporting supplement”) Brugmamn accused
much of the rest of the media in the San Francisco area of a
conspiracy of silance shout the threat he believed develepers posed
to the traditional city seale and lifestyle of San Franciseco. He
blamed this on the involvement of several media firms in real estate
in the San Francisco Area:, .. KRON/Chronicle-Examiner have sxtensive
real escate holdings...® p. 180, The New Muckrakers, op cit.




e joint ops
‘honestly cannor separate them mﬁ'ini}’ Y
do know that Bruce was the recipient of a se
was baronial. On what basis, I im't::hﬁair. why it 3
way. I think that for better or for worse the jois
agreement has somehow withstood the i.q.l.n: nl.'- ime,
batter or for worse.

Incidentally, on the subject of Mr. Brugmamn. e
while he was {n full ery afcer the gh;gninlg and me ln'i!i!
'70, Brugmann came out with a story sbout I had blin.piﬁkiﬂ L
the San Francisco police for being drumk and ﬂiﬂntth;l:l}* nr
a vagrant. And one of the local San Franciseo radlo statio
might have been KSFD, but I don't think sn--piﬁkmﬁ up the tbul il
put it in a local news program. I think I'm a little fuzzy about
this matter because at the time it happened I was in the middle of
the Atlantic Ocean on board the Eppleton Hall paddling I'H'-I_T o IHII.‘
six-month voyage to San Francisco.

But Ruth got mad and wanted to sue. Now you must remember that
Brugmsnn is “libel proof*--that is, he has no money and cherefore
there's no use Crying to squeeze any blood out of this particular
newspaper turnip. But the radio station was & more responsible and
civiled target. So Ruth had our lawyers bug the station a litcla
bit, and they did want to settle this beef without any sericus
Eumalt.

Well, T had perfectly friendly feelings with the radis gpuya,

*"Brugmann [iled sult against the Chronicle in 1970 and continued ooy
snipe at the SuperChron {as he called the twe joint daily
newspapers) even after he had settled out of courc for 5500,000
cash.® (5an Francisco Magazipe, December 1987, p. '%3.) "The
attention of the natlon's journalists began to focus on the expech
trial in the summer of 1975...but Erupmnn surprised svaryone. II-:F
settling out of court. For $5|:IEI 098, ..* (pp gl g A81.)



n tha ﬁﬂzh* Ghlifntnit ﬁhunpapnr Fuhlinhats Aﬂﬂﬂﬂlltinn.
_"*ﬂhﬁﬂ ﬁauuzﬁ;dﬂ Jjust as a damn nuilinns* because he's
| s sort of "one apaimat the multitude * Perhaps to &
| e than many of us in this business he always jusc
?m assumes the side of the = significant--or insignifiecanc--

ty. I don't know, but there iz a question of professional
respect or integrity invelved from cime to time. I don't like to say
'bﬁ&-uh#h lauut it becauss it will tiuply ba, 1 suppose somaday,
'iﬂtﬁtﬂxurud g3 my personal antagonism. I dom't really react toe
Bruce ar all, one way or another,

I sheuld think that the Chpoplcle pregented a wery diffieulr targer
to him. I’ve got another guote here that calls the Chrenigle the
| "anly abowve pround uvoderpground paper in the United States."+*

L_i'ti:.]t'hhll: That was Robert Sheer, wasn't it? 1 think | read it sesewhers?

You know, you left this little booklet with me, The Apatemy of
Hewepapers in San Frapeisco, by Rivers-and Bubin., T thought
personally lc was very fair and very well done. 1 have np
particular fault to find with it exeepc in the conclusion, which I

*one icle execucive has called Lt 'the only =bove ground
| undarground paper in the United States:,.'" p. 29, A Region's

Pross: fnatomy of Mewspapers in the Sap Francisco Hay Avea, by
William L. Rivers and [David M. Rubin, Institute of Governmencal
Studies, UC Berkeley, 1971. (Noce: The sbove gquote spunds lLike mel
=50




-gnnnrallf Erﬁikinu thnt-thny Htﬁﬁ i

least I respected thelr comments, AT €
perhaps guantitatively, but thiy-wttt
down to saying, “The Chronicle is really a successfu
isn't it too bad?" Fow that's about what they said.

When they get to the conclusion of their: stﬂﬂ m ﬂ@‘,‘,-
must awalt the coming of a publisher whose !ir:t iz que
whose vision is sharp emough to recognize it"--thsy want i .
publisher in San Francisco--"and who works for high ptufitl ﬁhEF
because thny enable him to provide a more Ei;niﬂicﬂut puhlit
gervice.” Well, T ean't disagree with a word they say there,
this ls pretty cbviocus scuff.

They said, "Most Bay Ares newspapers must take the sacond step
of disentangling themselves from local establishments...this ms :
of course, that the founding fsthers envisioned the press as a i
upon government." Well, I tried to say that fifty times, fIfl:'jl' .
different ways In our discusslons here, and I agree ¢unp1=té13 with
what they feel [s the problem and the responsibllicy of puhlhh-{ﬂf
NeWwsSPAPRT .

Then they say, “How woell does Bay Area journallsm pntfntn.thn_
task? To answer the question, cne need only lock at the destructlior
of the locsl enviromment, the pollution of everyching from air to
human relationships, and thu timidlcy of the press In falling to
expose the comtaminators. Well, I can only call the attention _!I_f{'
anyone who comes after us to go back threugh tha Chropicle and
a look at the record of the Chroniele in terms of the snvironment,
pollutants, architecturs, city planning, freeways, the contamination
of our whole culture. And I think the Chronicleg has really a precty
good record. I agree with them, theas are the basie impartant
chings.

They say, "Fot only is the press the sole knowledgeable
adversary to goverrmenc, but alse it 1z the primary source of



I!hy#ﬂ I!I B dhlqk upon goverrment, and a check upon envirommencal
ﬂailuflxu all you can do as a newspaper is just report Lt£7 Yeu
can't go any fﬁrthar than thach

Well, ic depends. We certainly went a lot further. You can report
it Hiﬁh a certain flair, or underline it, or to & greater or lessar
dtgxua you can call it te the attention of the public., We cried so
hard, One of our greatest, if you want to call them promotions or

anything else, crusades--and I did oot get into ones that they would
call good--was the crusade to clean up the Roman Catholie cathedral.

They were going to build this silly, sort of cliche of a church
‘somewherfe out there in Franklin and Geary or wherever it fs5. Allan
Temko alone came up wich such a powerful blast at it on our front
pages that they bulle I think, 1f noc the bezt cathedral, certainly
one of the preatest architectural inscitutions here In the city. It
18 ETBAE.

And we did the same thing--these are specifics--with the San
Mateo Bay Bridge. The state éngineers had plamned an old cantilever
bridge =uch as you might find ac Carquinez Strait, or early
Victorian England, and bBecause of Temko's and the Chronicle’'s Frone-
paga tub-thumping and velling and screaming, they bulit gquite a nice
pre-scressed concrete bridge dewn there, considering.

Then in the truly great fights we had, one of them of course
was with Sacramente, The Chronicls was locked In batctle perpecuslly
over the water development, the state wster plan, fummeling the
water south to southern Csliformia.

We had a bloody batcle with Governor Pat Brewn over the scatce
withholding taxes, which ls a somewhat more bizarre erusade perhaps,
but we lost the battle. I happen to feel terribly stromgly that



Rless:

And then we foughe very hunnp:mmmﬁ’
Pat Brown on the freeways in San Francisco. iﬂd” fina.
em concernad, the Chropicle almost alnui‘uthyglﬁ Iﬁ; asst
furtheranee of the freeway down around the ware i #ia"'
absolutely shot down a freeway chrough Golden Gate ﬁifﬁ

These are just minor lictle things, pithgpa hy#-ﬂhﬂ wa g}:
so hard to try to hold back on lm:h of the i Inm'nt'._ﬂm at the
foot of Telsgraph Hill. In a sense there's been a great deal ﬂt
development since then in that area, but the buildings are ‘Iﬂl'l-
lower because of our fighting. It also has been in somewhat b ter
taste than it would have been. We were very 1nltruignuil in 1 =~~ -t
through the forty-foot height limitation along the watarfront, fhw
buildings right on the waterfront.

I don't know how familiar you are with some of these planning
procedures, and this is self-serving perhaps, but I'll give you an
example of the publiec and the Chronicle, or the press. At one
point, oh, yvou know, I Iimagine in the middle sixties or late
sixties, the talevision stations needed a larger transmitting tower.
They had planned te put up on the top of Twin Peaks a very large,
tall tewer, 1 was vary interested in this because I felt Lt wvas
going to be an evesore. This huge mind-boggling tower, was going to
be a danger. And why put up thls huge skeletal cower?

S0, and this is typical of the way the Chrenicle operated in
its emvironmental crusade, I had them send reporters cut to-ask thes
Twin Peaks neighbors up there, "What about this? Do you want a
tower here?" We tried to get a couple of "spontansous" nelghborhood
groups up there to come out fighting against the tower--you know, it
iz sn old San Francizco custom for two or chree or four peoples to
appear cn the scene or to march inte an editor's office, and claim
they rapresent 300,000 citizens and are speaking for half the world,
and so forth. But in the case of the Twin Peaks TV tower, nobody
gave a damn up there! And so the blg television towar is up there
on Twin Peaks reday,

In other words, you eéncouraged them to organize.



Riegs:

Newhall:

lh‘il: nf ﬂl-ll is Hur

’F# ‘other tower that was controversial was the Transamerica Building
1971].

’Hin‘ftmmmrict Building--by the cime the public and cthese greups
of movers and shakers caught up with iv, they hegan co protesc the
Transamerica Bullding just because it was tall. A lot of people are
suffering under the delusion that "big" is always "bad." There was
not a damn thing wrong with the Transamerica Building. But not
everyone agreed. 5o as far as I was concerned, I don't think
anybody at the Chrenicle ever came out against it much., I den'c
think Herb Caed likes it yet. But that building (s a slgnificantc
landmark that iz of advancasge I think both aesthetically and
Finaneially to the c¢ity. Topecher with the cable cars and Golden
Gate Bridge, it's the single most significant landmark in the eicy.

How 1 just got into that because not all high bullding is bad
and mot all low building is good, you know. 5o Lf you're golng to
edit a paper that's golng to go after these things vou have to
esCablish yourself as some kind of self-anpinted Lorenzo de Hedicl
and decide what is good for the peopla.

&nd then Lf the people aren’'t thankful enough or are fust dreadfully
stupid and small-minded about it, then you just become guite cynieal
after a while._

Well, to a certain extent. I am oversimplifying it, but I think
I've said right aleong, it's better to somehow subliminally persuade
the public to endorse something with enthusiasm rather than come out
and confront them with it at the moment; it's better to get chem
ready for it. You know, you've got to ger & little Spanish fly into
their coffas or something if they want to make love, I don't kmow
how else to put 1t,



Riess:

Hewhall:

‘against it, and the Examiver, of course--this was ﬁ .

the best cmﬂahlu pr#untinﬂ ﬂuy wﬂiﬁ'ﬂ#%~

Examiner as part of thelr approach to San Etlnhiinu
wanted Hacy's advertising more tham they w ';1‘,‘;-“
oversimplifying it, but the need of m:ttqum: ur

out and try to force the mayor to get rid of -l!-llll-ll- M#ﬂ‘,-ﬁﬁ 1
ware succesaful ., :

1 didn't redlize that advertisers wers so sensitive, Did mlﬁﬁ:
advertizers for your scance on Vietnam?

Not really. WNot really. You know, an advertiser, if he's & good
merchant, he uses his advertising essentially to sell his product,
And any merchant who advertises and pays say 5100 for an
advertisement and doesn't get 5101 In net {ncome back 15 a fool.
Because that's why he's buying the space. #And in the end it's tha
dollar that matters, The Chronicle ads, because of the Chronicle's
continued progress, began to make a profit for the adverciser.

Oh, we were despised. [ think some cases, probably some ads
worte killed. But it would have been minor. It never bothered me,
and Charlis never--it mever really came up, because Paul Smith had
fought this our.

Just as an aside, it's kind of interesting, at one point wham!
Paul was [nvolved in the Salinas lettuce strike--he was then the
young revolutionary in town--5herman & Clay, the old music stors,
canceled thelr advertising In the gh;gniglg Tha Chronicle needed
that Sherman & Clay advertising badly. The only edge tha ﬂh:gnlgli
had, &8 I racall at that time in San Franciseo, in terms of ]
advertising llneage, was that we led in advertising lineage "in shoe
stores north of Market Street," and that’s agll, So when Sherman &
Clay called up to cancel, Paul Smith--he's a tougher guy in a EBNSE
than I was, and Helen Cameron was in the business at that moment of



Rioss:

ﬁgﬂhﬂl:

!l"-'!il- can go in either paper. See, that was the touchstone, that
mﬁ:iﬁ?‘ ﬂ’ thnnn sulrs,

Iii_l;_t'_i;.iw_:u_'-l better deal {f you were in both.

Right. But one must slways realize that the agreement would have
been totally imvalld and [1legal L1f you had to force any advertising
anywhers. That would have been out of the questien.

But people migh: choose to make this statement.

Well, in a practical way you could always cancel one out or not go
in the otcher. But you didn't save yourself much money. 5o it was
precty much as you say, a statement and nothing else.

& Dianne Feinstein Story

Did you turn down any class of advertising, any kind of advertising?

1 hope mot, Disnne Felnsteln came in once. She pasted up & lot of
ads for X-raced theaters in 5an Franclisea, BShe was then a yeung,
gung-ho -supervisor, during sbout the late *50s5 or esarly "60s, And
she came in and said, *Deo vou realize--7® We went into Charlie's
affice to talk about €. I sald, "0Oh, lat's tallk to Hr, Thieziot
about this." 5he said, "Do you reallze how dirty these ads are?
This is & eerrible thing in this city." She pulled out her lictle
packet of pasce-up ads and she said, "Now, do you see these ads with
the chains around it In the borders inscead of regular rules for
borders? These chains mean they're homosexual ads. They're vulgar
and filthy. See these borders? [The decerated borders around the

‘ads.] This means--* 1 don’'t know, maybe they had animals i{n them,

whatever




Riess:

Mewhall:

Riess;

Newhall:

Hiegg:

Mewhall:

Riezsg:

Newhall:

these politiclans and people.

always ﬂ# id Charl]
Iﬂ'-ltmhﬂthut hﬁ'hu@
lefr the building. oOr I m‘.l.uw -
Dianne, pleass fd!:!;l'!‘l us. We all h

pmhuhlynudnmymmlnugaawﬁ

It was & very informal kind of relations

Neat to think of you and Charlie working together in th.i?ﬁl
That’s funny. You probably gave him a lot of backbons,

I was surprized. Frankly, I was surprised he did it !nnnh
forthright way. 1 would have talked around it all and said, Fﬂi11+,
you know wa'll think about it, Dianme, but you know, hu!nittu#l!
have their rights." Now believe me, this was before che big, wide-
open homosexual rebellion or whatewver you want te eall ic. Because
lately there has never been & greater superficial friend of the
homosexual communicy than good old Dianne. This was the girl, you
have to remember, who three or four years earller had heen screan ?aﬁ
about thelr ads because they had chains around-the pelvis or '
something,

In fact vou could have used this bit of information about heg,

Oh, I guess, [t would never have occurred co me,

The Californis Water Plan

Where did you stand on the California water plan?
We were wiolently opposed to it,
Why?

Because I think norchern California water beleongs to northern
California. 5ee, we were always srguing to break Califernia into



oen. But I had nothing to do with it, And
: 1;=tll Eh-ily':guihp:n.ﬂilifh:nin
nty of water, m:huﬂfr starts ranching or

at a ;ﬂliﬁ basic warer right {s erazy. I mean, nobody
‘ﬁﬁiﬂ L thirst, unfortunately, in southern California. Seo why
= we send the water that we might need if people decided chat
‘iih F:lﬂﬁimﬁu {s what chey want, 1'm very parochial, believe me.
.ﬁﬂ | gtill thl'nk a5 I've gald, San Francisco is God's chosen: pl,.l.:-a
on earth, although it's being dirtied up at the moment by some of
hin lapuar creatures.

That wasg a bitter struggle, by the wvay., And we won it for a
while. But then the second or third tlme around the state
legislature woted for it. And the state water bonds were passed.
As a last resort we were going to organize--for whatever ic's worth,
might as well put It In--we were going te erganize a people’s march
on the canal, the canal that carries the water south to Los Angeles,
‘and have evervbody in San Francisco empty his bladder fnto the
cenal, But for some reason or snother we never did guite achieve:
| {e, But we still may.

The Citw's Copscience

Ricss: Okay. Speaking of the environmental Issues, In 1962 ABAC was formed
end varicus other alphabet groups.

Mewhall: Yes.

Riess: Were wou directly imvolved in any of this?

Bewhall: You want to know how it worked? 111 tell you. The Chroniele
became--after we had straightened out the police department and the
mayor's office and elected a fow supervisers, we had a fairly
significant influence, our own sphere of influence. HNow you would
have lictele things, local groups of movers and shakers; chat che
Chamber of Commerce would put up, like 5FUR or ABAG or thac stuff.



Riess:

Mewhall:

Hawhall;

Dianne to say, "Lo E,- i
trash thrown ".:P whatever. .*g;ﬂ tﬁiﬂl were o
supervisors then., They were good, sterm, lquifﬁqngjb---.
material from north 1:5 south of Mission or Marketr St ¥
didn't get any of these kooks like--1 innﬂtniyn! _
slander anybody, I really don’'t, But you know, you get poor .1a
Carol Ruth Silver, is that her nama? You know the p:hnnhk ]ﬁpiLT*,
intellectual cats and dogs--these middle-married, 1lin |
matrons and homosexual proconsuls--the kind of ltﬂ!ifwhp huvn
of their own. It's dangerous for a city.

[laughter]

It is. Well, in those ﬂi?l we had Bill Blake and Peter Tamaris lnig
the Creeks supnrvllﬁrs and the Irish uupur?iiu:l and I think there
were probably two or three Jews in there and the Italians--1 think
old Mr. Ertola, Judge Jack Ertola's father. We were all pretty gooc
friends. Ewverybody got along. &nd so--this is hard to explain,
because again, it ias totally personal, it totally will run against
the grain of people who have great confidence in democracy and zo
on. But the city ran precty much as almost a feudal state. For
example, wa could diseuss marcers with some of cthese superviscrs: and
parhaps on a close, Informal basis. And if they wers not commicesd
spiritually or intalleccually or financially elsewhers, they would
listen to an exposicion of the merits of some of these clwvie
problems--at least as they were porcelved by the Chronicle.

The Architeccural Environment

And we began it by firat of all sorc of pushing a lictle persuasive
power around on such matters as when the Johnson family hotel--Mrs.
Johnson finally seld the Palace Hotel to the Sheraton people and
they put a big sign up on the roof of theilr hotel saying "Sheraton-
Palace.” This to me was che beginning of the end of old San
Francisco, again, The Palace Hotel was part of the fabhrie of San



Riess:

Hewhall:

=i'-h!= Ml&l huﬂiflx;
Thﬂih the first time we pushed these poor SP people around,

-my‘wm not accustomed to it. So pretty soon both the a‘hnnmn

people and the Southern Pacific--the Southern Pacific has &11:1}:

‘hated us or me or whatever--but they began to liscen. And SP

finally did take down their sign. And after that, local activists
and figureheads would & lot of times come by ahead of time.

‘How -at this point the Chropigle was doing 8 lot of stories onm

‘envirormental problems. Temko was probably writing then, and Mike

HI:I[E-*F#“ koow, the BART story is another bhig one, We really were
fighting agalnst building BART.

All of a sudden the community was beginning to catch up with
the peril to Lt environment because of some big high bulldings that

ware going up with not much let or hindrance and so on. And as the

Chropicle continued to make a rumpus shout hit-or-miss development,
a lot of people had a tendency to come by and chat about their plans
to see what the Chropicle was going to say about 1t And they dld
that because if we didn’t like it, the developers thought they would
be in trouble, The supervisors were pretty such responsive to che
Chtenigle--to certain representations that we made. Some bullders’
plans tended to fail if the Chronicle sounded off In a negative way,
ot made apy serlous waves,

There was & system--sll this sounds so cut-and-dried now--1 had
a very good friend whe {s sn active lobbyist in 5San Franclsco,
{and, by the way, thers iz somebody, if you could get him on cape
you would hear a most amazing pleture of San Francisco politics.)

Who i= thac?

Dave Nelson. It would be fascinating, I'1l talk to you about it
sometime .

Dave had worked for the Chronicla for wyears. He knew the Clty
Hall inside out, He knew every supervisor and mayor. He was kind



Kewhall:
Rless:

Kewhall:

Rlegs:

Mewhall:

Biess:

Hewhall.

Vhat's a [or lnltln;u on this?

You want an hxu-pla?
Tes.

411 right, the Rockefeller development including the Hyatt Regency
Hotel down on the waterfront. You know those hotels, that big

Rockefeller block, three or four bulldings? Well, they came In to
Gity Hall to get their permits and the supervisors threw them out.

fou mean the whole Emharcaders Center?

Yes, the whole Embarcadero thing, those huge bulldings the "
Rockefellers put up. They came to town with their plans and they
had it kind of drawn up and the supervisors said mo, you're mot
gelng to do lt. Because thare had been so much talking, including
o the part of che Chropicls, shout the overbuilding of downtown San
Francieco. I can give wou chaprter and verse on thiz ense. 1 saw
thelr plans, we would talk about them in edltorial conference. Ho
sacrets, no under the table, but we would talk about them.

I'm sorry, 1've got to go back one more step. It all started
with the development, the Golden Gateway project that was put up by
-=ph, 1 don't know--Patrinl or somebody, whoever did it, [Perini
Corporation|

Hurscer, Bernardl, & Emmons [and DeMars and Reay] ware che
architects [for the Golden Gateway residential development, 1961-

1963]. Skidmore, Owings, & Merrill won the competition for design
and development, 1959, ]

Oh, well, whosver. And we had zome objeerion ta that becauss we
thought there was a certain amount of "sameness” to the design, or



. the sers or the !.'!'.m!n,g Commission threw out the
lers, m hiﬂ they were, a big, fat, juicy New York

for the supervisors. T thought sbout it: this project meant
‘som wﬂm of dollars invested In San Francisco., 1 had met the
-iﬂﬁhlﬁit}ir'nthhiti:t, John Portman, briefly. He came in. Dave
;ﬁfﬁthﬂa brought him in, I don't remember. And the Rockefeller

‘went up to City Hall and they were throwm cut. So I thought
‘about 1t, and the next evening--Portman was in Atlants by that time
-1 picked up the phene and called him up.

1 said, "Hey, John, have you given up hope? Are you going te
pull out of San Franclsco?® He sgaid, "Oh, we can't handle that.
Look, we're going to forget it." 1 said. "New look John, don't give
up. What can be good for this city can slso be good for you. Are
you willing to modify your deslgns to a certaln extent that perhaps
make it more attractive or a little less bexlike, because San
Francisco wants you and wants Mr. Rockefeller's money, Don't give
| up the ship."

[ I got hold of Dave again. 1 said, "Now lcok, let's see what we
can do. Let's talk to Portman and find out what they would come up
with again." Thelr bufldings I think were all one block, they
weren't cut apart. It was a real Chinese wall In the begioning. It
ended up that they did come up with some designs or wvariations that
we were willing to po along with. And the word got out that the
Chropicle would not oppose orf criclielze the suparvigers for
approving the nmew wersion of the Rockefeller development. Well the
Hockefeller project went ahead. I'm not saying it is the greatast,
but 1 don't think it's cthe worst.

Rless: It's one of the greatest.

Mewhall: Well, It was considerably revised from the first plan. There are
about three buildings and this hotel, as T recall,

ﬁiuss: Embarcaders One, Twa, Three.

I Fewhall: That's it, yes.



done banking Eh: tha ﬁhlllr'anﬂ 50 on
for this big bullding dewntown as tiﬂff

It so happens in the block where Eh&j quri ol
world headguartera; there was a littla dead- l'h_ﬁ al
gouldn't build their hﬂllﬂlug on that ﬁlﬂﬂﬁ A% long the al
belonged to the eity, It would have to be sold to them.
to the Board of Supervisors, or the ?ianﬂing Ehllitaiﬂmh

-anyway, Lt onds up at the board--and asked, please, ﬂﬁulﬁ i
q_‘uitr;lain this alley? The bank would then buy it from the q.i.q.' :
But the city people said, no.

So I heard about that. The Bank of America people, for reasons
best known to themselves, sent a liccle delegation inte the office
to talk sbour it. I was in sort of this Lorenzo mood i;itn. 0
said, "Okay leek, this is going to be your world headguarters?™ Oh
yes, " they sald. I said. "COkay, would you be willing to mske a
trade?™ (This is when all the fighting about the eavironment was
going on.}

"Would you be willing to do this? Write a letter from the
chief executive office of the Bank of America expressing your
interest In the San Francisco cityscape, that you Intend co build
the most beautiful building in the world, to bring luster to chis
city. And write this letter in a way thar will be approved ahead o
time, In this way wvour letter can serve ag elther a crutch or &
weapon for the supervisors in the future when they are handling
cases of this nature, Would vou put down on paper your I[nterest In
the San Francisco eityscape? And in return for the right to buy
yout licele allevway there, are vou willing to agres Co. soms
architectural review of what you're going to do?" And they said,
yes indeed, they would.

They wrote & lecter to the board, I believe it was, mayhe che
Planning Commission. 1 forget hew it went {n that case. But they
sent It to us firsc for editing, And lndeed, their patition Went
through and they did build their building. And the building is



s

. Riess:

Riess:

‘out, it must be there somewhere.
ghead For protecting the cityscape.

ﬂiﬁﬁall:

Hewhall:

Mewhall:

d have :t:uuk.n.;:&u: hinr ﬁﬁf'hqnutr It'u as simple as
y sent the lecter, and you might--I don’'t think I have a
. I'm not sure, but it might be intaresting to dredge it

To me, that was a hell of a step

=ﬁnﬂ it has been quoted in accepring asnd rejecting buildings since?

I ﬂpﬂ!t know. I would doubt it. But I thought it might be useful.
You see, the bank stated in their letter that they were all for
beaucy and wished to conform to the spirit of San Francisco--it's

‘quite a letter--they wanted to fit In, 4nd not just build anocher

architectural pile. Anyway. I thought it was precty Interesting.*

‘All this is very interescing. Are you saying sbout Portman and

Rockefeller that they slready sensed that the clty would shoot them
down?

They had already been turped down.

They had initially gone to the Planning Commission, or to the
supervizors?

Well, either one or both, I forgec how it worked.

And they had been turned down because the commissiomers or
supervisors knew that in turn the people, spurred on by the
Chronjcle, would rejecc the plan.

That's the idea. Exactly. We unfortunately in the past had called
the dogz out, so we had to keep polliticians under comtrel, It was
difficule somerimes. Because it's all wvery well to have a beautiful
city, but you alse have to have a city that can support icself, too,
and to lose Rockefeller would have been horrid,

* This letter is included im the Appendices.
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Rless:

Hewhall:

BEiems:

Hewhall:

Rieas:

Newhall:

Ripgsg:

Newhall:

Alvin Duskin, that was a name.

oh, there was a guy. He was & problem. ﬁ_iﬁ.ﬁ'
mthha but he slways wanted to lhﬁlﬂ-m - .

Yes, that's right.
1'd forgorten thac.

Dress manufacturer.

1 think he was the haberdashar who had a coupla ufﬁﬂlpbﬂu
professional models or something. They were tenants of ours m *‘
Berkeleay.

Were you involved with Ghirardelli Square?

Oh, Karl Kortum was behind that, but of course the Chromicle was,
too. Karl, you see, was a very dear friend of Dave's. This ig l.],.i
incestusus, and Karl was always pushing something along, becausa

Karl has pretty remarkable taste until he overdees it. Oh, I knew
8i11 Roth, and the Maritime Museum, It's all tied in. It‘s hard ko
unscramble it.

For a while not much ever happened in town that the Qh;%
didn't okay. That's a fact. And then it por a little out of
and so oOn.

I think that's wvery interesting about the Bank of America and |
Embarcadero Center. Are there any other projects I.‘.'.'I:mt come to mind?

i

Levli Plaza and Yalllaincourt Fountein

th, 1'm sure there are many, becauss we were sort of with it I-ﬂ. ch



3 :ltiil
fawhill

Hewhall:

ﬂmmﬂmﬂm for that?
'ﬂhﬁﬂl. we had Temke prancing around the town. We got him all
up and we couldn’t knock it off,

:.‘ﬂha' did you lose it, do you think?

We had quite a lot of resistance to some of these projects bacause
tﬁnﬂn'vlﬁ 8 Lot of federal redevelopment money running around.
Justin Herman, he was redevelopment director or commissioner ar
whataver. And I don't think he was too keen on the Chronicle. The
Vaillaincourt Fountain--yeu know the one I's talking about?

Yes, I éertainly do.

Temko daseribed it bhetter thamn anyone elze, Ho, Kirl Fortum did,
*It was lald by a large dog with a square rectum,” he wrote. But
anyway--. It was not worthy of San Francisco, I wanted to bring
the Yicar of Bray, or at least the remalns of the ¥Yicar, back to San
Francisco. This is a skeleton of an old sailing ship that came inco
the bay before '49 or before ‘50. The Vicar is in the Falkland
Islands, rotting in the decrepitude. We could bring it up £rom
Falklands and throw away the silly Vaillaincourt fountain. The
Nilcar was 'a real "4%sr ship,

I have always felt this old sailing ship was an leportant San
Franecisco relie. If we could bring the ¥icar back to San Framcisco
it could be set into place at the foot of Market Streec. It would
Function something 1lke a shrine to our early history--like the
cathedral in Coventry in England which was lefc in ruins, a very
moving memorial of the Second World War German bombings of England.

Black, Female, and Homosexusl Repoptersid

When did you hire your first black reperter?



Biess:

Newhall :

Hiegs:

Hewhall:

would not hire a woman, and it wasn' ﬁ
vant women on the scaff, it was because
it

Why?

Oh, she was a bitch. T love her. I'wve known 'l:;i.l' mﬂm :F
I walked into the paper and she gave me a big kiss, and we i
Huddin: ever after. But no woman could get along with her. iﬁﬁl {E:
you wanted Carolyn you couldn't hire anybody else.

. ol S
......

She wasn't doing woman's page though, was she?

Oh, there were lots of women on the women's page, sure. Oh me, I'm
talking about reporters. Now I must confess, there may have been a
black reporter somewhere. I honestly have no recollection of ona.
Do they have any now?

I don't know.

I don't either. 1I'm sure they do. T'm sure they've made all kinds
of & point sbout this go-called minority business.

This iz off the subject a little bit, but I don't think we hﬁ'ﬁ
any oriental reporters or Asian--whichever you prefer te call them
--at that time. I'm talking now about news reporters, outside.
There vere almost solld women in the vomen's secclon, although we
had a man in charge for a while. He had to protect himself by
buying a plald Jacket and loud nmeckties and such. But anyway, we
atarted the Question Man column early on. This was back in the
Eifties still, I think. And so what happens? After & couple of
months the Chronjcle's (uestion Man was plcked up by the wice squad
in the men's room of Macy's, crying to get Iinto the pants of a
customer there [n one of the toilet clesets. So here the Examinetr

was about to go on a story that che Chronicles Question Man--and I'm
quoting now--is a roaring "faggor.®



Riess:

Eewhall:

Rless:
Revwhall!

Rlegs:

mm&ﬂlm* mh'm the
nfthuiup:ﬂ‘hlhljr the best on the

Irrthlw we had a lot of homosexuals

_ e all the time, all the years. Of course, thay wers
’ﬁlwnihmm::u 1 a closet kind of deal.

hnd you didn't know it, or did you?

ﬂ:. in some cases; I knew Llt, sure. Some of them were--scill are--

my bast r.:!_md.u actually.

Vhat ares you saying about plald Jackets? What does that mean?

Oh, 1 just mean ha wore loud clothes, you kmow. Ha had to make
hinself into some kind of a [igure, a chavacter, in order ta
withstand all these assertive women who were taking over, That's
all 1 meant by thact. He came to work with a bow tie one day, a
plaid jacket, and was growing a goates or something., Oh, ay god--

you know, he had just been a guy before.

1 think that now there's a feeling that you need & black persen to
cover A black scory.

That'as the woret thing you can do, but a let of people felt that.

Of course sometimes it's the smartest thing you can do if vou're out
to get the subjects to talk, the subjects invelved in the story.

But this is a wvery pecullar subject: why should any edicor hire a
woman to cover a womsn's story, a man Lo eover a man's story, &
black to cover a black’s story? Do you need a homosexual to cover a
homosexual's story.

Well, you need often an Indlan to talk to an Indlan, so 1 thought
maybe generalizing from that--.

That is correct. Oh, {f you can get the people to ctalk beccer, then
fine.

That's what I mean.



‘Hewhall:

' I"'.
Speaking of the women's page, ﬁﬂlm '
e ,

Dear abby. I mencioned sarlier, I ﬁﬂiiﬁﬁﬁ# hat ]
parting of the ways with Larzry F se of
overriding, perhaps psychic differences Eﬁ‘w
news. We were always, and have been until tha il&'
good friends. But he went to Chieago. He later bou
died in Anchorage, Alaska. ' i

------

because they dealt with him for years. Thny iﬁﬂlﬂ.t&!? ﬂﬁt} you
know, selling Mutt and Jeff, or Ann Landers in this casa, lﬂﬁ:ﬂiﬁk
Andar:un or Bab Allen, and wtltevtr was available in the way al
syndicated columnists. I guess a couple of the syndicate salesmen
were very loyal or friendly to Larry, 5o when Larry left anq-u£
them thoughe, well, this is no way for Newhall or the Chronicle to
behave. So they decided to punish us. This would have been the
Chicago Times Syndicate, whoever was handling Ann Landers.

So Harry Baker, the salesman's name was, took Ann Landers away
from the Chromicle. We'd been using Ann's adwvice to the lovelorn--T
mean, to me an advice column,a horoscope column, or a palm-reading
column--an editor feels like it is fine to put ome in your paper for
the credulous people or the lomely people or the housewives who have.
a problem or twa, Bot [ mean I am basiecally indifferent to this
kind of stuff. They have nothing whatever ce do with journalism,
they are simple amusement or possibly solace. But features llke
this are good for prometion and circulation, like naked animals.
Mow belleve me, Ann Landers {= no more {mportant to the humsn race
than is a story on naked animals.

Hold onl--1 think the statement I Just made is unfair and f
incorrect and could be demolished in & debate. But so be ic, lat iﬁl
stand. Anyway, they [Chicago Sup-Times] took Ann Landers away from
us, and that apparently was going to hurt us a little bit. 5o wve |
fooled around. They took away Ceorge Lichty, too. Lichty used to
do & cartoon called "Crin and Bear It."



"She's precty good- imﬂw. he sald, "and she's wearing a mink
 coat that resches from her shoulders down to the heels of the woman
 mext to her. She wanrs to do an advice ealumn.* 1 said, "What
ynuﬂthink.sh- can do it?" He said. "Oh; I'm pretty sure she
'Q%# do it. She brought in some samples.® 1 said, "Well, okay,
we'll take a look. But why her?” He sald, "Well, she's the Eain
- sister ﬂf-ﬂnﬂ-Lunﬂ#::. I sald, “Oh."

S0 she came in, And Abby is no shrinking vielet, you know,
She had all che mousey humility of a ¥ind of a hungry panther. But
amyway she came in, she was sll gung-ho to go. She said, "I can
write this scuff." We got her to do some samples, and then Stan
Arnold aorc of straightened them out and 1 edived perhaps the firsc
| few, They were just samples. And Gordon looked them owver.

The most lmportant thing--by the way, this ls the treue,

unadorned, unvarnished story of the birth of Dear abby, like the

1 birch of Venus in the clam shell, you know--the most impercant thing
about any syndicate or any feature that yvou're going toe start is the
title. You need & cicle people can remember and tallk about.
Because Ic's the first thing people see. She wanted to call it, 1
think, Mary Jones. T zaid, "Look, forget it. You ecan't. That's
terriblis. " I[*'1]l chink up & nama, we'll talk about T next time you
coma im-"

well, to my way of thinking the enly way to get anybody to read

those columne--Abby's columns were originally sert of slick and
naughtv, vou might say, frank--was get a puritanical mame o begin
with, 1lke Chastlcy or Prudence or something like that, and then you
come up with & second name with some class, The name that came out
was Van Buren. 1 said, "That's.a good name, Feople will remember

| that. HNow what do we get for a flrsc name?" 1 was probably talking

. with Dolly about it, or maybe Stan Arnold or our promctions manager.
I gaid, "Here, give me a diectionsry of names.” and [ went through

| them. Thers was A-h, Abfigail, "Perfect. We'll go for Abigail.

l Abigail Van Buren, Dear Abby. It works fine.” "Oh, grese!®




Riess!

Wewhall:

Riezs;

Kewhall:

Then Abby wanted te be syndicated. U
colusnists too much, so 1 said, "Okay, buc
rights, not only to wour colusm, ﬁutﬁyd the tit
perpetuity in California north of a line sast and
through Monterey," I believe, something like that
squavked and kicked and yelled., Buc T think that deal s
1've got tha document somewhers. You know, wa're ﬁhﬁﬂ ;
Abby now goes arcund the country with this. n‘pﬂim sto:
she thought up the name. She says, vall she had & lﬁﬁnﬂﬂ
five generacions back who wvas related to Presldent ﬂiﬂ Buren 1d
some crap like that. But this came right ouc of sur own ﬂfffﬂl;

Het column--to give you an Idea of the sincerity and
seriousness with which I approsch someching like that--ig right in
the line with horoscopes. you know. My godl|

Well, she's wery moral.
Oh, they are, basically.

Always handing out good advice from the American Cancer Scociety and
this apnd that.

That's right. Well, she's careful to cover her tracks. Sha's
always got a rabbi in one pocker and & Romsn Eﬂt&nliq priest in
another--apnd despite the wise cracks, her column is supportive and
halpful to people In need. ‘She wouldn't tolerate Lt, por would we
have tolerated or published anything that would hurt or damage or
jeopardize anyore. i
|
|

In the beginning, I told Etnnlay, “Wow loock, this 13 golng te
be & local columm. Her value to ws 1= thac she's writing herte from &
San Francisco." Wone of this stuff about Mary Blowhard or aunﬂthins |
from Missourli, (These columnists lowve to show how blg they are:
they want readers to think their letters come from all over the
eouncry.)} I said, "The lecters we print must come within our



Mewhall:

Riessg:

Hawhall:

Oh, by the way, just for the recerd, Dear Abby was born Pauline
Esther Friedmsn in& her close friends call her Popo, She is also
H@;; Morton Phillips. Ann Landers was born Esther Pauline Friedman
and her friends call her Eppie, Eppie was married to (and divoreced

Were you always ragging on Oakland?

gh, but i&'s sasy, That's all, One has to adopt & certain overview
of the world, or a role. And I was simply plaving & role for all
the=e wvears, anpd the role was that San Francisco should be an

Independent city-state or an independent macion, and that everything
alse is trash. A4nd that was ahout it, wyou know.

S0 what was your fole in the independent city-state then? Are you
king?

Well, I once told them on Channel & when I lost the mayor's race,
which was a horrible affalr, that 1 would come back zome day not as
mavor ‘but as king. But, you know, [ think I was overstating €. 1
have this profound, believe me, profound sdmiravion and respect for
every ratty lictle part of San Francisco. This is Camelot., And the
Camelot legend [5 why so many people buy and read the Chranicle to

‘this day, because they all feel that by veading the Chronicle they

can participste in Camelot. The whole thing's a fantasy, in a
Sense .,

I might mention, becausea it sort of ties in here, the
eireulation aims of the Chronicle. The Chromicle is aimed at a
circulation area not in'a linear geographlic area around che San
Francisco Bay, but in & demographical and topographical way. This



Hewhall:
Riasg:

Hewhall:

Riass:

Newhall :

Rlega:

Mewhall:

Rless:

Hewhall:

Biess:

Kewhall:

: Well hell, that's ﬂ#it?iiﬁ.éiﬁn;?+

I‘m not at all sure about that.

Wall, it's close.

5
: )

In other words, you ware not Hritth;;it for ﬂlﬁﬂﬁiﬁ ¢ f

Wall, certainly for a good pﬁzt of

Allnndn 1 mean really.

are,

Well, thank you.

Yes., 1 mean, in altitude. I lmow our place was abou 1.iﬂ§ -
1,800 feet, I can't remember which. e was about 1.200 ¢

Really 7 1'll have to get a topo of Barkelsy.
Take a lock snd see what your alticude Is. And thar eut through

Sausalito and the hills and everywhere. The Exgmiper tends to
appeal to the mud flats--, But anyway, go ahead.

Resignatien, 1971

You resigned in 1971. The reasons I think we've more . of less
covarad.

Yee. 1 really felt 1'd done sverything I could., And I was really
tired, I was really tired, because the stress had been considerabls.
I had & heart attack, you know, in the middle of all this, and I had
to go Eo the hosplical. |

When?

1959. And 1 had to go to the hospital for a while and then I was



Mewhall:

Riesszt

Mawhall:

-L_E-Hii gu;; nf dagu _jult lging there like a turnip. And 1
‘ﬁsﬂ Ttwe. had it! T haven't got the energy any longer.®
i;uit.

Oh, and the other--maybe I mentioned this earlier. I was
always worried the day was pgoing to come when I would be teo
dependent on my income from the Chronicle to be able to gquic. 1

thought I°d better gquit now while I can hack it, and I just quit. I
looked for a parachute job, as general editor or something of San
I:jngiigg_ﬂg;liinl which was a very frustracing, Invelved kind of
thing. It was not very satisfactory, nor was I able to do toco much.
I think I spent too much money for John Vietor, who was the
publisher at the time. I had made a deal with hi=m in writlng chac
for one year we could spend x dollars. 3But all of a sudden I think
he found out he couldn't come up with that or something. And I
guit.

Wewhall's Msvoral Bace

I had to do something, so I ren for mayor. And thac was a disaster,

at least a political disascer. But T had a very good time at it, in
A s5ense.

Because vou weren't all set thon to move to southern Califernia?

¥o, I didn't want to go to southern California, really. But
anyway, I lost the mayor's race, worse than Hineckle did the lastc
time. Well, maybe not, Hinckle didn’t do very well either.

1'11 never forget Bill Roth--after I had lost the mayor's race
Bill Roth decided he wanced to run for governor of Callfornia. We
went up &nd had lunch together ac the PU Club and he said, "Loak,
Scott, you've had some experience in polltics when you ran for



Mawhall:

Wewhall:

Riess:

Hewhall:

Riegg:

Hewhall:

T suce you had Togs of baskars, but you dtdns
you contribuctions? -t

Oh, no, I wouldn't take a penny. How can you anythin
guy, and then when he comes in and asks you H‘ﬁfl l oka
down some historical landmark somevhere, say no? '

But don't you think that once people put money behind you ﬂn&
might have had more of a campaign?

I don't think so. While I was out campalgning 1 ulqu*ﬂmﬂ_gi.
thought, more or less as I'm saying it here. And very few peopls
like to vote for anyone in public office who is either an
independent or wants to go his evm way, They won't stand for it.
Look at thess guys right now today, with Bush and Jesse Jackson.
It's disgracaful the way they're beshaving and Bniyiling around.
they would take money from anvbody.

How did you feel abeut Alioto?

He was smart; he was a good guy--dt leasc in all my relations wich
him,

S0 it's not as if it was a campaipgn based on saving San Etanuis:u
from the worsc fate?

Oh, from a pragmatic standpoint I didn't have that much of a beef
with Joe,

This ls che scory of how I got involved. It comes back rco your
old friend Karl Kortum again. I was sitting around there on my
hands, unhappy at San Franmcisco Magszine. He said, "Hey, why don'E
you run for mayor? The only guy running is Joe Alloto. He's not
going te win because he's wvery unpopular in some quarters"--which
was trua, he had spent most of his terms sitting in a witness chalr.
in one or another lawsuit; this guy was in a lot of trouble--"and



r "r_mfllﬂ-ilﬂﬂ? ‘but 1 have been told, and I have no reason Co

Riess:

Wewhall:

ﬂﬂ:!l:

MNewinall:

1isutenant governor at one time and a chairman of the California

' Hmﬁt—ﬂl‘tﬂill hilﬁ:t Ve hld.lndntild'hin.nnﬂ
at one polnt on the Chropigle. &nd it's a long,

lleve i, that a faellow called Ed Reinecke who became the

liyﬂl-im party--Ed had a beef with the Signal and with me
¥ because we blew the whistle on him on nonsense he was
ﬂﬁiﬂt 1u'ﬂhih1n5:ﬂn D.C. a8 & congressman--I was given to

_unﬂ:tatand that Reinecke told Dobba to go shead and run because he
‘wanted to be sure and keep me out of 1t, Well, what the hell,6 I

didn't have a chance anyway. So the race ended up with Aliece,
Dobbs and good old Dianne.

Dobbz and Dianme split the Jewish vote, and Joe came in Nusmber
Bne, I don't think he had a majoricy, But anyway, then Dianne and
Dobbs came in, Someone had around 30,000 or 40,000 or someching. 1
had only 12,000 or 13,000, S0 1 fipured {t cost me about $10 or
§12.50 a vote., And that was the worst deal I ever got Into,

What was your platform?

Ome, that San Francisce had ro cut out any diseriminatery
peggreégation policies towards blacks. That was preaccy i{mpertantc in
those days., I had writtem it &sll out in position statements. [ was
very liberal, basieally, you know, I talked about all the
architectural , environmental problems. Oh, wanted to raise money
ene way or another for San Francisco. I had no strings attached,
independence forever. I kidded everybody around. I ran some kind
of funny ads in the paper.

But that's what | was going cto ask you, whether you did it
seriously?

I campaigned hard, I did, I think, a lot more than Hinckle ever
did, My god, every day I was gping around three, four, flve places.
But I didn't tell people what they wanted to hear. 1 saild, "Of
course, we're going to have to raise tasxes. OF course we're going



Riaes:

HNewhall:

did this...I did that,..I did the other thin;ﬁ ]

During these conversatlions I have ll'ﬂm ’hlem-

worse I have been slipping in the 'mtmﬁhr, f the
singular becsuse thac's sort of the way 1 saw it s
from where I sat. :

Paul Smith, as an example--Paul Smith slways had ta play his

part in the center front of the stage, and his unfortunate problems
left a scar on my professional, and I suppose my purunﬁiil soul,
far as T was concerned, the Chropicle was always going to be in
center of the stage and I was merely the center stage h;nﬂ I w
kind of elusive working stiff.

If the Chronicle was a success, then the staff should get tha
credit. If the Chreniele got in trouble, then I was resigned to
taking the blame: the credit should go elsewhers. Any blame I vas
dalighted to have attached to wme, because I figured, well, I can
handle that.

The first thing a serious editor should do iz to realize he is
pet participating in & popularity comtest. And he must take a vow
to not unressonably faver his friends, and never fear his foes.

"Will 1 be able to keep my friends?" Did you lose a lot of friendst

He, not many that [ can remember. Long ago, the day 1 accepted the
job as executive editor, I felt that, like m priest takes a vow of
celibaecy, I had co make a wow that my own perscnal social 1ife was
of no consideration in terms of my responsibility as an editor, and
I figured that my friends must suffer along with me--mostly suffer, |
rather than reap rewards. 4nd there have been many examples. ]

The most difffcult thing I ever had to do was to make sure the

ran a prominent story on the suicide of the son of my de -|
friend Chatles Camp. I mentioned Charles earlier in this {
conversation. His youngest son, Roddy, had suffered a terrible



mﬂm¢ We playe
£ the front page. As an editor I could not suppress news
__:-'Mj., 1 juﬂ:hwm to be another person where my family

d ﬂiin Itﬂl'f :i.gh-l: Heross

ﬂﬁfﬁtmmly I have known many editors and publishers who will
| uhqha. lot of consideration to their peers or their friends and keep
gsing or painful stories about them out of the paper, which
is the most :h:l.ldj,uh ridiculous thing you can do. ['ve never done
that in my life, nor been inslined te it.







Mewhall:

I know from our last incerview that you had an impact on the San
fgn'ﬁiwn skyline by making the Embarcadero Center buildings

Are ﬂﬂﬂ:ﬁ any other untold behind the scenes stories?

L AT

'thl I don't know, Some would probably occur to me. I know we
‘lost tha fight on ths Seawall Warehouse, I may have even mentioned

that. That's been torn down. It was at the foot of Telegraph Hill.

And dh::fs what then becama the Levi-5trauss Flaza. And we talked
about the Vaillaincourt Fountsain.

I forgot about that. I see they've turned the water off now wich
the corrent rationing. That's not much of a loss.

] But I*ve mentioned guite a few cthings. I've mentioned Allan
Temko and his (mpact on the cathedral and the San Mateo Bridge.

That's right. I know that there are three "savings" that are very
important that you were involved with. One was the old United
States Mint., Would you tall the story for me?

This was gquice early on, for me I mean, back in the middle-fifties,
There vas a big move on, parcicularly by cthe Call-Bulletin, to get
rid of the mint, demolish the mint for some reason or other. 1

think they probably wanted to put up either a hotel or a something-

‘or-ather. The mint, of course, is right across Hission Street from

the Chropicle. It was & nice old federal building, and ac that time
San Franciseco was being demolished, steme by stone, granite block by
granite block.

Well, I liked all this old ztuff, I'm just & eollector at
heart, or a Junkle. Among other things, I used to like bronze



Hiess:

Mewhall:

Riess:

flewhall:

In order te get a parmit to bu
developers had to get some of the lo 1
along, so they put out the word that they we :
Chinese cultural center. Well, Allmim
*Chinese eultural camter" umlly WS no
mezzanine In a Hollday Inn. Th:rmafl.ti.:q

But they did go ahead with it, and they mmﬁ-‘h; m
this great old Hall of Justice bullding, Belleve me, lc was
handsome. It was cruly, almost scone for stome, M;Iﬁ- -'r
the Flerentine palaces. I liked it, of course, .l:ir.:m;
at work or second day at work as & camersman in 195} Iﬁhﬁﬂ-gﬁ
down there {n the mornings for the pollce bu.t to cover ﬂ;ﬂ 1
as a photographer.

The mint had not functioned as a mint since 1937,

Ho, they bullt the new mint up on the hill there by whers San
Francisco State University used to be, off of Market and Waller, up
in there somewhere. The old mint was sort of empty, except during
the war and right after the war I bellieve they had some Interior
Department offices, fedaral offices there, The city was willing to
cear it down because it wag no longer a mine, but I jusc didn't went
to see lt go because my window locked right put at It across the
straet--and of course I've always liked money, real silver coin,
I've always been involved with coins. I used to make coins, pour
gilver bars or gold bars or whatever.

Vhere? You could da [t at home?

Oh, ves, certainly I knew how to pour silver and pgold bars. I went’
up through the minc one tlme quite early on and watched them pour

#Chinese Cultural and Trede Center and Heliday Inn, 1971, "a hocel
with token culrturé in the bage." Woodbridge, 1973,



Riess:

Hewhall:

BEieag:

Kewhall:

Jack Shelley was still a congressman then. (I think I
i zsed him earlier, He later became mayor of San Franclsce.)
nd he made a deal, in a semse, that once ha got his new faderal
fﬁﬁtﬁﬂiﬂﬁ built--this grand edifice is now in place over on Golden
2ﬁitﬁ and Larkin, I believe it {s--5helley said, 'ﬂk;r *he'd find
‘the funds to keep the mint and fix it up. He wanted the new federal
_iﬁiiﬂing'fitnt as & kind of monument to his peried in congress.
‘That was fine with us, and that's the way it worked out in the end,
Hﬂt che ald mine {2 still there, and [%'s a msuseum now, There was
nothing terribly exciting about it to tha public perhaps.

Landiarks Presatipes

Wag Shelley mayor when the Landmarks Preservacion Advisory Board was
formed in 19677 That seems kind of lace in San Francieco history to
digscover this nocion of landmarks. Were you involved with thac?

When did Shelley go in? Do you know offhand?
Shelley went in in 1963.
It was that lace, okay. He succeeded Christopher.

And T think earlier I had said that I had not been able to gec
the Chronicle to come right out and support Shelley. I llked him
because I knew him parsonally. 1 think he was quite a good man. I
1iked him very much, Charlie Raudebaugh, who had been an old
Chromicle reporter--he was the one who wrote the articles about the
Blua Gang, the San Francisco Police, that sort of put the Examiner
on the defensive--Raudebaugh took a leave and handled Shelley's
campaign, And they came in together.

I had a long talk with Jack then. I remember very well I
dictated to Dolly Rhee, my secretary, a series of shout six or seven



Rless:

Hewhall:

Hewhall:

knock down the nd 1
they're all along that li;m.

P - o _l._',
Was the ldes of landmarks preservation ;ﬂ;iﬁg-.iiﬂ:ﬁ}ﬂﬂgﬂua ¥

Probably. We'd been pushing hard for it. Eﬂt I'm qqt.lng;
city icself had taken a position on ft. You see,
little sort of ancillary semi-public groups 1ikn
Downtown Asscciation fighting on one side o }
and the Chamber of Commerce trying to knock down every L
they wanted to cover the clty with Hilton Hotels, pally.
axaggerating a little, but not much. And we were !1;httng a

battle over all these years.

Templeton Peck, I don't know if 1 talked about him, he was [
of our editorial page and was very active in keeping in touch uiﬁh
people who might try to save San Francisco for something more ﬂrﬂ.
an extra dollar on the hotel tax. There was anocher fight. EY .

Embarcadero Freeway

George Chriscopher had been a good mayor. 1 talked about him,
Gearge is scill around and I still admire him. He's, [ think,
as honest a man as we've ever had in the Cicy Hall. But George _
presided over the erection of the Embarcadero Freeway. (I'm jumping
around, I appreciate that, but I'm pgoing back te tha Esbarcadero |
Freeway because this wax early in our preservation efferts, as I
recall now.) I had falt very strongly, and we so editorialized atr
great length, "For god's sake, put the Embarcadero Frosway
underground.” "Don’t put it above the ground, because,® we said, "an
elevated freeway around the waterfront will simply be a chastity
belt arcund the city and nobody will be around to rape San Francisco
anymore, like the tourists.”

And Ceorge felt he owed us some sort of allegiance because we'd



'a office--1I
nl.r:l,;-
p;::uldl us that it i=
if we can do it
- by ¢ t and probably undercake
.;,_ﬁhﬂhh:y&luth!nmtn freeway people tos, I
the Division of Highwaya. I think Barney Bocker vas the chief
for the State of Califernia.

8o there was a series of meetings. 1 remember the last one--1
Hii ;hfﬁ; to say it was in the Ferry Bullding, buc I forget, it may
hﬂ even been in the mayor's office. Booker had come up--this fs
the :ﬁiﬂf engineer, and of course an engineer wants to build no
hlﬂtnr what. He wants, you know, dollar for dellar and zll thac.

| ﬂa wag & dull fellow but he was a very good engineer. And he made
| his presentation, why they had to put the freeway overground.

‘Owings was speaking for all the people in the white hats: he
was the gpokesman for the heroes. Here he was, this brilllant
architect and critic, fiphting for the angels. He got up and made a
big pitch for putting it underground. You'll laugh at the figures,
because I will not have them accurately, but they'll be close,
Owings stated that for an added cost of twe or three or four millliom
dollars more we could put the Embarcadero Freeway underground. Row
two or three or four million dollars today is nothing, I mean it is
absalutely nothing.

Everybody was just delighted with all this. We chought, and
the mayor thought, maybe we could do it. Except that at this peint
Booker got up in front of the group, In the front of the audisnce,
and he turned to Mate Owings and he said, "Well, I have just one
questlon. Have you figured In the cost of the relocation of the
présent utility lines in an underground freeway?"

There was thi=z lonmg silence, and Owlngs said, "Ho."

And then Booker sald, "Well, do you think it would be fair to
say this would cost six to nine milllen dellars more?" which was
quite & lot of money then, and Owings said, "Yes, I guess thar's
reasonable.” And that was the end. Over a lousy nine milllen
dollars or something.

I still think today chac Embarcadero Freeway is the worst



Rimus:

Mewnall:

Hﬁrthhtt‘#ﬂ&mmiﬁ& ap
the reason I gor interested in the
of these terrible things on this 1
of a eity, T was nui-ri-ﬂahuu.tthﬂ:
Kortum had been nudging me. Karl, *jml all
in, ha said, "I have soms pictures 1 want to show
series of pletures of the waterfront fthgupr in Se
were the most terrible, damming, damaging ugly plht;_l:hl“
look at. The photos were made on a ralny d-# Iﬁ.ﬁhl- mﬂ-
stained and all thac, That freeway turned that part of Sea
an instanc slum, They were horrendous, these phntﬂg:ﬂghi-hﬁ ch
Seattle froevay,

So we ran them in the Chronicle in the editorial page. right
across the top. And 1 forget who did the piece that went with ic.
Either I did it or Temko or Templeton Peck, I don't know. And that,
I think, probably starced off the city's awareness, Ehn-ﬂh;nnigil?ﬁi
interest and push in terms of the encroaching lnviruﬂnunxll'hllﬁhﬁﬂ
And from then on it spread out to buildings, to bridges, to p‘:‘iﬂﬁc
structures, to signs over the buildings in che air, to the decor of
Harket Street and all sorts of things., It sort of went from there
up to Twin Peaks, the big Twin Peaks antenna, which we could noc
stop, And I guess [t's atill going on. Feople sre still fighr.::‘.n;
about too much highrise and so on In San Franclsce. ItC's a very
complex and invelved fight still.

Tourist Town

And it sounds llke vou are ashivalent sbout the picture of San
Francisco as a tourist paradise, and that really is its major income:!
at this peint. 1If you're setting it up to be a beautiful clcy for
touriscs and vet are revolted ac the number of hotels--.

Well, San Francisco pre-1930, I puess=--not such began really in San
Franciseo until £ive or ten years after the war, and then it began
to go, and then LIt finally exploded. But you know beauty, of
course, is a wery arbitrary thing. I guess no two esthetes are
going te agrea cospletely on what is good and what is bad and what ﬂ



; come for? In Hew :‘wk. the greatest
. 0 :phxiu sre the tall buildings, I weuld
liﬁﬁn ‘the theater, someching like that, the
iif it. Certainly not Grant's tomb or the Bronx Zoo,

Well, it's not the waterfront of New York, even though New Yerk Ls
surrounded by water.

1: The Hudson and the East River are not that much for the normal
tourists. It'a mot thought of as important. But hare--this used to
be & seaport. San Francisco ls, or was, the most beautiful port or
harbor in the world. Of course, San Franciscans now, today, in
1988, 1 doubt that fifcy percent of them have even seen the water
and realize that it essentially was a port. 1 really mean that,
quite almost serfously. There are vast groups within our city here
who do not relate to San Francisco as a maritime city at all. Of
‘course, we dren't very big in terms of physical trade and commerce

i anymore. All the maritime business has gone to Oakland,

H Anyway, our waterfromt used to be the most wonderful thing in
the world., 1 think 1 mentlioned that early on. There waz nothing
like it, my experience as & child on the old 5an Francisce
waterfront, Now it's a sert of a laugh with the tour ships and an
oecasional navy ship coming [n and our and that's it.

Riessa: But you're saying that highrises are one of the attractlons of some
d clcles?

Wewhall: Yes, well, I was going to get inte 1t;, [ do not want to appesr
contradictory. 1 think highrises in their place, and Lf they're
well-designed. are fantascie, they're magnificent. To me one of the
most besuciful sights in the world ls flying into San Franciseco in
the winter when the air fg elear and you see this clicy rising up
like a fairyland through the eleouds. 1It's just breachtaking in its
beauty. The highrises of 5an Francisco may be getting a littla out
of hand, all right, but it's very closely grouped, it's clumped.

And T think, F;nﬁerly handled; btswers just can ba un;nifi:aut. I do
think it's overdone a little here and there.
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Erlnnilnn and who are
downtown clusters. h think Iﬂlt
beyond Twin Peaks or Ehi Richmond or

anyching.

The Waterfronc

The tourists just hang out along the edges too.

Yes, they've come to see this Potemkin willage that in great part
was a stage set masterminded by Karl Kortum.

Well, thac's the educacional part of fe. Then there's Pler 39,
Earl was a deadly enewmy of Pier 39, But he loat,

Cutside our window now, there’s the Balclutha. They just mow

it ower last week.

Yes. How comef

Wall, that's where Karl wants it. There's been a big Eight, but he
won. And the National Park people have gone aleng with that, and 5o
there‘s the Balglutha. T don't lmow what they're going to do nhnuu
the box office. Here we are sitting here at this window in the |
Fontana Apartments and we can look out at the Balclutha, this th
masted salling ship which has always been & tourist attractien.

old ship is now tied up at the end of the Hyde Street Fler, and T
don't think that the public can get out thare as easily as they did
when it was tied up justc below Fisherman's Whart.

Is that the intentfon, te force the public to take a look at the



you ﬁt_phﬁhﬂhig an expert on how Karl Kortum gecs things dope,
o eorrect, that "in 1949 a Petaluma rancher named Karl
came inte your Chronjole offices and--"?

¢ That's the lagend, and it's true, yes,

So Karl didn't have a base down here in 19497

~ Wo, no. He had been on board--look, Lt's all written down., I mean,
there's the Kortum version of the history of San Francisco and it
has to do with the fact that he's alweys loved shipa. He had
shipped on an old square-rigged =sailling ship.

[telephone intarruption]

~Karl Kortum was the son of some sort of falrly active
Democracic party [armer up in Petalums, He came down co enlisc the
Chropicle in the Fight agalnsc the freéeway that was polng to go
through his family's chickenm farm when thev could have put it down
below the hillside ranch in & marsh, which the highway engineers
finally did. Karl won that one, because the Chroniclé got on it
Preccy. hard,

Karl wag caught up in the glery of these hig sailing ships,
vhich we were all crazy -about ss kids, 1 remember we uséd to soe
them off Bolinas rurming under full sail from Brisctol Bay in Alaska,
the Star ships. We used to try to row aut to them. My brother Hall
was the same way, He and Esrl happened to ship out tepecher in
World War I1 as crewmen on the Eaiylapi, & three-mastod bark. And
Karl and my brocher ond some ocher kids from California, locally--
those who are stlll alfive--are still buddying &round together.

Earl, through my brother, felt he knew me, and that's the way
he came in teo see me &t the Chropicle, because my brother had told
him 1 was also very hung up on ships. The oid Star of Finland--the
Eagiulani was the name that the Star of Finland zailed wnder jusc
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Mewhall:

oh, yes. The Ka
1t :tgﬂla- m?

ﬂ:..m 'Iw.m,lmrhullﬂ:
ies welght in silver, if mot #ﬁ
i'nrmdmuthnrum:mpﬂm:nﬂm.
they dumped & lot of their load, 1 hﬂitﬁli
there, I don't koow, But anyway, J:hunﬁﬂ

a

Karl's blood and in my brothsr's blood and in my blood

Karl came in to call on me on that basis, 1 guiln,=ﬂﬂh
the ¢lecclon of 1948--this was early nni—-wh-n'ﬂhrtf-fluiuh_
rumning agsinst cur goed friend Tom Dewey, & dull, pompeus,
Licele man. Everybody as you may recall, although you're not
old, I guess, figured Dewey was going to Hﬂlk in there to tﬁﬁ
House with ne trouble at all, But, of course, Hn:ry T!ulln‘ﬂﬁﬁ,
much to the discomfiturs of the crazy TV or radio personality,
Kaltenborn. Do vou remember thac?

H.V. Ealcenhorn, yes .

We were listening to Kzltenborn chere and Karl ceme in about in El;m
middle of the Dewey disaster and asked me, or the Chremicle, "Pleasi
save Ely Hill," his goddampned chicken ranch in Fetaluma. Truman
just won hands down. Well, it was a furmy evening for Karl, becauss
I think I was probably che only guy on the Chronicle who hnd bet on
Truman. I liked him and I was pretcy sure he was going to win, ‘so
bet what then for me was quite a lpt of momey on a Truman vintn:y.

All the Chronicle owners, publlishers, and their social friﬂuﬁw
had come by to celebrate at lasc a rerurn te & good sound Republlica
administration following four terms of Reosevelc madness and -
insanity, you know. And my god, as the votes for Truman kept pi j~ﬁ
up, ‘&all the besutiful Hepublican people floatad out so quistly and
laft, you know, when the returns really cama in. Earl thoughe (t
was & bad night to really push anything, so he left his papers with
me and went baek te Petaluma, But from there on we helped ¥arl out
and started working on the envirommental problems and tha freeways
in Pecaluma and it all ended up down here in the waterfront freeway
and the rise of the Maritime Museum on the shores of San Framcisco
Bay here at che fdot of Hyde Street at Aquatic Park.
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Hewhall:
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're reasonably accurate, ‘Ihiy have a certain
1 of Huhu:u ‘but mrthllnl. thay were

=
, mi really did function because of his ability ro manipulate
: and/or David or the Chromicle or pecple. He had a very imporcant
e 1 think, oo the growth of the awareness of San Francisco's,
Iht 1ngﬁnﬁmncn to San Francisco of [ts natural and perhaps man-made
beautles. It sort of all went en from there.

‘Yes, wall, aren't we talking about someone who's saved this

nm:fmt areay

I thlnh he did. 1 think he deserves all the credit. {Karl Kortum,

in reading the manuscript, noted that his wife Jean participated in

the waterfront battles. Ses Appandices. |

Karl, he's sorc of--well, you can see him as being in some
other 1lfe a captaln of induatry, a munitions faetory in
Ezechoslovakia or Cermany or zomething, He's kind of Teuronic, a
discipiinarian of sorts. He wants to discipline people Into being
ufidisclplined, I suppose. He has this picture in his mind of how
the waterfront should look. He is able to bankrupt people by the
sheer force of his wision. Somehow he can persuade bored and vich
pecple to put their money up in the most prepestercus Robin Hood,
Nottingham Forest kind of deals, affairs. And people will go broke,

Caze in point is the Eppleton Hall, 1 take ic?

Db, that's one, It sure is.

e

lLook, when it comes to saving or presetving maritime creasure, ¥arl
Korcum is a pirate [laughing]. Karl has told me he would steal--T
don't think he'd murder--he will steal, rob, cozen money out of
people to achieve hls aims. And as much as I love him, he has
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So onca he gor chis nation, he gave t

‘as it doesn't eall for any city money.® And ve sald, "Neo, we' re

= | { i
sl BPEM ede | s e

= R T e I P

. o i i

=

Yos. MHe had this visten of a i
down here in the Aquatic Park at

Dave Nelson, Karl, and I worked wi
participated then very actively. We hﬁ?ml'-
Chronfcle’s artists and a good friend of mine, a |
member and so an, draw up = sketch of the dream
waterfront, with these piers that curve around the atie
lagoon at which we're locking *.H.Eh'l: now. ﬁ.ﬂ}m drew th s
the early fifties, I think very early fifties And {t's Intere
that today the scene 1s so close toa what that sketch hﬂﬁ
fifties looked like that it's almest breathtaking, it's sheck
We called it Project X and we got the threes or four ; s to
along on it, at least not to block ft. We'didn't w Fiﬁiin
Muzeum to bu killed im an inter-newspaper ‘battle.

How did you arrange something like chat?

At that time T was still Sunday editor, so it was pmahly ’ﬂ;hm.rl:; "
or '51. Paul Smith was scill our executive editor, and | wrote
some memos and he sald, "Okay, go along, do what you can.”

I got Glarence Linder, who was the publisher of the Examiner.
and Randolph Hesarst at the Call-Bulletin, snd whoever was the |
publisher of the Newa at that time, It was probably Joe Cauchorn.
And T even got old Fearless Will Chapin, W.W. Chapin, the editor of r
the Argocaut. We all went co lunch up at the Bohemfan Club inma
private room. ALl the paparﬂ were repressnted. 1 said, "Look, we-
don't want & maritime museum for the Chropicle. 'Letfs fustc have
this for a community deal, If wyou don't 1like it, at least don't
knock it, don't fight it." And they said okay. Thay VTS very nie
abaut it

Dave and Karl were basically the pair of plotters then. E
Hobinson was still mayor at that tims. They were able te go in a
get Elmer Robinson to say, "Okay, we'll sort of support it as



i, (2
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They got married, and they had a baby, and the baby used to ga
‘down thera and live in a basker, I remembar that. XKarl had nowhere
to live, lﬂ<ﬁlﬂl-ipﬂlnkill this old doll who was, you knew, a nlce
:1&uﬁnh strange in & way, she had this guite big Italianate mansion
;pqt toward Pacific Heights. The chauffeur’'s quarters in the
Spreckels palace were down below berween Washington and Jackson. So
Alma ler Karl and Jeasnle--1 think they were married then--live In
the basement where the chauffeur's quarters were,

I remémber one of my Fondest memories of the whole thing was we
had a stag party and we had dirty films, what now are called X-
rated movies, in Alma's basement. I guess if she koew wnat was
going on she would have died--possibly have joined the party--but
anyway, we were not ralded, That was a wery, very bad offense at
that timae.

Alma had put & lot of meney into this. Karl would get thesa
angels, and as soon & they vere out of monmey ha would discard them,
And I den't mind saying that, becanse I dom't think he'd deny it.

He didn't put them on a board, he didn’t make a board out of all
these people?

Mo, he didn’'t want Alma te bacher him, As I say, Karl ran this
thing very much as you would expecc Chancellor wven Bismarck to run a
muezaum, Karl iz still dedicated and he's scill fighting the world.

How was it funded then! Privacely, mostly?

Yes, Alma put up scme money amdl we all did what little we could!
You know, nobody had much money then, But we pot the Bglclutha,
were able to borrow money, There was a board we sort of pur
together, s hand-picked board of the museum, aboucr eleven or twentcy-
opne board mesbers. And they were people around town. 1 think one
of the Hellmans from the Wells Fargo Bank was on the board., Don
Watgon and Eddie Harms, John Cushing--those were all guys in the
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. Then we 1muﬁmm-_
years. It was always from hand co r

Finally, afrter many years and all these o
then board of trustees of the maseum turned dit
National Park Serviee. This was Karl's doing again.
up his bill for the Golden Gate National Recreation Area.
wﬂntad to get his fleet nf old ships up ta hhm fhﬂnﬂu!?l

and that wag 1. I dfdn't like L&, I Edid “Ktrl. fﬁﬂ“ﬁl_
get lost. You think you've got trouble ﬂiﬁh 3uu:“ﬁq¢xﬂiq£ &
directors. Wait uneil you get in there with che federal
You're juﬁt going to be another ome of theses brown ihi;t} ﬁyﬁiﬁ!ﬁ;
Bear deals.

Yes, and he felc that way too, didn't he?

Well, he denied it at firat and plunged ghesad inte tﬁa'Hatiq@ﬁl P ke
Bervice. And man, he has had the most horrible 1llfe ever since on
account of it, [ just pulled out basically because--. It always
happens that way. Karl does not tend to listen too much at ttn:sL
Sometimes he does. So now the last ten years of the Maritice Huse
has been nothing but horrible pushing and hauling &nd shoving

between Karl and the poor fellows of the Kational Park Department.
The Natlonal Park Sorvice dossn’t take to having prima donmas.

To having Bismarck vorking under theml

That's right. It was tough eon beth sides, and tee long & battle ta
go into in any depth abouc. B8ut Karl came our on top in 1989.

The Maritime Musaum building was here befora?

The Maricims Muzeun bullding was built in the 19305, It's decoraced |
with murals, you know, I think by Hilaire Hiler. It was ona of l
those WPA projecta, amd I thipk [t's & parvelou=z ome. 1t E6TE af
locks like a cross between a wedding cake and the navigating bridge
of the Matsopig or the Lurline. T don't know exactly what [t is, "
And Farl's office is right up in chat lltcle blockhouse on the topy



: Bﬂﬂnz unntha£ ﬁﬂl!r the last of the
mﬂmﬂ:ﬂ ffu;:t up there on the Norch Sea, Sundearland or
gtle. m story told how the Reliant was boing bought by the

lt Oreenwich-on-the- -Thames in London, And it had a picture
it. 1t looked wary much liks the little paddle-boat thar was
M# David Niven in ﬂn&nﬂ,mﬂnﬂﬂ_m}m&nm or slxty
‘days; whatever that was, and Lt appealed to me,

. EKarl ssid, "This is terrible. They're going to chop this ching
up. That's not good museus work at all.* He said, or I sald,
*Well, lec's go over and get it and bring it back."

_ Well, it's a very involved story, vhat happened after thac. I
told all about it in a book I wrote, [The Epplston-Hsll, Howell-
Borth Books, 1571.]

 Biega: But you weren't dragged into that,

Wewhail: Oh mo, look, 1 said, man. that's for me, Hers 1 will be Captain

B Bligh or Captain Ahab or whatever om beard this towboat and wa'll
hring i avey, Bessza 1 Eigured mobody could bring a hundrad-foot
paddle steamer over anymore. So we went off and did it. Everybody
said, you know, we never could make It. So [ guess that's why we
Rt A A | dun’t knowr, But I cowvered it as exhaustlwely as I could
in & few hundred pages in that beaok.

cpilsetine 4 bil

Riess: You've alge suceushed to an urge 0o collecc old écarcs, haven'c you?
FWewhall: Since a child I'we alwavs been = collector. And I can't explaln
that. When I was 3 child on Bolinas Beach I used to walk up and
; down the beseh liks a beachcomber when I was probsbly seven or
| wlght. And the first thing 1 cellected sa I reeall were whiskey




Hiess:

Newhall:

the sidewalks and the gutters of San § _
bands. Cigar bands then were very common;
cigars, Iruﬂhurﬁlthmmwﬂﬂ- uban

on. T used to pascte chem up in books mﬂ##ﬂ!‘ﬁ: ad |
colleetions. T don't know what became of my priceless
cigar bands. ¥hite Owls. Anyway, I could have called off at one

time twenty or thirty or a hundred of them.

Then I eollected coins, and of course postapge stamps. My
father and uncle used to collect postage stamps and 1 remesber
towards the end when things had gone bad and everyons had lost o
of thelr money my father and my Unele Edwin would sit up at nlﬂn:
trading postage stamps. They had rather elaberate collections. I
Einally sold my postage stamp collection.

Then the next thing I really got into, I guess Lt was cﬂiﬁl'-:
carg. I'wve alwavs loeved automobllesa, 1 am not hy any means a
genfus ln the area of the internal combustlon engine, but
nevertheless I loved them. They just have played such an lmportant
part in my 1ife, all sy 1ife. I remember i{n San Rafael you had to
wait till you were fourteem until you could get a driver's license,
But you didn‘t need a license to drive a motorcycle. I think the
first internal cembustion machine I ever had--well, no, we had cha
motor wheals, Smich Motor Wheels, or Briggs and Stratton wheels. we
used to call them buckboards. They were Little sort of carca on
slats. Then they'd have a f£ifth wheel behind, a wheel wich & -ﬂtﬂt.|
to push the contraption along the road, I don't know If you'we svep
SEEN One OT Noc.

Flo. *l

You could 11fr up the mocor vheel and take Lt off the ground, then

you wouldn't go., They're like putboards, very similar to uu.l:ﬂ:rr:lla:':ﬂ.u,;.l |

The same people make 2ll these litrle pasoline engines. We used to [
¥

|

go all over town in those vhen we werse yvoung, ten years old mayhe.
Then [ bought a ecouple of motoreyecles. 1 remembér I bought “ﬁr'




Rels ...mﬁfmm
jex going to ride you againt”

L ﬂ;‘_ﬂ ml,p.,whtmmgq-ﬁgtuﬂuﬂthiﬂ' Pable,
 his name was. He said, "You can have it. Heras, give me $5 and you

 can have it.* Hell, it was worth probably $100 or $2001
That's just 1ike the story of the horse, isn't it7

Mﬂr ﬂﬂ!'lﬂ'.]l' I got my firat good motorcyecle. And of course, my
parents took that away from me.

Then I went dowm and bought the §11 motorcycle and I was on my
way out to the Marin Golf and Country Club or the Yacht Club out
there In San Rafael, and the connecting rod went through the erank
‘case, 50 1 lefr {c chers. But our chauffeur, he gave sa a buck for
that one. It was an old single-speed four-cylinder Hendersonm mocor
bike,

It jusc sort of grew from thera, My father and mother pave me
some Model-A Fords. I was fourteen, | had a llcense then, Then
when Ruth and 1 were married we started ouc--you know, we were broke

1| then--we started out with Model-T Fords, They were old by this

I time. This was sbout ‘33 end "34. The Model T's went out of
; buginess In '27. We paid 512.50 for our first car together, a
5 Modal-T roadster, Buc it had no top. 5So then when the winter came

we turned that in for %10 and then for another $5 we got a Model-T
roadster with a top on {c. Now, these things ware a mesa, I msan,
they were worth about $15.

From there onm up we'we had, T'm sure, hundreds and hundreds of
cars, Because I've always loved te wark on them. My fnthat——n?
brother Almer was a great mechanic, an engineer. He became an
engineer at MIT.




Riess:

Rewhall:

broke, you remember watching those ;
convertibles coms by and the lﬂh-ﬁgﬁﬂ-ﬁi
Daniels in them, You see the beautiful people in |
come by, and you think, "Gee, wouldn't that be wonder
during Werld War II cars that were old and ate a 11:_&' 3
were 5 drug on the market. And Imhntl got a Loc
friend of mine had an Isotta-Fraschini. This was before so-c

"glassic cars" became so expenslve, and ;rw. could Eet ﬁﬁﬂf
limpusine for seventy-five bucks.

What was that other name?

Isotta-Fraschini. It's an Italian cap, I think maybe Ttalian,
Spanish, something like that. In another case there was the
Hispano-Suira. Zoe Aking, & famous writer and Hellywood celebric
was an aunt of somebody who had married a cousin of mine. She w _._
Hollywood character and she hsed a big HispnnnlSuiah town car. ii
ended up on a Pasadena car loc for 575. 1 got Remsen Bird, who wi
the president of Occidental College down there, I said, "Hey, U
Birdie, go out and get this car!” S5So he went running out thers to
the car lot but it had been sold, unfortunacely, to a college
fraternity house. 1 never did gec that onms,

So then [ got interssted--and how did I really starc working om
them? I had a pretty good shop. I was working at the 1
this time. (I'm jumping way ahead. I won't spend too much time on
this car business.) But this was abut 1953. 1 remember I had jus
bought a brand new couple of Lincoln Capris--théy were the 1933
wodel then. And I drove into this old ship chandler's shop down b
the San Francisco waterfront. The old guy behind the councer looked
at my fancy new Capri and said, "Well, I'we got a Lincoln, but 1&‘ B
older than that." I said, "What fs 1t?" He =aid, "0Oh, it's a 193 1._
Lineoln sedan, & wonderful ear, But I can't drive it anymore, 1've
got a bad heart, I want to get rid of ir. I1'11 sell it to you." '
gaid, "Well, I can't afford it." He =aid, "Look, you can have it
For 5100.™

i



Then somehow | pot interesced in the Concours d'elegance ac Pebble
Beach. They accepred my car to shew it. I don't think [ won
anything that year with the old Linceln, but I went down. And I had
& lot of fun wich it. A Pebble Beach weekend is a fine way to pass
some time if you've got a lot of headaches back in the office.

From then on people knew T was sort of Interested (n cars and
they'd come and tell me about one old car or another. A fellow in
the Chronicls came in, one of our reporters, and said, *Hay, this
old Chinese puy's pot 4 Packard up on Sacramente Street In San
Francisco in his garage and he wants to get tid of ic." And I said,
*"look, I'm not interested. ['we got this darn Lincoln here and I'm
having e#nough problems with that.” He said, *Well, pgo take a look."

So I went up, and there was this thing kind of in pieces. But
it'was a blg old Packard roadscer Super-3, 1930. ALl the parcts were
there. ©How, the csr was & mess, I mean, a wreck., But this Chinese
guy said, "You can have ic." T said, *"Well, wh¥? What do you
mean?” He said, "I don'c know. It was here when I bought the
house_® And I said "Well, why don’t you tell somebody?" He said,
"I don't want to ger I{nvolved with asny authorities." Well, I think
he may have been fresh off the boat. 1 doen't kmow, ha probably was
illegal. T really don't know. I said, "I can't da that. I don't
want it," and I really didn't. He said, "Please." 5o I said, "Well
look, 1'll give you §75 if you want." He =aid, "Fine."

But then I dldn't want to get it out on the strest uncil 1 got
cthe car legal. Se Dolly went down end talked to some guys In the
DMV, the Dopartment of Hotor Vehleles, and they said, "Well now,
something like this car with e pink slip, yeou have to advertise ic,
and vou have to tack a sign on the door of the garage where it ls
because this gives pecples a chance to come by and bid en it." Dolly
said, "Okay, chat's fine." And she started out. And he said, "Jusc
a minuce, miss.® She zald, "Ye=," He said, "You'd better read the



Riess:

Newhsll:

Riess:

¥Newhall:

Thlt*l vhnn 1 had a littlt :nrnulff
from the hospital six weeks later, I sl s
Packard. 1 did the whole thing myself, m radn)
the upholstery and the chrome.

-

Jusr from the manual?

Yes, you can get manuals. It was pretty accurate all tiiﬁiu

the mechanicel work on it and restored it anﬂ pninﬂnd = |ﬂ&*::
and so forth.

1 got it down to Pebble Boach to show, and for nuun fu;nnn':'
other one of the most exciting moments in my life was when T
grand prize. Absolute total grand prize of the whnlﬁ Eihblﬁ -
show, which was a grear honer fTor me.

From that point on I used to- try to boy cars. T never hathEk'
car for more than §1,200 and that was an old Rolls-Royce. This &
quite esarly on. You know chey're very hig and stylish now. I'it
get into that. Bur I had this heautiful Rolls Regent convertible
coupe, 1929, Thers was a 1929 dusl-cowl Stucz, the bip one- And .
big old 1232 Chrysler Custom Imperial Le Baron I found in a yard
down in Los Angeles., That's a very desirable ear, Theze ware all
touring ears or convercible sporta cars, buc great bilg huge so-
called clazsic cars, I had a 1929 fronc wheel drive-L'29 Cord 1§
corvercible that I paid $350 for. And the McFarland I gpot from Bill
Harrah, & big town ear. T never saw one like (t.

Yes, 1 wondered LF you by that time were buddies with hims?

Yes, we were pretty goed buddies. He sold me the car for what he
paid for it, which was §500. It was tha most elaborate, big tank
a scar ear. He bought lt off the Warner Brothers’ let. You Enﬂﬂ
one of these old town cars that the stars were driven in to movie
premiers and that kind of thing. 1 think it balonged to Baobe

Daniels or someone like that. 1 sold the MeFarland back to Harrah
for whatever [ put im. [ think I bought probably $1,000 or 52,000



Hh;gih-tnﬁ~liah1Httht:=u=t --he's a very
E iy company, Merle Norman cosmetics, a
#ﬁn mtl-uup there in Sylmar--he and I and
| up at Ehl Inﬁlnuﬁrwiii Memorial Day race one year. We
'_ts:i;;ﬂhtr._ And every one of us was a reformed drunk.
forger that. Nobody was drinking. And of course in
1188 In those days on Sundays and holidays Indisna was a dry

 you couldn't get a drink. But Nethercutt said he was going
tﬂ ﬂdiﬁk little beer. So he hired a limousine, I didn't know
';lifl_ﬂn the hell he got ir, co get us te the races and back., 4As it
turned aut, it belonged to the local mortician there. It was the
fancy car fhr the chief mourners at a funeral. The fellow was
selling besr in his back kitchen., [laughs] I den't know, let's an
involved story,

But anyway, we had & lot of fun with these cars. Feople have
their hobbies. Some people [ guess colleet movie scar dresses, some
people collect coins, which I did for a long cime. 50 [ had all
these cars. I gradually sold them all out because it was turning
from a hobby into a monay business and I didn't want any part of it,

Riess: Because they had such &n increasing value?

Rewhall: Yes, they did. And you see, péople who did not know anything about

cars were beginning to buy them purely for scatus, che way somebody

I now gets himself & big fancy Mercedes or BMW or Aston-Martin or some
Lagonda--1 puess they don't mske Lagondas sanymore.

| Mercedes Bansid

Newhall: The lasc car chac I really fixed up, and it broke my back, was a big
- old Mercedes Beng from Germany. I bought it from the estate of
Charlie Crocker, one of the Crocker family here in town, down in
Pebble Beach. I paid 51,000 for it. Ic was a one-of-a-kind, a
custom-made car for the Faris Automobile Exposlitlon In 1935. Tc was
a vary fancy, four-seac convertible, I guess coupe. but It had four
seats anyway. Comvertible Vietoria, or something. WVery fancy, very

—— =



is fake, hﬂnlull thll CAT WaS nu:tnu Ilﬂ!ﬁ one
could do anything you vanted with {t. And I actuall
made the hardware, the hinges and the handles !!iif“_
that, because I didn't like what the French b '
originally. These cars, helfeve It or noc, ﬂh‘ﬁ e o
display at something like the Paris l:pﬂtlttnn @ ﬂuih#h Car,
are all a mock-up almost, Some of theae show ﬁnrl are ﬁﬂﬂjﬂﬂl
well-mads because they are built in'a hurry. I said nﬂ, T wva
do this better. It had a French body on 11:-.53 hmmhﬂt, Tt
pretcy much an art deco design. [ sald It's get to be more
Teutanie,

We ran it down to Pebble Beach for rhe show, and it tock first
in the class all right, but it didn't take firsc in the show and
should have. It was one of the two finalists. T was 50
disappointed. They gave the grand prize to a nice right nutﬂnlﬁd
shop old 55 Mercedes or Jag, a speedster, kind of. And the
Saoucchik Mercedes was far more umusual, far more slegant. It wgq.:
mach bigger job. But it didn't win the show, it won the class,

I sold the Mercedes that night to a friend of mine, And I had
gold the Packard to another friend, too. Because once you fix up
these cars, if you can't use chem enough, they're going to
deteriorate, they're just polng to rusc. They're golng te get
rocten. So [ would sell them literally for really less money than
had in them. I think I so0ld the Packard for 57,500, or maybe
58,500, I sold thig Marcedes--the reason I mention pri;au, yuu't}
gee why--1 sold the Mercedes for 1 think lt was 511,000 or §12,000;
And I'm sure | must have had $20,00 anyway in it. But I sold them
to friends of mine.

Well, the last time not my old Mercedes but & stock Mercedes
that year changed hands, In that conditlon, it brought about
600,000 at avction. That's a fow months ego. So you can see
what's happened, And it's taken 2ll the fun out of it. That thing
I sold, I'm sure if I just went and put it on the suction, it would
probably bring a million dollars, I really do. Classic cars ares



sbout the cars, eiuﬂnqhmﬂy, 3
And about m'q'qr Years ago
them one I::I.nl a8 a matter of

sler or 300Cs--1957-58. I always loved

se Ch  big, fast and pewerful. And about a year and

ago. _ ll:!u'rl:im Well, it was & basket case. They
ted §2,000 :tﬁr it. 4nd that's the Chrysler with the huge fins

be this, big fins, the biggest fins of the loc.

I bought it, had the fellow bring it home down south there in a
utl‘l.-n' I thoughet, boy, 1've got one more restoration in me. It
took me about a year-and-a-half bacause I sort of got sick in
between, but T restored this Chrysler. Se now that's what 1 drive
around, that Chrysler. 1 can't think of anything mere vulgar than a
Ch;yﬂlur 300D, but it was a very snappy car in its day.

Now these cars of the fifries--I've usually been shead of my
time in thizs scuff--are becoming very big. They're bringing prices.
People are leaving signs on cthem: "I will buy wour car.® Tha
Japanese are really goilng (n blpg for these American care wich the
| fins, You see, after all, that car's thirty vears old.

Rless: They want to take them back to Japan?

 Hewhall: Yes, people go around and buy them. These darned cars--1 could
probably get 515,000, $20,000, $25,000 for it now Lf I wanted to,
hecause lc's all clesned up, And it cost me gquite a bit to do ir,
vou know, on upholstery alome. Cars are-an amazing parc of the
human race today. They still are., Can you imagine these Japanese
guys, this tall, getting in a car a hundred feet lonmg. 1 ctell you,
it's someching.

Anyway, 1 still have that car, and I still go around, and I
hope it will run for a while., I bought two more just the other day
for parts. 5o that's the end of my story with the cars.

‘Riess:  What color is che one you have?

‘Hewhall: T wouldn't go for a stock eolor. You're supposed to be a purlst,
I you know, but I figure that the Factery doean't know evervthing.




Rless:

Rewnell:

Riegg:

Mewhall:

Hltb,thl: Mercedes [ was 1r
St. Christopher embedded in a beautiful
dash panel. The gear shift on it 1: a
mean, that Mercedes is really gussied up. It
way. And {n my machine shop I made all tﬂlL'_”
and the stuff up in the engine compartment. The §

all turned and chromed., And I designed and Eﬂtﬁ!ﬂ‘ﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁ
the lubrication and brake fluids, and 1 turned those and I m
them all. (As I say, I've got a pretty good shop.) Mﬂ.thﬂ.
them all engraved "made by Zeiss" or "by the Hrﬂﬂpﬁnﬂﬁa
will knew where the truth ends and the fiction begina.

Is the person who owns it privy te all of the £iction?

I den’'t think he'd understand it. The man to whom 1 seold 1t at 1
Eirst is & good friend of mine, but he seold it to another ce BCED
The lasc time it seld, it sold for abeut a guarcer of a million.
met the latest owner. but he knows nothing about cars, nothing,
he's just letting it sit there, deteriorate. He's crazy.

You drove your cars as well as showing them?

all of them, after restoring them. I remember the Packard, che year
it won the grand prize Tony was driving it home for me from Pihhli'
Beach and it caught fire. The engine went up and it destroysd tha
hood. But 1 was able te fix it up again. ' '

The cars, we used to tour in cthem once in a while. It was
great fun because some of the fellows were just great, thay really
were, and they still are, some &f them. But now the amounts of
money involved in these winning cara, ac Pebble Bgaqh for example,
it's incomprehensible. They sold this big Bugattl Royale--of
course, there are only six in the world, the Bugactti Royales--the
latest one sold 1 think for four-and-a-half million dollars or
something like rhac. And it's the lousiest car that's ever been
built. You pan’t really run it on the road, it doesn't have decent
steering or anything. But the guy's gotta have it! You know,
you'wva got all this Arab money, you've got all this Japanese money,
and =so0 on.



| mawhall:

Riess:!

mﬂtm and I m toa Mo £ do,
0 T called, Dolly nmnn:r called BI11 Harrah and said, "Hey,

‘want this litrle i'aumd?' And she described it on the
‘phone. [ threw in a couple of race engines I had for our dragsters.
(I had been drag racing all this cime, teo.) But anyway, for §7,500
I sold him this little Packard, snd it was worth it, it was a

n. And I took the $7,500 and I went down to Bodes Drive In

iﬁhﬂttﬂ? Hills. My friend David Orgell has a big silver shop down

there, and I ‘gave him che 57,500 for a big Paul Storr candelabrum,
which is & very fancy plece of Georgian silver. &And I suppose
that's when I went from cars Into Georglan sllver.

To finlsh off. As 1 say. there are =zo many cars I haye been
fnvolved with. BPBut the fun of it--like the cigar bands or the
arrowheads, and 1 quﬁqt to mention the arrovheads, but anvway the
elgar bands and the whiskey bottles--is to find them. It's so
exciting to find a little $300 Packard roadster, or & §75 Lincoln,
or a 51,000 Bolis-Royce, in a barn or a junkyard or somevhere, 1
Just enjoy lc.

It wasn't the wvalua,

Ko, lefs the fun of finding it. T don't care what Lt ls you
collect, You know, for yeatrs Ruth and T would go ocut every weekend
te the Humboldt Sink up in Nevada leoking for arrowheads, just for
the fun of finding them. We'd find eight or ten each trip,
sometimes many more. We ended up with quite a cellection, which
also disappearad in the fire at the Piru mansion. But there is
something beauriful about real Indian arrowheads, something
exciting, and all the history. The University of California, as a
matter of faet, has a paper on the colleccion we had, somewhare.
Bob Heizer in the anthropolepy department put 1t together.




Biess:

Hewhall:

Riess:

feca. A ll_lr!_.'inm dﬂrlllh - same sllv
ruu Eifty cemts. This was ons type. L

-m F' - i O - M L, - o' .--— 5

1 think I got together mntunl.}; Emm hﬂ u:;t
watching the auctions and the dealers--you know,
of people in all rhis--1 probably had easily t’ni
this partlcular type of coin in the world. I mm

the holes, the entire list, by date and mint marks. I hed them
but two.

You =ee, from 1824 to 1908, baslcally, these :I.ght real
dollars weare turned out ac ulmmn different mints in Mexico. E&E
have sll these date years and all these mints, Thu-ﬂn#'ﬂﬁit'l

Oh, fun, wves!

I love Mexica, and some of the mints were in the mest delighcful
places, and some of them are horrid. In Hexico, Ruth and T had many
experiences in which these particular coins were invelved, They had
stopped making them in 1908, asbout, but the people cut in the " -'
countryside of Mexico where we used to ride would srill use: thii‘
old silver pesos for their real exchange. We ran into some of th
in memorable circumscances, when we were hungry and o on, 5o 17
Just semehaw got Interested in them because I could buy them ch
in the beglimming.

When I say the beginming, up to about 1965 I could buy them fof
less than a dellar apiece. I'd just keep watching the dates and so
on. But then pretty soon you get into the rare ones, and tha last
--ph, T was paying five, =six, seven, ten cthousand dollars aplece for
them In the end. 1 Felt thac was a littla bit heawy. I finally'
really completed it, with tweo a:aeptiﬂnﬁ, and then I sold cthem all
to a dealer I had done a lot of business with.

At a'profit, surely.



ate it., T didn't

Tl
: :ggin people are a strange lot. But I think the flakiest let of all

collectors are those people who colleet dolls. I am mat really in
with that, but I heard a story abour it jusc the other day. There's
: antly an emeticmal content to golleceing dolls that one can't
'h#llnwa+ How why 1'm mentioning dolls, I don't know, but I was
fascinated.

But coin colleccing people, for eéxample, sometimes tend to be a
rather =quirrelly, more miserly group of citizens. They come from
basically a very different cut of socliety. King Farouk of Egypt was
8 ¢oin collector, and maybe Queen Elizabeth and some vary rich
‘Americans used te collect coins. But the run-of-the-show coin
collectars and dealers frequently just sit around and trade their
coins, or save them. They can be & very squirrelly lot. They go
around locking for very valuable coins that for a dollar or two they
can buy from a tray with a lot of assorted coins on it. They tend
to be--1 don't want to use the word "miserlv™--there {5 a Funmv
acquisitive inscinct about them, They will just as soon tell the
truth &g not about where some coln came from, what 1c's worth or
what 1t is or ‘so'on. Coins have a very [ascinating history.

You do have a group of coin eollectors who sre very wealthy and
who are still aoquisitive; they're scill collectora, but thoy'ro
different from the great mass who are there, you knew, huddled over
a whole bunch of coins in a case, They have these shovs and so on,
exhibitions évery mow and them., They're very differant.

I ran into Amon Carter, Jr., one of those Texans, and he has a
lot of money--his father I think owned cthe old Fore Worth Stag
Telegram. Young Amon, who just died, he used teo collect more or
less the same type Mexican coins that I did. He was one, and there
were two or three others that sert of you'd get on with. They had
some very fancy omes., King Farouk was probably che world's besc-
known eoin eollector, and he's probably one of the world's most



Riess:

Hewhall;

Riess:

Mewhall:

4n pmhhi -wniﬂ.
’ﬁ“m‘m’?ﬁﬁ the history ®

I learned wy geography from aw”ﬁﬁ_}.
has changed now, Montenegra is no longer |
Herzegovina., But it's the way you learn things.
collecting I've met people from all over the
too, particularly If vou're back and fh:Ep CTOSE !
think part of it has just besn for the sheer social ple
meeting people and consorting with them. W

T have hundreds of coins stfll, but auﬂg a li! u{?
valuable. Most of them are based on Latin America and
and the British colonial world, because this iz my £hn$lqm
knew, I can't explaln Lt. I love Latin America, I love the §
eolonial thing, and I rafuse te let it go, which Ls Hh? I tig
we shall have to return someday teo the Briclsh t;j and th] .
man's burden, But at the moment 1 canneot see this aszs & -ru:gyh
practical concept,

Irzawaddy Steam Navigation Company

In the meantime you send out greeting cards reminding us of
Christmas in Burma and & shipping company down on the Irrawaddy
river,

Well, all right, all right., vou nailed me there, wyou're right, ]
That's my life. And people will say “Hey what sbout this? Whac is® |
this Christmas pard all about?"

*Uell it's an old fanily company, you know.® Acrually for
many, many years Ruth and I have sent cut Christmas cards to =ll our
friends. Thesa greetlngs are alwavs complete with varlious uxnuiﬁ
f{1luatrations. The Christmas greeting is always composed as 4 kin
of annual report on the ancient or contemporary status of some
nebulous, wvenerable family enteérprise eslled the Irrawaddy. Steam
Kavigation Company,



d | I:IMMMM gained a certain amount
'1§1§HHNE our friends, particularly around Christmas time.

ten &4 friend will come up and he'll say, "Gee, what about
card? 1z there really such a steamship company?”
ﬂy herrer I did discover, a few years ago, there actually
to be something called the Irrawaddy Flotilla Company, And
?uhiiﬂhnﬂ = book sbout their experiences on the Irrawvaddy, and
it is difficulc for some people to tell them apart. So that has
made the saga of our own Irrawaddy Steam Navigaclon Company a most
elaborate and even more mysterious affair. I1'm sorry, but it's very
ras :uﬁﬁuntn;

iiiiqup: "j‘.'mt H-_un. the fiction and ._t'lm fact?

ighhnll: Yes, flection and facc. 1'm not even sure. You know, there have

i always been old river boats on the Irrawaddy, But I wom't say
there's any fiction with any of it. How much of life is fiction? I
don't know., But I promise no one can cleave fact from fiction in
the end. How much of George Washingtom is faoct? How much of
Washivgton s fletion? Uhere do flction and fact separate in the
cagez of Cleopatra and Anthony, the siege of Troy and the Wooden

. Horse? How did Moses part the Hed 5ea? Was Ronald Beagan an
American president or & Hollywood actor? I mean, in terms of the
psychas of the American people, T don't know.

Fiction snd Fact apd Plaving Roles

Hieszg: Well, then, people can turn that around and ask how mach of the
: Chrogicle was faer and how much of it was fiction.

how much is fictlon? How much of the USSR is fact and how much s
fiction? How much of Afghanistan is fact and how much is fietion?
Perhaps Lf you dan explain to me today why the American people will
sit pagsively by snd pour billions of dellars into Afghanistan and

‘ Wewhall: 1 will asccept any sppraisal on that. How much of Reagan iz facc and




Biess:

Hewhall:

plnglt doing and eating, how they
gaying te each other in the grivtqj*uﬂ
the streat cormer.

When vou were colleceing coins was it ilulg;“knnum ﬁhu;
Newhall who was editor of the Chronicla? Or were you i
collector? Did you let people know who you wara?

Oh, not really. It was all informal and persenal. Of course, II::
wrote any collectors or dealers a letter, my name .I.Iﬂ: title m‘i'
the letterhead. [ may not have mentioned this earlier, but ﬁhhhtgl
was no Ldentification on my office door, no name or tictle, But whe
people came in to see me, I presumed that by the time they came

through the blank glass door they knew my name and what my job was.

I used to have a safe in the office, and 1 would play with my
coins when people came in to see me, and I would try to keep some
guests off balance: I would pull out a sack of coins and go through
them or zomething. They'd think, "Oh, this damm fool isn't paying
any attention to what I'm gaylng.” I was listening to them, all
right. I

1 was going to mention to you that in the early years I had to :
play & role in that office. It was a difficulc time, I told you =
about how we had to fire people and people were mad, and nobady kn
what was going to happen at the Chromicle. I felt it would ba a [
goed ldea to chrow everybody off guard or confound them, so I did
have those coins and I would fool around with them when people cama
in to see me, and if I felt 1ike ic. BPut alse I built in my shop
back home {n Berkeley a troe out of brass and copper tubing and
black iren pipe and set it in a big copper kectle., I had a nice
gresn Amazonian parrot inm the ctree and he would sit thera, you knos
and either cackle or defecate sometimes or something.

When somebody comes to call and sell you a bill of goods and
gome damn parrot is standing there about ready to nip thelr finger
off, it does keep chem a little blt on edge, you know, on their '




Riesa:

Hewhall:

‘Where's the office safe these days?

I've got a couple of them here in this apartment now, right in the

-Iﬂnﬂ next door, the little ones. W¥hich safe do you mean? These
‘were little decorative safes. I had eight or ten of them sprinkled

around. 1 think thers are a lot of zafes in Dolly's basement scill.
But jﬁ& knnﬁﬁ cafes are & besutiful decorative item if they're the

proper type of safe.

I've always been fascinated with the genre, the hardware, the
accoutrements of mints. T used to have presses, I used to have a
nice hydraulic press, I've got qulte a machine shop in the cellar,
you know, with hydraulic presses. 1 can mint my own stuff any time
I want to. And &nything I mint iz just as good az anything che
Uniced States of America sints, in cerms of [ca Intrinsie value,
cake my word {or 1t.

1 goc zome of my coln mintlng ldeas from Spreclkels. Which
Spreckels was 1t? Claus? One of the Spreckels family, You know,
they did a lot of business in sugar down in the Hawaiian Islands.
And Spreckels made s deal with King David Kalskaua to mint for him
--my fipures will probably be off--a million Hawaiian silver
dollars,

Have wvoir ever seen a Hawallan dollar?

Ha.

Well, these Hawaiian dollars are exactly cthe same size a8 our
American gilver dollars, and they'rte made aboub the zame way, and ]
think che Hawalian coins were minted here in San Francisce. I'm not
gquite sure, Bur Claus Spreckels arranged it all. T think he
arrangod the manufacture of a million silver dollars with the king's
face on the obverse--it could have been cen million. A milliom
dollars in hard silver money was a lot of money then in a place 1like



Riess:

Hewhall:

=]

about fifty

milli ﬁnﬂ.:n ﬁﬂ’ of
en :ml
later pald off. I can't remes

o iy, iy 'li

So I thought, if Spreckels can do this,
this? That is the way I ptlmm rigu
It's parfectly legitimate. Paople ‘Hhave ¥
sanctity of so-called government coins. 3”&1&%‘_";%_’ '
coins are just as sound as the Bricish pound, snd a hell of a la
sounder than the recent Susan B, Anthony dollars WH’ he
idiotic U.5. Treasury Department.

Oh, just as a macter of general interest, there’'s something T
think not many people realize: Chiang Kai-shek, when ha H!l; Chin;
in 48 or '49, needod some money. (I believe: this ‘was the -:m ;
which this was done. It might have been done earlier.) Chia
signed a purchase order for twenty million silver dnlllr-llild "
coins--1 do not remember the exact nusber, but I could Hnd out for
you in a couple of minutes. He ordered twency million Mexican
silver pesos with the date 1908 on them. The date stamped on the
coing said 1908, buc these coins for Chiang Eai-shek were lﬂjﬂlli!
minted in 1948--thac's right, they ware made in 1948 but had the
date 1908 sramped on them. And they were Mexican silver pesos. Amc
whera wera those fake Mexican coins minted? RIght here in the Biﬂ
Francisco United States Hint.

Why should anybody have any faith in anything If & Chinese guy
can order the United States Mint to punch out faka Mexican pesos?
And nobody, not even Chisng Kai-shek or the director of the Ameri
mint, goes to Jjall. So that's why I do not have all these vnrr‘ln#;
ahnut being picked up for councerfeiting.

And where did Spreckels do {t7

I think they were probably minted here in San Franciscoe. They look:
like it, the coins themselves. 171l show you one before you go; I
think I have some around, They bring $100, §200, 3300 now, good
ones. Haybe even more.



- Riess:

Kewhall:

ﬂhﬁl qu;_:lcin; gpt to be ntltty big and now it's sorc of
m‘tﬁ a sionalized sport. But it started out with cthe hot
rods the kids made, I got interesced in it while I was restoring
gars and 5o on, because working with engines you like to see how
much horsepower you can get out of so many pounds of irom. So we
would go drsg racing.

I bought from the Fulmer Brothers here in tewn a little
dragster, a"rail,” they had been racing, for $700 1 think, engine
and all. Our kids ware interested in it, so we used to go around te
Lodi and Vacaville and Fremont and in tha south to the San Fernands
or the Palmdale srrip on Sundays and Saturdaya, We'd ger up early
and wa'd put the traller with the dragscter on it and haul Lt ouE to
the tracks. It was just fum, like showing at the concours.

They were racing, or you were raclng?

Tﬁ:y would drive ft. See, I coeuldn’'t drive because I‘ve got a bad
right leg and it's hard for me to drive a ear like char.

You didn't worry about their gecting hurt?

Mo. The ones we had, it was only a D elass and they do only about
--120 I think was the best run we aver made, Golng 120 miles an
hour In a guarter of a mlle takes about ten or slaven seconds. You
wouldn’t believa what they'll do mow, I mean the big ones. Ooh boy.
Even then chey were fast, they'd do 180, But now they'll run a
quarter of a mile from a standing start in five seconds. That's
Five seconds and he's a quarter of a mile down the road and he's
doing about 280. Now thac's pretty fast and pretty stromg. I never
got inte that because that's dangerous,

It sounds dangerous, Are they edging other people out, or are they
just in their ocwn slots?

Normally they're rwa-hy-two, doubled. You have your own slot. Tf



Biess:

Mewhall:

Riesg:

Newhall:

Riess!:

Why would I be involved with a cemetery, 1s that what you'r

Yeg.

one of the founders of Laurel Hill I think. And it has alw
seemed to me one of the responsibllities of a citizen to provide
little pro bono publico effort toward establishing a ﬂIgnifhi&
disposal service for the earthly remalns of one's frie and
family. What do you do with your dﬂﬂd.nu:mnllyt Throw them out |
the lawn or put them on a banfire or whac? 1 don't know.

Well, my uncle and my grandfscher were. My great-grandfather we

Well, let somebody else worry about it.

Why somebody slse? Laurel Hill was an old San !rmiunu_r:mrf;
My prandfather, I know, and my great-grandfacher were on the board.
That cemecery took care of a lot of people who wers out here. Thaer
tha city grew up sround Laurel Hill to the point where the
gravevards were legislated out of towm,

In the meantime, a group of San Franciscans and people From
down the Penipsula gnt togather to establish Cypress Lawn. Some ni
them I think went in it for the money, There was a Cypress Abbey
Company stcarted which bought the land. What they did was basically
make a deal with a group of San Franclscans to run the cemetery,
which is a totally non-profit deal from the point of view of the
people running the cemetery. Then the Cypress Abbey land would ba
available to be purchased by Cypress Lawn at I'm sure a pmﬂtnlﬂ.n
figure for the Cypress Abbey Company. The people in Cypress Abbey
were not on the Cypress Lawn board. We at Cypress Lawn were just
acting, [ puess, as some kind of continuicy, carecakers or
something, to take care of the remains of & lot of people.

Why Ls Lt pro bono publieo? Is this a place that anvone can l-ffﬂ!'ﬂl



~ Cypress Lawn basically used to be mo more expensive than
‘anywhere. You could go in there for 5200 or $300, something like
tﬂ':gt:, It wesn't much in a way. The whole businezs of death and

‘disposel is a very complex one. 1 am not qualified to talk sbout it

tnﬂ'lqﬂh T'm rtllly net, becauss of course the washers of the dead,
the morticians--that's where the money goes. basically, to your
unimmt:&ing parlora. This (s disjointed, the way I'm speaking now,

‘but the undertaking parlors used to sort of scratch the back of the

cemeteries or vice versa. The mortician could ba very choosy as ta
where they were going te send thelr cuscomerz--shunt thelr bodies
off ons place or another. I'm using these terms casually.

Cypress Lawn has a large endowment fund, When 1 say "large,”
ic's enmough just sbout to keep the grounds up, the grass groen, and
g0 on. &nd the endowment fund grows because thers's a lot of
investment. Half our respensibility is the endowment care fund, the
ather half is the operating budget, rthe cemecery operaclon part of
it. You try to make enough money to take care of the service and
the burislis and cremations and so on.

In Cypresa Lawvn now, and perhaps some of the other cemeteries,
we are just about full wp., Righr now we're going through a wery
involved series of studies and discussionz te try to decide whac
wa're going to do. Are we going to expand, try to find some
Property pearby so we'll have room for new customers? Arfs wa gning
to perhaps go out and buy a satelllte area down the Feninsula,
across the way, in Alameda or Contra Costa county or Something?

(One of the reasons 1 came up cthis week, I had to talk with a little
committee about it.} Or do we want to just pull in our horns?

fou see, we are & perpecual care cemetery, 5o we are absolutely
liable and responsible to keep those grounds up, and its not in a=
good condition as I would like right now. We have pledged snd taken
money frem the peeplz who have sent thelr deceased and beloved
relatives to us, and we must maintain the grounds perpatually, for
gll time. There is a problem as to whether or not from sur



Hewhall:

Riass:

Heawhall:

Riesg!

Mawhall:

Blezg:

Mewhall:

Ju:t‘n;. She's ti-uﬂ:m B -
her to write sports for the
about the death ritusl is basically
think some of her cunbluainnnﬂ I dun‘t' 3
some of the conclusions might not be totally ¢
raclonale may be wrong., = T .

It's a funny business, because most of tht.ninihipliﬂ'
great many of them, are mon-profit, At least some of ﬁhﬁ
then there [s an overlay of peeple wvho are H:r!.rl]. ta ﬂa:’i'
of it. And that's why you will see that at the n#ulntrllﬂgq
enterprises like the Nepturme Scciety and the different do-it-
yourself dispesal entrepreneurs, the prices are hnﬂulln;
competitive. Wall, oddly enough at Cypress I..um#n"rh hxupittt uuj!,
prices way up, because we don't have encugh space any more. But
there is still plenty of this melanchely business. Most pinpll
insist on thinking, well, their daddy's in Ef?fhﬁl Lawn, or
something like that, because Cypress s a very historic place and !
lot of the old familles are Indesd Interred thers.

Did they take theé markers from Laurel Hi1l?

Well, the people who were In Laurel HEll had the choice of bringing
their own markers or having new ones made, Or, Lf they couldn't =
locate the survivors the remains at Laurel were placed in a commomn
crypt on & mound with a large general marker at the crest. 1 think
this was in the teens,

1934,

Oh, was it that late?

The evacuaticn of the Laurel Hill graves wers in 1934,
Almose all the old familles brought thelt own monuments down, T |
know outr monuments, Newhall family, are down there now, and we juse

add new ones in the plot when wa pass into histoery. Such & move “,}
done basically at the cost of the families, I beliewa. h



Rless:

Newhall:

Riess:

Nawhall !

Riess:

‘This iz ¢ hmmm not te be in the ;ﬂﬁ.tml.
,-lf‘_t

11: Wﬁmﬂuﬁw ‘no, to be on the board. You know it's a

y but men ess 1c's true. 1 mean, all of the people rumning
- Lawn, the trustees, you know, they all sort of went to

»i_ﬂwnl w+ or their fathers did, and knew each other and so on
and so forth.

L l;:iuri. ‘a cremstorium also?

. Yes, Yas, we do provide a cremacorium service for a lot of people,

I mean for a lec of ether cemeteries, too. But we do not have a
morcuary. We're not an embalming business.

But isn't cremacing the solution to the space problem?

I don't know, Really, I'm disinterested in getting into that. It's
simply because I figure everyone has his own choice. T could make
a--I1 personally, If I had to dispose of people, I would build a huge
induction coil and just put the deceased into & thin plastic casket,
shove them in, and pull the switch, and you'd have them reduced down
to some real powder. The cremated remains of vour loved one--as
eremations go today--do not necessarily resemble a pot of Jehnson
baby talcum powder. But, you know, we all have our own idesas.

You don't have a bias one way or the other about what is done?

Ch lord, no. Thaey've gor fellows down there that are buried with
their motoreycles. One of the Hell's Angels 1= down chers. Theéy
want to put a metorcycle there, that's their cheoice,

What are you like when you get around with these Pacific Union Club
friends? Do you get much more buttoned up?

Oh, mo., Lord, look, we ware all kids together. 1 do this, but it's
not my nature, [ don't like it particularly. I mean, who wancs to
be in the cemetery business, for goodness sake? But somebody's
going to have to wash the dishes, aren't they?

You'we describad it as extremely exclosive,



Riegg:

Kewhall:

Hiess:

Hewhall:

Mo, it's probably the way to mu&ﬁ«ﬁi‘i@ p

‘some reason for being there at s :
‘small fee, and it coscs me thrn-! ‘times the

hl'rn sald this. Look, I just meant it

.....

the aleplane, stay here, and go back, lnﬁntﬁ&ﬁ
meating. I mean, thera's no my _f.:'i it for
involved with. Please, I don't know if I made that clear.
don't go around saying, "Hey, look ar me, 1'm & membar of |

Cemetery Board,” for god's sake. 1 don't usually get inte i
frankly wery nhﬂuﬂl about 1it.

As 1 say, anvbody who comes--. Semebody came by the Iﬂ'i' g
some old couple, the husband died, the widow wanted to have a nice
monument for him. I wen't tell you how much she spenc on it. She
had to build ir. But it ran more than six figures. The whole thi
is cotally prepostercus, totally, She's got her own niche in th
now, her dogs are in there, she's just waiting to die. She goes wnt
sits in there, waiting te join her husband,

Now what are you going to do? You can't do any more for her
than try to make her happy, can you? What is the difference if,l !
woman, let’s say, pays 5200 to sprinkle her hushand's ashes, or 550%
You know, tha Hapl:una Society, vou talk about your harpies and your
sharpies, those guys weren't even scattering the ashes. Did you
know chat?

Yes, I read about that.

Theze swell fallews in the brave new world, But I started to say
that {f this poor rich widow wants to spend many thousands and

thousands and thousands ¢f dollars on her husbhband's remalns, thh*{
the difference if she dees it this way with a lictle granite aro
him, or If a very poor person spends just the same percencage af
worldly estate sending him out te the ocean? What's the differen

If she had commissioned & sculpture by Salnt-Gandens, or somecne
like that, then we could all go down and admire ic.

She didn't, but 1 wish she had. The burial practices, the :ﬂsp___'



‘Charlie’s ﬂ,ﬁmﬂm
d from Cl _ B in tin,nr
uh‘m side, the Protestant side, you
qiﬂwrn ﬂuﬁ*t i:ﬂwmthhthn was n..fwurl

How did Frank Oppenheimer become interested in che i{dea of turning
the Palace of Fine Arts into the Exploratorium? And when did you
et involved in thnt?

Well, Frank iz a very unusual man. I knew him very alightly during
World War IT. He and his brother were accused of runnlog around
with the communist party line people here in town, and so on and so
forth. J. Robert Oppenheimer was I think personally one of the
great martyrs of modern America, I could go inte that ac great
length. Anyway, Frank had been under a cloud over the years. He
was considered a security risk during the war. He had been down at
Los Alamos working on the atom bomb. The FBI was alwavs lurking
arstnd the corper or something like that.

Frank finally ended up running a ranch in Colorado. He was a
very brilliant physiclsc, (This iz Frank we're talkling abour.) ©f
course, he was in the shadow of his brother. Frank became head of
the Colorado Caccleman's Associstion and he had to go back to
Washington to lobby for federal farm supporc or something llke that,
Frank sald the congressmen couldn't understand why this pinko: was

coming back trylng te lebby fer supporta for eattle feed.

[ had known him just slightly, really befors my rqlntidnjhip
with him and the Exploratorium,. This sust have been In the middie
sixties, something like that. He came in one day for some reason or
other te ask me, "Gee, what ¢an we do sbout this?* He outlined a
little bit sbout his ldea for a science museum, Somebody might have
suggested he coma in or he just came in,



Fiass:

Alioto had just gone in. I e

Frank. I think I might have written
turned Lt over to Dave Nelson, Dave used t
carrying around town. He would make some
went and saw the mayor, n:nll'ht ent]
had been rebuffed a few times. i

because I had never thought I was | ;
all. But I think perhaps just the fact that I per

Walter §. Johnson, Mg, Johnson was one of Ehul---rt qﬂ.dq t ﬁi’
at all mach, really, but his was & fairly strange San i
business success story. He lived sut there somevhere on the scher
side of the hills, Orinda or Pleasanton. i

Johnson's press agent, his PR flak, was Dorothy Kay, Her =
malden name was Hay, 1 really loved lm.r dearly. Al Kay had been &
Chronicle employee and this siscer of his was a charming girl. .=
came from a San Francisco family, their father made shoes. [ chink
the original name was Kachinsky, something like that. Ted Friend
was her husbaend. He had written a night club column for tha Hew
York Journal, I belleve, or perhaps Pozt, He and Dorothy cams out
and ctook on cthe Alturas paper up in morthern Callifornia. They
wanced to become country publishers and of course this was a
disserer--1it was awful,

The Friends came dewn here, Dorothy was & good operator and
she was a good publlc relations person, Johnson was one of her
clients. He had been putting up money for the Palace of Fine Arts
regtoration. {(That was & long =tory on {ts own.) Therefore if
Frank Oppenheimer wanted to get some of this Palace of Fine Arts
space for his museum he was going to have to get Johnsen's akay,
kind of. BSpirituslly Johnson was involved in it.

1 ean’t remember this toe well. [ knew I went out one cime
see Johnson, Buc then I gor Huth interested f{n ic. I said, "You
follow up on this thing. I can't do all this.* So she got imwols
with Frank in this, and she kept plugging away om it. BShe ia much
closer to it and much more knowledgeable about what we all did, 1
don't think [ ever became a trustee because [ thought 1 shouldn’t.

Well, wou &re & trustee of the Palace of Arts and Sciences.



Kewhall:

muﬁﬁﬂnggmwamﬂ public

-’ﬂhﬂ -trying to get a few names whom people don't
w W’h}‘m then get a Few peopls who will work.
we helped them gat together some, and I think Palmer Fuller
~one of them--he was a good friend of mine--and a few of the San
Frs "ih!nmi you know, more of the WASPs up there at the P.U,
ﬁ and that kind of thing. 1 think maybe either Dave Packard or
Hewlere--1'm not even sure about that.

Anyway, the thing just finally did get geing. What Dave Nelson
has done in many cases iz he goes around selling the Chroniecle's

"asg.® I use that word purposely. He'll say, "If you guys will ge
along, you know you'll get good press." Ha's just a wheeler-dealer.

They'll get entre ta the Chronicle or other things?

Oh, sort of, I guess. I never was imvelved in & deal for selling
this, a real quid pro quo, unless I thought that gquid was of value
to the community. And I do not remember the specifics In this.

I did talk wich Frank a great deal asbout the selling of the
Exploratorium idea to the public. By that T mean, what iz it going
to have, how are we going to package Lt for publicity? and such. Ue
got to be quite good friends during all this, but Ruth was really
more active ln that than I. And I am not quaslified, as I sit here,
to tell vou very such about it, except that Frank had a helluva good
idea. I hope It will concinue, and I have no idea what shape it's
In now.

I think Frank was an sbsclutely unique, marvelous perzon. He
was treéemendous from my point of view. He was very knowledgeable.
He had the rare gift for being able to relate ideas to the real
world, the practical presentation ¢f a scientiflc concept.

it

Frank was very, very generous in making some public recognition of
what Buth and I had done to get the Explorstorium off the deck. And
I think it was basically totally unmerited, I really do. I was



Rleas:

Mewhall:

Riess:

Hewhall:

Riess:

Hewhall:

Rliess:

went to--I don't ﬁhihk.it:ilﬁ ﬁﬁl!ﬁiﬂhﬂ
before, afrer Frank had died ﬂ:ﬁiﬁ‘ 1
fit to get as speaker Bobby Inun. I ch
Imman, who had been either CIA or
some damn thing involved in either ﬂtltnlp ﬂt
4nd I was so goddamned mad about that th:t
wouldn't send them a nickal che next yaa
tape. [ was shocked that they would szo 'puli ﬂi&
Exploratorium, cthac they would get some ﬂi:ﬁiﬁghﬂ- nlihit af the C
establishment as the balle of the annual Euplm{'luurl.m I:H..-h

Frank's widow boycotted the banquet. ahu never did go to th
Last dinner. You know, we ususlly go and buy a table and make i
little contribucion and so on, but that's when I was angry., And 'I
hope that this is not an indication that they're just going to g0
down in the pockets of some of the well-heeled corporate backers.
The Expleratorium should be above and beyond politics. There's
nothing like it in the world that I've ever seen.

Did vou encourage Johnson in his undertaking in the firstc place?
Oh yes, we went over to see him.
Thiz "we," now this {s the Chronicleé?

Ruth and I.

I mean in the days when the Palace of Fine Arcts was elither going to
fall or ba saved.

Yes. Ch, we'd give them all kinds of publiciry., I was starting to
valk about Dorarhy Frlend. She was a good Friend and T thought it
was a wonderful thing that they were working om. You know,
publicity, just the act of perfectcly honest, honorsble publicity, !~
one of the greatest motivations or incentives there can be En
anvhody in the communlty who's contributing something. It's the
onily recognition they get, really.

Where did he get his money?



Hhsful-myﬁ:rwtnmiti I don’t think he puc
) jgg'il;nl. buc I do know he gave what was then

2 ' funding. The city was going to tear down the
- & 1!§1ﬁmn nﬂ'!inn-&xtn It was a plaa;t: palace, you know, and Lt was
: : Imif, and Walter Johnson gave two mlllion dollars to save
* ie. jﬁﬂbl ‘gave more momey later on. I presums in the end it was
: three or four million dollars. Do you remember? I really don't,
That's a big building. Oh, i{t's huge. They had tennis courcs
there, you know, for a while and so on.

jiiipt I wui surprised [t ui:th more roundly supporced by everyvone.

Newnall: T haven't seen the people of San Francisco support anything that

| they haven't been screwed inte supporting--or semesching, [ think

| it's a disgrace, You know, it was hard to get momey for the

}- Maritime Museum. We never did, 1 don't know if the library gecs
any momey mow. Every now and them they'll get some widow and she'll
put up a big chunk of momey for, you know, like Davies Symphony Hall
or something like that., They're fine people, but it's usually
individual., It's the publicity, the public recognitien, that
usually deoes 1t. And Johnson came along and basically was the angel
for the Pslace of Fine Arts, and I puess Mrs. Davies, God bless her
-=1 den't know her--put up all this money for the symphony hall.
There have always been a few people, burt [°'ve never seen the general
public support a damn ching here.

Riass: That's interesting, because you said earller that mast of San
Francisco dogsn't even know what San Francisco is all abour.

Hewhall: Thac's right.

, Riess: They're living someplace where they don't even see the bay. 5o how
, can that change? 1 mean, you were very interesced down In southern
California in using that paper to make pecple much more aware.

Newhall: That's what we were doing up here. As I say, you can give them
| publicity, but that'll only sppeal to the people who really do lt, I
| mean, whe put up the money, You try, you know, to get & group, a




---------

The corporations and l‘-hlh o
from now, I'm not well up on It,
Crusade or whatever they call il;mr.
corporations go along with cheir regular
pretty generalized. Once [n a while a
them to spring & few thousand dollars for some!

flaver. I know Frank, he got some Very I'l.tn& ﬂmﬁw -
foundations for the E:plnr‘atvbt‘i.w+ I'm not sure, I think H -
Packard probably pave scme. 1 think eur own little family
foundation gives them a few thousand dallars nw:!j! yoar. But -.fi,:_
comes back to the gsame sort of pmyh in the
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Ripas:

wall: I ought ta gu through and do cur famlly genealogy for you some time,
. 4 E
{ghts

bt yeu

see It written down elsevhere. We had a family dinner
ﬂsﬁ pip,f one' rmn-n I came up. Ruth couldn’t make it. We
have a lictle Henry Mayo Newhall Foundation, and the members of the
‘board, whe are now all quite young, except for two or three of us,
‘got together for dinner at the home of & cousin of mine who has
just finished his home in the Chinese taste, It locks something
Like the Brighton Pavilion, Lf you've ever been there, in England.

It that here in San Franciseo?

Yea, There's a story somebody should wrire, Is this on?

Yas, 1it's on.

Someone should do a story, really, on the Newhall family, and by
that I mean a rathor more personalized take of what one family
tribal group is like, that was part of the rlse of Anglo culture in
‘San Francisco starting wich 1B49 or 16850. 1It's the most fascinacing
social group T've ever been conmected with. I’ve never seen a bunch
of people who have gquite as many folbles--1 don't want to get off on
that now, but that's a srory that somehow somebody ought to puc
togecher sometime.

I've done some research on Newhall Land and Farming, and because for
a8 long time ic was family-owned there was lietle publicly known
gheur the buslne=s, But now the stock is available. And tha
company & into very different things. How has the family business
changed over the years?

Well, let me start this way. I think I have been privileged to have
lived through a wery interesting, constantly changing time, Ln which



Hewhall:

Riess:

Mewhall:

Did your family welcome change?

Some of them. But msny members of our ﬁilii are still ¢
live in che past, I think. We all are [1 . This
esoteric, some of these answers, because you will £ind
them wha have any resnants of economic privilege left to ¢
building houses of their own, and they're differsant, fhli:
You will see the house that Ruth and I are living in. It h:j
newly rebuilt, but it was originally constructed a hundred y
ago, and there are very few like it. It was not sur fiiﬂ.l]r‘
however. It belonged to our meighbor on the rl'm:h nexe dnnn 1
just bought it about twenty years ago.

And the other members of your famlly are also seeking to preserve
something?

They buy houses, and they collect things. The dinner we went to
other night was given by young David Hil1ll, who iz & second ﬂﬂuﬁiﬂ
wine, or szon of a2 secend cousin of mine, As [ =zay, there's no use
trying ta go back in the genealogy; wou can get tha gannllngg ouE
one of the family books.

But when Henry Mayo Wewhall came out here In 1348--, He pot
sick in Padama, got the next boac north, and arcived here ln town
1850: He came out with the argonauts to dig for gold, which he
didn't find, but he became an auctloneer. He was an suctioneer, and
a preccy fast calker. I don’'t think he was very well educated, in
terms of the formal educations]l system, because wa can't find
anything he ever wrote. As s macter of faet, the family is ac thi#
moment arranging to have a book written about him, and some of the
more sensitive members of our family are now dlscouraged. Dr. Rolle
down in Deeldental is putting cogether a book on the 1ife and times
of Henry Mayo Newhall. Andrew Rolle, his name is.

One of my cousins, Peter McBean, didn't think that Dr. Rolle's
findings were interesting enough, in a cultural way., |[laughs] Ha
didn‘t think his family--he wanted to give the project up, but I
think there’s going to be & hook about Henry Mavo Newhall and what
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Hewhall:

aucticneer. thhl that's

2 - for promotion from, I don'c
- 1 got mmum in a lot of loeal San
) " He was really sctive, I think, in the

ﬁm Bank of California, :hm;h T'm a little fuzzy
ind he imported a minister--no, he didn't, the minister
lﬂit?!t!i#!ﬂ in town--Dr. Willism Anderson Scott, whose
] married my facther, and that's vhere I come from on my
-uﬂﬁg:c: side. Dr. Scott was a Presbyterian clergyman, had come
from Andrew Jackson's place. He was a chaplain of the Hermitage,
which I believe was Jaekson's place back there in Tennesses,

. Henry Mayo Newhall felt that religion was good for the peeple,
better than opium, I suppose. So he supported Dr. Scott, and he
started the San Franclseo Theologleal Seminary. Did I go into this
before?

I don't want vyou to repeat vourself, either. 1 guess what the
thread was--

Well., the thread was what Henry Newhall did, He backed a lot of
things. He got into the railroad business snd started the San
Francisco to San Jose Rallroad, which he eventually sold out to
Southern Pacific, Thiz tied in with-his land acguisitionz in 1870,

The €Califsrnios,; the Mexican families that had owned thasa
large Mexican and Spanish land grants, were going broke becausa of
the drought. The cattle were dving of starvation in the hills, and
Henry Mayo MNewhall, after maklng some real estate money and
eonstruccing some buildings and things here in 5an Francisco, bought
about five or six of these large Mexican land-grant ranchos. The
larger ones were nearly 50,000 acres, or 75 sguare mlles, which s
half again as large as San Francisco. He bought the spreads for
what sounds like nothing--two te five dollars an acre, But chat was
a lot of money then. It would be ridiculous now.

Some of the rsnches have been dispozed of, 1 know we:sold the
San Miguelito, the family did; Lt became part of Hearsc's place down
at San Slmeon, and parc of it and another ranch became Camp Hunter
Liggatt during the Second World War. The ranchos were spread all
along the Coastc Range, all the way down to the one that we call the
Mawhall Ranch, which 1z at Valencia, of Newhall, just nmocth of Los
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Yes. The second generation--by that, 1 mean my ;rlngﬁiﬁunﬁ.# b
generation- -pretey much 1 think began mmutly-gnin@_:ﬂJﬂin. ar a

least the most stylish set of ivy covered Haila they cou ﬂwgit -
And down through my generation, until we went broks, th&r‘ ihih
all off ro an eascern prep schocol, or at least a West Coast [
of Harrow ot Eton. I remember my father finally helped start l rap
school at 5an Rafsel--I don't mean he started it, 1 mean ha '
concributed to Lo, aloog with a lot of othar San F:anni:ﬂun:—-thﬁ
Tamalpais Scheol for Boys in sbout 1926 or *27.

My farher had gone tea Hount Tamalpais Military Academy. Thate
may still be a allitary academy over thers, I don’t romember. Eht
they wanted us to attend a proper prep schoel, and that's when I
began to haté scheal, T dido't want o leave the militacy Enhnnl'“
loved it there. I admired the big boys, tha =eniors in our Iﬂhﬁﬁl
sp much. From then on, I was with a bunch of 1ittle punks that htﬂ
problems. We were &ll "problem children." That wag the F. Scott
Fitzgerald generation, and they were thess latchkey klda, except
instead of latchkeys thev had governesses at home who took cara of
them,

It worked perfactly well in England.

I think it‘s just great. 1 think what they have new--today in l?i‘{ [
--where all these mothers are trying to work and take care of thair

kids at the same time, and driving themselves cragy, it {= not

working such batter.

Well, it's interescing that you're talking about a kind of
California elita, but basically they're just ranchers and farmers.
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1 e l'ﬁl:mtlf Itw}unnnnumﬂ

'rh'.[hi ﬂiﬂﬁ sometimes in tha summers.

- "ﬁﬂ*ﬁu ‘iﬂﬂt &n Angle Callfernie,

: Yes. At the Rancho San Francisco,if somebody came by, if they
ZH£H¥¥EE in, either announced or unannounced, to eat, dine, spend tha

night, or whatever, thore was a faint echo Gf sld colonial

California about it. It was about an hour or two drive out of Loa

Angeles. We used to pile in the cars and go down there on the ranch

for a week or two during the summera.

These were working ranches. They started sut with ecattle, and
in the bad years my grandfather harvested--I suppose you would call
it that--some of the nacive oak trees. Other people might say he
chopped down a lot of cak crees.*

8o there was a little short-zightedness there?

But there were a lot of ocak trees. They're trying to protect them
now with all these fancy--what do they call them? envirommencalist
prdinances and that kind of thing.

Well, gliven chis kind of background, it seems to me- that your
dacigion in the L9605 to go down and toe buy the Sipgnal and run a
newspaper there is more complicaced than just establishing--

A licele paper somevhere, Sure [t was. I can tell that very

** _.the company had to leok for other sources of money. The
Glambastiani Fuel and Feed Company of Los Angeles called attention
to an asset that had been cverlooked: the magnificent stand of
geveral thousand osk trees in the parklike upper walley. From
Qetober 1910 through 1912 the woodsmen spared no trees, which were
bought at %1 a cord and reduced to charcoal for the bakeries of Los

Angeles." The MNewhall Ranch, by Ruth Waldo Kewhall, Huntingten
Library, 1958, p. 7B.




. ~ Thay
word for it. They were liﬂ.n; by 1ig
they didn't look at it that way. M-ﬂ#ﬁ_._ﬂﬂ_ﬂl
they were living way beyond the income. ‘lh:l.lg hapg
almost every single San Francisco during th .“’m

Angeles people went belly-up. ALl Ehtitckiﬂl uhn un;n-iyﬁgg‘gﬁ
school learned that there were problems at hnﬂn and &5 lot of [ m
had te Face the fact that {f they were going to go to nhl’:ti;&in_;
all, ie wvould bo some public college, 1llike the Univn::itr u!

California or Marin Junior College. We changed our I
remember I had been aceepted with no prﬁhlﬂn at all, even :hbugh 1!
had bounced around many prep schools, at Yale and Stanferd. f’hﬁﬁ
never thought of Cal before. Anyway, I ended up at U.C. and ﬂhﬁt
was the best of all worlds.

I'm trying to get back, Oh, yes, Atholl McBean. This is where
I wandered off. The Newhall Companies went bust, and they cwed th;
banks, particularly Bank of California, quite a hit of money,
father lost all his shares of stock in the company. (The hank.hlld:
the stock as collateral for loans he had taken out. Atholl McBean
came along and bought my father's shares for his own som, for my |
cousin Peter.) | |

During the sarly Depresslon Atholl took over running the
companles, and the company's only real serfous asset at that time
was what was formally emtitled the Rancho Sam Francisco, tha Nowhall
Ranch, which is north of Las Angelses. It was sbhout fifty chousand
acres, and it ran from a couple of miles Inside the Ventura County
line, eastward to the heart of the Santa Clara River valley, ro
vhere it opens out inte what iz Wewhall, Valencia, and =0 on now.
And ics main business was running cactla. There was quite a lot of
cattle on the ranges, and orange groves, citrus orcherds, had been 1
planted, We'd gone down there, as I say, as kids, and we loved lt

|

Well, Atholl had been head of the Gladding-HeBean Tile Gumptqy.
and he was a very active man in 5an Francisceo's hierarchy of
business, 8 tycoon, one might say. He was a very large and
domineering man who frightened & good many people. He was
convineed, and I suppose he stlll is--wherever he may be--that
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- 13 FﬁTihMM‘Ehiim I would get a few shares. I would [nherit

Rless:
Newhall:

gne-third of & thirceenth of a ﬂ_fﬂi you Flgure that out,

S0, And I was married and working ac the Chroniels, and 1 was
interested in the family. That was the way I felt secure, I
suppose, to be able to identify myself as belonging to Enmtthlng
that was a family, And thers was terrible fighting, and che family
was splitting apart, and the reason ['m golng Into this is that Hrs.
Harlow died--she was the woman whose death signaled the distributiaon
of the Walter Rewhall trusc. I never told thiz story?

Ha. Her name was Harlow?

Mellie Harleow. She was the widow of Walker Hewhall, and she
remarried a fellew ealled Harlew. Shen he died she Lived as 5 widaw
in a hotel room here ln Los Angeles, in a plush hotel. [ never met
her,

They were sbout to distrlbute this legacy In which there were
thess very fow shares for me. Many people in the family had been
quarreling with Atholl, They thought they had more righta te
certain shares of the trust. Some people had died, and how was the
legacy going to be splic up, by families, or by remainder men? And
58 o1, I knew that if this avgument gor lnca the hands of the
Lawyers, 1 would be wiped out, because the lawyers would eat up the
whole thing. It didn't amsunt to 51l that much money, in my case
amyway., But ic was the only legaey 1 could mes shead,

$a 1 sat down snd wrote to every living adult member of the
family that [ knew, Host of them were in San Framclsco, except fer
one group in Europe and another in Wew York! 1 wrots, “Look. Wa
have asong us this wonderful legacy. Why are we going to fragment
it or fracture curseives by fighting? Inscead of golng to court,
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Hewhall:

~--of the family as a who!
with me. We didn't get quite

a whole got

little more. And that was fine,

Well, Atholl got interssted im it. i‘rw v th
finally found a Newhall who had a shadow of brain pewe:
quoting now, his words. He said, "Look, I'm gettin ind o
Will you please just sort of watch after this, see you
people here from destroying themselves?® Because tﬁiﬂ&-"ﬂh
threats of all kinds of lawsuits among the fami Ilﬁﬂf'
the attorneys, the counsel, or the accountants - - ware 3
various estates and things, sort of had q:un't::.'nl :lf :mﬂ-.uf m
eousins. So I spent & lot of my time and energy 1 ;
in the family {n touch with sach other and Iinceresced Inﬂul:m:

going omn.

- =¥ New =

At shout that time, and this iz in the late thirties row, & remote
cousin on =y mother's side of the family, Pat Calhoun his name was
==, 1 may have told wvou about this. He came out from the desp
south. He had gone bankrupt. He was living with his grandchildram,
a couple of whom had married the daughters of Arthur W, Fester in
San Rafaol.

##

Arthur W. Foster was sort of a one- or two-generatlion success Story..
He had come out f£rom Ireland. He had married my mother's aunt,
Louisiana Scott, who was the daughter of William Anderson Scotc, che
Presbyterian clergyman I mentioned, (It's all kind of small, you
know, these relations, lt's an Incestupcus affair.) 01d Pac Calhoun
was broke, He had come west from South Carclina. He was a che F!|
old gentleman, looked something 1ike a4 rerirved Santa Claus, dressed
in elvilian clothes., Ineidentally, this was the same Pat Calhoun
who a generation earller had besn a big promoter in San Francisco,
mixed up in the street car system and involwved im the City Hall
scandals surrounding Mayor Eugene Schmitcz,



mm.mmmaﬂnnuu
wmw-.-. Pat had made & deal with
_-ﬁm-.nat everybody else.) He said, "Atholl,
uaﬂﬂt'ﬁ@l uﬁhnll Ranch," These are direct

"Why, that's silly,” Atholl said.

Pat answered, "Well, Athell, I'4 like to put a group together
to explere for ofl,"

~ HNow, they'd been drilling for oll down there on the Newhall
Ranch for generaclons. That's vhere oil was first discovered in
California, down in those hills north of Los Angeles., So te shorten
it up, Pat Calhoun put togecher a group called Barnsdall, sank a
well, and they hit in 1936 cthe most important ocil discovery in
California for generations, right on our ranch. And Pat Calhoun had
ten percent 4f cthat oil acclion for himself. Atholl had been so
skepcical about [inding any ell under the ranch that we ended up
with only ten percent of the rovalcles.

] Pat Calhoun left more than & million dollatrs for all seven of

} his children. Afterwards he put a Hungarlan countess, who was out
of work at the time, up at the Ambassador Hotel in Los Angeles, and
he used to go to call on her with a carmation In his lapel
buttonholée every day. I think he was about eighty, and she was
about seventy-five, but they were a very attractive couple. He was

i killed when he was crossing the strest, [n an automobile acéident.

He was run down and killed. I will never forget that. Here he was
In the prime of 1ife, and didn't live te enjoy it all,

| Anyway, that started off the oil, That's why we're gerting
inte all thiz, co lead up to the oll on the Newhall Ranch.

Riess: The had been salling oil rights to other outfitcs?

Nawhall: We got a lot of our land from Union 0il, for example. The oil
companies--chere was a peried that the oll companies had huge
f holdings out there in our asrea, because oil had been discovered and
was baing worked here and there in those southern Califormia fislds.
And Unien =cill has, eor thelr heirs had--you know, thease oil
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myﬂﬁtu; was consumed, h

L
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You mean the earlier gemeration, uﬁ*w’ e lme wa 1
Yeu.

Yes. Oh, if somebody needed some money, th
out :ifth-::mpmy or borrow it. By the time
nobody was getting lnythtng Athbll was ih%iw-

Geprge planted some fkiriy extensive walnut . 1
we put in feed yards, We used to. £utﬂ-lhuut-tﬁunng :
cattle there, We'd run sbout ten or twelwe f

range, and they'd take in--buy and facten up in the fuld;:itﬁi
another ten thousand, something like that. This is more or |
Rewhall ranch I'm talking about. The other ranches Were 1uuu:t
versiona of it. Most of them either ran or fartenad ar

cattle. We had some properties in the Central Valley that, one or
twe of them, made a good income growing just regular farm produca,
erops, cotton, a lot of beans, stuff llke cthac.

But wa were broke. T keéep saying that. When I say breks, 1
mean that we were petting no monmey, Nonme From it.

Your father, of that generation, was the only one who was complet
bankrupted?

They were all bankrupt. Oh, some of them lived well. But they were
gecting no momey from the Newhall Ranches. Elirzabeth Chesebrough 14
a cousin, and her husband [Arthur]| ran the ranch down there ac |
Hewhall. When Atholl came over he wias quite rich because the 3
Gladding-MoBean Tile Company was selling a lot of tile sewer pipe, T
guess tiles for cthe men's and women's rooms in the Standard 0il H
stations, and he had some Standard Oll stock, and he was a Standard =
0il magnate.

Fentress Hill was another. His wife was Marlion Newhall. He ]
was a participant in a big redwood lumbering operation. So some of |
them in differenc areas of California endeavor, did have an income,
but the big homes were eicher sold or abandoned, and they were all
UHving much--. My father really did go broke. He ended up owing
money, and as I say Atholl bought his shares of stock.
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e Walter's nieces and nophews. And then I would
of my father’s, so that was all I would have got.

~ Thara was one branch of the family--sons or daughters of the Henry

Mewhall family--and things were so hard they had moved to Europe
before, and therefore were there during, World War II. One of them
who came back to California finally had been a German prisoner.
This was Tangey. She had been living in Blarricz over In the south
of France, and she got caught there because she wasn't allowed to
take her dog home on the Gripshelm or whatever it was. She missed
tha last Swedish boat out of Lisbon, because her maid had told her
that- the Germans ate dogs. 50 she wouldn't leave her dog, and the
Germans moved inm, and by golly, the dog died two weeks after the
Haziz moved in., Tangey had licerally canceled her passage on the
GCripsholm, and spent the rest of the war--I think she was president
of the whist club or semething--at a German intermment camp in
pecupied France.

Her name was Tangey?

She called herself Tangey. Her name was Leila Newhall. Buc
everybody called her Tangey because she liked the song "Tangerine. "
She never married. She always thought there were germs In places,
s0 she slways washed her underwear with rubber gloves on. Now,
don't ask me how.

Alice was Tanpgey's siscer, There were thres children in that
Henry Mewhall branch, Donald, an artist in New York, Tangey, and
Alfce. If you want me to personalize what happened with my
involvement in this company, this 1s what happened. Alice came
back, and she was the sweecest little old maid you ever met in your
Llife, except she had been marrried to an Anglican clergyman who had
been trying to marry her mother. When her father [Henry Newhalli]
died, Allce's mother was a very wealthy widow. Henry, her father,
was one of the original five Newhall sonms. And Uncle Walter, who
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What's Kenneth's last name?

Keometh O0'Meara. The clergyman’s niame was ﬁh!,!iﬁjfﬁﬂéf
or-athar 0'Maaras. e

Kenneth was a problsm. He was a big 5&3, very heavy, abou
age, and he had a very high, piping voice. He was a very strange
man., We got te be preccy good frienmds. '

I used to enjoy all my family, and I loved Alice, bacausa Al jt
used to like to play the mandolin. $She brought me a Hawaifan steel
guitar, and so we'd sic there and play the "Song of the Islands"
together, She came to live with my mother, who had had a stroke,
and they were llving In the Women'sz Clty Club, that one on Durant
Avenue in Berkelay. I used to go down there. Hy mother lived the
during the war most of the time.

Allce was one of the sweetest people you'd ever meec. Why, h
was amazing. How she would marry any man is beyond me, but she did
She had married that parson, and then he died, of course.

So did Kenneth prove to be a problem?

Eanneth was a problem. I don't know exactly how you want to
personalize all this, really how frank you want to be ashout all
this, but Eermy took to the bottle, 1 was at the Chronicle by th '
time. This was right after World War II, right after, and I was
Sundsy editor, I puesa. Kenny began wandaring around the bars In '
San Francisce and ran up a lot of tabs. Somebedy called Dixie got
hold of him. Dixie waz a zaloon keeper, and Eennv's mocher was
terrified he was going to marry Dixle, and she didn't know what to ‘
de about him. She finally bought & little house in Berkeley when
she moved out of the City Club, right acress from Cragment School on
Marin Avenue. And she loved our kids, Ruth's and my kids. One of
them, Tony, went to Gragmont School.



Biess:

Bewhall:

Alice "'-'Eu::ﬁ:ﬂmn "Laok, Alice
ich ‘as anybody else.” And in the end Alice did
__,1!§l&?!} Now, remember, Aﬁiﬂ& had & big chunk of

erm&h is Uncle Walter's trust

ghout, And that's wh » and my mother and I were

- Alice moved to Santa Barbara, and Tangey came home after the
war. 1 mean, these were characters, this family, you can’t believe!
ghpﬁh-du Eﬂ-n &nd they moved in together with Kennech down in a
house in Eintl.ﬁi:ﬁn:;. on Butterfly Lane. 0id you ever see that
Erear pfiy ahout Teddy Roosevelt digging the canal, "Arsenic and 0ld
Lace?" where they kept Teddy Roosevelt upstairs and zent him down
to the basement ta dig the canal, and they'd murder these old men

with the elderberry wine?
Yos, yes. This was the look of the whole thing?

Yes, They kept Henny In a room over the garage down there in Santa
Barbara, and when people who came to call and who knew Kenny and
wouldn't be surprised, they'd reach up and ring a bell, and then
Kenny would come out and they'd all have a visit, It was an
interesting thing.

I had really a great fondness for Kennech, and Alice said,
"Gea, if anything hsppens I hope you'll take care of Kenny." 1T
said, "Sure, I will, I"11 do my best." She died finally of cancer,
and there was Kemnmeth. Well, Alice, absolutely to my astonishment,
not horror, but shock and astonlshment, Allce had decided to
bequeath to Ruth and me & legacy of half of her Newhall farming
company stock, The cther half went to & charity, and some tax
things were inveolved. I was absolutely astonished. 1 tell you we
were very close, but I just couldn't believe it, And here was
Kernmeth.

How, if ¥erneth had children., then he would [oheric everyching.
So that makes me sound as If there's & motive for a movel in here,
about what's going to happen. What asm 1 going to do with Kenmy, am
1 going to poison him, or am I going to keep him living forever?

Vhat was left to Kenneth directly?

Nothing. Oh, s few thousand dellars, and hias keep, sort of. I



A few years later after Leila died,
-=this L= not exacctly really a Eﬂiﬁnmﬂ.
about, but it's kind of i{nteresting--of am Irishman
foorman or & butler in the old country., This Iﬁ;ﬁun H-l
of a nublle [rish wife. They had come over here and thay
they were going to plck up Kenny, and somehow cash ﬁ:gﬂ_‘h{.ﬂ:
mother's monsy. Thers was anothar woman in Santa fﬂﬁtl wha
okay, She acted azx housekeeper and was rp.lly-ﬂt:r nimg bn ﬁ_
But people were after Kenny because they saw a lot of m B
He never married, I beg vour pardon, he ﬂlﬂ_ma:ty he got IIIF )
years ago and married once before he came back, before Allce &gin
back to this country. He married some German or Norwegian girl,
they went to Horway, but Allce got him back again, and chat was
dissalved,

Then he came back here, and he married a very nice woman who
had a couple of children of her own. They were diverced, I always
liked her, she's still alive, she's still living in a house that
Ruth and I provide for her, because this house had belonged to
Alfce. But she's now taken care of. Amd Kenny never marrrisd
again, &snd he nas never fathered any children--that we know of.

Kenneth struck up a lot of wery strange friemdships, I kepe 5
pretty much in touch with Kenny because he was down in Santa Bﬂ.fhﬂ.‘lﬂl
at that time, and Ruth and I were in Flrvu. 1 felt responsible to i
sae that he at loast had enough money to pay his debts, and be cared
for. We had some srrangement with a woman to take care of him. She
sort of got him fed and stuff, or would find houses for him where he
lived.

A short time afrer Leila died Kenneth had got inte crouble with |
diabetes. HKermy just was accident-prone. And eventually his leg
was amputated. He was over here in San Franciseco at 5t&, Joseph's
Hosplcal, and 1 used to visit him all the time. He had no friends,
except these strange people once in & while, but they were in Santa
Barbara. When Kenny gor out of St. Joseph's he took hisz solace in
alecahal.



!ﬂhﬂll

_ Somebody, and I forget who it was this cime, one of his flaky

fﬁﬁﬁ;ﬁ:!ﬁiﬁirl.knﬂgirt, rersuaded him to take a trip over to

Copenhagen, to go to that garden they have there, that amusemsnt

_park, famous in Denmark.

iivuil.

Tivoli. you're absoclutely right, And I was so nervous in a sense--
I've never sald thls--1 didn't know what might happen to Kemny in a
Copenhagen Danish clinic to prepars Kemnmeth to bear children, or
gomething. I didn't know what was going to happen. 5o 1 zaid co
Tony, my son, "Look, you'd better tag along on the next flight and
juse watch what's happening with this kid. I don't know what's
going te pgo on, whather they're going to suddenly come up with a
Danish baby or something."

Tony landed over there the next flight, and he had no trouble
finding out where Kenny was, and just sort of saw that he was on a
aight-seeing trip. Tony was interested in chess, so he caught the
plane to come home and stopped off in Iceland, and thac's where
Bobby Fisher was plaving for the world champlonship, se wvou can dare
it with that. You remember Bobby Flsher? [ think he won lc, didn't
he, against the Russian [Boris Spassky]| up there in Iceland? And
that would have been in T think the early seventies [1972],

And one reason why I was acting in this kind of paranoid way is
that the Irishman that I had mentioned and his wife cook Kenny dowm
to Mexico. They took him down there, out co Lake Chapala, 1 found
chiz out later. 1 didn't follow him that tima. Hall, T like
Mexico, I figured he wanced to have a good time, he my guesc.

But Kenny's Irish escorts started legal procedure and had
papers made up to adopt six MHexican children. How, you see, 1if
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Rless:

Mewhall;

Coming back across the border, ﬂﬁiy they would
fortunes another way. Kenny traveled by w eelchair--
leg--so they took the tirea off his wheelchair, and -
up with marijuana or cocaine or something, and they brought hi
across the border, and I think this probably paid some of their
expenses. 1 think they were successful in that,

Hew do you know that one?

I can't remember. I guess Henny told me. T guess. TI'm really m
sure. They were not arrested, but I think the woman who tnﬁkrcuria
of him most of the time told me this, because she was so mad ut.thl
Irishman. But really, it was very confusing.

Eenny finally took sick and died. Alice had left some money to
the hospital in which they took care of him, and they gave him & bqi
shake in that hospital. I came down one day to see Kenny, becauss I
tried to be quite--you know, follow him, and help him out, and to
make sure he wes getting fed and stuff. It took me three trips to
that place before I could find cthe doctor. They wouldn't do
anything with FKenny or for Kemmy. They found him boring and a
miigance, 1 fimally pot the docbor on the talephonsa in his p:iva:u_
alrplane with his own private phone In it. I thought, that's a hell
of a way for a doctor to be taking care of patients down in Santa i
Barbara. Santa Barbara's a strange place, lt's full of a lot of
strange people, and cich people, but--,

Kenny stayed there for a while and then he got outr, and then T
tock him to another hospital. He had been having trouble with
gangrene; he was just this terribly pathetic thing. Kenny was an
alcoholic, and I more or less--1 didn't encourage it, buct I didm't
discourage ir. [ think alecohel was the only pleasure he ever had,
really truly. I know I certainly felt cthac if I was in chat
eondition that is probably how 1 would float away.

1'11l get off Kenny with one more stery. We'd go dewn and €ry
to have dinner with him, or take hle ouc, or fool around, every
couple of weeks. There was a place called Santa Claus just outside



d hlm He said, "I regret, sir, I knew the
 she m fn 1915, but I regrect I don't seem to
.~'ﬁ,b'! fellow jumped up and sald, *You wonm, you'we won."
"What do you mean? Who do you mean?" He said, "The name
ﬁ;m 11ly was Regret." That's the story. I think it was
probably correct. 1've never checked ir.
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Hewhall:

Bless:
Hewnall:

'ﬁqndanih; around, So Ruth and 1 4{4d i{pherit a
substanti: ~of Alice's share of the Newhall Land and Farming
| hf fhnt wag the way we got back Inte 1it, at least
11111 This is aside from the Walter Mewhall estate, mow. 5o
that's the reason that we participate to any extent at all, and I'we
stlll fairly active in it, although I'm not as active in it now
as 1 was when Atholl was still there.

Atholl was a problem. He got to be very old and very crabby
and vu:y unreasonable. I was one of the few people who could kind
of calm him down. And then he finally teck off and got mad at me,
after I 'I:ig:_l-\_zﬁht the m the little paper down there. He was
furionus -h-ﬁl:ﬂ.'l.'u!ﬂ: I think the Signal accused the Los Angelea County
tax assessor of being a crook, or something like that. Corperate
ranchers don't understand the difference between newspapers and
farming.

But I alwavs made it my business to ba as active in the Newhall
Land and Farming Company as possible, at a poliey or advisory lewvel,
or something or other--a morale level, I would try to keep them
modest and homest. I enjoyed it.

You are called 4 communicacions expert in the company t'ir]:!ﬂrli.

oh, 1 guess I put that down for want of anything elss. I put dowm
anything T want.

*Communications consultant.”

Yas., See 1 had sold che Signgl by that time, I have aluays been
listed in seme newspaper context as odicter of the Chronjcle or
editor or publisher of the Signal  Peter HcBean puts down rancher.
Different pecple do different things,
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Hewhall !

Riasgg:

Mawhall:

.and ha was mad at me in the last two or chree YESTS.

When I looked at the board members 1
Farming Company I cthought parhaps Ezra i

in another guizat

Gousin Ezra, He's the most active non-Ffamily
ont the bosrd. Ha's a un:y smart: annﬁ Hﬂﬁa x wery
The banquer we held in his honor to welcome hi.“ I"1
that he was from now on formally Cousin Ezra. In R -
Iraqi Jew and has a private investment company, lw: ﬁh
it-in the Eamily. i

We're having all kinds of trouble in the company, now;
are lovesting In it and they's speculating ln it, and we'te gg
throwgh & very difficult pericd. See; we went pubiin to sell |
when Tom Lowe was president back alcml the end of Atholl's 11;5& I'q_
there, shout 1972 or *73--1 really can’t remember the exact j%it,
but thac's easily ascercainable, And since then, [c's been a
different ballgame, 1f I may coin & phrnsa

Atholl went through a very, very difficult period gecting nldﬂl
cthe same way I am now, sort of, He hired and fired sbout four or
five exacutive vice presidents, I don't know, but I think
psychologically he wanted--1t doesn’t matrer (f 1 gay thiz--he
wanced cthe company to be his monument, £o he a pranite headstone un
his grave. and to bring it down with him, almosc. He wanted to dis,

You mesn he'd father destroy it at the end?
Well, let it destroy itself without him, or something.

He'd asked me one time if I would take over and runm che
company, and | wouldn't. I was at the Chropicle then, 'and I asaid,
"Ha." For whatever it's worth, he has a8 son Peter, who has o grnat
deal of stock, He has my facherfs share as well as his own, and his
mather's. Athell and his son did not get aleng, He was cerrible &g
Patar. It was a very difficult relacionship.



Rless:

. Hewhall:

1 Bigss:

Kewhall:

;#1& Peter to me, and then he
a 241 Dickason. Atholl--I was always
. I owas 1@1 in that I cried not to let people

r to fight him. There qu ploccing, thare were
)ing on. I told you shout the lettar I wrots. They
52 : ody, were dedicated ta Atholl's destruction.

ﬁﬁit as hE may ‘have been, he was a remarkable man, he really
Hh wag a movie character actor, a magnace, and absolutely
Ei:ﬂriﬂl. People had & hard cime gitting on with hinm.

1f it's a board, why can’'t you gee rid of the dictacor?

You're afraid of him, afraid te do without him. This goes on in
every big company in the world. American corporations are--I den't
know if they’re unique, but ic's the same as dynastic situations in
a8 genersal sociecy. How is the power wielded or maintained in any
dynasty?! It's primogeniture in England.

Well, vou saw it st the Chropicle, didn't you?

Sure. And I°'m sure that now ac tha Chronicle they're geing through
all kinds of problems deciding how they're going to shake out the
different deYoung femily controls and relationships now that Phyllils
Tucker bhas died, The wheole thing, Chrenlele Publlishing Company,
will Be vested in the helrsz, That's exactly the same kind of will
that Henry Maye Hewhall left. It goes through famlly groups per
gtirpes. I don'c even know how the deYoung [family will work Lt out.
There‘s 4 lot of 111 feeling here and there. And this hapgens in
families, and I think it's terribla.

I really cherish this strarge Newhsll family, because it's one
of the few things I have to give me some kind of security, to feel
that 1 am {n fact a part of something on the planet Earth. #And I
have great sympathy wlth people who have nowhere to go--nothing to
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would ever have indicated it ﬂ'.':‘ nyone,
n:intimrn

Buc you sc111 wosld have been sure, even if you b

Mom, My childhood--T can't explain it. I;hﬁ"
needed from my childhood. I know that T was
somewhere, and there were penp1p nn-nﬁﬁn 1
father if nothing elsge, 1 knew my qm, h:jlw
knew that people were very nice to uz for zome P
usually. That's not always the case, I mean, I eould sit thers a
know that anyone approaching me was app:unﬂhin; me out of o
friendship, and not with any kind of evil design in his hearc.

1 read that some member of the farming m:lﬂm?‘w o
to come down and buy the paper.

Jim talked me into 1t.

Jim Dickason?
The reason I bought the paper, that's where we started. That's the
firat question you asked me today, wasn't it? N

You sald, "A young Hewhall Land and Farming Company. executive
suggested 1 buy the Signal as an investment in & growing paper qnﬂn
commurnity.” [Sants Clarits Valley Hagazins interview, no date.]

Right, that's Jim Dickason, who became the president and chalrman,
eventually. He was my protege, of whom I'm very proud. He started
out up here in San Francisce, Remember, I said Atholl transferred
his filial affection to Jim, and Jim went ornward and upward,

And he dldn't have any trouble petting along with Atholl?

Jim s an interescing person., He's just retired, He's still a
member of the board., He did a tremendous--well, he could handle
Atholl. When Atholl would come back from a trip, he would bring. Ji |
gold warches from Switrerland and ties from Paris and things like
that, Atholl was & very lonely man. You have to remember somewhers
in Atholl there must have been a residual litcle volce of gullt



g 1 wwmmm that money, you would
: !"i;& izl

| ed. I don't think I would have survived as
: thﬂn*Inﬂlyﬂuu't I've seen what it does to many,
iﬁmﬁ. not just in my family but in many familles in many
T ‘not too dlssimilar. 1 think maybe 25 percent or mere, up
h“ﬂ percent of the people with whom 1 associated, just by chance
"I:n; H’Hn‘ﬁe and prep school, either died suicides or jusc sick before
their time with alcohal or d:ug:l Really, a great many of them jusc
destroyed themselves. They were aimless.

T have no complaints at all. The luckiesc thing that ever
‘happenad to me was to go broke. I mean it. When I say broka,
perhaps T wasn't living in a cardbeoard carten in the streec, ‘I:rut: we
I bad no momey. Ruth and I started sut with zerc. My mother helpad
ug a little bit. But Ruth has always been & good hard worker.

.-Einﬂa; fou were saying that Jim Dickason said you should come down,
'I Hewhall: He said, "Why don't you buy the Sigpal?"

1 was myself very active in the origins of the development of
the ranch, real estate development, and that's chiz Ehi.ng_ I puess
we're golng te get into. He said, "Why don't you buy the paper?
This is going to go."

1 sald, "Well, that's a precry good idea," 1 was at the
Chronicle €till, This is 1963, the year Hennedy was killed. I
said, "Well, 1*11 look into it." As it worked out, I had to buy
another paper at the same time called the Becord Ledger in the towm
of Tujunga, which is across the hill in the San Fernanda Valley up
above there by La Crescenca. It turned cut that the publisher of
the Tujungs Record Ledger, whose name was Ray Brooks, had just
bought the Slgnal. T didn't even know he'd bought the Signal,
because the Trueblood family had owned it.




Riess:

Wewhall:

thing.

Brooks had owned that paper for enly about jhnxﬂnu By
and I came along, and I don't know ﬁhy'ha sold it to me. ﬂl.
shouldn’'t have, but he did. I knew it had thn.tqulndnﬁn SUre
but I also knew it was going to be Lniing monay Ihr.q.tnng tiiu_;'
fAnd I lost money on it for ten j'inrn.} Sa I got Jon, my son, to
come down, And I got ome of the kids at mwm come down
as a publisher, Dave 3ynum, who has now got a scucesaful wine
operation up In the Sonoma or Napa Valley, I was seill werking
full-time at the Chropicle. I was just doing the §ignal work out o
my left hand, weekends. That's the way I got into the Signal.

Did you buy it yourself, or did the company buy ic?

Oh, no. I did, but I needed help with the financing. I figured I
nesded & half million dollars te mske it pay in the end. [ got Cthem
to guarantee a note, my personal note at the bank, for a half !
million dellars and that's whare I got into the argument with
Athell, really, in che end, Jim said, "Oh, this 13 going to be &
money-maker,* and I said, "Hey, Jim, look this Is going to take a
long time.™ The farming company people wanted co buy the Sippal and
gat me to tum it. T said, "Forget it. T will never, ever, aver
again run anybody else’'s propartcy for them. If there are golng to
be losses, I wanc to take them, If there are going to be any
profits, I want them.®

So they took a 40 percent position and they Iln recurn
guaranteed the note. 1 put up the rest of the money. The note came
due in about five years, and I couldn't quite meet it. Atholl was
mad, and he was going to wichdraw the company's guarantee of the
note, so that's wvhen | sold the paper. But [ made the sale on an
option basls--1 would keep control of the §Signgl for another £lve
years. About that time, 1975--this is a wery quick history of fc
all--the Signal began making money, But I paid the note off, I had
a lictls argument with my son Jon. He wouldn't sign--see, I'd given



Riess:

Hewhall:

1: ©Oh, the Chronicls made a lot of money before T left.

i thnugﬂt it was the Chrppigle enterprises, It was actually the
ripht ditself that was msking money? Or were you always taking the
TV stations inte censlideration?

In all my discussion of the Chronicle Publishing Compeny [ have been
referring only to che San Franciseco Chronjele--the newspaper,

Ko, no. If I did leave that impression, I didn’'t mean ta. The
Chronicle, Forpeccing all the rest of the enterprises, when I firet
hecame operationally involved with the running of it was losing a
little more than a milllon dolliars & year in 1932, 1 said it could
not make money--we would not have survived on that basis only--
uniess we had some ‘backing, perhaps from the TV or someching. But
the Chronfele Lcself began making money in about 1962 or 1983, See,
that’'s nine yeasrs. And then after signing the joint agroement with
the Examiner--I left wvery shorcly thereafter--we made I think three
to six million dollars & year. Then I think Lt went up more, MNow,
in 1988, théy may be a lictle leansr. I'm totally unacquainted with
their present situatlon,

You have =zald char you wouldn‘t go inte the newspaper husiness to
maka money.

That 1z corteec, I'va ssaid that many tlmes. I you'ré io someching
to make money--1'm kind of lyving when I say that, but there l[=.such
an expenditure of creacive energy necessary to meke & newspaper
wark, This {s wor a business where you can look fer a couple of
amart guys snd just let lc develop. Newspapering is tho mest
compecitive business in the world, at lesst cartainly the mosc
compecitive ["ve ever seen.



Fless:

Mewhall;

l;ltnr:mit
I remember Charles hhrl:l.l M;Ihﬂ :
restaurant down there, trﬂhuid.,

to have to lntﬁmnfthﬂnﬂf.fgn
gntﬂnnﬂmlnuthntrﬂﬂkmmmj';‘

1 said, "Charles, I'm mot Euing to se

have to gor to be willing to lose money for up to “ars
really want this paper to be successful. I‘ﬂ_‘_mll-_. au wh
do." (I still neseded to pay off Atholl.) So ; ]
him, Morris could buy the paper if he would lend )

That's all I needed to pay off the rotten note. IE he. mhl.
lend the paper 5125,000 I would give him an i_t:'rnnu.-hh ﬂpﬁm ﬁ-pn
purchase the Signal in five years. IE Morris pu:r;r.h.n.uud it, the
§125,000 would go toward the purchase price. And Lf he d.idin't
the paper 1 would have co pay back the 5$125,000 loan, witch all
interest. I gueas I'd give it back to him or keep it or Mﬁ'ltﬂ,
The eventual purchase price of the paper would be dtbtminiﬁ
computed at the time of sale, at ome end one-half times the gross
annual revenues, so the longer the paper wont, the higher the prica
went, if the revenues continued to climb. Because you had to have
some kind of a formula for price in a case like that.

And so he did [ndeed buy the Signal afrer five year=. Oh, 1
really dldn't wanc him to. You know, at firsc five years seemed
like a long time, but the years race by very fast, particularly If
you begin to make money. The Slgpal began co make momey--the five
years were up on the firat of January, 197B--the paper bagan to m
money in ahout ‘75, Our revenues, when I sold {t to him, were about-
81,200,000, so that meant Morris had to pay 51,800,000 for the
paper. Then Tony and 1 and Ruth continued to publish the Signsl for
another ten years. But Morris owned ft. He put up a grand naw
plant egainst my advice.

Put up & plant¥

Yes, A big newspaper plant, with a printing press and all.



Rless:

Fewhall!

Mwmﬂﬁtpt some of the family to rally around and help you
with that §125,000 noce?

‘Mo, I wouldn't. I guess I could have. But I wouldn't. But in my

opinion, it was even embarrassing chat I originally asked. the
company to guarantes my note, [ ecan't run a paper, [ would never
try to, unless I hava absolute total control over how I want to do
it, and I cannot stand the pressura or the problems or the frietion
of having to have a meeting and axplain to your sharsholder this,
that, or the other. They just end up in shouting matches; I've seen
it too much at the farming company. That's why in this little paper
wa're starcling now [Citizepn] when two or three people cffered me a
considerable amount of money if I wanted, 1 said no, I said, "I'm
willing to lose my own money on it, I'm not going to have to lie
avake nights worrylng about losing yours.*

For a little paper, which the Sipnal was, I think that's a
pretty darn geod return. And if it had centinued, we'd probably be
making sbout two million this year, and 2o on. Bur the balleon will
burst. I think Morrisz is probably not making anything now. We're
locked up in a hell of a Eight there, and he's giving away his
advertising, and sverything else. But that's a different story.
[See Chapter XIIL.]

1 was wondering what your point was in saying that he had put in the
plant, as if that was unwise?

I wouldn't have done {t, becsuse I've never wanted Co oparate my own
press. That s a business In itself. That is simply because of the
scars from the Chropicle:! San Francisce's a vary highly unfonized
city, and of all the tough unlons in the world, probably che
cypographers and the pressmen are the toughest. I just didn’t want
to cope with them, If anybody ever struck a papsr I have now, I'd
just shut the doors and quit. I just didn't have te eope with it.
1'1l pay them just sbout anything they want, within reason.
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Hewhall:

Risss:

Newhall:

tulh oE diﬁfn:ml: ﬁunpn':timl:u' af :
no way overlap, except I suppose in my over
problems afflicting twentieth century American

Oh, juicy morsel to drep. But, on the other hlw.!.-‘-'. reasa
you went down and did ic was because Dickasen, Jﬂ?__ d, =
that this was a good move, tuytlmlwﬁln
was part of your community.

He might have figured that T could prefit 'pn::nnt:l.}.y

vhole area was slated for development, and that a mu.‘l. ﬂﬁ.ﬁ
might, in turn, develop into something much lltiﬁ:+ =

And your part would he the newspaper package.

Yell, I was just as active with the company, too, I have had to
carry a dual role, what might be described as a conflict of
Interesc, but I've tried to never let them comnflict, that's all I
can say.

They certalnly must confllict about development.
You can vote one way as & member of a board of direcrora, and write
an editorizl anocher way as a newspaper editor, or that's the way L&
seemed to me,

You editorialized about it?

At the Signal we editoriallzed cotally much of the development. |
It's a very--just takes a lot of discussing, it really does. There
is development and there s development, |

[interruption]

The Signal story is probably just as importanc a story )
journallstiecally as the Ghropicle, but it's not as local. It's an
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w; very difﬂmﬂ.t peried spiritually in my own

wught I was going te create Shangri-la in our corner of

m California. And instead wo ‘may have ereated Dante's

, 1'm not sure which yet, It's mot Shangri-la, I'1l tell you
Itﬂi~in:ittaﬁing

Well, and of course, Lf you hsdn't, someons slse would have, and
they wouldn't have done it as well.

Newhall: Well, you have to remember cthe Newhall ranch part of this
development is only about a third of the physicsl, geographical
entity in which the Signal eirculaces, It's in the mountain basin
-=do you know where it ls really we’'re talking abour?

Riess! Nao,

Hewhall: I really should fly you over in the helicopter and we'll sse, It
I has a true identity just as much as San Francisco Bay Area does. In
} fact, instead of being a bay surrounded by hills, down there it's a
| valley surrounded by hills. Just &s rugged, or more so, To see

what has happened there, as a result of the billions of dollars at

'{ staka in this valley, and I say billions wvery purposely, is a
fagcinating study of the exploding Weat Coast; or of the American
culture. It's unbelievable. The people in this valley--,

It's now called the Santa Clarita Valley, That was our first
great fight: What shall the name of thia place be? There was &
little town of Newhall. Well, people sclll call it the Newhall
area, because no other name so far except Valencia has really stuck.

Riess: What is Valencia, actually?

’ Kewhall; That is the Newhall Ranch Compsny development area of the walley.

Riesa; But it's not the same shape as the Newhall ranch?

Newhall: Valencia ls the most easterly and flatter portion of the Newhall
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‘geographical Santa Clarita ﬂtllqy:-

Ve fought and fought m che, @ 1
fought for my ideas through the *.lii__ T
It's not as conflictive in terms of a
The blggest crusade Ehlw,ﬁul

separate county. We fought to f_
The farming company alse went ﬁlyg; on that
president then, and he agreed. If we formed

ik =45 e

it, but he'd fight against forming a city.
Was that a reasenable Eighc?

Oh, hell, it should have been a county. We voted for it out thares
twice, by & substantiasl majority. But of course the test of Los
Angeles voted against it so we lost our county,

Wasn't that unprecedented?

Yes, in recent history, sure. The politleclans have set [t up In
Sacramento so no new counties can be formed in California. You
can't do it. We voted for it out therey it won. But the ihqli-u?'
of Loa Anpeles ‘also had bo'wvote in faver of it, 8o If you try to
start 4 county and split off from in Los Angeles County--you can't.

Because they saw that this was & big tax base that they would Ipﬁif

Well, that's righe. That's true, you see, But the ancrenched
county politicians argue ne, that a new county cannot be a ceunty
because it can't support itself. Then they contradict themsalves
saving, "Hey, weo can’'t afford to lose this valuable tax base. " T
mean, it's political. And it's going to destroy Galiformia, Lf you
realize that five individuals basically control all of Los Angeles
County, as surely as the dukes in England controlled their countcies
in about the twelfth and thirteenth centuries, or their dukedoms, T
guess you would call them.

¥You mean the five =upervizors?

The five supervisors. They are elected, and they have abzalute
total power over their areas. Each of them controls -a little
different acreage, aboue up te 2 millian inhabirants in each
distriee.



thing- -Newhall, or the Newhall-Saugus area, It
- , but there's a Santa Clara

p hare. _--lmu Ehn ﬂm :lﬂr exists down there,

janta Clara Rlver, so the first argument we ever got into
t shall the name be. And I sald, "let's call it Valencia
. The farming company ls spending so much momey prometing the
alencla, why don't we all gec a piece of the promotion
- Well, they thought no, this is a trick of the farming
I mean.lt 8 local politics.

Who's "they* that we're talking about?

Everybody else down there, The old guard. Because the farming
company looms se big dewn there. It Is the "villain" in the eyes of
the rest of the Santa Clarita Valley. The farming company is big
and It"s frightening to the local people. The company Is a
ranerable villain., How, of course, it's becowing & generous
willain.

Okay. BSo the farming company liked or did not 1llke the nation of
‘calling it Valencia Valley?

 Mewhall: They [the local residents] fought the name Valencia Valley to the
death.

The local people hated the name Valencia Valley because they
were convinced the farming company was trying te i{mpose it on them,
But;, on the other hand, the farming company executives waere totally
opposed ta "Valencis Valley" as & name for the whole area because
the farming company wanted the name for themselve, alone. Think
il about Beverly Hills or Bel Alr or Hillsborough. 3See, Valencia is
the Bel Air or the Beverly Hills or che Hillsborough of the whols
| area--and these are relative terms. The new cown community Valencia
| haz turned out to be & snobbish high caste place. There fz a social
| structure down there that iz based on social and financial caste,
It's just the ssme ag it is in Indla or San Francisco. ©Or in the
\ acadeaic world in Berkeley,
l'i




Riess:

Newhall:

Riegs:

Mewhall:

1 think the dui.nnguﬂun'n: PR T
profound, I really do.

Well, wou weres a [ronc-page editnﬂ:ﬁ' wri‘.m‘

I used to put most of the editorials on thn.ftﬂnt Page. .~__“'
reason they read the papers, so they could have som ng
at or sneer at or hate or somecimes like-take your ﬁhﬂﬁﬁl,
always besn a technigque of mine, but {t's a faet.

Did that increase the cireulscion?

Yes, but "raadatnhip iz a better word here than 'qi:nulgtipg
Readership. Yes, you see, the Signal was ecirculated ar deliversd t
svery home in the Santa Clarita Valley. But even with chis tn:il
kind of eireulacion sur readership was vary high. Lasc year, thes
fellow who owns the Slgpal, Morris, he sent in a general

I think he was trying to send & message to Tomy, I think Morris
asg-deep In Newhalls and wanted us Nevhalls to get out, He wanted
to own his own paper. He could never bring himself to sdmit it, but
I think so.

:II':-F.

This new business manager hired a polling firm to make a
gsurvey. [ said, "Why bocher to make a survey? It's going to cost
you a lot of money, I can tell you exactly what the poll is going
to bring out. You're golng to find out that about 90 percent or
morn of the respondents read this paper. That will be two ot thice
times higher than any other mewspaper coming into the srea.”

Well, the poll-caker comes in goggle-eved after presenting c
bill for $10,000, which to me was too such to pay. He said "You
fellows don’t know what you'wve got here. You ought to publish this
survey, you ought to capltallize on thls. Do you knew that you'wve
got 87,5 percont readership? 1In all my experience, mno newspaper
gvetr had this., I just can't balieve ic.*

I gald, "Cee, that's swell. W1l vou sign a scatement to Chat



ﬂﬂﬂ% M to possibly zero profit
- or ﬂ:ﬂl year,

‘nﬁpllmﬂut exactly, except that during a perlod in

sent out his own business umg-r"thh' was a year and

e daciiak %ﬁﬂ:ﬁr iﬂda the survey and stuff, after that they
x:-.\. ed ' for that twelve-month pericd, because of
the.
up.

-----------

sl npluding making surveys and such he was running

Morris’ new manager was there supposedly to cut the costs, and
hqn:hnl: gone from three-day-a-week to six-day-a-week distribution
of a rﬁiﬁtiunly Iur;a paper. It's not as large as the Chronicle,
but the Signal, you know, is a big paper, In the end. our Wednesday
editions were probably as large as the Chronicle., We'd go sometimes
sbout 120 pages, something like that.

So people didn't supplemenc it with the L.A, Times; they just read

Well, we never, naver were in competition with the Timex, as far as
I wag concerned, We'd only use wire stories if we had rte. The
Signal was a totally local paper. Today the Morris peaple are
trylng to make it & big daily paper.

80 why the drop of income?

Because the S5igpal is being delivered free of charge to a growing
population and it is being dellvered twice as frequently--six days a
week. They still get all the ads, but [ think they're beginning te
offer special inducement advercising rates. And publishing six
times a week is expensive.

eviein 19R9- -
Is the readership changing out there, now that the Santa Clarita
Valley fs more upscale?

Economically, it's upseala. TIntellectually, it's probably pretty
well downscale.




Rless:

Mewnall:

Riess:

Newhall:

Riess;

¥ewhall:

Television. Television ia the :;ﬂul
ﬂuum:r us.

Great mystery? =

To me it's @ mystery, what lets resule will hm Tele
destroy us. The stuff on television--I'm not talking sl
the most wonderful things in the world which have been on
the public broadcasting stations some of the time--but m
fare is more frequently a business of covering the world of news i
fifteen or twenty-second bits. This is not just a joke, ﬂ.ﬂlﬂ:‘
There is & non-knowledge imparted In televisiom that's

and more people and more people are watching TV, and I l‘.h.‘h# ﬁﬁt
and fewer people are reading newspapers. [ don't say fewer are b
getting newspapers, or buying them. But I think fewer and fewer if
reading them, And I think it's very frightening.

I think it is, too, Actually, news tends to be frightening, and at
the same time it‘s saying that this is the way che world is, and &0
paeople are just kind of more and more inured.

Wall, you'we got a problem--what is the "world?™ Before t:]'.wﬁi-'m.-._:
"the world" was what we got through books and newspapers and so om.
And 8 world we actually could touch and visit, and see for
ourgelves, But now, the world to mest people La what they see with
their own eyes, on a television tube. This world Is often vastly
different from the reality. But it looks real. I mean; wow. IE'a
tercifving.

It's more violent, and yet the violence ls presented in a kind of
movie-tone version,

In a way, yes, Put it this way: Rudyard Kipling iovented, or rather
mamifactured, the English upper-class (and lower-class) role model.
And now television ls manufacturing the American cultural role
model. Therefore television is not a4 mirror of real behavior, che
real world.

B
I think ir's the other way around. I dom'tc think television is



qﬁ?ﬁﬂﬁtxij£.inﬂ'ﬁﬁﬁ#lﬁdlnjjhlgﬁu! stating the curse of the

ﬂﬁiﬁﬂ thi: airqyt'bringl me is the horrible problem of
ilat pressure, which is the basic reality in the world and

jﬂﬁi._ 1y iiIlF! has been. The American people, the American

ity, American culture as we'wve known it, is disappearing, and
It*r disappearing rapidly. I think if you take a trip down to

eentral los Angeles or to Miami or to the Texas border, you will see
why.

Ruth -and I had the marvelous epportunity to visit and spend
quice a lot of time in Mexico when there was almost a fresh
beginning after the seriea of early twentieth-century revolutions in
Mexico, It was an empty country. There were no roads there; they
had just started to bulld the Pap-Ameérican Highway. It didn't even
go through yet to Mexico City. We got down there somehow in our
little baby Auatin in 1934, and then traveled on horseback ever the
course of a couple of years.

That councry--['m sure there are more people in Mexieco City
today than there were in the entire councry then., Mexica Clty was
about & million when we got there, and it was crystal-clear, and it
wag beauriful, Maybe there were six, seven million in the whole
country. The whole country had been lald waste, and they were
beginning te come bhack. My cousin had the Caterpillar tractor
agency for all of Mexieo, and the Caterpillar tractor started to
rebuild Mexico. How, Hexico L& becoming rhe greatreat debtor nation
fn the world, despite - its oil. It's & treméndous population
problem, We are going to absorb the Latin American overflow whether
wa like it or not, 1 don't care how many border ditches we dig,
unless we all exterminate each other somehow,

And I sit here and cell you quite frankly, I dom't want te go
to Mismi, I just don't want to go to Florida. Apparencly, things
are & bit of a mess there. I don't see how our American society can
assim{lace all these people who are coming, and that Includes of
course the Asians and, oh Lord, from everywhere. I don’t ses how we
can ssszimilate sll of them at a speed of light without vast or
revolutionary changes in our culture. 1 think the Asians,



Riesa:

Hewhall;

Riess!

Rewhall:

mpmthmmw concern a
year, urh&ulw[ﬂl}hﬂm

I'm mach more sware of it than T was, m;d"! h ke 1
simply of my age, to a certain l::int, ;ﬁl__.:; rs:
disappointment or depression that I'm ﬂntu wenty-one
able to see all these wonderful thInu: ﬂlﬁk"L ain
that's part of it. Travel was the greatest desire
ever had. I was very fortunate to be able to lig

world's surface and the world's peoples. \

O

But coday we are all homogenizing right now. ﬁhlﬁl'i?hﬁ-r'-“f"
any place [ really am that intarintld in poing for travel er a
visit, We were able to make a trip around the world four or five
years ago, so we got to Burms and Nepal, which have not yet H!gn
totally run over by the Hilton or the Sheraton Plaza hotel people,
or whatever, or with the narcotics and so on. Ceylen [Sri ﬁlﬂﬁ!l
still a nice place, except it's totally uninhabitable at the n '¥
because of political problems. But this world is pretty ln-d w
and dreary. At least, there ls no place 1 want to go.

Other newspapers and journalists have been paying attention to the
Slgnal since news broke in August 1988 that the Newhalls had
resigned from the paper, Why?

1 chink some newspaper people pot a kick and enjoyed a certaln
refreshing quality asbour the old Signal, because it was totally
undisciplined, in a sense. It was a twe- or thres-man band, We
Went our own way.

I have been In a posltlon. and It is cthe most Important thing |
in my life, I have bheen in & position, to & certain extent at the
Chronicle, but with the S{gnal, of writing or saying or deing
anything about anything at any time that I wanted to. And nobody H
could say no. That has been a tremendous privilege. It has been a
tremendous lat of fun. Alse, bealisve it or mot, I have soma '
forlings of responsibilicty too, [ sat there and wrote anything 1
wvanted, and |[laughs] I think was able to see some things gquice
clearly.

This whole business of 1ife (s fazcinating. Well, our world



= = el
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_ hhi mld l'l"l -ﬂnﬁh Half
X A - with. People don't like to
- l{?d::l: it's a lm* ‘Everyone is calllng poor old
Mﬁur. There's not one guy in Comgress who hasn’'t
2en Ewﬂ forgive my words, fanmy-chasing back there. How
i --1 don't want to get into the women politicians because I
don’'t know much about them--but how many Congressmen or Senators
“have come hack from Washington with the same wife they started euc
‘with? Damn few, if you'll study it.

‘This guy Tower {s guilty of being a human being, just snother
American slob, and they're making this big to-do. The fact that he
stole--or mot stole, but profited from--a hundred million dellars,
whatever it was, from his defense contracts, well, almost
averybody's & crook, but I do not excuse that, 1 don't.

|4 But the guy, Tower; Iz no more fit: to be Eanrutary of Defense
than a dragen., Hell, he's a warrlor and a boozer. He's no more
godlike than you or me or anybody else. So I came out with an
editorial absolutely backing him up for the job and saying, "Lec’s
get this thing over with and elect the booze-Elghter. I£ I want
somabody back there, 1 want a booze-fightar. I don't care sbout the
rest of Ic." How |t made no sense, Really, it made no senze, but
neither does all this poddamn--excuse me--neither does all this
hypocritical Congressional investigatiom.

1 Evary man slecing in that invescigating committee--. T don't
know if you watch iv. Television is the only way to: see [t now, If
you watch the television, T think it's Sam Kunn who's chairman, and

+ this chief investigator iz sitting in Tower'sz old chair. Every man

in the Senate who is imvestigating him knows damn well what Tower i=
1ike. And they slt there, "Well, we're finding out things., we're
going to have a problem."

1 guess !'m fmpatienct, I think it's hilarlous, and I don't
think it matters In the end, I guess, who they put in there. Haybe
B chimpanzee would be better.

Riezs: Well, it's like who they put in for president, that nothing of
substance was dealt with.



FHewhall:

Biess:

Newhall:

Riess:

Newhall:

Does it !hilfjnﬁﬂ?

{laughter] Well, it can, ['ve been p
m‘rmmjnatatqumm
dmﬂ:muhthuﬂmuﬂnm

am I ﬂtitin;! Am T writing f ' am
people here? What am I doing? And I*I-—tﬁ.'lfﬁi' ﬂi‘”
state of mind now, 1 honestly am, as you will !#ﬁﬂ ;

If you get your readers feeling as bad ﬂ: you're iﬂhtfi:, '--':,
then do you cell them what to do?

That's why T feel ae bad. I've been in the business for a
cime, and 1 don't know where the American people are hngﬁmﬂ
it seems to me the sons and daughters of the World War Ithauﬁuinuﬁ
people are lazy. They're totally lazy. They're not working as
hard, they have privileges and luxurles that they have not -atniﬂ.
They have feelings of cemnipotence and omniscience to which ﬁhi’ e
not encitled, 1 think Americans have become a predatory and a

carnivorous people, despite our love affalr with being kind and---

And with being vegecarians,

Perfect: with being vegetarisns. Wers I a member of the Swiss )
Confederation, 1 think 1 weould fear above all the Unired Staces of
Amerieca. I think. Possibly Iran is the most frightening force on
earth--I'm not in love with Iran., The simple peace-leving American
eltlzen, vhen his comforts snd his luxuries are challenged, can
become a very feasrsome person.

The head of the CIA, Webster or whatever his name is, came out
the other day and said, in public, *The CIA should play a more
active part in Mexico now. Because there is a lot of political
fermant down there, and Mexlco's economy and the soefal structures
are fraglle." All Uebster meant, of course, was that the CIA is
going to go in and shore up some repressive leader, Because today
the old party line Hexican presidents have a real oppesition in the
alections, and so on, and Mexico may be headed for another |
explosion. The last real Mexican rebellion was in the twenties,
early twentles, and we're now in the ninetles, so that's seventy
years. That's a pretty long haul.



Rless:

Newhall:

ﬁuf;ﬁ_adh:iiﬂﬂuhﬁthng EIil.l elipping :
I want in the paper and uss it. See,
'-ﬁﬁ'ﬂhﬂmlt ‘the Citizen we publish

4
Fe ﬁmﬂﬁiﬁnﬂﬂiumn. It is a power.

'j~iﬁi press ls the most powerful thing in the world., They are the

. yﬂltriﬂl gstate in the world, or can be. They are the only
ﬁufhnuu human beings have to secure their own safety, to provide for
sir own security, cheir only defense.

Of course, the firsc thing any tyrant does is to chop off the
press of the people to stop the flow of news. And then the public
has no recourse to much of anything, except bayonets or sticks. The
press has just got to be careful. Today the press is playing it a
litcla too straight-faced. I mean the Hntkin; press and the editers
are letting toc many politicians play them for suckera, The press
i= lunlluwing ton puch hokum about our deficltcs and ocur ecanomy, and
abour the threats of Russia and Nicaragus and China--on alternate
weeks--and oll spllls, and toxic garbage piles and drugs;, and gun
control and dogens of other popular subjects,

How, please underatand, our planet is indeed in hellish
trouble, but I think the problem with the press is that both
televizsion and newspaper editors are paying too much.attantiﬁn tiz
wvhat our pollticians and government agencies and high-powered
bugsiness publicity agents are saying about these things, and the
press, taken as a group, isn't doing enough thinking for itself,

What 4ld the Signal do in the presidential primaries? How did you
use tha power of the press?

The Signal, how much power did we have? We have been very

influential, indaed, on 'some local things, but you've got to rvealize
out there in Yalencia, or Santa Clarita Valley, whatever ¥ou want to
call it, historically the bulk of the population is drifting around




Riess:

Hewnall;

Blpms:

Newnall:

Rigss;

Newhall:

‘and the arts and so on, but thy'ﬁlﬁi

i Te, - iﬂi
lngtnﬁn:i s Iﬁt of guyl in the

can’'t take the rat race in Los Angeles and Holly

But, tho 80 percent who are not so brilliamt--all
Anglo- Saxons with derivations from Minnesota up pe "
country, the fjerds, or middle Eﬁrulﬂf*guninhfru to them, che
cepeating rifle is what the Foran ls to a good Hﬁhqnqqﬂin 5 &
they will shoot anything that moves if it has fur or feathers.
will buy any vehicle as long.as it can run &cross ﬂﬂ'ﬂﬂ-lﬂ’“ﬂ
the gullies and canyons and break up the botanical environment,

The women flock to night club strip shows thar these nqiq
animals, the hunks of men, put on. And the men love !hmula nﬂj
wrestling matches. It's sort of Oklahoma, wou know, annng the hﬂh
tubs, I guess. A man out therse is sither a member of cha National
Rifle Assoclacion or he's a trangvestite--and there’s not much Ln
between. i

Or a male scripper.
Yea, It's an interesting socisty.

But those aren’t the people who are moving inte the land thac's
clearad for the development of Valencla, are thaey?

Valencla [s better chan mest of it. Valencia is physically really
quice a nice place. There are 4 lot of planning and lifestyle
restrictions Iin Valencia: you cannot park a lousy-looking car
outaide your home in the street, all the utilic